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REPORT DATE: 00/00/C0
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SUPERVISOR: :
6. PERSON IN CHARGE: : 7. DATE FILED: 04/08/05
8. DOCKET NO: A-125138 : 9. EFFECTIVE DATE: 00/00/00

PARTY/COMPLAINANT :
RESPONDENT/APPLICANT: COMMERCE ENERGY, INC

COMP/APP COUNTY: UTILITY CODE: 125138

ALLEGATION OR SUBJECT

JOINT PETITION/APPLICATION OF ACN ENERGY, INC., AND COMMERCE ENERGY, INC.,

FOR APPROVAL TO TRANSFER NATURAIL GAS SUPPLIER LICENSE FRCOM ACN ENERGY, INC.,
TO COMMERCE ENERGY, INC. DOCKET NUMBERS: ACN ENERGY A-125014F2000 AND COMMERCE
ENERGY, A-125138.
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™ ! DERRICK PRICE WILLIAMSON Gy
D O C U M F N T DIRECT DIAL; (717) 237-5446 %}?
=18 E-MAIL ADDRESS: DWILLIAMSON@MWN.COM
FOLDER April 8, 2005

James J. McNulty, Secretary VIA HAND DELIVERY
Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission

Commonwealth Keystone Building -
400 North Street, 2nd Floor / ] A4S/ 3y

Harrisburg, PA 17120

RE: Application of Commerce Energy, Inc., for Approval to Offer, Render, Furnish,
or Supply Natural Gas Service as a Natural Gas Supplier to the Public in the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania; Docket No.

Dear Secretary McNulty:

Please find enclosed for filing the original and three (3) copies of the Application of
Commerce Energy, Inc. ("Commerce Energy") for Approval to Offer, Render, Furnish, or Supply
Natural Gas Service as a Natural Gas Supplier to the Public in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania,
Also enclosed is a check in the amount of $§350.00, in the nature of an application fee, with
respect to this Application. Please note that the Applicant respectfully requests expedited
treatment of the Application and Commission action on the Application at either the May 5,
2005, or May 20, 2005, Public Meeting,

Pursuant to Commission requirements, all necessary parties have been served with a copy of
this Application, as evidenced by the attached Certificate of Service. Please date stamp the enclosed
copy of this transmittal letter and kindly return it for our filing purposes. Thank you.

Sincerely,
McNEES WALLACE & NURICK LLC
errick Price WilliangSgn
Charis Mincavage

Counsel to Commerce Energy, Inc.

Enclosures
c James Shurskis, Bureau of Fixed Utility Services (via hand delivery)
Certificate of Service

PO. Box 1166 » 100 PINE STREET * HARRISBURG, PA 17108-1166 « TEL: 717.232.8000 « Fax: 717.237.5300 * WWW.MWN.COM

HazLeTON, PA * LANCASTER, PA « STATE COLLEGE, PA « CoLumMBus, OH « WasHINGTeN, DC TJ\)\



CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that [ have this day served a true copy of the foregoing document upon the

by a participant).

participants listed below, in accordance with the requirements of Section 1.54 (relating to service

VIA FIRST-CLASS MAIL

Irwin A. Popowsky

Office of Consumer Advocate
5th Floor, Forum Place

555 Walnut Street
Harrisburg, PA 17120-1921

William Lioyd

Commerce Building, Suite 1 102
Office of Small Business Advocate
300 North Second Street
Harrisburg, PA 17101

Commonwealth of Pennsylvania
Department of Revenue

Bureau of Compliance
Harrisburg, PA 17128-0946

Office of the Attorney General
Bureau of Consumer Protection
Strawberry Square, 14th Floor
Harrisburg, PA 17120

Kevin Carrabine

PECO Energy Company
2301 Market Street

P.O. Box 8699

Philadelphia, PA 19101-8699

ol ez

Charis Mmca\\fage

Dated this 8" day of April, 2005, in Harrisburg, Pennsylvania.
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BEFORE THE
PENNSYLVANIA PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION

Application of Commerce Energy, Inc.,

for Approval to Offer, Render, Furnish, or : ?7 : 3 ’?
Supply Natural Gas Service as a Natural : Application Docket: ‘ 5 / 5
Gas Supplier to the Public in the :

Commonwealth of Pennsylvania

APPLICATION OF
COMMERCE ENERGY, INC.

DOCUMENT
FOLDER

Derrick Price Williamson
Charis Mincavage

McNees Wallace & Nurick LLC
100 Pine Street

Harrisburg, PA 17108

Tele.: 717.232.8000

Fax: 717.237.5300

Counsel to Commerce Energy, Inc.

Dated: April 8, 2005

w =
5 @ G2 B 2 W B R S 2 0>
HOCKET Egég 2 T m
1, : ;""‘ ;? O
APR 25 2005 ZZ =« O
chC: -0 ' ol
g =z B
S £ O

[aa! ——

g on



BEFORE THE PENNSYLVANIA PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION

Application of Commerce Energy, Inc., for approval to offer, render, furnish, or supply natural gas
supply services as a Natural Gas Supplier to the public in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.

To the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission:

IDENTITY OF THE APPLICANT: The name, address, telephone number, and FAX
number of the Applicant are:

Commerce Energy, Inc,
600 Anton Boulevard
Suite 2000

Costa Mesa, CA 92626

Telephone: 714.259.2500
Facsimile: 714.259.2501

Please identify any predecessor(s) of the Applicant and provide other names under which the
Applicant has operated within the preceding five (5) years, including name, address, and
telephone number.

See Attachment A, the Joint Petition of ACN Energy, Inc., and Commerce Energy, Inc.,
for Approval to Transfer a Natural Gas Supplier License from ACN Energy, Inc., to
Commerce Energy, Inc, ("Joint Petition"). The Joint Petition sets forth the substantive
information regarding this issue.

CONTACT PERSON: The name, title, address, telephone number, and FAX number of the
person to whom questions about this Application should be addressed are:

Derrick Price Williamson, Esq.
Charis Mincavage, Esq.
McNees Wallace & Nurick LLC
100 Pine Street

P.O. Box 1166

Harrisburg, PA 17108-1166

Telephone: 717.232.8000
Facsimile: 717.237.5300



CONTACT PERSON-PENNSYLVANIA EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT AGENCY:
The name, title, address telephone number and FAX number of the person with whom
contact should be made by PEMA:

Anthony Cusati, II1
Commerce Energy, Inc.
32991 Hamilton Court
Farmington Hills, M1 48334

Telephone: 248.699.3481
Facsimile: 703.935.1267

ATTORNEY: If applicable, the name, address, telephone number, and FAX number of the
Applicant's attorney are:

Derrick Price Williamson, Esq.
Charis Mincavage, Esq.
McNees Wallace & Nurick LLC
100 Pine Street

P.O. Box 1166

Harrisburg, PA 17108-1166

Telephone: 717.232.8000
Facsimile: 717.237.5300

REGISTERED AGENT: If the Applicant does not maintain a principal office in the
Commonwealth, the required name, address, telephone number and FAX number of the
Applicant's Registered Agent in the Commonwealth are:
CT Corporation
1515 Market Street, #1210
Philadelphia, PA 19102
Telephone: 215.563.7750
FICTITIOUS NAME: (select and compiete appropriate statement)
[ 1 The Applicant will be using a fictitious name or doing business as (“d/b/a”):
Attach to the Application a copy of the Applicant's filing with the Commonwealth's
Department of State pursuant to 54 Pa. C.S. §311, Form PA-933.
Or

The Applicant will not be using a fictitious name.



BUSINESS ENTITY AND DEPARTMENT OF STATE FILINGS: (select and complete
appropriate statement)

] The Applicant is a sole proprietor.

If the Applicant is located outside the Commonwealth, provide proof of compliance with 15
Pa. C.S. §4124 relating to Department of State filing requirements.

or
The Applicant is a:

domestic general partnership (*)

domestic limited partnership (15 Pa. C.S. §8511)

foreign general or limited partnership (15 Pa. C.S. §4124)
domestic limited liability partnership (15 Pa. C.S. §8201)
foreign limited liability general partnership (15 Pa. C.S. §8211)
foreign limited liability limited partnership (15 Pa. C.S. §8211)

Uoooon O

Provide proof of compliance with appropriate Department of State filing requirements as
indicated above.

Give name, d/b/a, and address of partners. If any partner is not an individual, identify the
business nature of the partner entity and identify its partners or officers,

(] Ifa corporate partner in the Applicant's domestic partnership is not domiciled in
Pennsylvania, attach a copy of the Applicant's Department of State filing pursuant to 15

Pa. C.S. §4124.
or

The Applicant is a:

[ ] domestic corporation (none)

foreign corporation (15 Pa. C.S. §4124)

[ ) domestic limited liability company (15 Pa. C.S. §8913)

[] foreign limited liability company (15 Pa. C.S. §8981)

[ ] Other

Provide proof of compliance with appropriate Department of State filing requirements as
indicated above. See Attachment B, Additionally, provide a copy of the Applicant's
Articles of Incorporation. See Attachment C, which provides a copy of the Articles of
Incorporation of Commonwealth Energy Corporation. See also Attachment D, which
provides an Amendment to the Articles of Incorporation referencing the name change
from Commeonwealth Energy Corporation to Commerce Energy, Inc.



(ive name and address of officers.

Peter Weigand, President
600 Anton Boulevard, Suite 2000, Costa Mesa, CA 92626

Richard Boughrum, Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer, and Secretary
600 Anton Boulevard, Suite 2000, Costa Mesa, CA 92626

The Applicant is incorporated in the state of California. See Attachment C, which
provides a copy of the Articles of Incorporation of Commonwealth Energy Corporation.
See also Attachment D, which provides an Amendment to the Articles of Incorporation
referencing the name change from Commonwealth Energy Corporation to Commerce
Energy, Inc.

AFFILIATES AND PREDECESSORS WITHIN PENNSYLVANIA: (select and
complete appropriate statement)

Affiliate(s) of the Applicant doing business in Pennsylvania are:
Give name and address of the affiliate(s) and state whether the affiliate(s) are jurisdictional
public utilities.

See Attachment A, which provides information regarding this issue.

Does the Applicant have any affiliation with or ownership interest in:

(a) any other Pennsylvania retail natural gas supplier licensee or licensee applicant,
(b) any other Pennsylvania retail licensed electric generation supplier or license
applicant,

(c) any Pennsylvania natural gas producer and/or marketer,

(d) any natural gas wells or

(e) any local distribution companies (LDCs) in the Commonwealth

If the response to parts a, b, ¢, or d above is affirmative, provide a detailed description and
explanation of the affiliation and/or ownership interest.

See Attachment A for a detailed description and explanation of the affiliate interests.
[ Provide specific details concerning the affiliation and/or ownership interests involving:
(a) any natural gas producer and/or marketers,
(b) any wholesale or retail supplier or marketer of natural gas, electricity, oil, propane
or other energy sources.

Not applicable.

Provide the Pa PUC Docket Number if the applicant has ever applied:



(a) for a Pennsylvania Natural Gas Supplier license, or
(b) for a Pennsylvania Electric Generation Supplier license.

See Attachment A for information regarding this issue.

[ ifthe Applicant or an affiliate has a predecessor who has done business within
Pennsylvania, give name and address of the predecessor(s) and state whether the
predecessor(s) were jurisdictional public utilities.

Not applicable.
or

The Applicant has no affiliates doing business in Pennsylvania or predecessors which
have done business in Pennsylvania.

See Attachment A for information regarding this issue.

APPLICANT'S PRESENT OPERATIONS: (select and complete the appropriate
statement)

The Applicant is presently doing business in Pennsylvania as a

natural gas interstate pipeline.

municipal providing service outside its municipal limits.
local gas distribution company

retail supplier of natural gas services in the Commonwealth
a natural gas producer

Other. (Identify the nature of service being rendered.)

OO0 B

Commonwealth Energy Company d/b/a electricAmerica, Inc., is doing business in
Pennsylvania as an Electric Generation Supplier in the PECO Energy Company service
territory. The entity is being renamed Commerce Energy, Inc. See Attachment A.

or
[ ] The Applicant is not presently doing business in Pennsylvania.
APPLICANT'S PROPOSED OPERATIONS: The Applicant proposes to operate as a:

Supplier of natural gas services.

Municipal supplier of natural gas services.

Cooperative supplier of natural gas services.

Broker/Marketer engaged in the business of supplying natural gas services.
Apggregator engaged in the business of supplying natural gas services.
Other (Describe):

OO0



10.

1.

12,

13,

PROPOSED SERVICES: Generally describe the natural gas services which the Applicant
proposes to offer.

Commerce Energy, Inc., intends to engage in the retail sale of natural gas in the
residential, commercial, and industrial markets in PECO Energy Company's service
territory. See Attachment A for additional information.

SERVICE AREA: Generally describe the geographic area in which Applicant proposes to
offer services,

Commerce Energy, Inc.'s, marketing area will initially encompass the entirety of PECO
Energy Company's service territory.

CUSTOMERS: Applicant proposes to initially provide services to:

Residential Customers

Commercial Customers - (Less than 6,000 Mcf annually)
Commercial Customers - (6,000 Mcf or more annuaily)
Industrial Customers

Governmental Customers

All of above

Other (Describe):

BE NN RN

START DATE: The Applicant proposes to begin delivering services upon receipt of its
Natural Gas Supplier license from the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission.

NOTICE: Pursuant to Section 5.14 of the Commission's Regulations, 52 Pa. Code §5.14,
serve a copy of the signed and verified Application with attachments on the following:

Irwin A. Popowsky Office of the Attorney General
Office of Consumer Advocate Bureau of Consumer Protection
5th Floor, Forum Place Strawberry Square, 14th Floor
555 Walnut Street Harrisburg, PA 17120

Harrisburg, PA 17120-1921
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania

William Lloyd Department of Revenue
Commerce Building, Suite [ [ 02 Bureau of Compliance
Small Business Advocate Harrisburg, PA 17128-0946

300 North Second Street
Harrisburg, PA 17101



Any of the following Natural Gas Distribution Companies through whose transmission and
distribution facilities the applicant intends to supply customers:

NUI Valley Cities Gas (NUI Transportation Services)
Mike Vogel

PO Box 31 75

Wnion, NJ 07083-1975

PH: 908.289.5000ext.5441 FAX:908.2898.6444

National Fuel Gas Distribution Corp.

Paul R. Mundy

1 0 Lafayette Square

Buffalo, NY 14203

PH: 716.857.7756 FAX: 716.857.7479
e-mail: mundyp@natfuel.com

Penn Fuel [North Penn Gas Company & Penn Fuel Gas]

The Peoples Natural Gas Company

Jim Evans or Tom Olsen Joe Gregorini or Bill McKeown
2 North 6th Street 625 Liberty Avenue

GENA%4 Pittsburgh, PA 15222

Allentown, PA 18101 e-mail: jgregorini~png.cng.com

PH: 610.774.7981 610.774.4975 PH: 412.497.6851 or 412.497.6840
FAX: 610.774.5694 610.774.4975 FAX: 412.497.6630

e-mail: jevans{@papl.com  or teolson@papl.com

T. W. Phillips Gas and Oil Company UGI

Robert M. Hovanec Chris Brown or Bob Krieger

205 North Main Stireet

Butler, PA 16001

PH: 724.287.2725 FAX: 724.287.5021
e-mail: rhovanec@twphillips.com

PO Box 12677 or 225 Morgantown Rd.
Reading, PA 15222 Reading, PA 15222
PH: 610.796.3425 PH: 610.796.3516
FAX; 610.796.3559

PG Energy

Richard N. Marshall or Wendy K. Saxe
One PEI Center

Wilkes-Barre, PA 1871 1-060]1

e-mail: marshall@pgenergy.com or
saxe{@pgenergy.comt

PH:  570.829.8795 FAX: 570.829.8652

Equitable Gas Company
Antionette Litchy

200 Allegheny Center Mall
Pittsburgh, PA T 5212-5352

PH: 412.395.3117 FAX: 4123953156

Camnegie Natural Gas Company
Donald A. Melzer

800 Regis Avenue

Pittsburgh, PA 19236

PH: 412.655.8510 ext. 331 FAX: 412.655.0335

Columbia Gas of PA, Inc.
Erich Evans or
200 Civic Center Drive
Columbus, OH 43215

PH: 614.460.6254 or 614.460.5554
FAX: 614.460.4291

Heather Bauer

Philadelphia Gas Works

Eric Burgis

800 West Montgomery Avenue
Philadelphia, PA 19122

email: eric.burgis@pgworks.com

PH: 215.684.6907 FAX: 215.684.6564

PECO

Kevin Carrabine

300 Front Street Building 2
Conshohocken, PA 19428
PH: 610.832.6413

Pursuant to Sections 1 .57 and I .58 of the Commission's Regulations, 52 Pa. Code §§1 .57 and

1.58, attach Proof of Service of the Application and attachments upon the above named parties. Upon

review of the Application, further notice may be required pursuant to Section 5.14 of the

Commission's Regulations, 52 Pa. Code §5.14.
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14.

15.

l6.

TAXATION: Complete the TAX CERTIFICATION STATEMENT attached as Appendix B
to this application.

A completed Tax Certification Statement is attached hereto at Attachment E,

COMPLIANCE: State specifically whether the Applicant, an affiliate, a predecessor of
either, or a person identified in this Application has been convicted of a crime involving
fraud or similar activity. Identify all proceedings, by name, subject and citation, dealing with
business operations, in the last five (5) years, whether before an administrative body or in a
judicial forum, in which the Applicant, an affiliate, a predecessor of either, or a person
identified herein has been a defendant or a respondent. Provide a statement as to the
resolution or present status of any such proceedings.

Commerce Energy, Inc. (Commonwealth Energy Corporation d/b/a electricaAmerica,
Inc.), has been fully compliant as an Electric Generation Supplier in Pennsylvania. In
July 2001, the Public Utilities Commission of California issued an order approving a
settlement entered into by Commonwealth Energy Corporation. The settlement
resolved issues raised in an Investigation instituted in 1999 in which Commonwealth
Energy Corporation was the Respondent. Since that time, Commonwealth Energy
Corporation has been fully compliant in California. As noted above, Commerce
Energy, Inc., has served as an EGS in Pennsylvania since 1999 without sanction or
investigation,

STANDARDS, BILLING PRACTICES, TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF
PROVIDING SERVICE AND CONSUMER EDUCATION: All services should be priced
in clearly stated terms to the extent possible. Common definitions should be used. All
consumer contracts or sales agreements should be written in plain language with any
exclusions, exceptions, add-ons, package offers, limited time offers or other deadlines
prominently communicated. Penalties and procedures for ending contracts should be clearly
communicated,

Contacts for Consumer Service and Complaints: Provide the name, title, address, telephone
number and FAX number of the person and an alternate person responsible for addressing
customer complaints. These persons will ordinarily be the initial point(s} of contact for
resolving complaints filed with Applicant, the Distribution Company, the Pennsylvania
Public Utility Commussion or other agencies.

Barbara St. Amant

Consumer Affairs Representative
Commerce Energy, Inc.

600 Anton Boulevard, Suite 2000
Costa Mesa, CA 92626

Telephone: 714.481.6583
Facsimile: 714.258.0480

Commerce Energy, Inc.'s, Customer Service telephone number is 1.800.ELECTRIC
(1.800.353.2874) Ext. 6583
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[7.

Provide a copy of all standard forms or contracts that you use, or propose to use, for service
provided to residential customers.

See Attachment F, which contains Commerce Energy, Inc.'s, current enrollment form.

If proposing to serve Residential and/or Small Commercial customers, provide a disclosure
statement. A sample disclosure statement is provided as Appendix B to this Application.

See Attachment G, which contains Commerce Energy, Inc.'s, Disclosure Statement.
FINANCIAL FITNESS:

A. Applicant shall provide sufficient information to demonstrate financial fitness
commensurate with the service proposed to be provided. Examples of such information
which may be submitted include the following:

= Actual (or proposed) organizational structure including parent, affiliated or subsidiary
companies. See Attachment H.

= Published parent company financial and credit information. See Attachment I. In
addition, the annual reports can be found on commerceenergy.com,

e Applicant's balance sheet and income statement for the most recent fiscal year. Published
financial information such as 10K's and 10Q's may be provided, if available. See
Attachment L

» Evidence of Applicant's credit rating. Applicant may provide a copy of its Dun and
Bradstreet Credit Report and Robert Morris and Associates financial form or other
independent financial service reports. See Attachment J.

= A description of the types and amounts of insurance carried by Applicant which are
specifically intended to provide for or support its financial fitness to perform its
obligations as a licensee.

* Audited financial statements. See Attachment I.
v Such other information that demonstrates Applicant's financial fitness.

Please refer to Attachment A, which provides additional information regarding
Commerce Energy, Inc.'s, financial fitness.

In addition, ACN Energy, Inc., currently maintains a cash deposit with PECO
Energy Company. In consideration of the transfer of ACN Energy's NGS license to
Commerce Energy, PECO has acknowledged that Commerce Energy meets its NGS
creditworthiness requirements. See Attachment K,
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18.

19.

Applicant must provide the following information:
* Identify Applicant's chief officers including names and their professional resumes.
See Attachment L for the officers' names and professional profiles.

* Provide the name, title, address, telephone number and FAX number of Applicant's
custodian for its accounting records.

Ken Robinson

Controller

Commerce Energy, Inc.

600 Anton Boulevard, Suite 2000
Costa Mesa, CA 92626

Telephone: 714.259.2528
Facsimile: 714.259.2553

TECHNICAL FITNESS: To ensure that the present quality and availability of service
provided by natural gas utilities does not deteriorate, the Applicant shall provide sufficient
information to demonstrate technical fitness commensurate with the service proposed to be
provided. Examples of such information which may be submitied include the following:

= The identity of the Applicant's officers directly responsible for operations, including
names and their professional resumes. See Attachment L.

s A copy of any Federal energy license currently held by the Applicant. See Attachment
M.

* Proposed staffing and employee training commitments. As noted previously,
Commerce Energy maintains an Electric Generation Supplier license in
Pennsylvania, and Commerce Energy continues to meet and maintain the
managerial requirements previously acknowledged by the Commission in granting
this license. Moreover, as detailed in Attachment A, Commerce Energy's parent
company is acquiring ACN Energy, Inc., which currently maintains EGS and NGS
licenses in Pennsylvania. As a result; many of the customer service representatives
from ACN Energy will continue with Commerce Energy.

* Business plans.
TRANSFER OF LICENSE: The Applicant understands that if it plans to transfer its license
to another entity, it is required to request authority from the Commission for permission prior

to transferring the license. See 66 Pa. C.S. Section 2208(D). Transferee will be required to file
the appropriate licensing application.

10



20.

21.

22.

23.

24.

UNIFORM STANDARDS OF CONDUCT AND DISCLOSURE: As a condition of
receiving a license, Applicant agrees to conform to any Uniform Standards of Conduct and
Disclosure as set forth by the Commission.

REPORTING REQUIREMENTS: Applicant agrees to provide the following information
to the Commission or the Department of Revenue, as appropriate:

a. Reports of Gross Receipts: Applicant shall report its Pennsylvania intrastate gross receipts
to the Commission on an annual basis no later than 30 days following the end of the
calendar vear.

Applicant will be required to meet periodic reporting requirements as may be issued by the
Commission to fulfill the Commission's duty under Chapter 22 pertaining to reliability and to
inform the Governor and Legislature of the progress of the transition to a fully competitive
natural gas market. See Attachment N,

FURTHER DEVELOPMENTS: Applicant is under a continuing obligation to amend its
application if substantial changes occur in the information upon which the Commission relied
in approving the original filing.

FALSIFICATION: The Applicant understands that the making of false statement(s) herein
may be grounds for denying the Application or, if later discovered, for revoking any authority
granted pursuant to the Application. This Application is subject to 18 Pa. C.S. §§4903 and
4904, relating to perjury and falsification in official matters.

FEE: The Applicant has enclosed the required initial licensing fee of $350.00 payable to the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.

Applicant: Commerce Energy, Inc.

Peter
Preside

Date: 0‘//07/6’5’
/7

11
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AFFIDAVIT

State of California

58.

County of Orange

Peter Weigand, Affiant, being duly sworn according to law, deposes and says that:
He is the President of Commerce Energy, Inc.; and that he is authorized to and does make this
affidavit for said Applicant.

That Commerce Energy, Inc., the Applicant herein, acknowledges that Commerce Energy, Inc.,
may have obligations pursuant to this Application consistent with the Public Utility Code of the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, Title 66 of the Pennsylvania Consolidated Statues; or with
other applicable statutes or regulations including Emergency Orders which may be issued
verbally or in writing during any emergency situations that may unexpectedly develop from time
to time in the course of doing business in Pennsylvania.

That Commerce Energy, Inc., the Applicant herein, asserts that it possesses the requisite
technical, managerial, and financial fitness to render natural gas supply service within the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and that the Applicant will abide by all applicable federal and
state laws and regulations and by the decisions of the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission.

That Commerce Energy, Inc., the Applicant herein, certifies to the Commission that it is subject
to, will pay, and in the past has paid, the full amount of taxes imposed by Articles I and XI of
the Act of March 4, 1971 (P.L. 6, No. 2), known as the Tax Reform Act of 1971 and any tax
imposed by Chapter 22 of Title 66. The Applicant acknowledges that failure to pay such taxes or
otherwise comply with the taxation requirements of, shall be cause for the Commission to revoke
the license of the Applicant. The Applicant acknowledges that it shall report to the Commission
its jurisdictional natural gas sales for ultimate consumption, for the previous year or as otherwise
required by the Commission. The Applicant also acknowledges that it is subject to 66 Pa. C.S.
§506 (relating to the inspection of facilities and records).

Applicant, by filing this application waives confidentiality with respect to its state tax
information in the possession of the Department of Revenue, regardless of the source of the
information, and shall consent to the Department of Revenue providing that information to the
Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission.

That Commerce Energy, Inc., the Applicant herein, acknowledges that it has a statutory
obligation to conform with 66 Pa. C.S. §506, and the standards and billing practices of 52 Pa.
Code Chapter 56. ‘



That the Applicant agrees to provide all consumer education materials and information in a
timely manner as requested by the Commission's Office of Communications or other
Commission bureaus. Materials and information requested may be analyzed by the Commission
to meet obligations under applicable sections of the law.

That the facts above set forth are true and correct to the best of his knowledge, information, and
belief.

S D

S¥ensgtiire o nt

Sworn and subscribed before me this X< ﬂhay of.df Rl , 2005,

Signature of Sfficial administrating oath

My commissi i 7/08 _ ] — NANCY REMY ‘
d 1O CXPIES 9-/, / /U TaN  Commission # 1508490 3

Notary Public - California
Orange County




AFFIDAVIT

State of California

§S.

County of Orange

Peter Weigand, Affiant, being duly sworn according to law, deposes and says that:
He is President of Commerce Energy, Inc.; and that he is authorized to and does make this
Affidavit for said Applicant.

That the Applicant herein Commerce Energy, Inc., has the burden of producing information and
supporting documentation demonstrating its technical and financial fitness to be licensed as a
natural gas supplier pursuant to 66 Pa. C.S.

§ 2208(c)(1).

That the Applicant herein Commerce Energy, Inc., has answered the questions on the application
correctly, truthfully, and completely and provided supporting documentation as required.

That the Applicant herein Commerce Energy, Inc., acknowledges that it is under a duty to update
information provided in answer to questions on this application and contained in supporting
documents.

That the Applicant herein Commerce Energy, Inc., acknowliedges that it is under a duty to
supplement information provided in answer to questions on this application and contained in
supporting documents as requested by the Commission.

That the facts above set forth are true and correct to the best of his knowledge, information, and
belief, and that he expects said Applicant to be able to prove the same at hearing.

Signéture € Affignt
Sworn and subscribed before me this A7 /% day Ofﬁ@wé_; 2005.

-:)//[ Cradst—ef
Signature of officfal administéring oath

My commission expires __$/;7 /5 5 .

NANCY REMY
Commission # 1508490

Notary Public - Califomia g
Orange County
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JOINT PETITION OF ACN ENERGY, : 5% e
INC., AND COMMERCE ENERGY, INC., : &, %
FOR APPROVAL TO TRANSFER NATURAL e
GAS SUPPLIER LICENSE FROM ACN : DOCKET NO, P- T
ENERGY, INC., TO COMMERCE ENERGY,

INC.

JOINT PETITION FOR APPROVAL TO TRANSFER
NATURAL GAS SUPPLIER LICENSE

TO THE HONORABLE, THE PENNSYLVANIA PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION:

Pursuant to Section 2208(d) of the Natural Gas Choice and Competition Act, 66 Pa. C.S.
§ 2208(d), and Section 62.112 of the Public Utility Code, 52 Pa. Code § 62.112, ACN Energy,
Inc. ("ACN Energy"), and Commerce Energy, Inc. ("CEI") (collectively, "Petitioners”), hereby
submit this Joint Petition ("Petition") to the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission ("PUC" or
"Commission") to request the Commission's approval of the transfer of ACN Energy's Natural
Gas Supplier ("NGS") license to CEI. Simultaneous with this filing, CEI is submitting an
Application for approval to offer, render, furnish, or supply natural gas services as an NGS to the
public in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. This Application is attached hereto as Exhibit
No. 1.!

As discussed more fully herein, ACN Energy is an affiliate of ACN, Inc. ("ACN"), which
has several other affiliate companies. Recently, ACN Energy, along with certain other ACN
affiliate companies, entered into an agreement to sell the assets of ACN Energy to

Commonwealth Energy Corporation ("CEC"), which is an affiliate of Commerce Energy Group,

! Because this Application is quite voluminous and is being filed simultaneously with this Petition, Exhibit No. 1
does not contain the exhibits to the Application.
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Inc. ("CEG"). Although neither CEG nor any of its affiliates has an NGS license, the PUC
approved CEC's application for an Electric Generation Supplier ("EGS") license in 1999. Asa
result, Commonwealth Energy Company d/b/a electricAmerica, Inc., currently has an EGS
license in Pennsylvania. With the acquisition of ACN Energy, CEG has changed the name of
CEC to Commerce Energy, Inc. Accordingly, because the PUC previously found that CEC and
its parent company had the necessary technical, financial, and managerial fitness required for an
EGS license, and because nothing has changed with respect to these entities, the PUC should
grant this Joint Petition.

In support of its Joint Petition, ACN Energy and CEI state as follows:

I BACKGROUND

A. ACN Energy, Inc.

ACN Energy started as a wholly-owned subsidiary of ACN, which is a leading direct
selling company offering highly competitive fixed and mobile telephone services, Internet
access, and gas and electricity services to consumers and small businesses in North America,
Europe, and Australia. ACN Energy has been offering alternative electricity and natural gas
services to customers in several deregulated states, including Pennsylvania, California, Georgia,
Maryland, New York, and Ohio.

On July 30, 1999, ACN Energy submitted its Application to the Commission to obtain its
NGS license. On October 19, 1999, the PUC granted ACN Energy's Application at Docket No.
A-125014. ACN Energy currently serves approximately 2,000 natural gas customers in
Pennsylvania.” Of that number, approximately 1,800 are residential customers and 200 are

commercial customers. All of these customers are located in the PECO Energy Company

% On November 19, 1998, the PUC granted ACN Energy an EGS license at Docket No. A-110102. ACN Energy
currently services approximately 8,000 electric customers in Pennsylvania.
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("PECO") service territory. ACN Energy does not provide service to customers outside of this
service territory.

B Commerce Energy, Inc.

CEG, CETI's parent company, is a provider of energy products and services to residential,
commercial, and industrial customers; utilities; governments; and, energy asset owners. CEG
has various affiliates, including CEC, which holds state and federal licenses for retail and
wholesale energy commodities; Skipping Stone, Inc., which is an energy consulting firm; and,
UtilitHost, Inc., which is an outsourcing services provider.

On July 1, 1999, CEC filed an Application with the PUC rlequesting approval to offer
electricity generation services in Pennsylvania.’ On September 15, 1999, the PUC approved
CEC's Application and granted Commonwealth Energy Corporation d/b/a Advantage Energy,
Inc., an EGS license. On October 12, 1999, CEC filed an application with the Department of
State to change its name to Commonwealth Energy Corporation d/b/a electricAmerica, Inc. On
October 29, 1999, CEC informed the PUC of this change, and the PUC reissued CEC's license in
the name of Commonwealth Energy Corporation d/b/a as electricaAmerica, Inc.® To date,
electricAmerica currently serves approximately 29,000 electric customers in Pennsylvania, in
only the PECO service territory. Of those customers, the majority are commercial customers

with several residential customers and one lighting customer.

A copy of CEC's EGS Application is attached hereto as Exhibit No. 2.

YA copy of this License is attached hereto as Exhibit No. 3. Exhibit No. 4 to this Joint Petition provides a flow
chart of the company structure of CEG prior to the acquisition of ACN Energy.
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C. Acquisition of ACN Energy, Inc., by Commonwealith Energy Corporation

On February 9, 2005, CEC and ACN Energy entered into an agreement under which CEC
acquires the assets of ACN Energy.” As a result of this acquisition, CEG is able to achieve
several key objectives towards its corporate strategies of diversifying into natural gas and
expanding its market footprint, while lowering its regulatory risk profile. Through this
acquisition, CEG will have electricity customers in Texas, California, Pennsylvania, New Jersey,
and Michigan, with natural gas customers in New York, California, Pennsylvania, Ohio,
Georgia, and Maryland. CEG also hopes to cross-sell and expand in each of these markets,

As part of this transaction, CEG is rebranding its retail unit from Commonwealth Energy
Company to Commerce Energy, Inc.® ACN Energy seeks to transfer its NGS license to CEI,
and, in the accompanying Application, CEI seeks an NGS license.’

IL TRANSFER OF LICENSE

ACN Energy seeks to transfer its NGS license to CEI. As noted above, CEI is the
successor in name to CEC, the entity that received an EGS license from the PUC. Previously,
the Commission determined that CEC and its parent company, CEG, possessed the necessary
technical, financial, and managerial fitness requirements to obtain an EGS license. CEI and its

parent company, CEG, continue to meet and maintain the regulatory requirements and fitness

A copy of this Agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit No. 5. As indicated in the Agreement, ACN and CEG were
parties to the Agreement with respect to certain enumerated provisions.

§ Exhibit No. 6 to this Joint Petition provides a flow chart of the company structure resulting from the acquisition of
ACN Energy and the rebranding of CEC to CEIL. Exhibit No. 7 to this Joint Petition contains the Department of
State filing made by CEI evidencing the name change from CEC to CEL. CEI is awaiting action by the Department
of State with respect to this filing,

T CEG recognizes that its EGS license is in CEC's name. In order to address the impact of the name change to CEI
with respect to the EGS license, a separate filing will be made in the near future.



previously acknowledged by the Commission in granting an EGS license. Accordingly, the
Petitioners' request to transfer this NGS license is just, reasonable, and in the public interest.
1III. IMPACT ON ACN ENERGY CUSTOMERS

As part of this transfer of ACN Energy's license, ACN Energy will also assign its current
NGS customer base to CEI. CEI will continue to provide service to ACN Energy's natural gas
customers pursuant to the terms and conditions of ACN Energy's Disclosure Statement, which is
attached to CEI's accompanying Application and as Exhibit No. 8 hereto. In addition, many of
the ACN Energy customer service representatives will continue with CEL. As a result, the
assignment of customers from ACN Energy to CEI will be virtually seamless and transparent.

CEI will provide notice of this assignment to ACN Energy's customers on approximately
April 18, 2005. Prior to sending this notice to customers, it was reviewed by the Commission's
Bureau of Consumer Services ("BCS") and is attached hereto as Exhibit No. 9. See 52 Pa, Code
§ 62.75(2).

As indicated in CEI's accompanying Application, CEI intends to initially provide NGS
service in only the PECO Energy Company ("PECQ") service territory. In order to provide
service in this territory, CEI has already contacted PECO to address any credit issues. To that
end, PECO has acknowledged that CEI meets its NGS creditworthiness requirements. See

Exhibit No. 10.



IV. CONCLUSION
Wherefore, ACN Energy, Inc., and Commerce Energy, Inc., respectfully request that the
Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission: (1) grant this Petition; (2) authorize the transfer of
ACN Energy's NGS license at A-110102 to CEI; (3) approve CEIl's accompanying Application
for an NGS license; and (4) provide any other approvals that the Commission deems necessary.

Respectfully submitted,

7.7 %

/ Derricdricé Williamson
Charis Mincavage
100 Pine Street
Harrisburg, PA 17108
Tele.: 717.232.8000
Fax: 717.237.5300

Counsel to ACN Energy, Inc. and
Commerce Energy, Inc.

Date: April 8, 2005
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VERIFICATION

STATE OF Michigan

$8.
COUNTY OF Oakland

' mulce b . L
I,\jc"""’5 , herebyystate that the facts in the foregoing Joint Petition are true and

- correct to the best of my knowledge, information, and belief, and that | expect to be able to

prove the same at any hearing held in this matter. [ understand the statements herein are made

subject to the penalties of 18 Pa. C.S. §4904, relating to falsification to authorities.

Date: /'I[ /5 /05— @O‘»& %}\
?ﬂes Mulcahy
ecretary ap
ACN Energy, Inc.
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VYERIFICATION

STATE OF CALIFORNIA

S8.
COUNTY OF ORANGE

I, Peter Weigand, hereby state that the facts in the foregoing Joint Petition are true and
correct to the best of my knowledge, information, and belief, and that I expect to be able to prove
the same at any hearing held in this matter. I understand the statements herein are made subject

to the penalties of 18 Pa. C.S. §4904, relating to falsification to authorities.

Date; Mated 27, 2005 @
Pet¢r Weig
President RO

Commerce Energy, Inc.
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PENNSYLVANIA DEPARTMENT OF STATE R e <
CORPORATION BUREAU ! /“7“:;; i /95,
— - ' - .
Application for Amended Certificate of Authority e 3{5’( % /g
Entity Number Foreign Corporation ‘5’&4)
2890912 (15PaC3) 9,
_XX_ Foreign Business Corporation (§ 4126) ¢
_—_ Foreign Nonprofit Corporation (§ 6126)
Name Document will be returned to the
Betsy A. Ruth, McNees Wallace & Nurick LLC Rame and address you enter (o
Address =
100 Pine Strest, P.Q. Box 1166
City State Zip Code
Harrisburg PA 17108-1166
P
£
Fee: $250 i)
Filed in the Department of State on =
o
=
e
Secretary of the Commonwealth . ﬁf

~ In compliance with the requirements of the applicable provisions of 15 Pa.C.S. (relating to corporations and unincerporated
associations), the undersigned foreign corporation, desiring to receive an amended certificate of authority, hereby states that:

1. The name under which the corporation currently holds a certificate of authority to do business within the

Commonwealth of Pennsylvania is:
Commonwealth Energy Corporation

2. The name of the jurisdiction under the laws of which the corporation is incorporated is: Cglifornia

3. The address of its principal office under the laws of the jurisdiction in which it is incorporated is:

600 Anton Blvd., Suite 2000 Costa Mesa CA 92626

Number and Street City State Zip

4, The (a) address of this corporation's registered office in this Commonweaith or (b} name of its commercial
registered office provider and the county of venue is:

{a) Number and Street City State Zip County
{(b) Name of Commercial Registered Office Provider County
Philadelphia

cfo: CT Corporation System

Check if applicable:

The foregoing reflects a change in Pennsylvania registered office,

00 :HWY |- ydy 300z
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DSCB.15-412616126-2

5 The corporasion desires chas jt> cortificate of wuthority be amended 10 Change the nanwt uader which it is
aathorized to wansact buainess in the Commonwenlth of Pennsylvania 1o

Commarce Energy, inc.

6 If the name set forth m Paragraph 3 is not available far use in this Commonweaalth, complete the following:

The fictidous name which the corporation udopis for use in naasacting business m this Commonwealth is:

Tha.corporstion shall do business in Pennsylvanus only under such ficritiows name pursuant 1o the amached
resolution of the board of directors under the appiicaple provistans of 15 Pa.C.S. (relaring to corpomtions aud
wincerporated associations) and te amached form DSCB:54-31) (Applicsnon for Remstmtion of Fientious
MName).

n

1. Check ore af thy Joliowing:
& _ The change of same reflects a change sffected in the junsdiction of incorporation

- Documcnts complying with the applicable provisions of 15 Pa.C.8. § 4123(b) or 6123(b} (reliting to
exceprion; name) accompany Uns apphcatan,

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF, the undersigned
corporation hes cagsed this Application for an Amendod
Cartificse of Authority to be signed by a duly authonzed
officer theroof this

31ist duy of March

2005

Commonweaith Energy Corporation
Nameof Corporarion
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COMMONWEALTH ENERGY CORPORATION

ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION
AND
AMENDMENTS
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ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION o o e
: oF " of
COMMONWEALTH ENEAGY CORPORATION
AUG 15 1997
ARTICLE ONE WL S, Szowemry of Shafe

The namea 07 INis COrpPoOranon s;

COMMONWEALTH ENERGY CORPORATION

ARTICLE TWQ

The purpose of tms corparalion « 1o angage in any lawiul act or achvity for whith 1 corporaton
may be organized under the Beneral Corporatan vaw  § Californ:a, ownkr Tnap the Lanking Tusingss.
trust company huSiness or tNg pracuce of a grores$1en gRrmitled 10 0 IRCOMPOTATES By the Cantorvg

Cargarazans Coas
ARTICLE THREE

The nama ann anceess n e S1ate of Cadfornia at TS corpofaunit’s wunal agent tar service ot
BIOCBSS §§;

CARY C, WYRKIRAL
245 Fiscner Ave., Ste. A-)
Costa Mesa, TA 32828

ARTICLE FOUR

This corpartion iy authorizea 10 ssu2 (wo clagses of shares wnich ghat b6 dasigrated
“common” snares 3n0 TRIETETen” $haras. The [2Ga ameunT of common shares that Moy 08 1ISsuBed .&
rfty mtion 153,000.08C0). The totel number of praterreg shiares That s corparat:on shall Dave tha
authar 1y 10 155ue is one muiion {1,000,300;. Saia preterreg sharss shal pava 108 Ngiis. pnvieges ang
BreTerences as aewrmmed by (he Boarg af Direciors from Lima o dme.

ARTHILE SIVE

Tha hatilisy cf the Qiractars of the Corporation 1oF MONeTary damagas shaif Be epmaated o e
Tl 31 8Xtent permussihie under Camornia iaw.

ARTICLE SiX

© This corpration 8 authcrzen  prawds indamnification of agents ras gefined « Section 217
ar e CauTorma Corporations Codel tor greach o} duly 0 the corparanon ana iis shargholders througn
bylaw provisians of twoudn JGreEments with e agents. gr DATh, (0 expess o7 e spgemaiheanan
oxpressly pormuited by Sectoa 317 or e Canforma Carporanonsg Code. Sun}ect TooThe ituts of fotn
Eacesd indanihicalicos sel 1070 10 Stuon 20+ af tim Corpuqa’ion Zove, ™

Vi /7

!.’7{.‘6-’95{3:.‘:f ;

DATED: Acgust © 4, 1997

Snaryt Doauglzg

D i  ART I TIES
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CERTIFICATE OF DETERMINATION ~ EMBOR3ED = FILED

OF oo T - i
COMMONWEALTH ENERGY CORPORATION MAR 13 ¢33
a California Corporation - d;ﬁﬂ ‘p,,,ﬂ;m 1334

The undersigned, Fred Bloom, President, and David Mensch, Seoretary, comify thar

5. Tred Bloom i the Presidesy, and David Menschk s the Secrerary, of
Corrmonwealth Erergy Corporation. 3 Caifomia corporztion (the “Compans *).

z The number of snares of S2res A Convernble Preferred Steck shall be 1,000,000,

nene of which have been issued.

3. Bv action of the Board of Directors of the Company on September 13, 1957 at the
Company's offics Jocated at 15941 Redhill Ave., Ste. 200, Tusun, California 92780, Counry of

Orange. and Swre of California, the following resolution was adopted by unsnimous writen

censent of the direcrors:

WHERFEAS, Anicle Four of the Aricizs of [ncorporation of the Compsay authorizes o class
of spares desiunaid as Preferred shares consanng of 1,000,000 shares, the nights, preferenczs,
privileges 1o be determined by die Board of Directors; and

WHEREAS, none of the siages have previously been issved and i is now the desire of the
Board of Directors, pursuant to the authority vested in it by the Aumicles of Incorporavan as
hetsinabove set forth, w0 1% and dewermine the nghts, preferences. privileges, and resmctions of

the Preferred shares.

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Direcrors does hereby provide for
the issuance of Preferred Shares of the Company and does hereby fix and derermine the nghis,
preferences, privileges, and restricrions of, and other maners relanng to, thar serjes, as follows:

L 1,000,000 shares shall be designated 23 “Series A Convertible Prefered Siock”,
pone of which have becn previously isswed, with the powers, preferences, rights, restmetions, and
other magers as follows:

(1)  Dividends

{a) Subject 1o the provisions hereof, the spnuai rawe of dividends
pavable on each Share shall be 0% of the original issue price or the maximum mie av allowed
by taw, wiichever is less. Dividends shall be calculated from the date issue apd payable, in 2ach
case quanerly on the first day of Japuary, Apdl, June and Septzmber of cach year ("Dividend
Paymenst Daie”), copynencing fanvary 1, 1963, uniess any such day is aot 3 business day (3 day
otker than Sawsrday, Sunday or lzgal holiday) in which event on the nexy business day. The
amount of dividends payable on these Shares for each full semi-annual dividend period shall be
computed by dividing by two the annual rae per share set forth 1n this Section (3). The amoume
of dividends pavable on these Shares for any peniod less than each quanterly dividend period
shall be computed on the basis of a 360-day year of vwelve 30-day meaths. Dividends shall be

i
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paid, when, as and (f Jeclared by the Buard of Directars, 1o record holders of these Shares as
of the close of business on the preceding Decomber | wath respect (o a dividend payable on
january 1; Magch | with respect te 4 dividend pavadic on Aprf [; May 1 with respect 1o 2
dividend pavabls on fune 1 and August | with respect 6 2 dividend payable on Seprember I,
exo2pr that i such date (or derermination of record holders is not a Busigess Day, sach date sbail

be the nexr Busmess Dav {the “Dividend Recprd Date”).

(6}  The hoiders of these Shares shall be cafitled 1o receive, when, as
and if declared by :he Board of Directors and ovt of ife ussers of the Corportion waich are by
law available for the payment of dividends, cumulutive dividends payable w cash.

{c) i) Dividcnds an  these Shares shajl be cumularve.  Soch
drvidends shail accauc rrom the date of issuanes and shuil be deemed 0 accrue fram day 1o day
whether or not sumed or declared. Such dividends shal! be pavaole before any dividends shall
be declated, set apart. or paid for the Common Stock, and shall be cumuiadve 30 thar i for any
dividend period such dividends on the ouisianding Prefarred Shares ar the rate herein sperified
aze not paid or deciared and ser apart therefar, the deficiency shall be fuily paid or declared and
set apart for payment, without interest, before any disuibution, by dividend or otherwise, shall
be paid on, declared, or ser apart for the Common Stack.

(iiy  Each period beginning on the day aext following a Dividend
Payment Date and ending on the next succeeding Dividend Payment Dae shall be g "Dividend
Period”. Dividends shall accrue bur not compound on 2 daily basis at the semi-annual dividend
rate ig cffect at such dme.

(i}  If full dividends on all ousanding Shares at that raie per
share ser our in {a) shall not have been declared and paid or set aside for payment for the
immediarely preseding Dividend Period, the Corporation shail not, tmtil full dividends have been
declared and paid or set aside for payment on all outstanding Shares for a subsequent Dividend
Period, (A) declare ot pav or set aside for payment any dividends or make any other dismiburion
of payments op e Common Stock or (Bj make any payment on account of the purchase,
redemption or ather redrement of, of pay or make available any monies for a sinking fund for
the redemption of, any shares of Commen Stock

{2 Liguidarion Preference.

(a3 [n the event of any ligquidation, dissoludon ot winding up of the
Company, either voluntary or involuntary, the hoiders of Series & Preferred Stock shall be
enttled 10 receive, prior agd 1 prefereace to any dismibution of any of the assers of the Company
10 the holders of Cammon Stock or other junior equiry security by reason of their awnership
thereof, an amount per shace aqual w0 the sum of (i) 31.00 for each outstanding share of Senes
A Preferred Stock (the "Orniginal Issue Price™), and (if) an amount equa!l 10 all declared bur unpaid
dividends on =ach such share. If upon the occurtence of such cvent, the assers and funds thus
distributed among the holders of the Senizs A Preferred Stock shail be mnsufficient 1o permit the
payment 1o such holders of the full aforesud preferentiel 2mounts, then the entire gssets and
funds of the Company legally available for distribution shail be disiibuied ratably among the
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hoiders of e Series A Preferred Stock in proportion 1o the product of the iquidation preference
of »ach such share and the number of such shares owned by ¢ach such holder.

() After the distnbution described in subsecton () above has been
paid, the remaining assses of the Company availabie for distibuuon o sockhofders shall be
distibutzd among the holders of Common Stock pro mw based on the number of shares of

Cammon Stock held by esch.

(o) Far purposzs of this Secton 2, (1) any acquisinon of the Company
bv means of merger ot other form of corperare reorganizanon 1a which the shareholders of the
Company da aot own 1 majonty of the outstanding shares of the suniving Company or (i) a sale
of all or substantially all of the assas of the Company shall be weated as a liquidanun,
dissolution or winding up of the Company and shall ecdtle the holders of Seres A Preferrad
Stock and Common Stock to reczive at e closiag cash, secuntes or other property as specified
in Sectons 2(a) and 2(b) above

(@  Any securites ¢ be delivered 1o the holders of Scries A Preferzed
Stock and Common Siock pursuant 1o Seciton 2{¢) above shall be valued as foliows:

(i} Securities mot subject to invesiment lewter or ather similar
restricions on free marketadility:

(A) If waded on a securities exchange, the value shall be
deerned 10 be the average of the closing prices of the securities on such exchange over the thity

(30) day pericd ending three (3) days prior 1o the closing;

(B) H acdvely waded over-thucoupter, the value shafl be
deemed to be the average of the closing bid and asked prices over the dhirty (30) day period
ending three {3) days pyrior to the closing; and

(C) If here is no acnive public marker, the valye shall be the
fair marker value thereof, as murually determined by the Company and the holders of not less
than a majority of the then outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock.

(1) The method of valuation of securides subject 1o investment lener
or other restricyons an free marketability <hall be 10 make an 2ppropriare disconar from the
macket value determined as above i clauses {()(A), (B) or (C) o reflect the approximate falr
market value thereof, as murcally derermined by the Company and the holders of a majority of
the then outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock

{¢) The Company shall give each holder of record of Serdes A Preferred
Stock wntren notice of such impending Tansaction not later than rwengy (20) days prior to the
stockholders” meeting called 1o approve such transaction, or iwenty (20} days prior to the closing
of such transacuon, whichever 1 earlier, ang shall also aorify such holders in writing of the figal
approval of such gunsacrion. The first of such notices shall descrbe the material wmms and
conditions of the impending wansacuon and the provisions of this Scction 2, and the Company
shall thereafter give such helders prompt notice of any matenal changes. The ansaction shall

3
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in no <vent take place earlicr than twenty (20) days after the Company has given the first notics
provided for herein or earlier than ten days aner the Company has given noric2 of anyv material
changes provided for herewm; provided, however, thal such pertods may be shorened upon the

wrinten consens of the holders of 1 majonuy of the shares of Series A Preferred Stock then
ousanding.

{3} Conversion, The holders of Series A Prefecred Stock shail have conversion
rights as foliows (the "Conversion Righw").

{a) Riehr To Converr.  Subjegt 10 subsection (d), 2ach shars of
oursianding Senes A Prefzrred Stock shail be convenible, ac the option of the holder thereof, at
any time arter the date of issuance of Such snare, at the office of the Company or any iransier
agent for such steck, into such number of fuily paid and noneassessable shares of Comymnon Stock
15 is determuned by dividing the Onginal Issue £nce by the Conversion Price in effect at the time
for the Seres A Prefarred Swock {the “Conversion Prica”). The iniual Copversion Price per shara
for shares of Sencs A Preferred Stock shall be the Original Issue Prics, subject 10 adjustment as

a2t forth 1 subsacrion {d).

() Auromanc Conversion. Each share of Series A Preferred Stock shail
automarically be converted into shares of Common Swock at the Conversion Price then in effect
for the Scres A Prererred Stock itnmediately upon (i) the closing of the sale of the Company’s
Common Stock in 1 bona fide, firmly dadersduen public offering registered under the Securines
Act of 1933, as amended (the "Secunies Act”) pursnans 1o a registraton statement on Form 3-1
or any successor or similar form or (ii) the approval of holders of 66-2/3% of the outstanding

shares of Series A Preferred Stock

() Maeachanics of Conversion.

(i) Before any holder of Senes A Preferred Siock shall be entitled
voluntarily 1 convert rthe same into shares of Common Stack, he shall surrender the cemificate
or czruficates therefor, duly endorsed, at the office of the Company or of any transfer agent for
such stock, and shall give wrinen notics 1o the Company at such office thar he ¢lecis to conven
the same and shall state therein the number of shares o be convented and the name or names in
which he wishes the ceruficate or cemificatas for shares of Common Stock 10 be issued. The
Company shall, as spon as practicable thervafter, issue and deliver at such office w such holder
of Sedes A Preferred Siock, a cenificate or caruficatas for the number of shares of Common
Stock o which pe shall be entitled. Such conversion shall be decmed o have been made
immediately prior to the ciose of business on the date or surrdeder of the shares of Serles A
Preferred Stock to be converted, and the person or persons endtled o recerve the shares of
Common Stock issuable upon such conversion shall be treuted for all purposes as die record
holder or holders of such shares of Common Stock on sueh date,

(31) If the conversion is in comnection with an underwritien
offering of sccupties pursuant o the Secunues Act, the coaversion may, at the option of any
holder tendering shares of Sertes A Preferred Srock for conversion, be conditioned wpon the
closing with the underwriters of the sale of sacuritics pursuant (o such offering, in which event

-3
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dhic personis) entitled to récztve the Commen Stock upon conversion of the Series A Prefeyred
Stock shall nor be deemee  have converied such Senes A Preizmed Stock unal immediately

prior za the closing of sveh sale ot secunties.

W) Adiusments to Copversion Pricas for Stock Dividends and for

- Combinations or Scebdivisicns of Common Sigek. [n the @veat that the Company at anyv time ar

from dme 0 dme 2Rer the st date of anv issuance of Senes A Preferred Stock (the Original
[ssue Date”y shall Jeclare or pav, wiiiout congiderlion, any dividend on the Common Siock
pavible m Commen Stock or in any right 19 scquire Commen Stock for zo consideraton, or shall
affec: a subdivision of the cutstanding shares or Common Stocx o 4 greacsr number of shares
of Common Stock (bv stock split, reclassification or otherwise than by payment of 3 dividend
in Common Stock or in any dght © acquite Conunen Stack), or in the ¢vear he oursianding
shares of Common Stack shat! be cambined or consolidated, by reciassification or atherwise, into
a lesser number of shares of Common Steck, then the Conversion Price m effact immediately
prior 1o such cvent shull, concurrendy with the effeciveness of such event, be proportionately
decreased or increaseg, as appropriate. In the event hat the Company shall declare or pay,
without consideradon, any dividead on the Common Stock pavable i any nght 1o acquure
Commen Stock for no consideration, then the Company shall be deemed to have made 1 dividend
pavable 1n Common Stock in an amount of shares equal © the maximum number of sbares
issuable upen #xercise of such rights to acquire Common Stock.

{2) Adiustments for Reclassification _and Reoreanizadon.  If rhe
Comimon Stock issuable upon conversion of the Sertes A Preferred Stock shall be changed inio
the same or a differept aumber of shares of apv other class or classes of steek, whether by capital
recrganization, reclassificaton or otherwise {other thap a subdivision or combinadon of shares
provided for in Secron 3(d) above or a meraer or other reorganzation referred 1 1 Scetion 2(d)
above), the Conversion Price then in effect shall, concarrendy with the effectiveness of such
reorzanization or reclassification, be proportionaely adjusted so that the Senes A Preferred Stock
shall be convertible into, in liew of the number of shares of Common Stock whicn the holders
would ctherwiss have been entted 0 receive, a number of shares of such other class or classes
of stock equivalent to the number of shares of Common Srock that would have been subject 10
receipt by the holders upon conversion of the Series A Preferred Stock immediately before hat

change.

(H No Impairment. The Company will noi, by ameadment of s
Amicles of Incorperation or trough any reorganizanon, transfer of assets, conseiidation, merger,
dissolurion, issue or sale of securities or any other voluntary action, avoid or seek o avoid the
observance or performance of any of ihe lerms t0 be observed or performed hervunder by the
Company, but will at all times in good faith assist in the carrving oat of al] the provisions of this
Secton 3 and in the making of all such action as may be necessary or appropriate in Jrder o
protect the Conversion Rights of the holders of the Series A Preferred Stock against impaianent

{a) Cemificares as to Adjusiments.  Lipon the occurrence of each
adjusanent or readjusument of any Conversion Price pursuant to this Sectuon 3, the Compuny, at
its expense shall promptly compure such adjustment or readjustment in accordancs with the erms
hereof and prapare and furnish to cach holdar of Scries A Preferred Stock a cemificate sxecuted

wn



"Mar-24~2005 10:52am  From-1800ELECTRIC 7142582516 T-682  P.008/020 F-T64

by the Comgpany's President or Chief Financiai Officer setung fomh such adjustment or

ceadjustment and showing in dewil the facts upon which the Company shall, upon the wrinen
request af any nme of any holder of Series A Preferred Stock, furnish or cause 10 be fumnished
to such holder a Hxe ceruficars sexing forth (i) such adjustments and readjustments, (i1} the
Convarsion Price at e tme in 2rfect, and (iil) the number of shares of Common Stock and the
amount, if any, of other property wiuch at the time would be reczived upon tbe conversion of

the Scries A Preferrad Swock,

(h)  Noucss of Reeord Date.  In the evenr that the Company shail
propose at any ume' (1) o declars any dividend or distnbunon upen its Commoen Stock, whether
ip cash, propernty, stock or other securiiies, whether or not a reguiar cash dividend and whathar
or not Qut Of camings or camed surplus; (L) w offer for subsenpiion pro rata 10 the holders of
any class or senes of its sieck any addirional shares of stock of any class or series or other fights;
(i) 10 effact any reclassification or recapitalizanion of us Common Stock vuistanding involving
a chapge in the Commen Siock; or (iv) 10 merge or consplidate with or o amv other
corporation, or sell, iease or convey all or subszandally all of irs assets, or 10 liquidare, dissolve
or wind up; then, in connection with each such event, th2 Company shall sead ¢ the holders of

Series A Preferred Stock;

(A} At least tweary (20} days pror wrniten notice of the daie on
which a record shail be aken for such dividend, distribution or subscription rights (and specyying
the date on which the hoiders of Common Stock shall be znriled thereto) or for determining
righis o vore, if any, in respect of the martars referred w in (i1} and {iv) above; and

(B)  In the case of the matrers referred to 1n (il) and (iv) above,
at least twenty (20) days prior written notice of the dai¢ when the same shall take place (and
specifying the dare on which the holders of Common Stock shal] be entitled 1o exchange their
Common Stock for secunities or other propery deliverable upon the occurrence of such event).

(i} Regervation of Siock Issuable Upon Conversion. The Company
shall at all "mes reserve and keep availablc our of its 2uthorized but unissued shares of Common
Siock, solely for the purpose of effecting the conversion of the shares of the Series A Preferred
Stock, such number of its shares of Common Swock as shall from dme 1o dme be sufficient 10
effect the conversion of all outstanding shares of the Series A Preferred Stock; and if ar any time
the number of authorized but unissued shares of Common Siock shall nor be sufficient 10 effect
the conversion of all then ontstanding shares of the Serics A Preferred Stock, the Company will
rake such corporaie action a3 may, in the opinion of its counsel, be pecessary 1o increase fis
authorized bur unissued shares of Common Stock 10 such number of shares as shall be sufficient
for such purpose, including, without limitation, engaging in best effores w0 obtain the requisite
stockholder approval of aay necessary amendmenr (o this Carmificare.

0] Fractional Shargs. No fractionul share shall be issued upon the
canversion of any share or shaces of Series A Preferrsd Swcck. All shares of Common Stack
{including fracrions thereof) issuable upon convemsion of more than one share of Serfes A
Preferted Siock by a hoider hereof shall be aggregated for purposes of detarmining whether the
conversion would result in the issuance of any fractional share. If, after the aforementioned
aggregarion, the conversion would result in the 1ssuance of 4 fraction of a share of Common

6
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Swoek, the Company shail, :n YHeu of 1ssuing any iTactonal share, pay the holder otherwise
entitied 1o such fraction = 3en @ Jash 2agual to the far marker value of such fraction on the date
of cenversion (23 determatned in wood fakh by the Board of Direciors).

R Nerces, Any aouce r2qlired by the provisious of dus Section 3
10 be given o the hoicers of shires of Sencs A Preferred Stock shall be deemed given if
deposited in dhe Umred States musl, postage pregaid, and addressed to each holder ot record ag
his address appeanng an the bocks of the Company.

&3 Vadng Rights. The holder of cachh shage of Senes A Prefemved have the
tight © one vole for zuch share of Comunon Stock imo which such share of Series A Prefered
Siock could be vonvertsd on the récard date for the vote Or wrieten consent of stockholders. In
all cases uny fractionzi share, defermined on an aggregate conversion basis, shal] be roundec
the gearest whole share. With respect 1o such vote, such holder shall have full voting righs and
powers equal o the voring fdgits and powers of the holders of Common Swock, and shall be
éatitled, notwithsuanding agy provision hereof, (@ notice of any stockhoiders meeting in
accordance with the bvlaws of the Company, and shall be =ntitled 1o vote, together with holders
of Common Stock, with réspect 1o any question upon which holders of Common Stock have the

rIght o vore.

{5) Starus of Copverted Siock. [n the event anv shures of Series A Preferred
Stock shall be converted pursuanc to Section 3 hereof, the shares so converted shall be cancsled

and shall not be iswuable by the Company, and ail such shares shall be canceled, retired and
2himinated from the shares which the Company is authorized o issue.

(6}  Resmcuons and Limiratons. So long as zny shares of Serjes A Preferred
Stock remain outstanding, the Company shall nor, withour the vote or wrimen consent by the
holders of at least a majority of the then ourstanding shares of Serjes A Preferred Stock, amend
these Articles of Incorporation if such amendment would adversely affect any of the rights,
preferences or privileges provided for herein for the berefit of the Series A Preferred Stock.

RESOLVED FURTHER, that the President and Secretary of the Company are hereby authorized
and direcied to prepare, execurz, verify, and file in the office of the California Secretary of State,

a Cernficate of Determinanon in accordance with this resolution is required by law,

WE FURTHER DECLARE, under peaalty of perjury under the faws of the State of Califomia,
that the maters ser forth in dus Cemificate of Determination z2re true and correct of our own

knowledze.

Exécared this 22nd dav of Seplember, 1997 i Costa ¥asa, Californis.

7
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ENDOHSED - FILED
CERTIFICATE OF AMENDMENT in the Ofiico of ihe Secretary of Slate
OF ot the State of Caifornia

ARTICLES OF E;SORPOR&TION FEB1 ¢ 1399

COMMONWEALTH ENERGY CORPORATION
BILL JONES, Secretary of State

The undersigned cerifly thar

They are the president and secretary, respectively of COMMONWEALTH

1
ENERGY CORPORATION, a Califorma corporation.

article Four of the Anicles of Incorperation of this corporation {s amended to
read as rollows:

12

This corporation 13 authorized w issue rwo classes of shares which shall
be destenated “common” shares and “preferred” shares. The rotal amoum of
common shares thar may be issued is fifty millioa (50,000,000). The total number
of prefarred shares that thas corperation shall have the authority 1o issue is wen
mulion (10,000,000). Said preferred shares shall have the righes, privileges and
preferences as determined by the board of directors from rime o time.

3 The foregoing amendment of Anicles of Incarporasion has been duly approved by
the board of direciors.

The foregoing amendment of Amicles of Incorporation has been duly approved by
the required vote of shareholders in accordance with Section 902 and Secnion 903,
Califomia Corporations Code. The total number af outstanding common shates
of the corporation i 10,939,931, The number of shares vatng in favor of the
amendment equaled or exceeded the vote required. The percentage vore required
was more than 50%. Thc total number of ourstanding preferred shares of the
corporztion is 919,000, The number of shares voiing 10 favor of the amendment
equaled or exceeded the vote required. The percenuige vote required was more

than 30%.

We fuether declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the
matters set forth in this cemificate are 1me and correcr of our own knowledge, /

Date: December 31, 1998 Oﬂ%\
1 g

ensch Presidear

. Q,_ﬂ-

Donnie E. Prce, Secrerary /_,,.— =~
’ §

'/

ot ERRL Y wf.vam* \

1 I
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WAIVER OF NOTICE OF FIRST MEETING
OF THE SHAREHOLDERS
OF
COMMONWEALTH ENERGY CORPORATION

We, the undersigned, the shareholders of Commonwealth Energy Corporation do hereby
waive notice of the time, place and purpose of the first meeung of the sharcholders of said
corperation, and consent that the meeting be held in the uffices of Gary C. Wykidal, 243 Fischer
Ave, Sutie A-1, Costa Mesa, Califorma on August 15, 1897 at 100 a.m., and we do furher

consent 10 the rransacrion of any and all business which may properly come before this meeting.

DATED: this 15th day of August, 1997 e
Y / i ?L:a? e\

Frederick M. Bloom, Shureholder

DACOMMONIWA [-SHA PRV
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BY-LAWS
of
COMMONWEALTH ENERGY CORPORATION

a California corporation

ARTICLE {

DIRECTORS: MANAGEMENT

Secrion 1. a. Puwers,

Subject 1o the provisions of the General Corporarion Law of Califomnia,
effective January 1, 1977 (1o which the various Section numbers quated herein relate) and subject
to uny limitation in the Articles of Incorporation and the By-Laws relating 1o action required 1o
be approved by the Shurehoiders (Sce. 133} or by the outstanding shares (Sec. 152), the business
and arfairs Of this corporauon shall be managed by and all corporare powers shall be 2xercised

by or under direciion of the Board of Direciors.

b. Standard of Care.

Each Director shall exercise such powers and otherwise perform such dutes
in good faiih, in the manner such Director believes 1o be in the bext Interesis of the corporation,
and with such sare. including reasonable inquiry, using ordinary prudence, as o person in a like
posirion would use under siimilar circumstzances. {Sec. 309)

C. Exception for Close Comoration.

Nowwithstanding the provisions of Secrion [, in the evemt that this
corporation shall clect 1o become a close corporation as defined in Sec. 158, its Shareholders may
enter into 4 Shareholdars” Agreement s provided in Sec. 300 (b). Said agreemen: may provide

for the exercise of corporate powers an the management of the business and affairs of this

corporstion by ithe Shareholders, provided however such agreement shall, to the exteny and so
long a3 the discretion or the powers of the Board in its management of corporare affairs is
conirolled by such agreement, impose upon each Shareholder who is a parry thereof, liability for
managerial zers performed or omitted by such person pursuant rhereto otherwise imposed npon

Direcrors as provided in Sec. 300 (d).

+ T TOB\RYLARS
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Number and Qualificaton.

Section 2.

The authonized number of Direciors of the corportion shall be no less than the
minimurn nomber of shargholders and no more than seven (7).

This aumber may be chunged by amenadment o the Articles of [neorporation or
by an umendment to this Sevtion 2, ARTICLE [ of these By-Laws, adopred by the vote or
written asseat of the Sharcholders emtitded to exereise majority voring power ag provided in Sec.

212,

Section 3. Elecuon and Tenure of Offize.

The Direciars shull be clected by ballog at the annual mecting of the Sharzholders,
1o 3erve for one year or untif their successors are elected and have qualified. Their rerm of office

shail begin immediately ufier clection.

Secuion 4. Vacaneies.

Vacancies in the Board of Directors may be filled by a majority of the remaining
Directors, though less than 3 querum, or by a sele remaining Direcior, and each Director so
elevied shall hotd office until his successor is elected ar an uonual meetng of Shareholders or

at a special meeting called for that purpose.

The Shareholders may u any ume elect a4 Director to fill any vacancy not filled
by the Direciors, and may elect the additional Directors at the meeting ar which an amendment
of the By-Laws (s voted authorizing an increasz in the aumber of Direciors.

A vacancy of vacancies shall be deemed 10 exist i case of the denth, resignation
ar wemoval of any Director, or if the Sharcholders shall increase the authodzed number of
Directors but shail fail at the meeng ar which such increase is awthorized, or at 2n adjournment
therzof, 1 elect the addinonal Director so provided for, or in case the Shareholders fail at any

ume 10 elecr the full number of autherized Direciors.

[f the Bourd of Directors accepts the resignation of 3 Director tendered 1o take

rake uffice when che resignation shall become sffectve.

No reduction of the number of Directors shall have the effect of remaving any
Director prior to the expiration of {us rerm of office.

2 LCOMMONARYLANS

2



" Mar-24-2005 t0:55am  From-1BODELECTRIC 7142502518 T-692 P.018/020 F-784

Remaoval of Durectors.

Section 3.

The entire Bouard of Directors or any individual Direeror may be removed from
office as provided by secs. 302, 303 and 304 of the Corporations Code of the State of California.
I such case, the remaining Board members may elect a successor Director 1o fill such vacancy
for the remaining uncxpired term of the Direcror so removed.

Naorice, Place 2nd Manner of Meetings.

Section 6.

Meetings of the Board of Directors may be calied by the Chairman of the Board,
of the President, or any Vice President, or the Secretary, or any rwo (2) Directors and shall be
heid ar the principal execurive office of the corporation in the State of California, unless some
other place is designated in the notice of the meeting. No notice need be given of organization
meetings or rezular meetings held 2t the corporate offices at the time and daie set forth herein.
Notice shall be given of other meaiings as herein provided. Members of the Board may
pamticipate in 3 meenng through use of 3 conference telephone or similar communications
equipment so long as all members participating in such 4 meeting can hear one anorther.
Accurate minutes of any mezting of the Bourd, or any commites thereof, shall be maintained as
required by Scc. 1300 of the Code by the Secretary or other Officer designated for thar purpose.

QOreanizarion Meerines - Resular Merziqgg

Section 7.

The organization meetings of the newly elected Board of Directors shall be held
immediately following the udjournment of the annual meetings of the Shareholders.

Orher Resular Meerinps.

Regular mectings of the Board of Directors shall be heid ar the corporare offices,
ar such other place as may be designated by the Board of Directors, as follows:

Time of Regular Mecting:  11:00 a.m.
Date of Regular Mecting:  First Monday in August

If said day shall fall upon 12 holiday, such meetings shall be held on the next
succeeding business day thereafter.

Scetion 8. Special Mectings - Notices.

Specinl meetings of the Board may be called ar any time by the President or, if
he is absenr or unable or refuses ro act, by any Vice President or the Secretary or by any two

Directors, or by one Director if only one is provided.

3 D_\COMMON\BYLAWS
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At least forty-cight (48) hours natice of the ume und place of special mecungs
shatl be delivered personally to the Directars or personally communicated to them by a corporate
Officer by telephons or elegraph. M the noiice is sent 10 o Director by lewter, it shall be
addressed to him at bhis addrﬂss as it s shown upan the records of the COr'pDIJUOII for if i1 is not
5o shown on such records or is not readily ascenainable, at the place in which the mestings of
the Directors are repulurly held). In case such uotice is mailed, it shall be Jdeposited in the
United States mail, postage prepaid, 1o the place in which the principal executive office of the
corporation is jocated at least foar (4) days prior o the time of the holding o the meeting. Such

mailing, telegraphing, relephoning or delivery as above provided shall be due, legal and pr:rsonal

notice to such Directar.

Secuon 9. Wiivers.

When (1) all of the Directors are present 1t uny organizational, regular or special
moeting, however called or noticed, and sign 2 wnuen consent thereto on the records of such
meeting, or, (i) 1f 2 majority of the Dircctors are present and if those nor present sign a waiver
of notice of such meeting or 2 consent 10 holding the meeting or an approval of the minules
thereof, whether prior 10 or afier the holding of such meeting, which said waiver, conseat ar
appraval shall be filed with the corporate records or made a3 parr of the minutes of the mesting
or (iii) if » Director attends 2 meeting without notice but withoy protesiing, prior thereto or at
its commencement, the lack of notice to him, then the transacrions thereof are as valid as if had

at a meeting regulardy called and noticed,

Sole Director Provided bv Andcles of Incorporation.

Seetion 10,

In the event only one Director is regquired by the By-Laws or Amicles of
Incorporation, then any reference herein 1 notices, waivers, consents, meetings or other acions
by a majority or quorum of the Directors shall be deemed to refer 1o such norice, waiver, ate.,
by such sole Director, who shall have all the rights and duties and shall be ennirled © exercise
all the powers and shall assume all the responsibilities otherwise herein deseribed s aiven 1o a

Buoard of Direciars,

Direciors Acring bv Unanimouws Writtan Consent.

Secrion 1.

Any action required or permitted to be taken by the board of Direciors may be
taken without 3 meeting and with the same force and effecr as if wken by 2 unanimous vore of
Directors, if awhorized by a writing signed individuaily or collecnively by all members of the
Board. Such consent shail be filed with the regular minutes of the Board.

Section 12, Quorum.

A majority of the number of Directors as fixed by the Armcles of Incorporarion
or By«Laws shall be necessary 10 constitute a quorum for the rransaction of business. and the

3 mASPRENAS VAT



|
]
I
|
|
|
|
|
i
1
|
|
'
|
|
l
I
|
i

" Mar-24-2005  10:56am From-1809ELECTRIC 71425825186 T-882  P.019/020 F-784

action of 2 majonty of the Dirccrors present ar any meeting at which there is a quorum, when
duly assembled, is valid as 4 corporae act; provided that a minority of the Direciors, in the
absence of 3 quorum. may adjoum from dme 10 dme, bur may not Uansact any business. A
méeting at which 3 quorum is initially present may coarinue to transact business, norwithsianding
the withdrawal of Dirertors, if any action taken s approved by a majority of the required quorum

for such meeting.

Sccton 13, Noice of Adjourmment.

Notice of the time and place of holding an adjouned meeting need not be given
to ubsent Directors if the time and place be fixed at the meeting adjoumed and held within
twenry-four (24) hours, but if adjouned more than twanry-four (24) hours, notice shall be given
10 all Direcrors not present 1 the fime of the adjourmnment.

Section 14,  Compensarion of Direcrors.

Directors, as such, shail not receive any stated salary for their services, but by
resojution of the Board a fixed sum and expsnse of auendance, if apy, may be allowed for
auandance ar each regular and special meeting of the Board; provided that nothing herein
contained shall be constued 10 preclude wny Director from serving the company in any other

capacity and receiving compensation therefor.

Section 5. Commilices.

Comiminees of the Board may be appoinred by resolution passed by 1 majority of
the whole Board. Comunirtees shall be composed of two or more members of the Board, and
shall have such powers of the Board as may be expressly delegated 10 it by resohuion of the
Buard of Directors, except those powers expressly made non-delegable by Sec. 31t

Secrion 16, Advisony Direciors.

The Bogrd of Direciors from time 10 Ume may elect one or more persons to be
Advisary Directors who shall not by such appoiniment be members of the Baard of Directors.
Advisory Directors shall be available from ime to time 10 perform special assignments specified
by the President, to atend meetings of the Board of Directors upon invitation and o furnish
caasuliation to the Board. The period during which the title shall be held mayv be prescribed by
the Boad of Directors. If no period is prescribed, the title shail be heid ar the pleasure of the

Board.

Secrion 17,  Resignaiions.

Any Direcror may resign cffecuve upon giving written notice o the Chairman of
the Board, the President, the Secretary or the Board of Directors of the corporarion, uniess the
notice specifizs a later time for the effectiveness of such resignation. f the resignarion is

in

- . SUMMON\RYLARS
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effecrive ar a future time, 2 successor muy be clected 0 1ake office when the resignanon becomes

effecnive.
ARTICLY II
QFFICERS
Secton 1. Officers.

The Officers of the worporauon shail be a Chairman of the Board or a President
or both, 1 Secretary and a Chief Financial Officer.  The corporation may also have, at the
discrerion of the Board of Directors, one or more Vice Presidents, one or more Assistant
Secretaries and such other Officers as may be appoinied in accordance with the provisions of
Section 3 of this Article. One person may hold two or more offices.

Section 2. Election.

The Otficers of the corporation. except such Officers as may be appointed in
accordance with the provisions of Section 3 ar Section 3 of this Aricle shall be chosen annually
by the Board of Directors, and each shall hold his office until he shall resign or shall be remaved
or otherwise disqualified to serve, or his successor shall be elected and qualified.

Secrion 3. Subordinate Officers Fie.

The Board of Directors may appoint such other Officers as the business of the

corporation may require, cach of whom shall hold otfice for such period, have such authority and
perform such duties as are provided in the By-Laws or as the Board of Directors may from time

o tme determine.

Section 4. Removal and Resienation.

Any Officer may be removed, either with or without cause, by a majodty of the
Directors at the ime in office, ar any regolar or special meeting of the Board, or, except in case
of an Officer chosen by the Board of Directors, by any Officer upon whom such power of
remaval may be conferred by the Board of Direcrors.

Any Officer may resign ar any time by giving wruen notice io the Board of
Directors, or to the President, or 1o the Seererary of the corporation.  Any such resignarion shall
take effcer af the date of the receipr of such notice or ar any later time specified therein; and,
unless otherwise specified 1herein, the acceprance of such resignation shall nor be necessary tw

make ir effecrve.
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State of Californ'ia
Secretary of State

|, Cathy Mitchell, Acting Secretary of State of the State of California,
hereby certify:

That the attached transcript of l page(s) has been compared with
the récord on file in this office, of which it purports to be a copy, and that it
is full, frue and correct.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, | execute this
certificate and affix the Great Seal of the
State of California this day of :

MAR 2 3 2005

CATHY MITCHELL
Acting Secretary of State

Set/Stalo Form CE-107 (REV 03/2003)
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CERTIFICATE OF AMENDMENT MAR 2 2 2005

H

ARTICLERS OF

INCORPORATION

‘Pefer Weigantsnd Richard L Boughiiiin hinehy
1. They-are the Piesifleiit and Secretary, rempectively; of Coinionwerlth.

Tinetgy Corporation; & Califorkia gofporation (the “Corporatior”).

9. ArtidlgTof e Artmlasoflnoorpmmononhiwmpurauonis»hmby

iamerided toreail in.its eniirety as‘®llows:

e yiame:of this-corporation.is Commerce Energy, fno

3, ‘The forcgoing:agmidment of ths Atticiés of Ingorpofétidnihad bast tuly
approved by the Board:of Directors.of this:Corporation.

4  The'forepoing amendmefit:of the Artiéles wof Inoorporatisn-fias been duly:
approved'by the féquired votéiof sharéholders: i agcordaics with Section 903.of the
Corporations Cods: The total munber.of outstanding shares of Common Stock of the |
Corporation s 30,553,540, The Corpstafion has no outanding sharos of proferred stock.
The momber of shéres voring in:favor of thie foregoing ametidiiet-equaled oriexceeded
the.vote requirsd. The percéntage vote requiréd was moré than fifty percent (5034) of tha

Cozmin Stock.

. Wefurtliny 8dclafe inder penalty ol pétuey buider the Jaws of thieStateof.
Califiénia that:the matters set out i this Certificate of Amendment are trugand, comeet of

out i kiiowledge.-
Dalail; Mirchsl/

ORI

ID:1-916-649-9933 MAR 23°'05 15:39 No.003 P.02

ENDORSED - FILED

In the office of the Sacrefary of Blale
of the Gtate of Califoryia



APPENDIX A

COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA
PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION

TAX CERTIFICATION STATEMENT

A completed Tax Certification Statement must accompany all applications for new licenses, rencwals or transfers. Foilure 10 provide the requested information
and/or any outstanding slate income, corporation, and sales (including lailure to file or register) will couse your application to be rejected. 1f additional space is
needed, please use white 81/27 x 117 paper. Type or print all information requested.

{_ CORPORATE OR APFLICANT NAME 2. BUSINESS PHONENO. (714 ) 259-2500

CONTACT PERSON(S) FOR TAX ACCOUNTS: Kenneth Robinson

Commerce Energy, Inc.

3. TRADEFICTITIOUS NAME (IF ANY)

4, LICENSED ADDRESS (STREET, RURAL ROUTE, P.0O. BOX NO.) (POST OFFICE)
600 Anton Boulevard, Costa Mesa CA

[] SOLE PROPRIETOR

STATE) (Z1P)
92626

{X] CORPORATION

5. TYPE OF ENTITY [J PARTNERSHIP

8. LIST OWNER(S), GENERAL PARTNERS, OR CORPORATE OFFICER(S)

NAME (PRINT) SOCIAL SECURITY NUMBER  {OPTIONAL)
Peter Weigand I - 1 - L1 ]

NAME (PRINT) SOCIAL SECURITY NUMBER  (OPTIONAL)
Richard Boughrum L1 1 -1  I-L 1 |

NAME (PRINT}) SOCIAL SECURITY NUMBER  (OPTIONAL)
| S I IS IR T NN B B ]

NAME (PRINT) SOCIAL SECURITY NUMBER  {OPTIONAL}
Lt - - ]

NAME {PRINT) SOCIAL SECURITY NUMBER  (OPTIONAL)
.t ! J-t -1 J

9. LIST THE FOLLOWING STATE TAX IDENTIFICATION NUMBERS. (ALL ITEMS: A, B, AND C MUST BE COMPLETED).

A. SALES TAX LICENSE (8 DIGITS) APPLICATION APPLICATION
PENDING NiA PENDING N/A

I Y O O R N s R N I O O O B .

C. CORPORATE BOX NUMBER {7 DIGITS)

APPLICATION
PENDING NIA

Lalsl-lolzletolslslst o O

B. EMPLOYER ID (EIN) (9 DIGITS:

10. Do you bave PA employes cither resident or non-resident?

[] ves X ~o

1 1. Do vou awn any assets or have an office in PA?

] VES & ~no

NAME AND.PHONE NUMBER OF PERSON(S) RESPONSIBLE FOR FILING TAX RETURNS

Kenneth Robinson
CORPORATE TAXES

Kenneth Robinson
EMPLOYER TAXES

Kenneth Robinson
PA SALES AND USE TAX

pong  (714) 259-2500 piiong  (714) 259-2500 paone  (714) 259-2500

Telephone inquiries about this form may be directed to the Pennsylvania Department of Revenue at the following numbers:
(717) 772-2673, TDD# (717) 772-2252 (Hearing lmpaired Only)

Natura] Gas Supplicr License Application 14
PA PUC Document #; 139346



,l + _ Service provided by - | Lo
} chmerce Energy _ 20 QO%nIergy Enrol!}ment Center: ;
I In Alliance-with ACN F;; On?dgnrr;mtggnzltlssﬂ;mss()a‘) 'i':!
[@@5?@&@@@ CENROLLMENT FORM [ K
PENNSYLVANIA - ‘B GAS - BELECTRIC)

{Check box te select the senvice)
Plug-In and Reap the Rewards of a Competitive

Have you provided aII the necessa
Mar ketp'ace inforn?atlog to complete yourcg?derrx?
Commerce Energy is dedicated to providing highlyreliable gas and electric service at competitive rates with (O current (tility Bill Attached
perschalized service. As the largest non wtility affillated retaif marketer of natural gas and electricity in America [ Current Utility Account Numier
our focus:is on being the Lest retail energy company in the business. We are not a trading company, and we are [ First anc Last Name
not a utility. Retall energy is our sole focus. Commerce Energy is financially strong enough to provide security to [ senvice Address
our customers, but not so large that we have forgotten that our customers are the reason we are In business. T social Security Number and Date of Birth
Switching to Commerce Energy is easy! Regardless of whether you use gas or. electric service, Commerce will use %szr.ze[;;'snamre

your existing lines. Cur foundation is built upon quality, reliability and complete customer satisfaction. utilize your

power of choice and let us start working for you today. Representative Signature

Representative Team 1D Numbser
Federal Tax Payer |0 (for Commergial Customers)

‘s 03 . IMPORTANT NOTE .

' CUSTOMER'ID = FOR'COMMERCE ENERGY OFFICE USE ONLY.

This enroliment form WILL BE INCOMPLETE W|thout an ENTI RE
copy of the customer's. current utility bill,

FTECURRENT-UTILITY INFORMATION

GasUuhtyNamel I I l l—[ I l . ’ IJ E!ectricUtiI'JtyNamel | | l I I l I | I | | I
CurremGasAccount#r[ {_l l I l | ] CurrentEIectric.Account#{ | l | I | [ I ! J-, | | I‘

D | have attached my current Wtility Bill with .he Enrollment Form
%2 CUSTOMER INFORMATION .

e T T T T T LI T T T T T T e e (T T T
Daytime Telephone Number] l ] H 1 [ |—| | | | | Evening Telephone Number E_I___JW [ [ | || | I I l
Soclal Security Number| I [ H ! H | | [ | AND CustcmerDateofBinhr;l;—J| - | y,l, [ |
Emi'Addressll|IJ|I||I|llll|||l||l!lll||||l‘lJ

(Name of Current Wilily Service Provider, Social Sectitity Nurmber AND Date of Birth ere REQUIRED o process ALL orders)

H3: BILLING INFORMATION (IF DIFFERENT)

amsases | T 11 111 11T T T T I T T I I T T[T TT]
e (T LI L LT T [ (] [ Jose[ [ e [ T[] |

Wa: HSPECIAL REQUIREMENTS | _
Do vouhave life support equipment in operation at this service address? D Yes D No

‘6. 'REQUIRED FOR.COMMERCIAL CUSTOMERS ONLY
rederalTaxPayersD[ | H | I l l I [ | l l

USTYQURITAX STATUS 314

D Nen-Exempt D Exempt  if exermt, attach 4 copy of the tax exempt certificate

“THCUSTOMER 'AUTHORIZATION | 1
| authorize Commerce Enerdy 10 acl as my agent to Switch me from my current provider and instruct my current provider to perform any necessary tasks in order to make
this change. J.authorize Commerce Energy to perform a credit check and understand my service may be subject to Cormmerce Energy's credit approval. Commerce

Energy agrees to keep my credit information strictly confidential and will not share it with anyone. | understand Comimerce Energy will provide me with a copy of the
Tenns and Conditions {or service upon their acceplance of my request for service.

Customer Sigrature Today's DatEl 1 r 1
Menh e

!!.‘BEITERNAL"* USE-QNLY .

Representative Representative- Representative
Name Signature Team ID

©RGE_Lommeree By { CAERCr (D04,



Disclosure Statement for Natural Gas Suppliers ‘52‘21
42( 0
x5
This is an agreement for natural gas services, between Commerce Energy, Inc. ("Comrﬁ‘qi:é“- <.
Energy") and z
%

7

(Customer's name and full address).
Background

We at Commerce Energy are licensed by the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission to
offer and supply natural gas services in Pennsylvania. Our PUC license number is

A- .

. We set the commodity prices and charges that you pay. The Public Utility
Commission regulates distribution prices and services.

° You will receive a single bill from your natural gas distribution company
("NGDC") for our charges as well as the NGDC's charges. Commerce Energy
reserves the right to assume the billing function for our services.

. Right of Rescission - You may cancel this agreement at any time before midmight
of the third business day after receiving this disclosure.

Definitions

o Commodity Charges - The charges for the natural gas product, which is sold
either in cubic feet or dekatherms.

. Customer Charge - A fixed monthly charge for costs incurred by Commerce
Energy in servicing your account.

TERMS OF SERVICE
1. Basic Service Prices
a. Commodity Charge

You will pay a variable rate ("price"). This price includes estimated total state tax. This
price excludes state sales and local taxes. Your price may vary monthly under this
month-to-month agreement depending on wholesale costs and market conditions. Public
market indexes that are indicative of wholesale costs include Inside FERC's Monthly Gas
Market Report spot gas delivery charges for Texas Eastern Zone M-3 and Transco Zone
6, Platt’s Gas Daily Texas Eastern M-3 and Transco Zone 6 daily price survey, and the
daily natural gas cash and futures prices reported in the Wall Street Journal.

Your starting price willbe $ ___ per ccf in the month you begin receiving service from
Commerce Energy, and this rate will be reflected on your first bill. This starting price is
valid for service beginning on or before

30 March 2005



Thereafter, your price will vary depending on wholesale market conditions, as described
above. Commerce Energy will post its monthly price on 1its website,
www.commercenergy.com, at least three days prior to the first day of each month. This
monthly price will be the price that Commerce Energy will charge you for natural gas
delivered to you for the billing period that begins on or after the first day of the month.
You may call the Commerce Energy Rate Hotline at 1-800-353-2874 Ext. 6583 for
information.

Your price shall not exceed five times the highest published price in Platt’s Gas Daily for
Transco Zone 6 over the previous 45 days.

b. Customer Charge

You will pay $2.99 per month for the customer charge.

c. Security Deposits

We may perform a credit check, and, based on the results of a credit check, you may be
required to pay a security deposit or agree to a pre-authorized credit card payment prior
to switching your account to Commerce Energy. Commerce Energy will follow
applicable regulations.

Length of Agreement

You will buy your natural gas services for the above street address from Commerce
Energy beginning on your first meter reading date on or after , and will
continue until this agreement is cancelled by either one of us according to Paragraph 5.

Limitation of Liability

Commerce Energy assumes no liability or responsibility for losses or consequential
damages arising from the following items associated with your local distribution
company: operation and maintenance of their system; any interruption of service;
termination of service; or deterioration of service. Nor does Commerce Energy assume
responsibility or liability for losses or consequential damages arising from any in-home
damages. The remedy in any claim or suit by you against Commerce Energy will be
limited to direct actual damages. By entering into this agreement, you waive any right io
any other remedy. In no event will either Commerce Energy or you be liable for
consequential, incidental or punitive damages. These limitations apply without regard to
the cause of any liability or damages.

Penalties, Fees and Exceptions

You agree that you will pay your bill on or before the due date shown on the
bill. If you do not pay the full amount of the bill by the due date, you will be
charged a late payment fee at an interest rate of 1.5% per month on unpaid
balances or otherwise in accordance with your NGDC's policies and
procedures.



Cancellation Provisions

You may cancel this agreement for any reason by giving Commerce Energy 30 days
written notice. Commerce Energy may cancel this agreement for any reason by giving
you two written notices. The first notice will be sent to you 90 days before the effective
date of the cancellation, and the second will be sent to you at least 60 days before the
effective date of the cancellation. If you do not pay your bill on time, we may cancel this
agreement for non-payment by providing 10 days written notice. If Commerce Energy
cancels your service for non-payment, you must pay the balance owed under this
agreement plus our reasonable collection costs up to $50.00.

Agreement Expiration/Change in Terms

If we propose to change the terms of our service, we will send you two written notices.
The first notice will be sent to you 90 days before the effective date of the changes and
the second will be sent to you at least 60 days before the effective date of the changes.
We will explain your options in these advance notices.

Dispute Procedures

Contact us with any questions concerning our terms or service. You may call the Public
Utility Commission if you are not satisfied after discussing your terms with us.

Contact Information

Supplier Name: Commerce Energy, Inc.
Address: 600 Anton Blvd., Suite 2000
Costa Mesa, CA 92626
Phone Number: 1-800-353-2874 Ext. 6583
Internet Address: WWW.commercenergy.com

Natural Gas Distribution
Company/Supplier of Last Resort

In PECO utility area: PECO Energy Company
2301 Market Street
PO Box 8699
Philadelphia, PA 19101
(215) 841-4000

Universal Service Program: PECO Energy Customer Assistance Program 1-800-782-3228

Public Utility Commission Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission
Address: P.O. Box 3265
Harrisburg, PA 17105-3265

Utility Choice Hotline 1-888-782-3228
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' UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

| | FORM 10-Q

.Vlark One)

QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
' ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended October 31, 2004

l Or

i] TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

l For the transition period frem to

Commission File Number 001-32239

COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC.

{Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

PC‘;
8 2 x
= P m
—t - = O
Delaware 20-0501090 Zw 4 0m
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer < Z
incorporation or organization) Identification No.) w 'E‘:' ':‘;._
B m
e =
S = O
{Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code) r; 'c;
[

(714) 259-2500
(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)

Not Applicable
{Former name, former address and former fiscal year, if changed since last report)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange

ct of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2} has been:
bject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes ENo O

l 600 Anton Boulevard, Suite 2000, Costa Mesa, California 92626

' Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is an accelerated filer (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes 00 No X

As of December 12, 2004, 30,619,290 shares of the registrant’s cornmon stock were outstanding.

_

lttp :/fir 1'0Okwizard.com/filing.php?repo=tenk&ipage=3 146823 &num=&doc=1&source=900&print=1&att... 3/17/2005
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COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC.

I
l
I
I

Form 10-Q
For the Period Ended October 31, 2004
Index
Page
Part 1 — Financial Information
em 1. Financial Statements:

l Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three months ended October 31, 2003 and 2004 3
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of July 31, 2004 and October 31, 2004 4
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the three months ended October 31. 2003 and 2004 5

le Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements 6

m 2. Management’s Discussion and Anaiysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations . 13

Itern 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 23

@em 4. Controls and Procedures 24

l;ﬂL;chQt_.!ﬂ.ig.r.m.a...t_io_n_. 25

em 1. Legal Proceedings 25
Item 6. Exhibits 26
ignatures 27

XHIBIT 31.1
EXHIBIT 31.2

EXHIBIT 32.1
XHIBIT 32.2

lttp /ir. 10kwizard.com/filing.php7repo=tenk&ipage=3146823&num=&doc=1&source=900&pnnt=1&att... 3/17/2005
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FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

A number of the matters and subject areas discussed in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contain forward-looking statements reflecting
anagement’s current expectations, The discussion of such matters and subject areas is qualified by the inherent risks and uncertainties
ilrrounding future expectations generally, and also may differ materially from our actual future experience involving any one or more of such
atters and subject areas. We wish to caution readers that all statements other than statements of historical fact included in this Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q regarding our financial position and strategy may constitute forward-looking statements. When used in this document,
e words “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “project,” “plan,” “should,” and similar expressions are intended to be
tnong the statements that identify forward-looking statements, All of these forward-looking statements are based upon estimates and
sumptions made by our management, which although believed to be reasonable, are inherently uncertain, Therefore, undue reliance shouid
not be placed on such estimates and statements. No assurance can be given that any of such estimates or statements will be realized and it is
ely that actual results will differ materially from those contemplated by such forward-looking statements. Factors that may cause such
ifferences include those set forth in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, as well as the following:

+ regulatory changes in the states in which we operate that could adversely affect our operations;
* our continued abflity to obtain and maintain licenses from the states in which we operate;
+ the competitive restructuring of retail marketing may prevent us from selling electricity in certain states;

* our dependence upon a limited number of third parties to generate and supply to us electricity;

*+ our dependence on the Independent System Operators in each of the states where we operate, to properly coordinate and manage their
electric grids, and to accurately and timely calculate and allocate the charges to the participants for the numerous related services
provided;

* our ability to obtain credit necessary to support future growth and profitability; and

* our dependence upon a limited number of utilities to transmit and distribute the electricity we sell to our customers.

. * flyctuations in market prices for electricity;

We have attempted to identify, in context, certain of the factors that we currently believe may cause actual future experience and results to
'iuffer from our current expectations regarding the relevant matter or subject area. In addition to the items specifically discussed above, our
siness and results of operations are subject to the risks and uncertainties described in this Report in Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended July 31, 2004 which we filed with
¢ Securities and Exchange Commission on November 15, 2004. In evaluating forward-looking statements, you should consider these risks
G‘d uncertainties, together with the other risks described from time to time in our reports and documents filed with the Securities and Exchange
ommission, and you should not place undue reliance on these statements. These forward-looking statemenits speak only as of the date on
which the statements were made. We assume no obligation to update the forward-looking information to reflect actual results or changes in the
ctors affecting such forward-looking information.

lttp://ir. 10kwizard.com/filing.php?repo=tenk&ipage=3146823&num=~&doc=1&source=900&print=1&att... 3/17/2005
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PART 1 — FINANCIAL INFORMATION

em 1. Financial Statements.

' COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)
| (Unaudited)
Three Months Ended October 31,
l 2003 2004
et revenue $58,39¢6 558,496
irect energy costs 54,075 52,406
Gross profit 4,321 6,090
lling and marketing expenses 970 953
eneral and administrative expenses 5,518 5,007
eorganization and initial public listing expenses 118 —
lcome (loss) from operations (2,285) 130
ther income and expenses:
Initial formation litigation expenses (585} (1,439)
Minority interest share of loss 544 —
lInterest income, net 130 189
Total other income and expenses 29 .{1,250)
loss before benefit from income taxes (2,196} (1,120)
Benefit from income taxes 1,074 —
let loss $(1,122) $(1,120)
TR
L oss per common share: :
Basic 5 (0.04) $ (0.04)
[
Diluted $ (0.04) § (0.04)
[ ] o]

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements,

3
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COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC,

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands)

July 31, 2004 October 31, 2004

(Unaudited)

ASSETS
urrent assets: s
Cash and'cash equivalents § 54,065 § 353,757
Accounts receivable, net 31,119 27,452
Income taxes refund receivables 4,423 4,423
Deferred income tax assets 74 74
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 5,141 5819
Total current assets 94,822 91,525
!esm'cted‘ cash and cash equivalents 4,008 4 268
eposits 5,445 5,663
Investrnents 96 96
'roperty and equipment, net 2,613 2,400
oodwill and other intangible assets ' 3,839 3,671
Total assets $110,823 $107,632
l T
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 30,576 $ 26,808
Accrued liabilities 6,141 6,364
Total current liabilities 36,717 33,172
Itockholders’ equity:
Common stock -— 150,000 shares authorized with $0.001 par value; 30,519 shares issued and outstanding at
July 31, 2004 and QOctober 31, 2004 60,796 60,796
@ Uncarned restricted stock compensation (256) (232)
lRetained eamings 13,566 12,446
Other comprehensive income — 1,450
l Total stockholders’ equity 74,106 74,460
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $110,823  $107,632

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

4
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COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

(Unaudited)
l Three months ended Qctober 31,
2003 2004
!ash Flows From Operating Activities
et loss $(1,122) $(1,120)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation 375 354
Amortization 63 168
Provision for doubtful accounts 661 548
Stock-based compensation expense — 24
Minority interest share of loss of consolidated entity 172 —
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable, net 13,690 3,119
Prepaid expenses and other assets 692 554
Accounts payable {(5,908) (3.769)
Accrued labilities and other 307 225
let cash provided by operating activities 8,930 103
ash Flows From Investing Activities
Purchase of property and equipment (466} (151
!et cash used in investing activities (466) (151
ash Flows From Financing Activities
Decrease (increase) in restricted cash and cash equivalents 2,337 (260)
et cash provided by (used in) financing activities 2,337 (260)
ghicrease (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 10,801 (308)
ash andicash equivalents at beginning of period 40,921 54,065
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $51,722 $53,757

l
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements,

5
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NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

I COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC.
(in thousands, except per share and per kWh amounts)

lISummary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

l The condensed consolidated financial statements for the three months ended October 31, 2004 include the accounts.of Commerce Energy
Group,.Inc. (“the Company”), its three wholly-owned subsidiaries: Commonwealth Energy Corporation (“Commonwealth™) doing business
ggider the brand name electricAmerica, Skipping Stone, Inc. (“*Skipping Stone”), which was acquired on April 1, 2004, and UtiliHost, Inc.
IlUtiliHost"). All material intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

At-October 31, 2003, the Company’s consolidated financial statements included the accounts of its controlled investment in Summit Energy
'cntureS, LLC (“Summit™), and its majority ownership in Power Efficiency Corporation (“PEC”), In fiscal 2004, the Company terminated its
lationship with Summit and its investment in PEC decreased to 39.9%, therefore, neither entity was consolidated as of July 31, 2004 or as of
October 31, 2004, (See Note 4).

/leparaffon of Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

These interim condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared by the Company’s management, without audit, in accordance
lith accounting,principles generally accepted in the United States and in the opinion of management, contain all adjustments (consisting of

ly normal recurring adjustments) necessary to present fairly the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash
flows for the periods presented. Certain information and note disclosures normally included in consolidated annual financial statements

-epared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States have been condensed or omitted in these
'msolidated interim financial statements, although the Company believes that the disclosures are adequate to make the information presented

ot misleading. The condensed consolidated results of operations, financial position, and cash flows for the interim periods presented.herein are
not'necessarily indicative of future financial results. These interim condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction

ith the aninual consolidated financia! statements and the notes thereto included in the Company’s most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K
l:r the year ended July 31, 2004,

ses of Estimates

The preparation of condensed consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
tates requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts and timing of revenue and expenses,
ie reported amounts and classification of assets and liabilities, and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. These estimates and
I sumptions are based on the Company’s historical experience as well as management’s future expectations. As a result, actual results could
differ from management’s estimates and assumptions. The Company’s management believes that its most critical estimates herein relate to
l1dependent system operator costs, allowance for doubtful accounts, unbilled receivables and loss contingencies, particularly those associated
ith litigation.

iecl assifications

Certain amounts in the condensed consolidated financial statements for the comparative prior fiscal period have been reclassified to be
consistent with the current fiscal period’s presentation,

lttp://ir. 10kwizard.com/filing.php?repo=tenk&ipage=3146823&num==&doc=1&source=900&print=1&att... 3/17/2005
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COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC.
l NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)
(in thousands, except per share and per kWh amounts)

'ock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for its employee stock options under the recognition and measurement principles of Accounting Principles Board
pinion No. 25, dccounting for Stock Issued to Employees (“APB No.25™), and related interpretations. Under APB No. 25, no stock-based
employee compensation costs are reflected in net loss for the three month periods ended October 31, 2004 and 2003, because all options
ranted under the plans had an exercise price equal to or greater than the market value of the underlying common stock on the date of grant.

The foltowing table illustrates the effect on net loss as applicable to common stock (see Note 2) and loss per common share if the Company
had applied the fair value recognition provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS™) SFAS No, 123;

l Three months ended October 31,
2003 2004
l Net loss as applicable to-common stock — basic and diluted $(1,122) $(1,120)
Deduct: Total stock-based compensation expense determined
under fair value based method for all awards, net of related tax
. effects (42) (3)
" Pro forma net loss — basic and diluted $(1,164) $(1,123)
[z o] = e aroried
. Loss per share:
Basic and diluted — as reported 5 (0.04) $ (0.04)
TSI TR
l Basic and diluted — pro forma $ (0.04) S (0.04)
SRR o g

egment Reporting

~ The Company’s chief operating decision makers consist of members of senior management that work together to allocate resources to, and
sess the performance of, the Company’s business. These members of senior management currently manage the Company’s business, assess
‘MKs performance, and allocate its resources as a single operating segment. As we acquired Skipping Stone in fiscal 2004 and its revenue
accounts for approximately 1% of total net revenue, and geographic information is not material, no segment information is provided.

'. Basic and Diluted Loss per Common Share

Basic loss per common share was computed by dividing net loss available to common stockholders, after any preferred stock dividends, by
e weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted loss per common share reflects the potential dilution
at would occur if all outstanding options or other contracts to issue common stock were exercised or converted and was computed by
dividing net loss by the weighted average number of common shares plus dilutive common equivalent shares outstanding, unless they were

ti-dilutive.

I
i
i
1
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NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)
(in thousands, except per share and per kWh amounts}

l COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC,

l The following is a reconciliation of the numerator (ioss) and the denominator (conunon shares in thousands) used in the computation of
basic and diluted loss per common share:

l Three months ended October 31,
2003 2004
' Numerator:
Net loss $(1,122) $(1,120)
Deduct: Preferred stock dividends (164) —
l Net loss.applicable to common stock — basic {1,286) {1,120)
Assumed conversion of preferred stock — —
l Net loss applicable to common stock — diluted $(1,286) $ (1,120
A [ oo | [oomi o}
Denominator:
l Weighted-average outstanding common shares — basic 27,645 30,519

Effect of stock options — —
Effect of canvertible preferred stock — —

Weighted-average outstanding common shares — diluted 27,645 30,519
[ ] [oera i |

lf For the three months ended October 31, 2003 and 2004, the effects of the assumed exercise of all stock options and the assumed conversion
preferred stock into common stock are anti-dilutive; accordingly, such assumed exercises and conversions have been excluded from the
calculation of net loss — diluted. If the assumed exercises or conversions had been used, the fully diluted shares outstanding for the three
!:;onths ended October 31, 2003 and 2004 would have been 29,159 and 30,881, respectively,

. Market and Regulatory

l?a!ifomia

The 1996 California Assembly Bill (“AB") 1890 codified the restructuring of the California electric industry and provided for the right of
irect.access (“DA™). DA allowed electricity customers to buy their power from a supplier other than.the electric distribution utilities beginning
nuary 1, 1998. On April 1, 1998, the Company began supplying customers in California with electricity as an Electric Service Provider
(GLESPH).

The California Public Utility Commission (“CPUC”) issued a ruling on September 20, 2001 suspending direct access. The suspension
permitted the Company to keep current customers and to solicit DA customers served by other providers, but prohibited the Company from
soliciting new non-DA customers for an indefinite peried of time.

B In July 2002, the CPUC authorized Southern California Edison (“SCE") to implement a Historical Procurement Charge (“HPC”), to repay
debt incurred during the-energy crisis. This amount is currently being collected by SCE as a $0.01 per kilowatt-hour (“kWh™) surcharge on the
tail electricity bill paid by the Company’s customers. SCE estimates that full payment could be achieved as soon as early 2006. While the
EPC does not directly impact the Company’s rate design or revenue, it may affect the Company’s ability to retain existing customers or

ompete for new customers.

I 8
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NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)
(in thousands, except per share and per kWh amounts)

l COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC.

l Effective January 1, 2003, the CPUC authorized the electric distribution utilities to charge certain DA customers a surcharge to cover state
power contract costs. The Direct Access Customer Responsibility Surcharge (“DA CRS”) is currently fixed at $0.027 per kWh. DA CRS is
aly assessed to those DA customers who enrolled in DA on or after February 1, 2001. In the S8CE service territory, the $0.027 DA CRS
‘cludcs the $0.01 HPC. Those customers enrolled in DA prior to February 1, 2001, in the SCE service territory continue to pay only the $0.01
PC. While this charge does not directly impact the Company’s rate design or revenue, it may affect the Company’s ability to retain existing
customers or compete for new customers.

. In December 2003, Pacific Gas and Electric (“PG&E") and the CPUC reached a seitlement in the PG&E bankiuptey. In February 2004, the
CPUC approved a rate settlement agreement, which reduced overall customer rates in the PG&E service territory. DA bills have generally
clined in'the PG&E service territory and the lower rates have affected the Company’s revenue and profitability.

Currently, four important issues are under review at the CPUC, a Resource Adequacy Requirement, a Renewable Portfolio Standard,
Utilities Long Term Procurement Plans and the General Rate Cases of the electric distribution utilities. Additional costs to serve customers in
alifornia:are anticipated from these proceedings, however, the CPUC decisions will determine the distribution of those costs across all load

rving entities and ultimately the Company’s financial impact.

ennsylvania

In 1996, the Electricity Generation Customer Choice and Competition Act was passed. The law ailowed electric customers to choose among
mpetitive power suppliers beginning with one third of the State’s consumers by January 1999, two thirds by January 2000, and all consumers
¥ January 2001. The Company began serving customers in the Pennsylvania territory in 1999, There are no current rate cases or filings
garding this territory that are anticipated to impact the Company’s financial results.

'tfch igan

The Michigan state icgislature passed two acts, the Customer Choice Act and Electricity Reliability Act, signed into law on June 3, 2000.
pen access, or Choice, became available to all customers of Michigan electric distribution utilities, beginning January 1, 2002, The Company
egan marketing in Michigan’s Detroit Edison (“DTE”) service territory in September 2002,

In February 2004, the Michigan Public Service Commission (“MPSC") issued an interim order granting partial but immediate rate relief to
t\T'E, the Company’s primary electric distribution utility market in Michigan. The order significantly reduced the savings of commercial
stomers who choose an alternative electric supplier, such as the Company. These changes have adversely affected the Company’s ability to
retain some of the Company’s existing customers and obtain new customers, primarily among larger commercial customers.

‘] In November 2004, the MPSC issued the final order in the DTE General Rate case making slight changes in the rates originally approved in
“the interim order issued'in February 2004, The final order slightly decreased charges applied to savings of large commercial customers who
choose anialternative electric supplier, while generally maintaining the charges for smaller commercial customers. More notable changes were
ade to rules regarding moving between the local utility and alternative suppliers. New customers electing service from altemative providers
ust remain outside utility service for a minimum of two years. Additionally, the local utility now requires substantial notice prior to returning
to their service. Qverall rate and rule changes are not expected to have a significant impact to the Company’s ability to retain its existing
'ustomch'and obtaifi new customers.

The Michigan Senate has energy restructuring language before it in various bills, supported by the electric distribution utilities, which could
_negatively impact competition in the Michigan electric market.
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COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC.
l NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)
lw Jersey

(in thousands, except per share and per kWh amounts)
Deregulation activities.began in New Jersey in November 1999 when the Board of Public Utilities, or BPU, approved the implementation
lan. The Company began marketing in New Jersey in the Public Service Electric and Gas service territory in December 2003,

‘e The Basic Generation Service is the comparable utility price for small and large commercial accounts and includes a reconciliation charge
lhich can change on a monthly basis. Reconciliation charge fluctuations can affect the Company’s ability to remain competitive against the
mparable utility pricing.

I Investments

The Company has three early stage investments in energy related entities incurring operating losses, which are expected to continue, at least
g the near term: Encorp, Inc. (“Encorp™), Turbocor B.V. (*Turbocor”} and Power Efficiency Corporation (“PEC”). They each have very
l’:nni:ed working capital and as a result, continuing operations will be dependent upon their securing additional financing to meet their
ediate capital needs, The Company has no obligation, and currently no intention of investing additional funds into these companies.

I At October 31, 2004, the Company's ownership interest in Encorp, Turbocor and PEC was 2.3%, 9.3% and 39.9%, respectively. The
ompany accounts for its investment.in Encorp and Turbocor under the cost method of accounting. Although the Company currently accounts
for its investment in PEC (ticker symbol: PEFF) under the equity method of accounting, in fiscal 2004, the Company recorded a loss sufficient

reduce the Company’s investment basis in PEC to zero and, therefore, it will have no negative impact on the Company’s financial results in
'e current fiscal year. At October 31, 2003, PEC was consolidated in the Company’s financial statements.

i Contingencies
Sitigation

. On January 15, 2003, the Company filed a complaint in the United States District Court for the Central Distriet of California entitled
'ommonwealth Energy Corporation v. Wayne Mosley; et al. against several dissident stockholders who the Company believes had illegally
solicited proxies in connection with the annual meeting of stockholders on January 21, 2003. On February 6, 2003, the Company filed an
ended complaint in this lawsuit asking the court to confirm that its Board of Directors had been legally elected by the stockholders and
Fidating the inspector’s determination at the annual meeting that the proxy materials sent by defendants had violated several Securities and
xchange Commission (“SEC™) rules and regulations and that the resulting proxies were invalid. On June 10, 2003, the court issued a default
Jjudgment against certain defendants, finding 1) the Company properly conducted the clection at the Company’s annual meeting and the
pspector of elections was correct in rejecting the proxies solicited by the group; 2) the inspector of elections counted the votes and proxies
Ezpcrly (and thus the elections results were validated); and 3) the challenged proxies violated various SEC rules and were therefore invalid.
ee members of the group, and all persons acting in concert with them, were ordered by the court to comply with all federal securities laws
and SEC rules in any future attempts to solicit proxies. However, two additional defendants, who were nat subject to the court’s earlier ruling,
ought a counterclaim against the Company on November 14, 2003 alleging that its Board of Directors was not properly elected at the annual
eeting. This action is currently pending and seeks an order voiding the results of the Board of Directors election at the 2003 annual meeting
and:compelling the Company to seat certain other persons whom they allege should have been elected to the Board. No damages are currently
'eing sought by plaintiffs in this case. The Company intends to defend these counter-claims vigorously.

On February 14, 2003, the Company filed a complaint in the Orange County Superior Court against Joseph Ogundiji seeking a judicial
declaration invalidating 80 shares of its capital stock Mr. Ogundiji claims to hold. On April 11, 2003, Mr. Ogundiji filed and served an answer
#hd cross-complaint alleging claims against the Company for breach of contract, conversion, declaratory relief, promissory estoppel, unlawful

nial of voting rights pursuant to California Corporations Code Section 709, illegal stock dividends in violation of California Corporations
Code Section 25120, and unjust enrichment, The cross-complaint seeks an unspecified amount of general and punitive damages. This matter is
iheduled for trial on June 20, 2005.
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COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC.
' NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued}
{in thousands, except per share and per kWh amounts)

l On November 20, 2003, the Company filed a Notice of Appeal in the California Court of Appeal’s in Saline v. Commonwealth Energy
Corporation. The appealed order was entered after the first of two trial phases and requires Commonwealth to recognize the shares of other
nvertible preferred stock held by plaintiff, Joseph Saline, a former director, as valid. A second phase of the trial is scheduled for January 18,
EOS, Commonwealth recently prevailed on its motion for summary adjudication of Mr. Saline’s conversion claim, so only a breach of contract
aim remains for trial. Another case brought by Mr. Saline, Saline v. Commonwealth Energy Corporation has been consolidated with this case
for tnal on January 18, 2005. The remaining claims in the second case are allegations by Commonwealth and/or certain intervenor plaintiffs
at Mr. Saline breached his fiduciary duties as a director, libeled the Company, and illegally tape recorded certain board meetings. In this
cond case, Mr. Saline has appealed the trial court’s denial of his motion to strike the libel claims and refusal to award him attorney’s fees
related to his original claim concerning his access to corporate documents.

! On November 25, 2003, several stockholders filed a lawsuit against the Company entitled Coltrain, et al. v. Commonwealth Energy
orporation, et al. The complaint purports to be a class action against the Company for violations of section 709 of the California Corporations
Code. The plaintiffs allege that the Company failed to correctly count approximately 39,869 votes cast at the 2003 annual meeting and, as a
sult, the Board of Directors was not properly elected. Instead, the plaintiffs allege that four different persons would have been seated on the
oard had the votes been tabulated in the manner advocated by the plaintiffs. This case involves identical issues of law and fact as the
counterclaim discussed above in Commonwealth Energy Corporation v. Wayne Moseley, et al. and is currently pending. Commonwealth
recently settled with one of the plaintiffs in this case, Coltrain. Commonwealth is vigorously defending this action.

On April 19, 2004, Mr. Saline and Mr. Ogundiji filed an action in California Superior Court for Orange County, alleging that
Commonwealth Energy Corporation’s Board of Directors (other than Mr. Saline) breached their fiduciary duties and breached the covenant of

pod faith and fair dealing by approving and putting to a stockholder vote the recent reorganization plan, which resulted in Commonwealth

ccoming a wholly-owned subsidiary of Commerce Energy Group, Inc. In addition, they allege that Commonwealth improperly failed to hold
an annual meeting within the time limits set by California Corporations Code Section 600, improperly used the reorganization to alter their
rights as preferred shareholders, and improperly refused to hold a vote just among preferred stockholders regarding the reorganization. Up to
BRis point in the litigation, Mr. Saline and Mr. Ogundiji have attempted to block the special meeting at which the reorganization was approved,

enjoin the reorganization, to unwind the recrganization and to de-list the shares of common stock of Commerce listed on the AMEX, but
were not successful. Bécause our directors are defendants in this case, pursuant to the terms of the indemnification agreements between

ommonwealth and its directors, we are required to indemnify the directors to the fullest extent allowed by law. The indemmification
Ereement covers any expenses and/or liabilities reasonably incurred in connection with the investigation, defense, settlement or appeal of legal

‘oceedings. The obligation to provide indemnification does not apply if the officer or director is found to be liable for fraudulent or criminal
conduct. Pursuant to the indemnification agreement, the Company is currently providing a joint defense with the directors in this action. This
latter is scheduled for trial in September 12, 2005 and Commonwealth will defend vigorously.

The Company currently is, and from time to time may become, involved in other litigation concerning claims arising out of the Company’s
erations in the normal course of business. While the Company cannot predict the ultimate outcome of its pending matters or how they will
Efect the Company’s results of operations or financial position, the Company’s management currently does not expect any of the legal
oceedings to which the Company is currently a party, including the legal proceedings described above, individually or in the aggregate, to
have a'material adverse effect on its results of operations or financial position beyond the accruals provided as of October 31, 2004.

l Derivative Financial Instruments

sk management policies and straiegies to reduce the potentially adverse effects that the price volatility of these markets may have on its

l The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of market risks including commodity prices and interest rates. Management has established
perating resuits. The Company’s risk management activities,
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. COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)
(in thousands, except per share and per kWh amounts)

lcluding the use of derivative instruments, are subject to the management, direction and control of an internal risk oversight committee. The

Company maintains commodity price risk management strategies that use derivative instruments within strict risk tolerances to minimize
ionificant, unanticipated eamings fluctuations caused by commodity price volatility. Derivative instruments measured at fair market value are

l%orded on the balance sheet as an asset or liability. Changes in fair market value are recognized currently in eamings unless specific hedge
coutting criteria are met.

' Supplying electricity to retail customers requires the Company to match customers’ projected demand with fixed price purchases. The
ompany primarily uses forward physical energy purchases and derivative instruments to minimize significant, unanticipated earnings
fluctuations caused by commodity price volatility. In certain markets where the Company operates, entering into forward fixed price contracts

ay be expensive relative to derivative alternatives, Derivative instruments, primarily swaps and futures, are used to hedge the future purchase
Eiceof electricity for the applicable forecast usage protecting the Company from significant price volatility. In the first fiscal quarter of 2005,

rtain forward fixed price purchases and swap agreements were designated as cash flow hedges resulting in changes in the hedge value being
deferred in other comprehensive income (“OCI”). To the extent that the hedges are not effective, the ineffective portion of the changes in fair
Rarket value was recorded in direct energy costs. The Company alsc entered into transactions that did not qualify as accounting hedges but
.ere designed to take advantage of trends in wholesale power prices to reduce its direct energy costs. Some of these transactions do not qualify

or hedge accounting treatment under SFAS 133. In such cases, the changes in the fair value of these transactions are recorded in earnings as a
component of direct energy costs. The Company did not engage in trading activities in the wholesale energy market other than to manage its
rect energy cost in an attempt to improve the profit margin associated with its customer requirements.

The amounts recorded in OCI at October 31, 2004 related to cash flow hedges are summarized in the following table:

Increase
July 31, (Decrease) October 31,
2004 in OCI 2004

~ Current assets $ — 31450 §$1,450
Other comprehensive income § — %1450 $1450
[ ]

The Company does not use derivative instruments related to its interest rate exposure at this time.
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!em 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

verview

We are a diversified energy services company, We provide electric power to our residential, commercial, industrial and institutional

stomers in the California, Pennsylvania, Michigan and New Jersey electricity markets, We are licensed by the Federal Energy Regulatory
Commission, or FERC, as a power marketer. In addition to the state agencies in which we currently operate, we are also licensed to supply
Itail electric power by applicable state agencies in New York, Maryland, Texas, Ohio and Virginia.

As of October 31, 2004, we delivered electricity to approximately 100,000 customers in California, Pennsylvania, Michigan and New
rsey. The growth of this business depends upon the degree of deregulation in each state, the availability of energy at competitive prices and
edit terms, and our ability to acquire retail or commercial customers.

Our core business is the retail sale of electricity to end-use customers. All of the power we sell to our customers is purchased from third-

rty power generators under long-term contracts and in the spot market. We do not own electricity generation facilities, with the exception of

all experimental renewal energy assets. The electric power we sell is generally metered and delivered to our customers by local incumbent
electric distribution utilities, or local utilities. The local utilities also provide billing and collection services for most of our customers on our
i:half. To facilitate load shaping and balancing for our retail customer portfolio, we also buy and sell surplus electric power from and to other

arket participants when necessary.

We buy electricity in the wholesale market in blocks of time-related quantities usually at fixed prices. We sell electricity in the real time
arket based on the derand from our customers at contracted prices. We manage the inherent mismatch between our block purchases and our
les by buying and selling in the spot market. In addition, the independent system operators (“ISO™), the entities which manage each of the

electric grids in which we operate, perform real time load balancing. We are charged or credited for electricity purchased and sold for our

'ccount by the 1SO.

There are inherent risks and uncertainties in our core business operations. These include: regulatory uncertainty, timing differences between
our purchases and sales of electricity, forecasting error between our estimated customer usage and the customer’s actual usage, weather related
anges in quantities demanded by our customers, customer attrition, spread changes between on-peak and off-peak power pricing and seasonal
ifferences between summer and winter demand, and spring and fall demand seasons, unexpected factors in the wholesale power markets such
as regional power plant outages, volatile fuel prices (used to generate the electricity that we buy), transmission congestion or system failure,
d credit related counter-party risk for us or within the grid system generally. Accordingly, these uncertainties may produce results that can
ii-lffer significantly from our internal forecasts. For a discussion of other risks related to the operation of our business, see the discussion herein
nder the caption “Factors That May Affect Future Results.”

Skipping Stone, Inc.., or Skipping Stone, which we acquired in April 2004, provides energy-related consulting and technologies to utilities,
ectricity generators, natural gas pipelines, wholesale energy merchants, energy technology providers and investment banks. Skipping Stone is
our wholly-owned subsidiary and its revenue (afier elimination of intercompany transactions) was less than 1% of our consolidated totals for

i*e three months ended October 31, 2004.

In fiscal 2004, we consolidated Summit Energy Ventures, or Summit, and its majority interest in Power Efficiency Corporation, or PEC,
into our financial results. In the third fiscal quarter of 2004, we terminated our relationship with Surnmit, and we retained only a 39.9% interest
PEC, therefore, we are no longer consolidating either Summit or PEC in our current fiscal year financial results. Although we currently
count for our investment in PEC under the equity methed of accounting, in fiscal 2004, we recorded a loss sufficient to reduce our
mnvestment basis in PEC to zero and, therefore, it will have no negative impact on our financial resuits in the current fiscal year.

The information in this Item 2, should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto and
anagement’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
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ntained in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended July 31, 2004, and the unaudited condensed consolidated
Fancial statermnents and notes thereto included in this Quarterly Report.

Market and Regulatory
alifornia

The 1996 California Assembly Bill, or AB, 1890 codified the restructuring of the California electric industry and provided for the right of
ect access, or DA, DA allowed electricity customers to buy their power from a supplier other than the electric distribution utilities beginning
January 1, 1998. On April 1, 1998, we began supplying customers in California with electricity as an Electric Service Provider, or ESP.

The California Public Utility Commission, or CPUC, issued a ruling on September 20, 2001 suspending direct access. The suspension
ermitted us to keep current customers and to solicit DA customers served by other providers, but prohibited us from soliciting new non-DA
customners for an indefinite period of time.

In July 2002, the CPUC authorized Southern California Edison, or SCE, to implement a Historical Procurement Charge, or HPC, to repay
debt incurred during the energy crisis. This amount is currently being collected by SCE as a $0.01 per kilowatt-hour, or kWh, surcharge on the

tail elcctnmty bill paid by our customers, SCE estimates that full payment could be achieved as soon as early 2006 While the HPC does not
’rect}y impact our rate design or revenue, it may affect our ability to retain existing customers or compete for new customers.

Effective January 1, 2003, the CPUC authorized the electric distribution utilities to charge certain DA customers a surcharge to cover state
twer contract costs. The Direct Access Customer Responsibility Surcharge, or DA CRS, is currently fixed at $0.027 per kWh. DA CRS is
ly assessed to those DA customers who enrolled in DA on or after February 1, 2001. In the SCE service territory, the $0.027 DA CRS
includes the $0.01 HPC. Those customers enrolled in DA prior to February 1, 2001, in the SCE service territory continue to pay only the $0.01
'ePC While this charge does not directly impact our rate design or revenue, it may affect our ability to retain existing customers or compete for
w customers.

a0 December 2003, Pacific Gas and Electric, or PG&E, and the CPUC reached a settlement in the PG&E bankruptcy. In February 2004, the
lPUC approved a rate settlement agreement, which reduced overall customer rates in the PG&E service territory. DA bills Have generally
clined in the PG&E service territory and the lower rates have affected our revenue and profitability.

tilities Long Term Procurement Plans and the General Rate Cases of the electric distribution utilities. Additional costs to serve customers in
alifornia are anticipated from these proceedings, however, the CPUC decisions will determine the distribution of those costs across all foad
serving entities and ultimately the financial impact on us.

! Currently, four important issues are under review at the CPUC, a Resource Adequacy Requirement, a Renewable Portfolio Standard,

ennsylvania

In 1996, the Electricity Generation Customer Choice and Competition Act was passed. The law allowed electric customers to choose among

mpetitive power suppliers beginning with one third of the State’s consumers by January 1999, two thirds by January 2000, and all corisumers
by January 2001. We began serving customers in the Pennsylvania territory in 1999. There are no current rate cases or filings regarding this
';rrito_ry that are anticipated to impact our financial results.
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.’ ichigan

" The Michigan state legislature passed two acts, the Customer Choice Act and Electricity Reliability Act, signed into law on June 3, 2000.
QOpen access, or Choice, became available to all customers of Michigan electric distribution utilities, beginning January 1, 2002. We began
arketing in Michigan’s Detroit Edison, or DTE, service territory in September 2002,
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In February 2004, the Michigan Public Service Commission, or MPSC, issued an interim order granting partial but immediate rate relief to
'TE, our primary electric distribution utility market in Michigan. The order significantly reduced the savings of commercial customers who
‘Jhoose an alternative electric-supplier, such as us. These changes.have adversely affected our ability to retain some of our existing customers
and obtain new customers, primarily among larger commercial customers.

l In November 2004, the MPSC issued the final order in the DTE General Rate case making slight changes in the rates originally approved in
¢ interim order issued in February 2004. The final order slightly decreased charges applied to savings of large commercial customers who
choose an alternative electric supplier, while generally maintaining the charges for smailer commercial customers. More notable changes were
ade to rules regarding moving between the local utility and alternative suppliers. New customers electing service from alternative providers
‘ust remain outside utility service for a minimum of two years. Additionally, the local utility now requires substantial notice prior to returning
0 their service. Overall rate and rule changes are not expected to have a significant impact to our ability to retain our existing customers and
obtain new customers.

The Michigan Senate has energy restructuring language before it in various bills, suppaorted by the electric distribution utilities, which.could
negatively impact competition in the Michigan electric market.

'ew Jersey

- Deregulation activities began in New Jersey in November 1999 when the Board of Public Utilities approved the implementation plan. We
Egan_ marketing in New Jersey in the Public Service Electric and Gas service territery in December 2003,

The Basic Generation Service is the comparable utility price for small and large commercial accounts and includes a reconciliation charge
Ihich can change on a monthly basis. Reconciliation charge fluctuations can affect our ability to remain competitive against the comparable

ility pricing.
Iritical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and operating results are based on our consolidated financial statements.
¢,preparation of this Form 10-Q requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities,
i;closure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of our financial statements, and the reported amount of revenue and expenses during
e reporting period, Actual results may differ from those estimates and assumptions. In preparing our financial statements and accounting for
the underlying transactions and balances, we apply our accounting policies as disclosed in our notes to the condensed consolidated financial
atements. The accounting policies discussed below are those that we consider to be critical to an understanding of our financial statements
cause their application places the most significant demands on our ability to judge the effect of inherently uncertain matters on our financial
results. For all-of these policies, we caution that future events rarely develop exactly as forecast, and the best estimates routinely require
adjustment.

* Purchase and sale accounting — In fiscal 2004 and 20035, we purchased substantially all of our power under long-term forward physical
delivery contracts for supply to our retail electricity customers. We apply the normal purchase, normal sale accounting treatment to our
forward purchase supply contracts and our customer sales contracts. Accordingly, we record revenue generated from our sales contracts.
as energy is delivered to our retail customers, and direct energy costs are recorded when the energy under our long-term forward physical
delivery contracts is delivered. In the first quarter of fiscal 2005, we also employed financial hedges using derivative instruments, to
hedge our
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commodity price risks. In the first fiscal quarter of 2005, certain forward fixed price purchases and swap agreements were designated as
cash flow hedges resulting in changes in the hedge value being recorded as other comprehensive income, or OCL To the extent that the
hedges are not effective, the ineffective portion of the changes in fair market value is recorded currently in direct energy costs. We intend
to use derivative instruments as an efficient way of assisting in managing our price and volume risk in energy supply procurement for our
tetail customers. Certain derivative instrument treatment may not qualify for hedge treatment and require mark-to-market accounting in
accordance with-the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, Statement of Financial Accounting Standard, or SFAS, No. 133,
“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities”.

« Independent system operator costs — Included in direct energy costs, along with electric power that we purchase, are scheduling
coordination costs and other ISO fees and charges. The actual ISO costs are not finalized until a settlement process by the ISO is
performed for each day’s activities for all grid participants. Prior to the completion of settiement (which may take from one to several
months), we estimate these costs based on historical trends and preliminary settlement information. The historical trends and -preliminary
information may differ from actual fees resulting in the need to adjust the previously estimated costs.

« Allowance Sfor doubtful accounts — We maintain allowances for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from non-payment of
customer billings, If the financial condition of our customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make
payments, additional allowances may be required.

« Unbilled receivables — Our customers are billed monthly at various dates throughout the-month. Unbilled receivables represent the
amount of electric power delivered to customers at the end of a reporting period, but not yet billed. Unbilled receivables from sales are
estimated by us to be the number of kilowatt-hours delivered, but not yet billed, multiplied by the current customer average sales price
per kilowatt-hour,

» Legal'matters — From time to time, we may be involved in [itigation matters. We regularly evaluate our exposure to threatened or
pending litigation and other business contingencies and accrue for estimated losses on such matters in accordance with SFAS No. 5,
“Accounting for Contingencies.” As additional information about current or future litigation or other contingencies becomes available,
management will assess whether such information warrants the recording of additional expense relating to our contingencies, Such
additional expense could potentially have a material adverse impact on our results of operations and financial position.

esults of Operations

In the following comparative analysis, all percentages are calculated based on dollars in thousands. The states of Pennsylvania and New
Jersey are within the same ISO territory and procurement of power is not managed separately, therefore, they are referred to as the
nnsylvania market below,

Three months ended QOctober 31, 2004 compared to three months ended October 31, 2003.

l Net revenue of $58.5 million remained constant for the three months ended October 31, 2004 compared to the three months ended
October 31, 2003. Gross profit increased $1.8 million, or 41%, to $6.1 million for the three months ended October 31, 2004 compared to
.3 million for the same prior year period. The gross profit improvement in the three months ended October 31, 2004 was primarily due to
iibstantial'improvement in the operating income contribution in Pennsylvania which offset the continuing pressure on gross profit in the
alifornia business. The Company’s operating results for the three months ended October 31, 2004 included income from operations of
$0.1. million compared to a loss of $2.3 million for the same prior year period.

l’et revenie

‘s Revenue of $58.5 million in the current year resulted primarily from increased energy sales of $2.4 million in Michigan offset by a decrease
.!BCalifornia of $2.3 million compared to the prior year period. In Michigan, we sold 209 million kWh at an average retail price per kWh of
.057 in the three months ended October 31, 2004, as compared to 179 million kWh at an average retail price per kWh of 30.054.in the same
period-last year. The
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crease in volume was primarily due to continued increases in our Michigan customer base. In California, we sold 324 million kWh.at an
erage retail price per kWh of $0.068 in the three months ended October 31, 2004, as compared to 355 million kWh sold at an average retail
price per kWh of $0.068 in the same period last year. The decrease in volume was primarily due to customer attrition attributable to our-efforts
improve profitability per customer. In Pennsylvania, we sold 405 million kWh at an average retail price per kWh of $0.059 in the three
ionths ended Qctober 31, 2004, as compared to 413 million kWh sold at an average retail price per kWh of $0.059 in the same period last
ar.

At October 31, 2004, we had approximately 100,000 customers compared to 115,000 customers at October 31, 2003, The number of
stomers has decreased due to our profitability per customer focus, reducing the number of residential customers, which have much lower
average usage, and are less profitable. The decrease was 12% in California and 19% in Pennsylvania, while we increased our customer base in

iichigan by 54% and entered the New Jersey market in Decermber 2003,
frect energy costs

l Direct energy costs, which are recognized concurrently with related energy sales, include the aggregated cost of purchased electric power,
es incurred from various energy-related service providers and energy-related taxes that cannot be passed directly through to the customer.
Our direct energy costs decreased to $52.4 million for the three months ended October 31, 2004, a decrease of $1.7 million, or 3%, from

4.1 million for the three months ended October 31, 2003.

The decrease in direct energy costs occurred primarily in Pennsylvania partially offset by increases in Michigan and California, In
Pennsylvania, our average cost per kWh was $0.055 for the three months ended October 31, 2004, as compared to an average cost per kWh of
t:063 for the same period in fiscal 2003. In Michigan, our average cost per kWh was $0.051 for the three months ended October 31, 2004, as
mpared to an average cost per kWh of $0.048 for the same period last year. In California, our average cost per kWh was $0.059 for the three
months ended October 31, 2004, as compared to an average cost per kWh of $0.054 for the same period in fiscal 2003.

lelling'and marketing éxpenses

Our selling and marketing expenses remained constant at $1.0 million for the three months ended October 31, 2004 and 2003.

l;eneml and administrative expenses

Our general and administrative expenses decreased $0.5 million, or 9%, to $5.0 million for the three months ended October 31, 2004
ompated to $5.5 million in the three months ended October 31, 2003. The decrease was primarily attributed to fiscal 2003 management fee
expenses of $0.2 million incurred in connection with Summit, which we no longer incur due to the termination of the Summit agreement at the
!nd of fiscal 2003, The remaining decrease was attributable to various expense categories within general and administrative expenses..

eorganization and initial public listing expenses
We incurred $0.1 million in the first quarter of fiscal 2004 of costs related to our reorganization into a Delaware holding company structure
d the initial public listing of our common stock on the American Stock Exchange. Management believes it is appropriate to classify these
costs as a separately identified selling, general and administrative expense category, and include expenses such as legal, accounting, auditing,

onsulting, and printing and reproduction fees that are specific to these activities. We incurred no reorganization and initial public listing
penses in fiscal 2003,

‘im‘al Jormatior litigation expenses

In the three months ended October 31, 2004, we incurred $1.4 million of initial formation litigation costs related to Commonwealth Energy
Corporation’s formation compared to $0.6 million of such costs incurred during the three
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nths ended October 31, 2003. Initial formation litigation expenses include legal and litigation costs associated with the initial capital raising
orts by former Commonwealth Energy Corporation employees, various board member matters, and the legal complications arising from

those activities.
'inoriry interest share of loss

Minority interests in fiscal 2004 represent that portion of PEC’s post-consolidation losses that are allocated to the non-Summit investors
lsed on their aggregate minority ownership interest in PEC. PEC is no longer consolidated in the Company’s financial statements in fiscal
05S.

rneﬁt from income taxes

No provision for or benefit from income taxes was recorded for the three months ended October 31, 2004; as compared to the benefit from
gcome taxes of $1.1 million for the three months ended October 31, 2003. In fiscal 2005, we established a valuation allowance equal to our
'Iculated tax benefit, because we believed it was not certain that we would realize these tax benefits in the foreseeable future.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of October 31, 2004, our unrestricted cash and cash equivalents were $53.8 million, compared to $54.1 million at July 31, 2004 and our
restricted cash and cash equivalents were $4.3 million, compared to $4.0 million at July 31, 2004. Our principal sources of liquidity to fund
'-going operations were cash provided by operations and existing cash and cash equivaients.

Cash flow provided by operations for the three months ended October 31, 2004 was $0.1 million, compared to $8.9 million in the three
onths ended October 31, 2003. In the three months ended October 31, 2004, cash was provided primarily by a decrease in accounts receivable
i$3.1 million offset by cash used primarily to decrease accounts payable by $3.8 million.

Cash flow used in investing activities for the three months ended October 31, 2004 was $0.2 million compared to $0.5 million for the three
onths ended October 31, 2003. Cash used in investments consisted of capital expenditures.

Cash flow used in financing activities for the three months ended October 31, 2004 was $0.3 million, compared to cash flow provided by
nancing activities of $2.3 million in the three months ended October 31, 2003. In the prior fiscal year, restricted cash increased primarily due
the partial reduction of the required security for an appeals bond related to litigation.

The Company does not have open lines of credit for direct unsecured borrowings or letters of credit. Credit terms from our suppliers of
Ilectricity often require us to post collateral against our energy purchases and against our mark-to-market exposure with certain of our
ppliers. We currently finance these collateral obligations with our available cash. If we are required te post such additional security, a portion
of our cash would become restricted, which could adversely affect our liquidity. As of October 31, 2004, we had $4.3 million in restricted cash
&secure letters of credit required by our suppliers and $5.4 million in deposits pledged as collateral in connection with energy purchase
reements.

Based upon our current plans, level of operations and business conditions, we believe that our cash and cash equivalents, and cash generated

'(())m operations will be sufficient to meet our capital requirements and working capital needs for the foreseeable future. However, there can be
assurance that we will not be required to seek other financing in the future or that such financing, if required, will be available on terms

satisfactory to us,

.'ontractual Obligations

For the three months ended October 31, 2004, we have entered into additional electricity purchase contracts in the normal course of doing
lusiness for $14.1 million. These contracts are for less than one year and are with various suppliers.
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actors That May Affect Future Results

competitive restructuring of the electric markets is delayed or does not result in viable competitive market rules, our business will be
adversely affected.

The Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, or FERC, has maintained a strong cormmitment over the past seven years to the deregulation
of electricity markets. This movement would seem to indicate the continuation and growth of a competitive electric retail industry. Twenty-four
ates and the District-of Columbia have either enacted enabling legislation or issued a regulatory order to implement retail access. In 18 of
'ese states,. retail access is either currently available to some or all customers, or will soon be available. However, in many of these markets the
market rules adopted have not resulted in energy service providers being able to compete successfully with the local utilities and customer
switching rates have been low. Only recently have a small number of markets opened to competition under rules that we believe may oftfer
tractive competitive gpportunities. Qur business model depends on other favorable markets opening under viable competitive rules in a timely
aitner. I'any particular market, there are a number of rules that will ultimately determine the attractiveness of any market. Markets that we
enter may have both favorable and unfavorable rules. If the trend towards competitive restructuring of retail energy markets does not continue
is'delayed or reversed, our business prospects and financial condition could be materially adversely impaired.

Retail energy market restructuring has been and will continue to be a complicated regulatory process, with competing interests advanced not
only by relevant state and federal utility regulators, but also by state legislators, federal legislators, local utilities, consumer advocacy groups

d potential market participants. As a result, the extent to which there are legitimate competitive opportunities for altemnative energy suppliers

a:given jurisdiction may vary widely and we cannot be assured that regulatory structures will offer us competitive opportunities to sell
energy to consumers on a profitable basis. The regulatory process could be negatively impacted by a number of factors, including interruptions

service and significant or rapid price increases. The legislative and regulatory processes in some states take prolongéd periods of time. In a
'Crnber of jurisdictions, it may be many vears from the date legislation is.enacted until the retail markets are truly open for competition.

In addition, although rmost retail energy market restructuring has been conducted at the state and local levels, bills have been proposed in
ongress in the past that would preempt state law concerning the restructuring of the retail energy markets. Although none of these initiatives
s been successful, we cannot assure stockholders that federal legislation will not be passed in the future that could materially adversely affect

our business,

&e Jface many uncertainties that may cause substantial operating losses and we cannot assure stockholders that we can achieve and mainiain
rofitability.

We intend to increase our operating expenses to develop and expand our business, including brand development, marketingand other
romotional activities and the continued development of our billing, customer care and power procurement infrastructure. Our ability to operate

profitably will depend on, among other things:

l » Our ability to attract and to retain a critical mass of customers at a reasonable cost;
* Qur ability to continue to develop and maintain internal corporate organization and systems;
l + The continued competitive restructuring of retail energy markets with viable competitive market rules; and

',V » Qur ability to-effectively manage our energy procurement and shaping requirements, and to sell our energy at a sufficient profit margin.
e

may have difficulty obtaining a sufficient number of customers.

We-anticipate that we will incur significant costs as we enter new markets and pursue customers by utilizing a variety of marketing methods.
order for-us to recaver these expenses, we must attract and retain a large number of customers to our service.
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itical to their well-being as electric power. A major focus of cur marketing fforts will be to convince customers that we are a reliable
ovider with sufficient resources to meet our commitrents, If our marketing strategy is not successful, our business, results of operations and
financial condition could be materially adversely affected.

! We may experience difficulty attracting customers because many customers may be reluctant to switch to a new supplier for a commodity as

e depend.upon internally developed systems and processes to provide several critical functions for our business, and the loss of these
Junctions could materially adversely impact our business,

. We have developed our own systems and processes to operate our back-office functions, including customer enrollment, metering,
torecasting,.settlement and billing. Problems that arise with the performance of our back-office functions could result in increased

penditures, delays in the launch of our commercial operations into new matkets, or unfavorable customer experiences that could materially
iversely affect our business strategy. Also, any interruption of these services could be disruptive to our business.

Substantial fluctuations in electricity prices or the cost of transmitting and distributing electricity could have a material adverse affect on us.

. To provide electricity to our customers, we must, from time to time, purchase electricity in the short-term or spot wholesale energy markets,
which can be highiy volatile. In particular, the wholesale electric power market can experience large price fluctuations during peak load
riods. Furthermore, to the extent that we enter into contracts with customers that require us to provide electricity at a fixed price over an
Etendcd period of time, and to the extent that we have not purchased electricity to cover those commitments, we may incur losses caused by
sing wholesale electricity prices. Periods of rising electricity prices may reduce our ability to compete with local utilities because their
regulated rates may not immediately increase to reflect these increased costs. Energy Service Providers like us take on the risk of purchasing
wer for an uncertain load and if the load does not materialize as forecast, it leaves us in a long position that would be resold into the
rholesale electricity market. Sales of this surplus electricity could be at prices below our cost, Conversely, if unanticipated load appears that
may result in an insufficient supply of electricity, we would need to purchase the additional supply. These purchases could be at prices that are
igher than our sales price to our customers. Either situation could create losses for us if we are exposed to the price volatility of the wholesale
Eot markets. Any of these contingencies could substaniially increase our costs of operation. Such factors could have a material adverse effect
our financial condition,

Weare dependent-on local utilities for distribution of electricity to our customers over their distribution networks. If these local utilities are

able to properly operate their distribution networks, or if the operation of their distribution networks is interrupted for periods of time, we
could be unable to deliver electricity to our customers during those interruptions. This would results in lost revenue to us, which could
i:ivérse]y impact the results of our operations.

istorical procurement charges and customer rate changes in the Southern California Edison wtility district could adversely affect our revenue
andicash flows.

' Under a Settlement agreement with the California PUC, SCE was authorized to recoup $3.6 billion in debt incurred during the energy-crisis
of 2000-2001 from al customers. This debt was to be collected under the Procurement Related Obligations Account, or PROACT, from
undled (non direct access) customers and under the HPC from DA customers.

In.July 2002, the California PUC issued an interim order implementing the HPC sought by SCE. This interim order authorized'SCE to
collect-$391 million in HPC charges from all DA customers by reducing their Procured Energy Credit, or PE Credit, by $0.027 per kWh
eginning July 27, 2002, The lowered PE Credit continued until an exit fee for DA customers was approved by the CPUC. Effective January 1,
003, it was reduced to $0.01 per kWh. For the fiscal year ended July 31, 2003, we estimate that HPC charges have impacted our sales and
pretax earnings by a range of $4.8 million to $6.0 million. We are unable to precisely determine the actual HPC charges applied to-our
ustomers by SCE because there are different charges, by customer type, and this charge is only on the electricity usage above the monthly
aseline usage allocation.

20

N S o .

ttp://ir.10kwizard.com/filing.php?repo=tenk&ipage=3146823&num=&doc=1&source=900&print=1 &att... 3/17/2005



fC Filings : Print View Page 23 of 34

ble of Contents

lance to be revised to $473 million; however, the $0.01 per kWh monthly charge remained in place. As of August 1, 2003, SCE revised its

lling methodology to a “bottoms-up” design effectively doing away with the PE Credit and the net effect of the HPC on our rates. While the
HPC no longer discretely impacts our rate calculations, a recent SCE rate reduction includes the former impact of the HPC. This rate reduction

ill impact sales and pretax profit in the SCE district. The rate reduction will be in place in 2004 and will approximate the effect of the HPC
l)llar impact of 2003,

5 On September 5, 2003 the CPUC issued Decision 03-09-016 granting SCE’s request to recover additional shortfall and authorizing the HPC

ugust. 1, 2003, all SCE rates were lowered. As a direct result, to retain our customers in the SCE utility district, we lowered our customer rates
oportionately. Our estimate of the annual financial impact of this rate reduction is a decline in sales and pretax profit during fiscal 2004, in

! Recently, SCE acknowledged that the PROACT debt was paid in full by bundled customers at the end of July 2003. As a result, on
the range of $3.0 to $3.5 million. This reduction is separate from, and in addition to, the HPC related reduction in 2003.

l These changes in the SCE service territory will continue to cause a significant impact on our revenue and cash flow; however, we currently
do not expect they will preclude us from continuing to participate in the SCE market.

'Qme suppliers of electricity have been experiencing deteriorating credit qualiny.

‘We continue to monitor our suppliers’ credit quality to attempt to reduce the impact of any potential counterparty default. As of October 31,
l‘)04, the majority of our counterparties are rated investment grade or above by the major rating agencies. These ratings are subject to change at
y time with no advance warning. A deterioration in the credit quality of our suppliers could have an adverse impact on our sources of
electricity purchases.

Ithe wholesale price of electricity decreases, we may be required 1o post letters of credit for margin to secure our obligations under our long
term energy contracls.

! As the price of the electricity we purchase under long-term contracts is fixed over the term of the contracts, if the market price of wholesale
ectricity decreases below the contract price, the power generator may require us to post margin in the form of a letter of credit, or other
collateral, to protect themselves against our potential default on the contract. If we are required to post such security, a portiont of our cash
I'ould become restricted, which could adversely affect our liquidity.

We are required to rely on utilities with whom we will be competing to perform some functions for our customers.

. Under the regulatory structures adopted in most jurisdictions, we will be required to enter into agreements with local utilities for use of the

ocal distribution systems, and for the creation and operation of functional interfaces necessary for us to serve our.customers. Any delay in
ese negotiations or our inability to enter into reasonable agreements with those utilities could delay or negatively impact our ability to serve

Ii:lstomers inn those jurisdictions. This could have a material negative impact on our business, results of operations and financial condition,

We are dependent on local utilities for maintenance of the infrastructure through which electricity is delivered to our customers. We are
mited in our ability to control the level of service the utilities provide to our customers. Any infrastructure failure that interrupts: or impairs:
elivery of electricity to our customers could have a negative effect on the satisfaction of our customers with our service, which could have a

material adverse effect on our business.

le Regulations in many markets require that the services of reading our customers’ energy meters and the billing and collection process be

tained by the local utility. In those states, we will be required to rely on the local utility to provide us with our customers’ energy usage data
and:to pay:us for our customers’ usage based on what the local utility collects from our customers. We may be limited in our ability to confirm
fe accuracy of the information provided by the local utility and we may not be able to contral when we receive payment from the local utility.

El\c local utility’s systems and procedures may limit or slow down our ability to create a supplier relationship with our customers that would
delay the timing of when we can begin to provide electricity to our new customers. If we do not receive payments from the local utility on a
timely basis, our working capital may be impaired.
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. some markets, we are required to bear credit risk and billing responsibility for our customers,

In some markets, we.are responsible for the billing and collection functions for our customers. In these markets, we may be limited in our
pility to terminate service to customers who are delinquent in payment. Even if we terminate service to customers who fail to pay their utility
!)11 in a timely manner, we may remain liable to our suppliers of electricity for the cost of the electricity and to the local utilities for services
lated to the transmission and distribution of electricity to those customers. The failure of our customers t6 pay their bills in a timely manner
or our failure to maintain adequate billing and collection programs could materially adversely affect our business.

ur revenues and results of operations are subject to market risks that are beyond our control.

We sell electricity that we purchase from third-party power generation companies to our retail customers on a contractual basis. We are not
aranteed.any rate of return through regulated rates, and our revenues and results of operations are likely to depend, in large part, upon
prevailing market prices for electricity in our regional markets. These market prices may fluctuate substantially over relatively short periods of
ime. These factors could have an adverse impact on our revenues and results of operations.

Volatility in market prices for electricity results from multiple factors, including:

= weather conditions, including hydrological conditions such as precipitation, snow pack and streamflow,

seasonality,

+ unexpected changes in customer usage,

* transmission or transportation constraints or inefficiencies,
+ planned and unplanned plant or transmission line outages,

» demand for electricity,

« natural disasters, wars, embargoes and other catastrophic events, and

» federal, state-and foreign energy and environmental regulation and legislation,

l + natural gas, crude oil and refined products, and coal supply availability to generators from whom we purchase electricity,
lur'resu[rs'of operation and financial condition could be affected by pending and future litigation.

We are currently a defendant in several pending lawsuits. We believe our substantive and procedural defenses in each of these cases arc
eritorious, but we cannot predict the outcome of any such litigation. In addition, we may become subject to additional lawsuits in the future.
lwe are held liable for significant damages in any lawsuit, our operations and financial condition may be harmed. In addition, we could incur
substantial-expenses in connection with any such litigation, including substantial fees for attorneys and other professional advisors. These
expenses could adversely affect our operations and cash position if they are material in amount,

we fail to maintain an effective system of internal controls, we may not be able to accurately report our financial results or prevent fraud. As
a result, current and potential stockholders could lose confidence in our financial reporting, which would harm our business and the trading
rice of our stock.

Effective internal controls are necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports and effectively prevent fraud. If we cannot provide
liable financial reports or prevent fraud, our operating results.could be harmed. We have in the past discovered, and may in the future
iscover, areas of our internal controls that need improvement. For example, in our preparation for our 2004 audit, we discovered.an
nreconciled energy accounting issue that caused us to restate our second and third quarter reported results. Our external auditor identified this
issue as a reportable

o
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cord, process, summarize and report financial data consistent with the assertions of management in the financial statements. In 2004, we
evoted resources to remediate and improve our internal controls. Although we believe that these efforts have strengthened our internal
controls and addressed the concerns that gave rise to the reportable condition and material weakness in 2004, we are continuing to work to

prove our internal controls, including in the area of energy accounting. We cannot be certain that these measures will ensure that we

plement and maintain adequate controls over our financial processes and reporting in the future. Any failure to implement required new or
improved contrals, or difficulties encountered in their implementation, could harm our operating results or cause us to fail to meet our reporting
?ligations. Inferior internal controls could also cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial information, which could have a

Endition and a material weakness, which means that this was an issue that in the auditor’s judgment could adversely affect our ability to

gative effect on the trading price of our stock.

Investor confidence and share value may be adversely impacied if our independent auditors are unable to provide us with the attestation of the
equacy of our internal controls over financial reporting as of July 31, 2003, as required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.of 2002.

As directed by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the Securities and Exchange Commission adepted rules requiring public

mpanies+to include a report of management on our internal controls over financial reporting in our Annual Reports on Form 10-K that
Entains an assessment by management of the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting. In addition, our independent

ditors must attest to and report on management’s assessment of the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting. This
requirement will first apply to our Annual Report on Form 10-X for the fiscal year ending July 31, 2005. How companies should be

nplementing these hew requirements including internal control reforms, if any, to comply with Section 404’s requirements, and how

dependent auditors will apply these new requirements and test companies’ internal controls, are subject to uncertainty. Although we are
diligently and vigorously reviewing our internal controls over financial reporting in order to ensure compliance with the new Section 404

quirements, if our independent auditors are not satisfied with our internal controls over financial reporting or the level at which these controls
Ee documented, designed, operated or reviewed, or if the independent auditors interpret the requirements, rules or regulations differently than

e do, then they may decline to attest to management’s assessment or may issue a report that is qualified. This could result in an.adverse
reaction in the financial marketplace due to a loss of investor confidence in the reliability of our financial statements, which ultimately could
'egatively impact the market price of our shares.

We have initiated a company-wide review of our internal controls over financial reporting as part of the process of preparing for compliance
ith.Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and as a complement to our existing overall program of internal controls over financial
‘Vporting. As a result of this on-going review, we have made numerous improvements to the design and effectiveness of our internal controls
er- financial reporting through the period ended October 31, 2004. We anticipate that improvements will continue to be made.

Iem 3. Quantitative'and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk.

There have been no material changes to information called for by this [tem 3 from the disclosures set forth in Part II, Item 7A in the
lompany’s. Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended July 31, 2004, except as set forth below.

Our-activities expose us to a variety of market risks including commodity prices and interest rates. Management has established risk
anagement policies and strategies to reduce the potentially adverse effects that the price volatility of these markets may have on our operating
Esults. Our risk management activities, including the use of derivative instruments, are subject to the management, direction and control of an
ternal risk oversight committee. We maintain commodity price risk management strategies that use derivative instruments within strict risk
tolerances to minimize significant, unanticipated earnings fluctuations caused by commodity price volatility. Derivative instruments-measured
t fair market value are recorded on the balance sheet as an asset or liability. Changes in fair market value are recognized currently in earnings
'._nless specific hedge accounting criteria are met.

Supplyiitg electricity to retail customers requires us to match customers’ projected demand with fixed price purchases. We primarily use
':yrward physical energy purchases and derivative instruments to minimize significant,
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ice contracts may be expensive relative to derivative alternatives. Derivative instruments, primarily swaps and futures, are used to hedge the

ture purchase price of electricity for the applicable forecast usage protecting us from significant price volatility. In the first fiscal quarter of
2005, certain forward fixed price purchases and swap agreements were designated as cash flow hedges resulting in changes in the hedge value
!ing deferred in other comprehensive income (“OCI”). To the extent that the hedges are not effective, the ineffective portion of the changes in

‘-anticipated earnings fluctuations caused by commodity price volatility. In certain markets where we operate, entering into forward fixed

ir market value was recorded in direct energy costs. We also entered into transactions that did not qualify as accounting hedges but were
esigned to.take advantage of trends in wholesale power prices to reduce our direct energy costs. Some of these transactions do not qualify for
hedge accounting treatment under SFAS 133. In such cases, the changes in the fair value of these transactions are recorded in earnings as a
mponent of direct energy costs. We did not engage in trading activities in the wholesale energy market other than to manage our direct
ergy cost in an attempt to improve the profit margin associated with our customer requirements.

"The amounts recofded in QCI at October 31, 2004 related to cash flow hedges are summarized in the following table:

Increase
July 31, (Decrease) October 31,
2004 in OCI 2004

Other comprehensive incomne F — 51,450 $1,450

' Current assets $ — 51,450 $1,45D

- As of October 31, 2004, we had 84% of our forecast energy load through December 31, 2005 covered through either fixed price power
urchases with counterparties, or price protected through financial hedges.

'em 4. Controls and Procedures.
a) Evaluation of Disclosyre Conwrols and Procedures.

'y Our Principal Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded, based on their evaluation as of the end of the period covered
this report, that our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13(a)-15(e) under the Securities Act of 1934, as amended) are
effective to ensure that all information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports filed or submitted by it under the Securities and
xchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and include
!untrols and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclesed by the Company in such reports is accumulated and
ommunicated to the Company's management, including the Principal Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate and
allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

b) Changes in Internal Controls.

In connection with the above-referenced evaluation, no change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting occurred during
e period covered by this report that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting.

We are evaluating the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting in order to comply with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-
xley Act of 2002. Section 404 requires us to evaluate annually the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting as of the end
of each fiscal year beginning in 2005, and to include a management report assessing the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial
eporting in all annual reports beginning with our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ending on July 31, 2005. Section 404 also
quires our independent accountant to attest to, and report on, management’s assessment of our internal controls over financial reporting. In
evaluating our internal controls over financial reporting, we have identified a number of

24
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stems used-in financial reporting. We began making these changes during the second quarter of 2005. The changes we began during the

Ianges that need to be made to our internal controls, primarily related to better documenting the controls, and related changes 1o information
cond quarter of 2005 did not, individually or in the aggregate, have a material effect on our internal controls over financial reporting.

' PART II — OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings.

l Reference is made to the Company’s Report on Form 10-K for the period ended July 31, 2004 (the “10-K™), for a summary the Company’s
legal proceedings previously reported. Since the date of the 10-K, there have been no material developments in previously reported legal
roceedings.

25
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'em 6. Exhibits.
The exhibit listed below is hereby filed with the Commission as part of this Report.

l Exhibit
Number Description

10.1 Form of Non-Employee Director Stock Option Agreement for directors, previously filed with the Commission on December 8,
2004 as Exhibit 10.1 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, which is incorporated herein by reference.

10.2 Commerce Energy Group, Inc. Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy, previously filed with the Commission on
December 8, 2004 as Exhibit 10.2 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, which is incorporated herein
by reference.

10.3 Revised Security Agreement dated October 27, 2004 by and between Commonwealth Energy Corporation and DTE Energy
Trading, previously filed with the Commission on November 15, 2004 as Exhibit 10.32 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.’s
Annual Repert on Form 10-K, which is incorporated herein by reference.

10.4 Revised Operating Agreement dated November 15, 2004 between DTE Energy Trading, Inc. and Commonwealth Energy
Corporation, previously filed with the Commission on April 5, 2004 as Exhibit 10.33 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K, which is incorporated herein by reference.

31.1 _  Principal Executive Officer Certification required by Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

31.2 Chief Financial Officer Certification required by Rule 13a-14(a} under of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

32.1 Principal Executive Officer Certification pursuant to 18 U.8.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
322 Chief Financial Officer Certification pursuant to 18 U.8.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002,
26
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l SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by
'e undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC.

'ate: December 15, 2004 By: /s/ Peter Weigand
Peter Weigand
President
l {Principal Executive Officer)

ate: December 15, 2004 By: /s/ Richard L. Boughrum

Richard L. Boughrum
Senijor Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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EXHIBIT INDEX

!I\cexhibit listed below is hereby filed with the Commission as part of this Report.

"Exhibit
Number Description

10.1 Form of Non-Employee Director Stock Option Agreement for directors, previously filed with the Commission on December 8,
2004 as Exhibit 10.1 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, which is incorporated herein by reference.

10.2 Commerce Energy Group, Inc. Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy, previously filed with the Commission on
December 8, 2004 as Exhibit 10.2 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, which is incorporated: herein
by reference.

10.3 Revised Security Agreement dated October 27, 2004 by and between Commonwealth Energy Corporation and DTE Energy
Trading, previously filed with the Commission on November 15, 2004 as Exhibit 10.32 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K, which is incorporated herein by reference,

10.4 Revised Operating Agreement dated November 15, 2004 between DTE Energy Trading, Inc. and Commonwealth Energy
Corporation, previously filed with the Commission on April 5, 2004 as Exhibit 10.33 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K, which is incorporated herein by reference.

31.1 Principal Executive Officer Certification required by mle 13a-[4(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

31.2 Chief Financial Officer Certification required by Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

321 Principaf Executive Officer Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

322 Chief Financial Officer Certification pursuant to 18 U.8.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
l Oxley Act of 2002.
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS

Peter Weigand, certify that:

. I'have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Commerce Energy Group, Inc.;

. Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report does not contain any unirue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact

necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this quarterly report;

. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this quarterly report, fairly present in all

material respects. the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this
quarterly report;

. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as

defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedurss, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be-designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this quarterly report is being prepared;

¢) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation;
and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s intermal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter-that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect the registrant’s internal controls over
financial reporting; and

. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial

reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors {or persons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) allsignificant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal controls over financial reporting.

ate: December 15, 2004 By: /s/ PETER WEIGAND

PETER WEIGAND
President
{Principal Executive Officer)
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Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS

Richard L. Boughrum, certify that:

[ have. reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Commerce Energy Group, Inc,;

. Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact

necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this quarterly report;

. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this quarterly report, fairly present in all

material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this
quarterly report;

. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as

defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this quarterly report is being prepared;

¢) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation;
and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect the registrant’s internal controls over
financial reporting; and

. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial

reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal controls over financial reporting.

até: December 15, 2004 By: /s/ RICHARD L. BOUGHRUM

RICHARD L. BOUGHRUM
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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l Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULE 13(a)-14(b) AND 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
l AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Tn connection with the Quarterly Report of Commerce Energy Group, Inc. (the “Company™) on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ending
ctober 31, 2004, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report™), Peter Weigand, President (principal
executive officer) of the Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,

tat,’ to his knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

l 2. The information.contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the

Company.
iate: December 15, 2004 By: /s/ PETER WEIGAND
PETER WEIGAND
President

l (Principal Executive Officer)
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Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULE 13(a)-14(b) AND 18 U.S5.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION %06 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Commerce Energy Group, Inc. (the “Company™) on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ending

ctober 31, 2004, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report™), Richard L. Boughrum, Senior Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to 906 of the
iarbanes—Ox_Iey Act of 2002, that, to his knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

' 2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the
‘Company.

iate: December 15, 2004 By: /s/ RICHARD L. BOUGHRUM

RICHARD L. BOUGHRUM

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer

{Principal Financial Officer}
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UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-K

(Mark One)
| ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF

1934

For the fiscal year ended July 31, 2004

or
O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT
OF 1934
For the transition period from to

Commission File Number 001-32239

Commerce Energy Group, Inc.

{Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 20-0501090
{(State or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification No.)

600 Anton Boulevard, Suite 2000, Costa Mesa California 92626
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code
(714) 259-2500

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) ef the Act:

Title of Each Class Name of Each Exchange on Which Registered

Common Stock, $0.001 par value . American Stock Exchange

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g} of the Act:
None
(Title of class)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
ct of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2} has been
ubject to such filing requirements for at least the past 90 days: Yes No [

g S Sy AN Tm a0 5 By Oy P Ay en e

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K (§'229.405 of this Chapter) is not
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ntained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of Registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated
by reference in Part I1I of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. O

l Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is an accelerated filer {as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act). YesO NoH

The aggregate market value of the voting and non-voting common equity held by non-affiliates as of January 31, 2004, the last business
y of the registrant’s most recently completed second fiscal quarter, cannot be determined because there was no market for the registrant’s
shares at that date.

l As of November 11, 2004, 30,519,290 shares of the Registrant’s common stock were outstanding.

I
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' EXPLANATORY NOTE

Commerce Energy Group, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Registrant”), is the successor to Commonwealth Energy Corporation, @

alifornia corporation (the “Predecessor™), following consummation of a reorganization which was undertaken to effect the reorganization of

e Predecessor into a Delaware holding company structure whereby the Predecessor became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Registrant.
Upon consummation of the Reorganization, the entire class of common stock, $0.001 par value per share of the Registrantibecame registered

der Section 12(g) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), in accordance with Rule 12g-3(a) thereunder.

he Registrant filed a registration statement with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Commission™) with respect to its

mmon stock and related preferred stock purchase rights under Section 12(b) of the Exchange Act on Form 8-A on July 6, 2004, and a new
Exchange Act file number (File No. 001-32239) was issued, replacing the Predecessor’s file number (File No. 000 -33069), for use in periodic
'hngs required under the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations thereunder.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

You should carefully consider the risk factors described below, as well as the other information included in this Annual Report on
rm 10-K prior to making a decision to invest in our securities. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones facing our
mpany. Additienal risks and uncertainties not presently known or that we currently believe to be less significant may alse adversely affect us.
nless the context requires otherwise, references to “the Company,” “we,” “us,” and “our” refer specifically to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.
and its subsidiaries.

On one or more occasions, we may make statements regarding our assumptions, projections, expectations, targets, intentions or beliefs
about future events, All statements other than statements of historical facts included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K relating to
pectation of future financial performance, continued growth, changes in economic conditions or capital markets and changes in customer
Fage patterns and preferences, are forward-looking statements.

3 KK LAY LI LAY

33 K¢

5Lt LL Y H

g Words or phrases such as “anticipates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “expects,” “intends,” “plans,” “predicts,” “projects,” “targets,” “will likely

5 LENTY

sult,” “will continue,” “may,” “could” or similar expressions identify forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements involve risks

d uncertainties which could cause actual results or outcomes to differ materially from those expressed. We caution that while we make such
tatements in good faith and we believe such statements are based on reasonable assumptions, including without limitation, management’s

amination of historical operating trends, data contained in records and other data available from third parties, we cannot assure you that our
‘lzpectations will be realized.

iscussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Gperations in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, some important factors that
ould cause actual results or outcomes for Commerce Energy Group, Inc. or our subsidiaries to differ materially from those discussed in
forward-looking statements include:

l In addition to the factors and other matters discussed under the caption “Factors That May Affect Future Results™ in Item 7. Management’s

« regulatory changes in the states in which we operate that could adversely-affect our operations;
» our continued ability to obtain and maintain licenses from the states in which we operate;

* the competitive restructuring of retail marketing may prevent us from selling electricity in certain states;

* fluctuations in market prices for electricity;

» our dependence on the Independent System Operator in each of the states where we operate, to properly coordinate and manage their
electric prids, and to accurately and timely calculate and allocate the charges to the participants for the numerous related services
provided;

l « our dependence upon a limited number of third parties that generate and supply us electricity;
l » our ability to obtain credit necessary to support future growth and profitability; and

= = our dependence upon a limited number of local electric utilities to transmit and distribute the electricity we sell to our customers.

. Any forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date on which such statement is made, and, except as required by law, we undertake

o obligation to update any forward-looking statement to reflect events or circumstances after the date on which such statement is made or to

reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events. New factors emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for management to predict all such
ctors,
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PART I

Item 1. Business.

'verview

Cornmerce Energy Group, Inc., (“Commerce Energy or Commerce™), is a diversified energy services company. We provide retail electric
&wcr to our residential, commercial, industrial and institutional customers, provide consulting and technology services to energy-related
sinesses and provide energy transaction data management services. Commerce Energy is a halding company that operates through its
wholly-owned operating subsidiaries: Commonwealth Energy Corporation, doing business as electricAmerica, (“'electricAmerica ™,
llommonwealth“ or “Commonwealth Energy,”) Skipping Stone Inc., (“Skipping Stone,”) and UtiliHost, Inc., (“UtiliHost.™)

Commerce operates through the following wholly-owned subsidiaries:

ll‘ ectricAmerica

) electricAmerica provides electric power to our residential, commercial, industrial and institutional customers in the deregulated California,
‘&nnsylvania, Michigan and New Jersey electricity markets. Commonwealth Energy is licensed by the Federal Energy Regulatory

ommission, or FERC, as a power marketer, In addition to the states in which electricAmerica currently operates, Commonwealth Energy is
i[so licensed to supply retail electric power by applicable state agencies in New York, Maryland, Texas and Ohio.

Skipping Stone

& Skipping Stone, which we acquired in April 2004, provides energy-related consulting services and technologies to utilities, electricity
nerators, natural gas pipelines, wholesale energy merchants, energy technology providers and investment banks.

lUtfliHosf

UtiliHost provides managed back office services and energy transaction data management services to electricAmerica.
'ompany History

i Commerce Energy Group’s predecessor, Commonwealth Energy, was formed in California in August 1997, On July 6, 2004,
ommonwealth reorganized into a holding company structure, whereby Commonwealth became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Commerce
Energy and the stockholders of Commonwealth became stockhoelders of Commerce.

As a result of the reorganization, (a) each issued and outstanding share of common stock of Commonwealth was exchanged, subject to
exercise of dissenters’ rights by the Cormmonwealth's stockholders, for a share of Common Stock, par value $0.001 per share, of Comumerce
Energy (“Commerce Common Stock™) and a right to purchase (each, a “Right”) one one-hundredth of a share of Series A Junior Participating

reférred Stock, par value $0.001 per share, of Commerce (“Junior Participating Preferred”) and (b) Commerce assumed the Commonwealth’s
599 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”), all outstanding obligations to issue common stock under the Plan and all outstanding stock options
issued outside the Plan. The stockholders of Commerce hold the same relative percentage of Commerce common stock as they owned of
iommonwealth common stock immediately prior to the reorganization, subject to the exercise of dissenters rights.

Immediately prior to consummation of the reorganization, Commonwealth transferred ownership of the following four subsidiaries to

ga'ommerce Energy: Skipping Stone Inc., efectricAmerica, Inc., UtiliHost, Inc., and electric.com, Inc. As a result of the transfer, these entities
ecame subsidiaries of Commerce Energy, Commonwealth also contributed its TACT (Trans-Action Control Technology) and TRIUMPH

otal

. 4
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source [nternet Utility Management Power Host) proprietary software products that we have developed to provide outsourced services to our
tail customers and certain other assets related to outsourcing services to UtiliHost, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Commerce Energy.

) Commerce was incorporated in the State of Delaware on December 18, 2003. Qur executive offices are located at 600 Anton Boulevard,
l.n'te 2000, Costa Mesa California 92626. Our telephone number is (714} 259-2500.

ind ustry Background

Beginning in 1992, the U.S. electric utility industry began a process of dercgulation, which primarily served to unbundle generation,
transmission, distribution and ancillary services into separate components. In 1996, some states, and some of the utilities within those states,
oceeded to allow their end-use customers direct access to marketers enabling them to purchase electricity from an entity other than the host or
cal utility in a competitive retail market. These proceedings created a new market participant known as Electricity Service Providers, or
ESPs, such as Commerce. Presently, twenty-four states and the District of Columbia have either enacted enabling legislation or issued
igulatory orders to proceed with retail access.

As in other industries that have been deregulated, competition in the electric service industry is intended to provide consumers with.a
choice of multiple suppliers and is expected to promote product differentiation, lower costs and enhanced services. To obtain these benefits,
storners in deregulated utility markets may choose to switch their electric supply service from their local utility to an alternative supplier.

The electricity distribution infrastructure in place prior to deregulation remains largely unchanged, with the primary difference being that
‘Pirties other than the local utility can utilize the delivery infrastructure by paying usage fees. ESPs use this established electricity network for
e delivery of energy to their customers.

perator, or ISO, or regional transmission organization. The ISO is responsible for system reliability and ensures that physical electricity
ansactions between market participants are managed in such a way as to assure proper electricity reserve margins are in place, grid capacity is
maintained, and supply and demand are in near perfect balance in real time.

‘ Most electricity grids and wholesale market clearing activities are managed by a third party entity known as an Independent System
'

Retail electric marketers procure power supplies for delivery to end-use customers from a vanety of wholesale power producers or,
merchant generation companies, either through term bilateral contracts or on a spot basis. In addition, short term daily or hourly supply
quirements can be purchased or sold though the balancing markets operated by the ISO. The physical distribution of electricity to retail
stomers remains the responsibility of the local utility, which collects fees for use of its systems. Some states also enable the utility to provide
additional services, such as reading meters, generating customer bills, collecting bills and taking requests for service changes or problems,
ihile in other states the utility is not allowed, or chooses not to perform these services.

ore Products and Services

l QOur primary business is retail sales of electricity to end-use customers under the brand name electricAmerica through our subsidiary
ommonwealth Energy. We also provide consulting and technology professional services to utilities, electricity generators, whoiesale energy
merchants, and energy technology companies through our subsidiary, Skipping Stone. Additionally, our subsidiary, UtiliHost, offers energy

"Jmmodity data transaction services utilizing its proprietary technologies and business processes.

We engage in one industry segment. For information regarding our sales, operating profits and assets, see the financial statements inctuded
' Part II, Item 8 of this report, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”

* 5
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*ll ectricAmerica

We offer electric service to customers under month-to-month, one year, or longer-term service contracts. The difference between the
1stomers’ purchase price for energy and the sum of our wholesale electricity purchase costs and ancillary services costs provide us with a
gross margin,

!' All of the power we sell to our customers is purchased from third party power generators under long-term contracts and in the spot market.
e do not own electricity generation facilities with the exception of small experimental renewable energy assets. The electric power we sell to
d-user customers is metered and delivered to our customers by the local incumbent electric Utility Distribution Companies, or UDCs, or
ii:al utilities. The UDCs measure electric power usage, bill and collect for their distribution charges, and bill and collect our charges for
gctric commodity from most of our customers on our behalf. The Company does not have open lines of credit for direct unsecured
borrowings or for [etters of credit. Credit terms from our suppliers of electricity often require us to post collateral to support our energy
irchases and'to support our mark-to-market exposure with certain of our suppliers. We currently finance these collateral obligations with our
&hailable cash. To enable load shaping and balancing for our retail customer portfolio, we also buy and sell surplus electric power from and to
er market participants when necessary.

l Electricity is a real-time commodity. As soon as it is produced, it must be simultaneously delivered into the grid to meet the demand of end
sers as it cannot be stored. We must effectively manage our purchased electricity supply and our customer demand to maintain profitability.
We also manage the load shaping activity required by the variable electricity usage patterns of our retail customers; therefore, we may hold
ng or short energy positions. A long position occurs when we have committed to purchase more electricity than our customers need and a
%oﬁ position occurs when our customers’ needs exceed the amount of electricity we have committed to purchase. In both situations, we utilize
e wholesale electricity spot market and ISO clearing markets to sell excess energy when we are long, and buy additional electricity when we
are short. It would be impossible to completely hedge every delivery hour for all customers, therefore we will always have some exposure to
latility in wholesale market electric power price movement.

Purchases and sales in the wholesale market are regulated by FERC, and we report on a regular basis to the U.S. Department of Energy.
| cather, generation capacity, transmission, distribution and other market and regulatory issues also are significant factors in determining our
holesale procurement and sale strategies in each of the markets we serve.

gaSkipping Stone

Skipping Stone offers a number of related professional consulting services and technologies to energy companies, such.as utilities,
ectricity generators, natural gas pipelines, wholesale energy merchants, energy technology providers and investment banks. Skipping Stone is.
icused on.assisting clients with business process improvements, market research, training, Sarbanes-Oxley process level implementations,
B stems design and selection, and strategic and tactical planning for new market or merger activities. Additionally, through Skipping Stone’s
teclinology center, the Company provides natural gas pipeline information to market participants and government customers through its

tpacitycenter.com service.

UtiliHost

To provide managed back office services and rransaction data management, we developed and offer proprictary software and service
roducts TACT™ (Trans-Action Control Technology) and TRIUMPH™ (Total Resource Internet Utility Management Power Host). TACT™
ts as a data translator between trading partners, while TRIUMPH™ is a comprehensive, modular software package that calculates.and
anages back office processes such as customer enrollment, forecasting, metering, ancillary products, billing, accounts receivable, customer
®orvice and settlement. Currently, UtiliHost is providing services directly to electricAmerica for use in connection with electricAmerica s
electric service business. In the future, UtiliHost also intends to offer services directly to third party customers.

o~y o
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lvestments

We have investments in three energy technology companies: Encorp Inc. (formerly known as Envenergy, Inc.), Turbocor B.V. and Power
ﬂfﬁ‘cjency Corporatiomn

Encorp Inc., or Encorp, is a developer of software and hardware for energy and facility management that enables energy usage and cost
'formatit)n to be gathered and disseminated for the benefit of its customers. As of July 31, 2004, we owned approximately 2.3% of Encorp.

" Turbocor B.V., or Turbocor, is a2 manufacturer of energy efficient compressors for commercial heating, air conditioning, and refrigeration
spplications. As of July 31, 2004, we owned approximately 9.3% of Turbocor.

Power Efficiency Corporation, or PEC, markets its own brand of induction motor efficiency products that enhances motor performance
i\d.reduces energy consumption. As of July 31, 2004, we owned approximately 39.9% of PEC,

These investments were originally held by Summit Energy Ventures, LLC, or Summit, which we formed in July 2001..Our initial (and
only} capital contribution to Summit was $15 million. In April 2004, we reached an agreement with Summit’s investment manager, Northwest
lower Management, or NPM, to terminate our relationship. As a result of the transaction and after April 30, 2004, the Company no longer
tained an equity interest in or contractual relationship with Summit. After May 1, 2004, we retained direct ownership.in the investments in
the three-portfolio companies previously held by Summit. Under the terms of the termination agreement, we retained the entire interests in
ncorp and Turbocor previously held by Summit, and retained a portion of the interest in PEC that was previously held by Summit and not
istributed to NPM in the settlement. We will no longer consolidate the financial results of PEC in our consolidated financial statements:due to
e reduction in our ownership percentage as part of the termination agreement. (See Note 9 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements).

'Irowth Initiatives

We are working to broaden the scope of the energy-related products and services we provide to include natural gas, energy efficiency
WEferings, and additional outsourced services. Additionally, we are evaluating expansion of our core products and services into new deregulated
arkets and targeted customer classes. We expect to accomplish our growth objectives through a combination of organic growth initiatives,

mergers and acquisitions, and joint ventures.

lNew Markets

enty additional potential UDC markets that are open for direct access sales to end-use customers for both electricity and natural gas. We are
aluating each market to determine which are most advantageous to enter. We are also exploring opportunities to acquire existing portfolios-of
custorners in targeted markets.

lNatura! Gas

We are evaluating offering natural gas to our retail electric customers in the markets we currently serve in California, Pennsylvania,
@jfichigan and New Jfersey. All of these markets are currently open for direct access purchasing of natural gas from retail marketers. Our intent
13 either to develop this business organically or acquire an existing natural gas marketing business with infrastructure already in place.

& Currently, we actively market electricity in six UDC markets within California, Pennsylvania, Michigan and New Jersey. There are over

.Ener,gy Efficiency

We plan to offer a variety of energy efficiency products and services to our retail customers to assist them in better managing their energy
&ads. These offerings may include both hardware and facility management technologies and services. Our intent is to either partner with or
quire companies who are already

. 7
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!tablished and engaged in providing energy efficiency products and services targeted to residential, commercial, industrial and institutional
1Stomers. .

Qutsourced Services

We began expanding our outsourced services through Commonwealth under the brand name electricAmerica, to target load aggregation

opportunities in September 2002, enabling California cities and counties to establish Community Choice Aggregation programs. Such

rograms allow cities and counties to aggregate their residential, commercial, industrial and municipal electric service customers into portfolios

at can be supplied electric generation from ESPs and other non-utility providers. We market services to assist cities and counties in such
efforts, and intend to provide them with required energy procurement, energy management, customer service and back-office services. We also

arket similar services.for major commercial and industrial customers to meet their electricity demand requirements, The focus of the
EtsourCcd services strategy is to both leverage our core skills and technologies, and to diversify along the energy value chain with

mplimentary product offerings,

'ur Customers and Markets
electricAmerica

l Currently, electricAmerica is actively selling electricity to customers in California, Pennsylvania, Michigan and New Jersey. We are also

licensed to sell electricity in New York, Maryland, Texas and Ohio; however, we are not currently supplying customers in those markets. Qur
rgeted customers include small and medium size businesses. We also serve residential customers in most markets. As of July 31, 2004, we
e serving approximately 102,000 customers across all markets. We do not depend upon any one customer or a few major customers.

Skipping Stone

Skipping Stone is currently engaged by over 100 clients under master agreements, with approximately 20 active engagements in any given
month. Clients include utilities, wholesale energy merchants, natural gas pipelines companies, electricity generators, energy producers, and
‘Pvestment companies. The majority of our clients are based in North America with international clients from Japan, Korea, India, France,
nada and the United Kingdom.

UtiliHost

Currently, UtiliHost does not have any active customers; however, there are several potential opportunities under development. We have
gealized significant savings by utilizing the UtiliHost technologies in our own operations, which has helped us to avoid large expenditures for
'ird party software and services.

i.lectricity Supply

We maintain a balanced portfolio of long term power purchases using industry standard bilateral contracts with a variety of wholesale
suppliers ranging from one o two years through May 2006. We do not own generation assets, with the exception of small experimental
lnewable energy assets. Additionally, we buy and sell incremental volumes of electricity in the short-term or spot wholesale markets as
lcessary to manage load shaping to balance our electricity supply with our customers’ load requirements, We are not substantially dependent
on any one supplier,

Wholesale electricity is readily available from various sources in each of the markets in which we have customers. Based upon current
information from our suppliers, we do not anticipate any shortage of supply. However, in the event of a supply shortage, there can be no
ssurance that we would be able to timely secure an alternative supply of electricity at prices comparable to our current long-term contracts,
i‘ld the failure to replace a supplier in a timely manner at comparable prices could materially harm our operations.

8
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We employ industry standard risk management policies and procedures to control and monitor the risks associated with volatile
mmodity markets and to assure a balanced portfolio within tight risk tolerances.

lales and Marketing

We market and sell supplies of electricity to end-use customers in the states of California, Pennsylvania, Michigan and New Jersey. A
aricty of approaches are utilized in acquiring customers, including both inside and outside sales forces, consulting channels, web site
ollments and traditional marketing campaigns.

stomers and makes outbound calls to targeted customers. Qur contact center is responsible for procuring orders from-smaller commercial
stomers. Afl customers acquired by the contact center agree to our terms of service through a third party voice log system. This sign-up
device simplifies the switching process for these customers and shortens the sales cycle.

’!J The vast majority of our customers are acquired through our inside sales team, or contact center, which handles inbound calls from
u

Our outside sales team, Commercial and Industrial, or C&I Sales, is responsible for targeting medium and large commercial, industrial and
institutional customers. Customers acquired by our Cé&l Sales enter into individualized written contracts. For this reason, the sales cycle is
ically longer because the deal size is large and requires customized proposals to meet the customer’s needs, C&I Sales also works with third
rty energy consultants who procure energy supplies on behalf of commercial and industrial customers.

ith detailed electric supply information in each territory that we serve and enables customers to complete application forms online, send us

l We also use our electricAmerica website, www.electricAmerica.com, as a tool to help acquire customers. The website provides customers
Utomated inquiries or helps customers find our toll-free telephone number, 1-800-ELECTRIC®.

l Traditional marketing campaigns, such as direct mail, billboards, trade show participation, and targeted market research are all designed to
cilitate customer acquisition. We continually refine our marketing methodologies to target favorable customers based on changes in the
electric marketplace.

l Our retail energy sales depend upon our ability to identify and enter into favorable energy markets, manage the cost of customer
acquisition, and to achieve sufficient customer scale to create a profitable operating cost structure. Currently, we intend to:

» Selectively enter retail energy markets that have rate structures, market rules, consumer demographics, energy consumption-patterns,
access to favorable electricity supply and risk management profiles that are designed to enable us to provide savings and flexibility to our
customers at an acceptable margin.

» Capitalize on the brand recognition of elecrricAmerica through our web site at www.eleciricAmerica.com and through our inbound toll-
free number, 1-800-ELECTRIC,

(www.electricAmerica.com and www.electric.com) and through traditional channels.

» Develop strategic marketing alliances with established power suppliers to offer competitive electric products and services to targeted

l « Take advantage of the increasing consumer acceptance of online commerce, both directly through our web sites
' markets-and customers.

' » Offer additional products and services to our customers, such as risk management pricing alternatives, outsourced services, consulting
services, and, eventually, energy efficiency products and services.

'Zampetition
“electricAmerica

l In markets that are open to competitive choice of suppliers, there are generally three types of competitors, the local utilities, retail
marketers and wholesale merchants. Competition is based primarily on price and customer service.

In general, we believe our principal competitor in each market is the local utility or unregulated utility affiliate, primarily because the local
utilities are uswvally already serving the customer. Increasing our market
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lationships with their customers and they have longer operating histories, greater financial and other resources and greater name recognition
n their markets than we do. In addition, local utilities have been subject to many years of regulatory oversight and thus have a significant
amount of experience regarding the regulators’ policy preferences as well as a critical economic interest in the outcome of proceedings

ncerning their revenues and terms and conditions of service. Local utilities may seek to decrease their tariffed retail rates to limit or to

eclude the opportunities for competitive energy suppliers and otherwise seek to establish rates, terms and conditions to the disadvantage of
competitive energy suppliers. There is an emerging trend among some local utilities to exit the power merchant function and actively
i\couragc customers to leave their energy supply service. This is sometimes encouraged by the framework for deregulation within which the

lare depends on our ability to convince customers to switch to our service. The local utilities have the advantage of long-standing

cal utility operates. Recently, there have been several customer auctions held in which the local utility assigns its customers to winning retail
arketer bidders. We have been successful in the customer auction process and plan to pursue more of these opportunities as they become
available.

l Among the retail marketers and wholesale merchants, competition is most intense for the larger volume customers, such as large

commercial and industrial accounts. Qur target customers are the medium and smaller businesses, in which we rarely experience competition

lom the wholesale merchants, and in most markets, there are typically only two or three ather retail marketers actively targeting the same
ccounts.

Most customers who switch from the local utility do so for an economic benefit. Once switched, customer retention is based on continuing
!)mpetitive pricing, reliability of supply and customer service. Qur customer service record has enabled us to maintain a high customer
tention rate,

I Some of our competitors, including local utilities, have formed alliances and joint ventures in order to compete in the restructured retail

ectricity industry. Many customers of these local utilities may decide to stay with their long-time energy provider if they have been satisfied

with their service in the past. Therefore, it may be difficult for us to compete against local utilities and their affiliates for customers who are
tisfied with their historical utility provider,

In addition to competition from the local utilities and their affiliates, we may face competition from a number of other energy service
oviders, and other energy industry participants who may develop businesses that will compete with us in both local and national markets. We
iso may face competition from other nationally branded providers of consumer products and services. Some of these competitors or potential
mpetitors may be larger and better capitalized than us.

'.Skipping Stone

We face competition in selling consulting and outsourced services from a large variety of companies. These competitors may be engaged
' the energy business, as we are, or from national and international management and information technologies firms.

Seascnality

' Our revenues are subject to fluctvations during the year; primarily due to the impact certain seasonal factors have on sales volumes and the

wholesale prices of electricity. Electricity sales volumes are historically higher in the summer months for cooling purpaoses, followed by the

.;inter months for heating and lighting purposes. Typically, fall and spring months volumes are modest due to the reduced demand for cooling
heating.

iovernmental Regulation

In states that have édopted deregulation, state public utility commissions, or PUCs, have authority to license and regulate certain of the
activities of electric supply retailers. We are subject to regulation by the PUC in each state in which we sell of electric power. The requirements
1 licensing and the level of regulation vary from state to state. We are currently licensed by the applicable PUCs in California, Pennsylvania,

16
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ichigan, New Jersey, New York, Maryland, Texas and Ohio. These licenses permit us to sell electrical power to commercial, industrial,
stitutional and residential customers.

We are subject to regulation by various federal, state and local governmental agencies. Our wholesale purchases and sales are subject to
e jurisdiction of the FERC under the Federal Power Act. We make wholesale sales of electricity pursuant to a Power Marketer certificate
sued by FERC. While FERC does not generally regulate the rates, terms or conditions of these electricity sales, FERC has the authority to
institute proceedings to identify transactions invelving rates that are not just and reasonable due to market manipulation and to reverse or

'1wind such transactions to ensure just and reasonable rates.

On September 20, 2001, the California PUC issued a ruling suspending direct access. Direct access refers to the right of retail electricity
ippliers like us to actively seek new customers in California from the local utilities. This ruling permits retail electricity suppliers to keep their
rrent customers and to solicit direct access customers served by other providers, but prohibits us from signing up new non-direct access
customers in California for an undetermined period of time.

'mployees

As of July 31, 2004, we employed approximately 173 full-time and 2 parl-time employees, including: 32 in administration, 16 in
[arketing and sales, and [27 in operations. None of our employees are covered by a collective bargaining agreement or are presently
presented by a labor union. We have not experienced any work stoppages and consider our employee relations to be good.

'1tellectual Property

Intellectual property assets include our proprietary software and service products (TACT and TRIUMPH), our 1-800-Eleciric telephone
mber and rights to our internet domain names (electric.com and electricAmerica.com). Also in fiscal 2004, we acquired Skipping Stone’s
stomer list, software and website, We believe that each of our intellectual property assets offer us strategic advantages in our operations.

Their useful lives range from two to 20 years.

Our strategy for protection of our trademarks is to routinely file U.S. federal and foreign trademark applications for the various word
names and logos used to market our technology solutions to licensees and the general public. The duration of the U.S. and foreign registered
iademarks can typically be maintained indefinitely, provided proper fees are paid and trademarks are continually used or licensed by us.

em 1A,  Executive Officers of the Registrant.
E\formation About Our Executive Officers

The following table sets forth information regarding our executive officers, including their respective business experience during the last
ve years and age as of October 22, 2004. Executive officers are elected by, and serve at the pleasure of, the Board of Directors.

On November 11, 2004, a Special Committee of the Board of Directors of Commerce placed Mr. Carter, Chairman of the Board and Chief
xecutive Officer of Commerce and Commonwealth, on paid administrative leave, which will continue for an indefinite period not to exceed
!le remainder of the term of Mr. Carter’s employment agreement ending on January 31, 2005. Peter Weigand, President of Commerce and
ommonwealth, will assume the duties of the principal executive officer of Commerce and its affiliated entities until the Board of Directors
points a successor to Mr. Carter, subject to certain limitations imposed by the Special Committee of the Board of Directors. As part of these
fltics, Mr. Weigand will act as the “principal executive officer” of Commerce for purposes of all filings with the Securities and Exchange
‘ommission under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

i 11
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Principal Occupation and Other Information

lan B. Carter 66
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer

'éter Weigand 47
President

ichard L. Boughrum o4
Senior Vice President,
Chief Financial Officer

hn A. Barthrop 62
Seniar Vice President, General
Counsel and Secretary

Mr. Carter has been Chairman of the Board

of Directors and Chief Executive Officer of Commerce since December
2003. He has served as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of
Commonwealth since January 2000, and was Commonwealth’s
President from March 2003 to March 2004. During the preceding four
month period prier to January 2000, he acted as Commonwealth’s
Interim President. From October 1988 to August 1999, Mr, Carter
operated his own businesses, including a mortgage banking firm and a
merchant banking firm. Prior to that, Mr. Carter served as an
investment specialist for Coldwell Banker Commercial Brokerage and
worked as a Systems Engineer and Salesman with IBM. Mr. Carter also
served in the United States Army serving in Vietnam, Europe and the
Pentagon. Mr. Carter received his Bachelor of Science degree in
Engineering from the United States Military Academy at West Point,
New York, and his Masters in Business Administration in finance from
the University of Southern California.

Mr. Weigand became President of Commerce

and Commeonwealth in April 2004, He has also served on-Commerce’s
Board of Directors since April 2004. Since 1996, Mr. Weigand served
as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Skipping Stone, an energy
consulting and technology firm he founded. Prior to forming Skipping
Stone, Mr. Weigand held senior management positions at several
energy marketing companies. Mr. Weigand holds a Bachelor of
Business Administration from Wichita State University.

Mr. Boughrum became Senior Vice President,

Chief Financial Officer of Commerce and

Commonwealth in April 2004. From January 2004 to April 2004,

Mr. Boughrum served as an independent contractor with Skipping
Stone. From April 1990 to November 2003, Mr. Boughrum was an
investment banker with Goldman Sachs & Co. in New York.

Mr. Boughrum is an honors graduate of the University of lllinois with a
Bachelor of Science degree in Journalism. He also has a Masters of
Science degree in Communications and a Masters in Business
Administration in Finance from the University of Illinois.

Mr. Barthrop has been a Senior Vice President,

General Counsel and Secretary of Commerce

since April 2004. Mr. Barthrop has served as General Counsel and
Secretary of Commonwealth since May 1999. From August 1998 1o
May 1999, Mr. Barthrop practiced law with the firm of Eadington,
Merhab & Eadington. From July 1996 to August 1998, he was a
principal member of the business and litigation law firm of Smith,
Sinek & Barthrop. Mr. Barthrop was an adjunct professor at Whittier
College of Law. Mr. Barthrop obtained a Bachelor of Science degree
from the University of Washington, and a Juris Doctorate degree from
University of California, Hastings College of Law.
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lem 2.  Properties.

Our principal executive office is located in Costa Mesa, Californta. This facility houses our administration and operations. We lease
pproximately 38,677 square feet of office space at these premises pursuant to a sub-lease that expires on September 6, 2009.

i) We also lease approximately 2,265 square feet of additional office space in Cherry Hill, New Jersey under a lease that expires in August
05.

approximately 4,200 square feet under a lease that expires in June 2005, and the Houston office consists of approximately 5,600 square feet

!’ In addition to the Commerce offices, Skipping Stone has offices in Boston, Massachusetts and Houston, Texas. The Boston office consists
nder a lease that expires in February 2007.

lp We believe that our leased property is in good condition, is well maintained and is adequate for our current and immediately foreseeable
erating needs.

'em 3.  Legal Proceedings.

On January 15, 2003, we filed a complaint in the United States District Court for the Central District of California entitled Commonwealth
nergy Corporation v, Wayne Mosley, et al. (Case number CV03-00402-NM (RNBx}) against several dissident stockholders who we believed
lad illegally solicited proxies in connection with the annual meeting of stockholders on January 21, 2003. On February 6, 2003, we filed an
amended complaint in this lawsuit asking the court to confirm that the Board of Directors had been legally elected by the stockholders and
lidating the inspector’s determination at the annual meeting that the proxy materials sent by defendants had violated several Securities and
Echange Commission rules and regulations and that the resulting proxies were invalid. On June 10, 2003, the court issued a default judgment
ainst certain defendants, finding (a) we properly conducted the election at our annual meeting and the inspectors of election were correct in
rejecting the proxies solicited by the group; (b} the inspectors of election counted the votes and proxies properly (and thus the elections results
rere validated); and (c) the challenged proxies violated Securities and Exchange Act Section 14(a) and Securities and Exchange Commission
!ules 14a-4 and 14a-9, and were therefore invalid. Three members of the group, and all persons acting in concert with them, were ordered by
e court to comply with all federal securities laws and Securities and Exchange Commission rules in any future attempts to solicit proxies.
However, two additional defendants, who were not subject to the court’s earlier ruling, brought a counterclaim against us on November 14,
03 alleging that our Board of Directors was not properly elected at the annual meeting. This actien is currently pending and seeks an.order
iding the results of the Board of Directors election at the 2003 annual meeting and compelling us to seat certain other persons whom they
allege should have been elected to the Board. No damages are cwrrently being sought by plaintiffs in this case. Commonwealth intends to
efend these counter-claims vigorously.

On February 14, 2003, we filed a complaint in the Orange County Superior Court against Jeseph Ogundiji (Case number 03C03049)
seeking a judicial declaration recognizing as invalid 80,000 shares of our capital stock that Mr. Qgundiji claims to hold. On April 11, 2003,
r. Ogundiji filed and served an answer and cross-complaint alleging claims against us for breach of contract, conversion, declaratory relief,
omissory estoppel, unlawful denial of voting rights pursuant to California Corporations Code Section 709, illegal stock dividends in violation
of California Corporations Code Section 25120 and unjust enrichment. The cross-complaint seeks an unspecified amount of general and
unitive damages. This matter is scheduled for trial on June 20, 2005.

On November 20, 2003, we filed a Notice of Appeal in the California Court of Appeal’s Fourth Appellate District, Division Three, from a
ourt order dated September 24, 2003 in Saline v. Commonwealth Energy Corp. (Orange County Superior Court case number 01CC13887).
he.appealed order was entered after the first of two trial phases and requires Commonwealth to recognize the shares of “other convertible
eferred stock” held by plaintiff, Joseph Saline, a former director, as valid. A second phase of the trial is scheduled for January 18, 2005,
ommonwealth recently prevailed on its motion for summary adjudication of Mr. Saline’s

O
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nversion claim, so only a breach of contract claim remains for trial. Another case brought by Mr. Saline, Saline v. Commonwealth Energy

rporation (Orange County Superior Court case number 01CC10657) has been consolidated with this case for trial on January 18, 2005. The
remaining claims in the second case are allegations by Commonwealth and/or certain intervenor plaintiffs that Mr. Saline breached his

uciary duties as a director, libeled the Company, and illegally tape recorded certain board meetings. In this second case, Mr. Saline has
ijpealed the trial court’s denial of his motion to strike the libel claims and refusal to award him attorney’s fees related to his original claim

ncerning his access to corporate documents.

Ia On November 25, 2003, several stockholders filed a lawsuit against us in the United States District Court for the Central District of
lifornia entitled Coltrain, et al. v. Commonwealth Energy Corporation, et al. (Case number CV03-8560-FMC (RNBx)). The complaint
purports to be.a class action against us for violations of section 709 of the California Corporations Code. The plaintiffs allege that we failed to

rrectly count approximately 39,869,704 votes cast at the 2003 annual meeting and, as a result, the Board of Directors was not properly
{ected. Instead, the plaintiffs allege that four different persons would have been seated on the Board had the votes been tabulated in the

anner advocated by the plaintiffs. This case involves identical issues of law and fact as the counterclaim discussed above in Commonwealth
Energy Corporation v. Wayne Moseley, et al. and is currently pending. Commonwealth recently settled with one of the plaintiffs in this case,
'oltrain. Commonwealth is vigorously defending this action,

On April 19, 2004, Mr. Saline and Mr. Ogundiji filed an action in California Superior Court for Orange County (Case No. 04CC05038),
leging that Commonwealth Energy Corporation’s Board of Directors (other than Mr. Saline) breached their fiduciary duties and breached the
!)venant of good faith and fair dealing by approving and putting to a stockholder vote the recent reorganization plan, which resulted in
ommeonwealth becoming a wholly-owned subsidiary of Commerce Energy Group, Inc. In addition, they allege that Commonwealth
impropetrly failed to hold an annual meeting within the time limits set by California Corperations Code Section 600, improperly used the
organization to alter their rights as preferred stockholders, and improperly refused to hold a vote just among preferred stockholders regarding
e reorganization. Up to this point in the litigation, Mr. Saline and Mr. Ogundiji have attempted to block the special meeting at which the
reorganization was approved, to enjoin the reorganization, to unwind the reorganization and to de-list the shares of common stock of
ommerce listed on the AMEX but were not successful. Because our directors are defendants in this case, pursuant to the terms of the
i;/demniﬁcation agreements between Commonwealth and its directors, we are required to indemnify the directors to the fullest extent ailowed
law. The indemnification agreement covers any expenses and/or liabilities reasonably incurred in connection with the investigation, defense,
settlement or appeal of legal proceedings. The obligation to provide indermnification does not apply if the officer or director is found to be
able for fraudulent or criminal conduct. Pursuant to the indemnification agreement, we are currently providing a joint defense with the
lirectors in this action. This matter is scheduled for trial in September 12, 2005 and Commonwealth will defend vigorously.

ormal course of business. While we cannot predict the ultimate outcome of our pending matters or how they will affect our resulis of

perations or financial position, management currently does not expect any of the legal proceedings to which we are currently a party,
including the legal proceedings described above, individually or in the aggregate, to have a material adverse effect on our results of operations
'r financial position.

l, We are currently, and from time to time may become, involved in other litigation concerning claims arising out of our operations in the

Itemd.  Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders.

' A special meeting of stockholders of Commonwealth Energy was held on May 20, 2004 for the purpose of (a) voting on a proposal, which
we refer to as the “reorganization proposal,” to approve the Agreement and Plan of Reorganization by and among Commerce Energy Group,
c., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Commerce Energy Group, Inc. and Commonwealth Energy Corporation and the merger provided thereby of
ommonwealth Energy Corporation with a wholly-owned subsidiary of Commerce Energy Group, Inc., with Commonwealth Energy
Yorporation surviving as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Commerce Energy Group,

14
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¢., and {b) voting on a proposal to grant discretionary authority to adjourn or postpone the special meeting for the purpose of soliciting
ditional proxies.

The reorganization proposal and the proposal to grant discretionary authority to adjourn or postpene the special meeting for the purpose of
l[iciting additional proxies were approved at the special meeting. The complete results of the voting at the special meeting has been previousty
ported in Commuonwealth’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarterly Period Ended April 30, 2004, filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on June 14, 2004,

I On July 6, 2004, the helders of 411,000 shares of Commonwealth’s 609,000 outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock consented in
writing to the conversion of their preferred shares into Commonwealth common stock prior to consurmmation of the reorganization. Pursuant to
e Certificate of Designation for Commonweaith’s Series A Preferred Stock, upon the consent of holders of at least 66 2/3% of the Series A
!‘r'eferred Stock to convert their shares, 100% of the shares of Commonwealth Series A Preferred Stock were converted into shares of

ommonwealth common stock.

l On July 1, 2004, Commonwealth, as the sole stockholder of Commerce prior to the reorganization, approved the following by unanimous
ritten consent: (a) the reorganization proposal; (b) the amendment and restatement of Commerce’s Certificate of Incorporation; (c) the
amendment and restatement of Commerce’s bylaws; and (d) indemnification agreements for Commerce’s officers and directors.
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PART 11

=

tem 5.  Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.
arket Information

On July 8, 2004, Commerce’s cormmon stock began trading on the American Stock Exchange under the symbol “EGR.” The following
ble sets forth, the high and low sales price per share of common stock for the periods indicated, as reported on the American Stock Exchange:

Fiscal Year Ended July 31, 2004 High Low
Fourth Quarter {beginning July 8, 2004) $3.49 $1.25
Fiscal Year Ending July 31, 2005 High Low

First Quarter £2.00 $1.20

As of November 11, 2004, the last reported sales price on the American Stock Exchange for Commerce’s common stock was §1.05 per
are.

Prior to July 8, 2004, there was no established public trading market for any class of Commerce Energy’s or Commonwealth’s equity
curities.

olders

As of November 11, 2004, there were 2,419 holders of record of Commerce’s common stock,

'ividend Policy

We have not declared or paid a cash dividend on our common stock, and we do not anticipate paying any cash dividend for the foreseeable
'lture. We presently intend to retain earnings to finance future operations, expansion and capital investment.

Prior to July 2004, Commeonwealih’s Series A convertible preferred stock provided for cumulative dividends that accrued at a rate of
t% per annum. During fiscal 2003 and fiscal 2004, Commonwealth declared and paid cash dividends of $92,100 and $107,568, respectively,
Commonwealth’s Séries A convertible preferred stock. As of July 31, 2003, accrued cumulative unpaid dividends on our Series A
convertible preferred stock were $90,548. On July 6, 2004, immediately prior to the reorganization, all 609,000 outstanding shares of
ommonwealth’s Series A convertible preferred stock were converted to Commeonwealth common stock by a vote of Commonwealth’s
eries A convertible preferred stockholders. Accordingly, as of July 31, 2004, there were no shares of Commonwealth’s Series A convertible
preferred stock outstanding, and no accrued dividends on shares of Series A convertible preferred stock.

l Prior to July 2004, Commonwealth recognized 392,000 shares of Other convertible preferred stock that accrued interest at rates of 12% to
4% per annum. The validity of these shares of preferred stock is the subject of pending litigation. See “Item 3. Legal Proceedings.” During
fiscal 2003, Commonwealth did not declare or pay cash dividends on the Other convertible preferred stock. In fiscal 2004, Commonwealth
clared and paid cash dividends of $73,507 on Commonwealth’s Other convertible preferred stock. Prior to the reorganization in July 2004,
) of the shares Commonwealth’s Other convertible preferred stock were converted to Commerce common stock at the election of the Other
convertible preferred stockholders. Accordingly, as of July 31, 2004, there were no shares of Commonwealth's Other convertible preferred
‘tock outstanding or accrued dividends on shares of Other convertible preferred stock.

quity Compensation Plan Information

l Information concerning securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plans is set forth in “Item 12, Security Ownership
f Certain Beneficial Owners and Management — Equity Compensation Plan Information,” and that information is incorporated herein by
reference. ’

| y
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'ecent Sales of Unregistered Securities

In March 2004, Commonwealth sold 100,000 shares of common stock to Ian B. Carter, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, in a
ivate placement pursuant to the exercise of a stock option agreement. The transaction was exempt under Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of
33 as one not involving any public offering.

On July 6, 2004, Commonwealth issued 1,393,000 shares of common stock to the former holders of Commonwealth’s Series. A convertible
lef‘en’ed stock and Other convertible preferred stock upon conversion of the Series A and Other convertible preferred stock in accordance with
eir respective terms. The transactions were exempt under Section 3(a)(9) of the Securities Act of 1933 as an exchange of securities with
existing security holders. No commission or other remuneration was paid or given directly or indirectly for soliciting the exchange.

lsuer Purchases of Equity Securities
' The following table details our common stock repurchases for the three months ended July 31, 2004:

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

' (@ (b) (&} (G)]

Maximum
Number (or
' Approximate
Total Dollar
Number of VYalue) of
Shares Shares (or
{or Units) Units} that
I Average Purchased as May Yet Be
Total Price ' Part Purchased
Number of Paid Per of Publicly Under the
Shares (or Units) Share Announced Plans Plans
l4 Period Purchased {or Unit} or Programs or Programs
ay 1 — 31, 2004 — — — —

June 1 — 30, 2004 — — — —
ily 1 — 31, 2004 603,697(1) $1.92 — —

l) Represents shares repurchased from former stockholders of Commonwealth, pursuant to the exercise of dissenter’s rights in connection
with the Company’s reorganization in July 2004.
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lem 6.  Selected Financial Data.

erations data for the fiscal years ended July 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004 derived from our consolidated financial statements audited by Emst &
oung LLP, independent registered public accounting firm, which are included elsewhere in this filing, and (b) balance sheet data as of
July 31, 2000, 2001 and 2002, and statements of operations data for the fiscal years ended July 31, 2000 and 2001, derived from our
nsolidated financial statements audited by Emst & Young LLP, which are not included in this filing. The infermation below should be read
conjunction with “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation” and “Item 8. Financial
‘Statements and Supplementary Data” included elsewhere in this filing.

'3 The selected financial data in the following tables sets forth (a) balance sheet data as of July 31, 2003 and 2004, and statement of

I Fiscal Year Ended July 31,

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004

(Amounts in thousands except per share information)
Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:

Net revenue $99,624 $183,264 $117,768 $165,526 $210,623
l Direct energy costs 86,732 77,281 87,340 128,179 191,180
Gross profit 12,892 105,983 30,428 37,347 19,443
Operating expenses{1) 21,921 24,919 20,247 22,732 33,313
l Income (loss) from operations {9,029 81,064 10,181 14,615 (13,870)
Initial formation litigation expenses {116) (276) (1,671) (4,415) (1,562)
Provision for impairment on investments — — — — (7,135)
l Loss on termination of Summit — — — — (1,904)
Loss on equity investmenis —_ — (160) (567) —
Minority interest share of loss — — — 187 1,185
l Interest income, net 499 1,593 939 715 549
Income (loss) before pravision for (benefit from)
income taxes {8,646) 82,381 9,289 10,535 (22,737)
' Provision for (benefit from) income taxes — 21,852 4,125 5,113 {1,017)
Net income (loss) $ (8,646) $ 60,529 5 5,164 $ 5422 $(21,720)
[ e womci | | =:im s | Lo i a3 Ty ISR
l Earnings (loss) per common share
Basic § (0.30) § 206 5 019 5 019 $ (077)
[ [ Pt D
Diluted $ (0.30) $ 177 3 016 $ 018 5 (0.77)
. s oo sirmme | =roroems viseann ] [~ ez ] ERETETE Y
Weighted-average shares outstanding:
Basic 28,795 29,385 27,482 27,424 28,338
Diluted 28,795 34,152 28,338
' 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004
' Working capital $12,803 $ 50,184 3 38,841 5 36,411 $ 58,105
Total assets 35,444 107,016 101,229 125,870 110,823
Stockholders’ equity 24,236 86,037 87,952 93,017 74,106

2001, 2002, 2003 and 2004, respectively. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Resuits of

'1) Includes stock-based compensation charges (reversals) of $445, $1,080, $(743), 30 and $636 in the fiscal years ended July 31, 2000,
Operation — Results of Operations” and Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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len'l 1. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation.

stomers in the deregulated California, Pennsylvania, Michigan and New Jersey electricity markets under the brand name electricAmerica.
e are licensed by the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, or FERC, as a power marketer. In addition to the states in which we currently
i:erate, we are also licensed to supply retail electric power by applicable state agencies in New York, Maryland, Texas and Ohio.

!7 We are a diversified energy services company. We provide electric power to our residential, commercial, industrial and institutional
1

As of July 31, 2004, we delivered electricity to approximately 102,000 customers in California, Pennsylvania, Michigan and New Jersey.
The growth of our business depends upon the degree of deregulation in cach state, the availability of energy at competitive prices and credit
lrms, and our ability to acquire retail or commercial custemers.

Our core business is the retail sale of electricity to end-use customers. All of the power we sell to our customers is purchased from third
rty power generators under long-term contracts and in the spot market. We do not own electricity generation facilities, with the exception of
Enall experimental renewable energy assets. The electric power we sell is generally metered and delivered to our customers by the local
cumbent electric distribution utilities, or local utilities. The local utilities also provide billing and collection services for most of our
customers on our behalf. To enable load shaping and balancing for our retail customer portfolio, we also buy and sell surplus electric power
om and to other market participants when necessary.,

On April 1, 2004, we acquired Skipping Stone, Inc., or Skipping Stone, an energy consulting and technology firm. The aggregate purchase
ice for all of the outstanding Skipping Stone securities, which consists of common stock and vested options, was $3.1 million and the
!sumption of $0.6 million of debt, subject te limited restrictions and true-up provisions. The purchase price was paid through the issuance of
ommonwealth common stock, which was valued at $1.92 per share. Skipping Stone’s revenue and operating results were less then 1% of our
ionsolidated totals for the four months since its acquisition.

On April 30, 2004, we reached an agreement with our investment manager, Northwest Power Management, or NPM, to terminate our
relationship with Summit Energy Ventures, LLC, or Summit. As a result of the transaction, we no longer retain an equity interest or contractual
lationship with Summit, and we retain and directly own investments in the three portfolio companies previously held by Summit. Under the
mms of the agreement, we retain the entire interest in Encorp, Inc., or Encorp, and Turbocor B.V., or Turbocar, previously held by Summit,

and we retain a portion of the interest in Power Efficiency, or PEC, that was previously held by Summit and not distributed to NPM in the
ttlement. We no longer consolidate the financial results of PEC in our consolidated financial statements due to a reduction in our ownership
Frcentage to approximately 40%.

i’larket and Regulatory

California

The 1996 California Assembly Bill, or AB, 1890 codified the restructuring of the California electric industry and provided for the right of
irect access, or DA. DA allowed electricity customers to buy their power from a supplier other than the electric distribution utilities beginning
January 1, 1998. On April 1, 1998, we began supplying customers in California with electricity as an Electric Service Provider, or ESP.

l The California Public Utility Commission, or CPUC, issued a ruling on September 20, 2001 suspending direct access. The suspension
permitted us to keep current customers and to salicit DA customers served by other providers, but prohibited us from soliciting new non-DA
stomers for an indefinite period of time.

In July 2002, the CPUC authorized Southern California Edison, or SCE, to implement a Historical Procurement Charge, or HPC, to repay
ebt incurred during the energy crisis. This amount is currently being collected by SCE as a $0.01 per kilowatt-hour, or kWh, surcharge on the
tail electricity bill paid by our customers. SCE estimates that fuli payment could be achieved as soon as eariy 2006. While HPC does not
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".rectly impact our rate design or revenue, it may affect our ability to retain existing customers or compete for new customers.

Senate Bill 1078, signed by the governor on September 12, 2002, established a Renewable Portfolio Standard program that requires retail
llers of electricity to increase the renewable energy content of their electricity deliveries, from sources such as small hydro, biomass,
Eothermal resources, and municipal solid waste conversion technologies. Retail sellers must meet a target of 20 percent renewable content in
eir electricity portfolio by December 31, 2017. Due to the slow ramp-up of this program, additional costs to us are not expected to be
-significant in the near future.

l Effective January 1, 2003, the CPUC authorized the electric distribution utilities to charge certain DA customers a surcharge to cover state
power contract costs. The Direct Access Customer Responsibility Surcharge, or DA CRS, is currently fixed at $0.027 per kWh. DA CRS is
ly assessed to those DA customers who enrolled in DA on or after February 1, 2001. In the SCE service territory, the.30.027 DA CRS
!::ludcs the $0.01 HPC. Those customers enrolled in DA prior to February 1, 2001, in the SCE service territory continue to pay only the $§0:01
PC. While this charge does not directly impact our rate design or revenue, it may affect our ability to retain existing customers or compete for
new customers.

In December 2003, Pacific Gas and Electric, or PG&E, and the CPUC reached a settlement in the PG&E bankruptcy. In February 2004,
the CPUC approved a rate settlement agreement, which reduced overall customer rates in the PG&E service territory. DA bills have generally
leclined‘ in the PG&E service territory and the lower rates have affecied our revenue and profitability.

Currently, four important issues are under review at the CPUC, a Resource Adequacy Requirement, a Renewable Portfolio Standard,
tilities Long Term Procurement Plans and the General Rate Cases of the electric distribution utilities. Additional costs to serve customersin
!alifomia are.anticipated from these proceedings, however, the CPUC decisions will determine the distribution of those costs across all load
erving entities and ultimately the financial impact on us.

l In September 2004, AB 2006, which would have impacted DA, was vetoed by the governor, There are no economic impacts to our
nancial results as a result of that veto.

'Pen nsylvania

In 1996, the Electricity Generation Customer Choice and Competition Act was passed. The law allowed electric customers to choose
ong competitive power suppliers beginning with one third of the State’s consumers by January 1999, two thirds by January 2000, and al!
nsumers by January 2001. We began serving customers in the Pennsylvania territory in 1999. There are no current rate cases or filings
regarding this territory that are anticipated to impact our financial results.

lM:‘chigan

The Michigan state legislature passed two acts, the Customer Choice Act and Electricity Reliability Act, signed into law on June 3, 2000,
l‘pen access, or Choice, became available to all customers of Michigan electric distribution utilities, beginning January 1, 2002. We began
arketing in Michigan’s Detroit Edison, or DTE, service territory in September 2002,

l) In February 2004, the Michigan Public Service Commission, or MPSC, issued an interim order granting partial but immediate rate relief to

TE, our primary electric distribution utility market in Michigan. The order significantly reduced the savings of commercial customers who
choose an alternative electric supplier, such as us. These changes have adversely affected our ability to retain some of our existing customers
nd obtain new customers, primarily among larger commercial customers.

The Michigan Senale has energy restructuring language before it in various bills, supported by the electric distribution utilities, which
ould negatively impact competition in the Michigan electric market. The proposed changes to the Choice market in Michigan would place
dditional costs and burdens on competitive electricity suppliers, diminish incentives for customers to switch from the electric distribution

tilities, and
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andate transition charges for Choice customers. If these bills pass as currently drafted, they may impact our costs and prospects in the
ichigan market.

New Jersey

Deregulation activities began in New Jersey in November 1999 when the Board of Public Utilities approved the implementation plan. We
began marketing in New Jersey in the Public Service Electric and Gas service territory in December 2003.

The Basic Generation Service is the comparable utility price for small and large commercial accounts and includes a reconciliation charge
which can change on a monthly basis. Reconciliation charge fluctuations can affect our ability to rerain competitive against the comparable

Iility pricing.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

I The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and operating results are based on our consolidated financial statements,
The preparation of this Annual Report on Form 10-K requires us 10 make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
d liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of our financial statements, and the reported amount of revenue and
Epenses during the reporting period. Actual results may differ from those estimates and assumptions. In preparing our financial statements and
counting for the underlying transactions and balances, we apply our accounting policies as disclosed in our notes to the consolidated financial
statements. The accounting policies discussed below are those that we consider to be critical to an understanding of our financial statements
cause their application places the most significant demands on our ability to judge the effect of inherently uncertain matters on our financial
sults. For all of these policies, we caution that future events rarely develop exactly as forecast, and the best estimates routinely require
adjustment.

* Normal purchases and sales accounting — In fiscal 2004, we purchased substantially all of our power under long-term forward physical
delivery contracts for supply to our retail electricity customers under long—term and full requirements sales contracts. We apply the
normal purchase, normal sale accounting treatment to our forward purchase supply contracts and our customer sales contracts.

Accordingly, we record revenue generated from our sales contracts as energy is delivered to our retail customers, and direct energy costs
l are recorded when the energy under our long-term forward physical delivery contracts is delivered. During fiscal 2004, we also used

financial hedging, or derivative instruments, to hedge our commaodity risks to a limited degree. At July 31, 2004, we had no positions in

derivative instruments, however, we intend to use derivative instruments in the future as an efficient way of assisting in managing our

' price and volume risk in energy supply procurement for our retail customers. Some derivative instruments may not qualify as normal

purchases and sales and may require mark-io-market accounting and the application of the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or
FASB, Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 133, or SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
' Activities” in future periods.

» Independent system operator costs — Included in direct energy costs, along with electric power that we purchase, are scheduling
coordination costs and other independent system operator, or ISO, fees and charges. The actual [SO costs are not finalized until a
settlement process by the ISO is performed for each day’s activities for all grid participants. Prior to the completion of settlements (which
may take from one to several months), we estimate these costs based on historical trends and preliminary settlement information, The
historical trends, current activity levels and preliminary information may differ from actual fees resulting in the need to adjust the

l previously estimated costs.

* Allowance for doubtfil accounts — We maintain allowances for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from non-payment of
customer billings. If the financial conditions of our customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make
payments, additional allowances may be required.
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* Unbilled receivables — Our customers are billed monthly at various dates throughout the month. Unbilled receivables represent the
amount of electric power delivered to a customer at the end of a reporting period, but not yet billed. Unbilled receivables from sales are
estimated by us to be the number of kilowatt-hours delivered, but not yet billed, multiplied by the current customer average sales price
per kilowatt-hour.

' * Legal matters — From time to time, we may be involved in litigation matters. We regularly evaluate our exposure to threatened or
pending litigation and other business contingencies and accrue for estimated losses on such matters in accordance with Statements of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 5, “Accounting for Contingencies.” As additional information about current or future Jitigation or
other contingencies becomes available, management will assess whether such information warrants the recording of additional expense
relating to our contingencies. Such additional expense could potentially have a material adverse impact on our results of operations and
financial position.

lesults of Operations

' The following table summarizes the results of our operations {dollars in thousands):

Fiscal Year Ended July 31,

I 2002 2003 2004
Dollurs % Revenue Dollars % Revenue Dollars % Reveoue
letail energy sales § 96,960 82% 5153430 93% $205,028 97%
xcess energy sales 18,757 16% 6,496 4% 5,595 3%
Green power credits 2,051 2% 5,600 3% — —
! Net revenue 117,768 100% 165,526 100% 210,623 100%
irect energy costs 87,340 74% 128,179 77% 191,180 91%
‘ross profit 30,428 26% 37,347 23% 19,443 9%
clling, peneral and administrative expenses 20,247 17% 22,732 14% 29,920 14%
Reorganization and initial public listing
l]expenSes — — — — 3,393 2%
come (loss) from operations § 10,181 9% $ 14,615 9% $(13,870) -T%

s —— T KR

'Fiscal Year Ended July 31, 2004 Compared to Fiscal Year Ended July 31, 2003

In the following comparative analysis, all percentages are calculated based on dollars in thousands,

Net revenue for fiscal 2004 was $210.6 million, an increase of $45.1 million, or 27%, from $165.5 million in fiscal 2003. Gross profit of
'19.4 million for fiscal 2004 declined $17.9 million, or 48%, from $37.3 million in fiscal 2003.

Our operating results for the year ended July 31, 2004 included a loss from operations of $13.9 million compared to income from
perations of $14.6 million for the year ended July 31, 2003. The operating loss in fiscal 2004 was primarily due to the higher cost of
lectricity per kWh. The higher cost of electricity per kWh has been primarily caused by the substantial increase in natural gas prices, which is
a significant influencing factor on electricity prices in the wholesale markets nationally. The higher costs related to serving our customers led to
ome customer attrition in California and Pennsylvania in the latter part of the fiscal year. Also, in California, demand was less than forecast
nd as a result, we sold our excess energy at lower prices then we paid, reducing gross margins.

Net Joss for fiscal 2004 was $2 1.7 million compared to net income of $5.4 million in fiscal 2003. In addition, to the above reasons, in fiscal
004, we recorded a provision for impairment on investments of $7.1 million for investments previously held by Summit and subsequently, a
ss of $1.9 million on the termination of the Summit venture.
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Net Revenue

The increase of $45.1 million in net revenue compared to the prior fiscal year resulted primarily from increased energy sales of
27.6 million in Pennsylvania, primarily due to increasing our customer base early in the fiscal year, and $25.4 million in Michigan due to
creasing our customer sales base in fiscal 2004; and a $1.0 million increase due to entering the New Jersey market in fiscal 2004; offset by a
ecrease of $9.9 million in energy sales in California, primarily due to the price per kWh decline in fiscal 2004 and the absence of green power
redits in fiscal 2004. In Pennsylvania, we sold 1,316 million kWh at an average price of $0.064 in the fiscal year ended July 31, 2004, as
ompared to 976 million kWh sold at an average price of $0.058 in the fiscal year ended July 31, 2003, The volume increase was primarily due
to the acquisition of cornmercial customers towards the end of fiscal 2003. The price increase is primarily attributed to our targeting new
‘onunercial customers with higher average rates and a reduced number of residential customers in fiscal 2004. In Michigan, we sold

o -

09 million kWh at an average price per kWh of $0.038 in fiscal 2004, as compared to 230 million kWh at an average retail price per kWh of
0.069 in the same period last year. Our volume increased as a result of our sales operations. [n California, we sold 1,219 million kWh at an
average price of $0.068 in fiscal 2004, as compared to 1,191 million kWh sold at an average price of $0.073 in fiscal 2003. In New Jersey, we
1d 16 million kWh at an average price of $0.069 in fiscal 2004 compared to no sales in fiscal 2003, as we began to offer electric service in
.x(’)ew Jersey in December 2003.

The $5.6 million green power credits in fiscal 2003 represents the recovery from the reinstatermnent by the State of California Public
‘urposc Program to provide incentives to suppliers of renewable power to reduce the cost of such power to certain customers. This green
ower credit program was discontinued for periods after March 2003.

We had approximately 102,000 retail customers at July 31, 2004, a decrease of 16,000, or 14%, from 118,000 at July 31, 2003, Customer
ttrition was 11% and 21% in California and Pennsylvania, respectively, from the prior fiscal year. These declines primarily are the result of
our custorner focus on increasing our commercial and industrial base, which have much higher average electricity usage and generally higher
tes, while reducing the number of residential customers, which have much lower average usage and generally lower rates. The decline in our
l?lstomer base is also partially atiributed to increased energy costs to serve our customers,

Direct Energy Costs

Direct energy costs, which are recognized concurrently with related energy sales, include the aggregated cost of purchased electric power,
fees incurred from various energy-related service providers, and energy-related taxes that cannot be passed directly through to the customer.

Our direct energy costs increased to $191.2 million for fiscal 2004, an increase of $63.0 million, or 49%, from $128.2 million for fiscal
2003. The significant increase in direct energy costs per retail kWh delivered occurred in all states, primarily due to the increase of natural gas
osts which is a significant factor influencing electricity costs in our markets. The increase in our customer base was also a contributing factor
the absolute increase in direct energy costs. In Pennsylvania, the average cost per kWh was $0.063 for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2004, as
compared to an average cost per kWh of $0.059 for fiscal 2003. In Michigan, the average cost per kWh was $0.051 for the fiscal year ended
uly 31, 2004, as compared to an average cost per kWh of $0.059 for fiscal 2003. In California, the average cost per kWh was $0.058 for fiscal
004, as compared to an average cost pet kWh of $0.048 for fiscal 2003. In New Jersey, our new market in fiscal 2004, the average cost per
Wh was $0.049 for fiscal 2004,

'Sel!ing and Marketing Expenses

Our selling and marketing expenses were $4.1 million for fiscal 2004, a decrease of $0.1 million, or 4%, from $4.2 million for fiscal 2003.
elting and marketing expenses for fiscal 2004 primarily represent marketing efforts associated with our expansion into the New Jersey market,
cluding radio and newspaper advertising and further market research conducted on certain states under consideration for future expansion. As
art of
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'.n' strategy of expanding into new markets, we expect to continue to incur these types of marketing and advertising cost.
General and Administrative Expenses

l Our general and administrative expenses were $25.9 million for fiscal 2004, an increase of $7.4 million, or 40%, from $18.5 million for

1scal 2003. The increase in fiscal 2004 was primarily due from the consolidation of PEC of $2.1 million through the third quarter of fiscal
004; severance payments totaling $1.9 million related to the settlement of the employment contracts of our former Chief Operating and Chief
inancial Officers; stock based compensation expense of $0.6 million for fully vested options that were granted in fiscal 2004 with an exercise
ice below fair market value on the grant date; relocation expenses of $0.5 million for our new officers; additional bad debt expense of

$0.7 million and insurance costs of $0.6 million.

Reorganization and Initial Public Listing Expenses

ublic listing of our common stock on the American Stock Exchange. Management believes it is appropriate to classify these costs as
cparately identified operating expenses. These general and administrative expenses incurred in connection with the reorganization included
legal of $1.5 million, insurance of $0.9 million, consulting of $0.5 million, and printing and reproduction fees of $0.4 million, and accounting
d auditing of $0.1 million.

! We incurred $3.4 million in fiscal 2004 of costs related to our reorganization into a Delaware holding company structure and the initial

Initial Formation Litigation Expenses

l In fiscal 2004, we incurred $1.6 million of initial formation litigation costs related to our formation compared to $4.4 million of such costs
incurred during fiscal 2003. Initial formation litigation expenses inciude legal and litigation costs associated with the initial capital raising
forts by former employees, and the legal complications arising from those matters. The fiscal 2003 expense includes $2.2 million which was
fcrued in connection with a lawsuit filed by several former employees, who were employed during 1998 and 1999, exclusively to raise capital
r us from outside investors. In fiscal 2004, we settled this litigation and the settlement resulted in a reduction of the accrual of $0.5 million
after final settlement payments were made to the plaintiffs.

' Provision for Impairment on Investments
wnership in the net equity reflected in the financial statements of each investment entity. The impairments reflected continuing operating

osses, liquidity and future funding uncertainties on all three investments. For Encorp, we recorded a $1.9 million provision for impairment
Eith a remaining investment basis of $0.1 million in our consolidated financial statements. For Turbocor, we recorded a $4.1 million provision

' In fiscal 2004, we recorded a provision for impairment of $7.1 million on investments previously held by Summit, to reflect our percentage

r impairment with no remaining investment basis in our consolidated financial statements. For PEC, we recorded a $1.1 million provision for
paimment with no remaining investment basis after the provision for termination below to reflect our reduced investment ownership
percentage in PEC shares. See Note 9 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

lLoss on Termination of Summir

nd transaction costs of $1.6 million and a reduction of our awnership interest from 75.9% to 39.9% in PEC to reflect settlement and the

' In fiscal 2004, we recorded a loss on the termination of Summit of $1.9 million. The loss included contractually owed management fees
crmination of Summit. See Note 9 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

lLoss on Equity Investinents

In fiscal 2003, we incurred a $0.6 million aggregate loss on equity investments which reflected our proportionate recognition of losses
nder the equity method of accounting relating to PEC and, to a lesser
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tent, Turbocor. By the end of fiscal 2003, Summit acquired a majority ownership position in PEC, thereby causing consolidation of PEC into
1 consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2003. The consolidation continued through April 30, 2004, when the
ermination agreement with Summit reduced our ownership percentage to 39.9%. By the end of our fiscal year ended July 31, 2003, Summit’s
gwnership interest in Turbocor had been reduced to a level at which we no longer exercised significant influence; accordingly, in the current
scal year, we accounted for Turbocor under the cost method of accounting.

Minority Interest Share of Loss

' Minority interest share of loss represents that portion of PEC’s post-consolidation losses that were allocated to the non-Summit investors
based on their aggregate minority ownership interest in PEC. For the fiscal year ended July 31, 2004 and 2003, the minority interest share of
'755 was §$1.2 million and $0.2 million, respectively.

Interest Incame, Net

! Our interest income, net was $0.5 million for fiscal 2004, a decrease of $0.2 million, or 23%, from $0.7 millien in fiscal 2003. The
ecrease in interest income was primarily due to lower market yields realized on short-term investments.

'Provisiorz Jor (benefit from) Income Taxes

The benefit from income taxes was $1.0 million for fiscal 2004, compared to the provision for income taxes of $5.1 million for fiscal 2003.
t fiscal 2004, the benefit from income taxes was comprised of a write-down of deferred tax assets for $2.5 million offset by operating loss
rrybacks of $3.5 million. Our effective income tax benefit rate was 4.5% for fiscal 2004, compared to an effective income tax rate of 48.5%
for fiscal 2003. The decrease in the effective tax rate was primarily due to the increase in the valuation allowance for deferred tax assets.

IYear Ended July 31, 2003 Compared to Year Ended July 31, 2002
Net Revenue

Our net revenue for fiscal 2003 was $165.5 million, an increase of $47.7 million, or 41%, from $117.8 million in fiscal 2002. The increase
js primarily due to increased energy sales in California of $10.4 million, Pennsylvania of $17.8 million and Michigan of $16.0 million, with the
maining increase due 1o higher green power credits by $3.5 million.

‘We sold 1,191 million kWh at an average price per kWh of $0.073 in California during fiscal 2003, as compared to 1,111 million kWh
old at an average price per kWh of $0.069 during fiscal 2002. This increase in volume was due primarily to the acquisition of large
ommercial customers from other ESPs. The increase in price is primarily attributed to the higher price per kWh for excess energy in fiscal
2003 compared to fiscal 2002 partially offset by the historical procurement charge in the Southern California Edison territory. For a more
omplete discussion of the historical procurement charge and related CPUC activities see “Factors That May Affect Future Results —
‘listorical procurement charges and customer rate changes could adversely affect our revenue and cash flows in the Southern California Edison
tility district™ in this liem 7. We sold 976 million kWh at an average price per kWh of $0.058 in Pennsylvania during fiscal 2003, as compared
to 938 million kWh sold at an average price per kWh of $0.042 during fiscal 2002. This slight increase was due primarily to the acquisition of
pproximately 40,000 customers in Pennsylvania under 2 bid process that was a part of a regulatory electric utility restructuring in
‘ennsyl\fania. We sold 230 million kWh at an average price per kWh of $0.069 in Michigan during fiscal 2003, as compared to no sales during
iscal 2002.

The increases in Michigan and Pennsylvania was primarily due to our increased customer base as we entered the Michigan market and
ained market share in Pennsylvania.

The $3.5 million, or 173%, increase in our fiscal 2003 green power credits was attributable primarily to the recognition in fiscal 2003 of
reen power credits for the final seven months of fiscal 2002 and the first eight
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onths of fiscal 2003 when it became clear that they were recoverable due to the reinstatement by the State of California of the Public Purpose
ogram to provide incentives to suppliers of renewable power to reduce the cost of such power o certain customers. This green power credit
program was discontinued after March 2003,

! We had approximately 118,000 retail customers at July 31, 2003, an increase of 29,000, or 33%, from 89,000 at July 31, 2002. This
crease was due primarily to the successful acquisition of approximately 40,000 customers in Pennsylvania under a bid process. The addition
of these customers occurred in May and June 2003. Qur customer couat, net of the 40,000 additions in Pennsylvania, was reduced due to our

cus on increasing our commercial and industrial customer base, which have much higher average electricity usage, while reducing the
l\mber of residential customers, which have lower average electricity usage.

'Dr'rect Energy Costs

Direct energy costs, which are recognized concurrently with related energy sales, include the aggregated cost of purchased electric power,
es incurred from various energy-related service providers and related taxes that cannot be passed directly through to the customer. Qur direct
Eergy costs were $128.2 million for fiscal 2003, an increase of $40.9 million, or 47%, from $87.3 million for fiscal 2002. In California, the
erage cost per kWh sold was $0.048 during fiscal 2003, as compared to an average cost per kWh sold of $0.036 during fiscal. 2002, In
Pennsylvania, the average cost per kWh sold was $0.059 during fiscal 2003, as compared to an average cost per kWh sold of $0.050 during
scal 2002, In Michigan, the average cost per kWh sold was $0.059 during fiscal 2003. Michigan was a new market for us in fiscal 2003. The
!:;cal 2003 increase in our direct energy costs was primarily attributable to increased kWh purchases to accommodate our entry into the
ichigan market and additional customer deliveries in Pennsylvania as we gained market share. To a lesser extent, the fiscal 2003 increase was
atiributable 1o higher kWh prices paid as a result of increased natural gas prices incurred by our suppliers.

Selling and Marketing Expenses

l Our selling and marketing expenses were $4.2 miilion for fiscal 2003, an increase of $0.7 million, or 21%, from $3.5 million for fiscal
002. The fiscal 2003 increase was primarily attributable to increased marketing efforts associated with our expansion into the Penngylvania
and Michigan markets.

lGeneraJ and Administrative Expenses

scal 2002. The fiscal 2003 increase was primarily attributable to increases in legal expenses incurred in connection with litigation and the
roxy contest related to our last annual meeting of stockholders, merit compensation increases, and increased premiums on directors and
officers insurance, partially offset by certain cost savings achieved through the internalization of certain previously outsourced information
chnology capabilities. Our general and administrative expenses for fiscal 2002 were also reduced by a $0.7 million reversal of previously
cognized stock-based compensation.

‘ Our general and administrative expenses were $18.5 million for fiscal 2003, an increase of $1.8 million, or 10%, from $16.7 million for

Initial Formarion Litigation Expenses

In fiscal 2003, we incurred $4.4 million of initial formation litigation costs related to our formation compared to $1.7 million of such costs

incurred in fiscal 2002, The increase of $2.7 is primarily attributed to $2.2 million which were accrued in connection with a lawsuit filed by
';veral former employees, who were employed during 1998 and 1999, exclusively to raise capital for us from outside investors.

Loss ont Equity Investments

We incurred a $0.6 million aggregate loss on equity investments for fiscal 2003, as compared to a $0.2 million aggregate loss for fiscal
2002. The loss on equity investments for fiscal 2003 primarily reflects our proportionate recognition of losses under the equity method of
ccounting from our consoclidation of Summit; namely, the losses incurred by PEC through April 30, 2003, and, to a significantly lesser extent,
"urbocor through January 2003. Effective May 1, 2003, we began consolidating PEC as Summit had obtained a
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which it no longer exercised significant influence; we began accounting for Turbecor under the cost method of accounting. In contrast, fiscal
02 primarily reflected our proportionate recognition under the equity method of accounting, from our consolidation of Summit, of the losses

incurred by Turbocor and PEC from the dates of Summit’s initial equity investments in Turbocor and PEC, in January 2002 and June 2002,
spectively.

!:jority ownership position in PEC. Effective February 1, 2003, because Summit’s ownership position in Turbocor had been reduced to a level

Minority Interest Shaie of Loss

l Minority interest represents that portion of PEC’s post-consolidation losses that are allocable to the non-Summit investors based on their
aggregate minority ownership interest in PEC.

.[merest'[ncome, Net

003 net decrease resulted from a $0.6 million decrease in interest income, partially offset by a $0.4 million decrease in interest expense. The
scal 2003 decrease in interest income primarily was attributable to lower yields realized on short-term investments and, to a significantly

lesser extent, lower average investment balances. The fiscal 2003 decrease in interest expense primarily was attributable to the non-recurrence
f $0.4 million of fiscal 2002 interest expense incurred in connection with borrowings under our then outstanding credit facility, which was

rminated in June 2002.

l Our interest income, net, was $0.7 million for fiscal 2003, a decrease of $0.2 million, or 24%, from $0.9 million for fiscal 2002. The fiscal

'Provisfon Jor Income Taxes

Qur provision for income taxes was $5.1 million for fiscal 2003, compared to $4.1 million for fiscal 2002. Our effective income tax rate
as 49% for fiscal 2003, compared to 44% for fiscal 2002. The fiscal 2003 increase in our effective income tax rate was attributable primarily
‘ an increase due to the expiration of certain stock options in fiscal 2003, the value of which was charged to expense for financial reporting
urposes but not deductible for income tax purposes, partially offset by a decrease in our valuation allowance as a result of our utilization of net
operating loss carry forwards for federal income tax purposes.

liquidity and Capital Resources

We have sustained our operations and funded our growth substantially with our working capital and internally generated cash flows from
perations. Based upon our current plans, level of operations and business conditions, we believe that our cash and cash equivalents, and cash
generated from our operations will be sufficient to meet our capital requirements and working capital needs for the foreseeable future.
owever, there can be no assurance that we will not be required to seek other financing in the future or that such financing, if required, will be
fvailable on terms satisfactory to us.

We do not have open lines of credit for direct unsecured borrowings or for letters of credit. Credit terms from our suppliers of electricity
'ften require us to post collateral against our energy purchases and against our mark-to-market exposure with certain of our suppliers. We
urrently finance these collateral obligations with our available cash. As of July 31, 2004, we had $4.0 miilion in restricted cash and cash
equivalents to secure letters of credit required by our suppliers and $5.1 million in deposits pledged as collateral in connection with energy
urchase agreements. We have granted a security interest in our Michigan accounts receivable as security for payment of energy purchases
';om an affiliate of the local utility. If our collateral needs increase, we will need to either increase the portion of our cash which will be
stricted or find alternative means to finance our obligations, which may have an adverse effect on our liquidity.

l Our unrestricted cash and cash equivalents increased by $13.2 million, or 32%, to $54.1 at July 31, 2004, as compared with $40.9 million
t July 31, 2003. Our working capital increased by $1.7 million, or 3%, to $58.1 million at July 31, 2004, from $56.4 million at July 31, 2003.

Cash provided by operating activities for fiscal 2004 was $0.3 million, compared to $5.6 million in the prior year. In fiscal 2004, cash was
rovided primarily by a decrease in accounts receivable primarily due to the
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reen power credit payment of $5.6 million received in October 2003, an increase in accounts payable of $4.7 million due primarily to
creased energy purchases, and the costs related to the termination of Summit; offset by an increase in prepaid expenses of $5.7 million related
primarily to prepaid gross receipts tax in March 2004 for Pennsylvania, which is directly driven by increased energy sales in Pennsylvania,

l Cash used in investing activities was $1.1 million in fiscal 2004, as compared to $1.5 million in fiscal 2003. Cash used in investments for
e current fiscal year consisted of higher capital expenditures and in the prior year primarily due to the acquisition of the majority ownership
of PEC and Summit investments,

Cash provided by financing activities during fiscal 2004 was $14.0 million, as compared to cash used in financing activities of $6.3 million
during fiscal 2003. In the current fiscal year, restricted cash and cash equivalents decreased by $15.0 million was primarily due to the
ncellation of the fiscal 2003 required security for an appeals bond of $4.1 million related to a settled litigation, the $7.7 million net reduction
G the required letters of credit secured by cash related to energy suppliers in fiscal 2003, and the remaining decrease was due to the use of
ummit’s restricted cash for operations and termination of our relationship with Summit.

iPlanned Capital Expenditures

Our planned capital expenditures for the fiscal year ending July 31, 2005 (“fiscal 2005”) are $1.7 million. Planned capital expenditures
l:cludc computer hardware and software, office equipment and furniture. The expenditures are expected to be pro rata throughout the year and
nded out of working capital.

'Oﬁ-Ba lance Sheet Arvangements
We have no off-balance sheet arrangements and have no transactions involving unconsolidated, limited purpose entities.
. Contractual Obligations

We currently are party to 2 number of supply contracts requiring us to purchase electrical power covering approximately 74% of our
ustomers’ load servicing requirements for fiscal 2005 based on our forecast. As these contracts contain fixed prices at which we will be
required to make such purchases, our future results of operations for the fiscal periods covered by these contracts will be significantly
influenced by our ability to then resell this purchased electrical power to our customers at prices sufficient to cover our direct and indirect costs
d to realize a profit.

Our most significant operating lease pertains to our corporate office facilities. All of our other operating leases pertain to various
quipment and technology. Certain of these operating leases are non-cancelable and contain clauses that pass through increases in building
lperating expenses. We incurred aggregate rent expense under operating leases of $704,000, $742,000, and $931,000 during fiscal 2002, 2003
and 2004, respectively.

! We have four executive employment agreements in existence at July 31, 2004 that commit us to pay future base salaries. Under these

greements, we may also be required to pay bonuses in the event of a change of control and/or upen early termination of employment. For a

description of the change of control and severance bonuses with respect to our Named Executive Officers, see “Item 11. Executive
ompensation — Employment Agreements.”
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l The following table shows our contractual commitments as of July 31, 2004:

Payments Due by Period

Less than More than
l Contractual Obligations Total ! Year i-3 Years 3-5 Years S Years
(Dollars in thousands)

lectricity purchase contracts $103,521 $75,786 $27,735 3— 5
perating leases 4,017 1,240 2,691 86 —
mployment Agreements 2,350 1,100 1,250 — —
.otal $109,888 $78,126 $31,676 $ 86 $—
ny [ ] = it [ ] L

lSeasonal Influences

Demand for electrical power is continually influenced, by both seasonal and abnormal weather patterns. To the extent that one or more of
r markets experiences a period of unexpected weather, we may be required to either attempt to procure additional electricity to service our
stomers or to sell surplus electricity in the open market.

ctors That May Affect Future Results

" If competitive restructuring of the electric markets is delayed or does not result in viable competitive market rules, our business will be
adversely affected.

The Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, or FERC, has maintained a strong commitment over the past seven years to the deregulation
of electricity markets. This movement would seem to indicate the continuation and growth of a competitive electric retail industry. Twenty-four
ates and the District of Columbia have either enacted enabling legislation or issued a regulatory order to implement retail access, In 18 of
iese states, retail access is either currently available to some or all customers, or will soon be available. However, in many of these markets the
market rules adopted have not resulted in energy service providers being able to compete successfully with the local utilities and customer
witching rates have been low. Only recently have a small number of markets opened to competition under rules that we believe may offer
ttractive competitive opportunities. Our business model depends on other favorable markets opening under viable competitive rules in a timely
anner, In any particular market, there are a number of rules that will ultimately determine the attractiveness of any market, Markets that we
enter may have both favorable and unfavorable rules. If the trend towards competitive restructuring of retail energy markets does not continue
'r is delayed or reversed, our business prospects and financial condition could be materially adversely impaired.

Retail energy market restructuring has been and will continue to be a complicated regulatory process, with competing interests advanced
ot only by relevant state and federal utility regulators, but also by state legislators, federal legislators, local utilities, consumer advocacy
&oups and potential market participants. As a result, the extent to which there are legitimate competitive opportunities for alternative energy
Mppliers in a given jurisdiction may vary widely and we cannot assure stockholders that regulatory structures will offer us competitive
opportunities to sell energy to consumers on a profitable basis. The regulatory process could be negatively impacted by a number of factors,
cluding interruptions of service and significant or rapid price increases. The legislative and regulatory processes in some states take
rolonged periods of time. In a number of jurisdictions, it may be many years from the date legislation is enacted until the retail markets are
open for competition.

! In addition, although most retail energy market restructuring has been conducted at the state and local levels, bills have been proposed in

ongress in the past that would preempt state law concerning the restructuring of the retail energy markets. Although none of these initiatives
has been successful, we cannot assure stockholders that federal legislation will not be passed in the future that could materially adversely affect
ur business.
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lWe Jace many uncertainties that may cause substantial operating losses and we cannot assure stockholders that we can achieve profitability.

We intend to increase our operating expenses to develop and expand our business, including brand development, marketing and other
romotional activities and the continued development of our billing, customer care and power procurement infrastructure. Qur ability to operate
profitably will depend on, among other things:

l » Our ability to attract and to retain a critical mass of customers at a reasonable cost;
* Qur ability to continue to develop and maintain internal corporate organization and systems;

* The continued competitive restructuring of retail energy markets with viable competitive market rules; and

l » Our ability to effectively manage our energy procurement and shaping requirements, and to sell our energy at a sufficient profit margin,
lWe may have difficulty obtaining a sufficient number of customers.

We anticipate that we will incur significant costs as we enter new markets and pursue customers by utilizing a variety of marketing
i\ethods. In order for us to recover these expenses, we must attract and retain a large number of customers 1o our service.

We may experience difficulty attracting customers because many customers may be reluctant to switch to a new supplier for a commaodity
as critical to their well-being as electric power. A major focus of our marketing efforts will be to convince customers that we are a reliable
ovider with sufficient resources to meet our commitments. If our marketing strategy is not successful, our business, results of operations and
nancial condition could be materially adversely affected.

We depend upon internally developed systems and processes to provide several critical functions for our business, and the loss of these
lfunctfons'cou!d materially adversely impact our business.

We have developed our own systems and processes to operate our back-office functions, including customer enrollment, metering,
lorecasting, settlement and billing, Problems that arise with the performance of our back-office functions could result in increased
xpenditures, delays in the launch of our commercial operations into new markets, or unfavorable customer experiences that could materially
adversely affect our business strategy. Also, any interruption of these services could be disruptive to our business.

ISubstamia! [fluctuations in electricity prices or the cost of transmitting and distributing electricity could have a material adverse affect on us.

arkets, which can be highly volatile, In particular, the wholesale electric power market can experience large price fluctuations during peak

ad periads. Furthermore, to the extent that we enter into contracts with customers that require us to provide electricity at a fixed price over an
extended period of time, and to the extent that we have not purchased electricity to cover those commitments, we may incur losses caused by

ising wholesale electricity prices. Periods of rising electricity prices may reduce our ability to compete with local utilities because their

gulated rates may not immediately increase to reflect these increased costs. Energy Service Providers like us take on the risk of purchasing
power for an uncertain load and if the load does not materialize as forecast, it leaves us in a long position that would be resold into the
‘/holesale electricity market. Sales of this surplus electricity could be at prices below our cost. Conversely, if unanticipated load appears that

‘. To provide electricity to our customers, we must, from time to time, purchase electricity in the short-termn or spot wholesale energy
o

ray result in an insufficient supply of electricity, we would need to purchase the additional supply. These purchases could be at prices that are
igher than our sales price to our customers. Either situation could create losses for us if we are exposed to the price volatility of the wholesale
spot markets. Any of these contingencies could substantially increase our costs of operation. Such factors could have a material adverse effect

ln our financial condition.
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We are dependent on local utilities for distribution of electricity to our customers over their distribution networks. If these local utilities are
Jpable to properly operate their distribution networks, or if the operation of their distribution networks is interrupted for periods of time, we
could be unable to deliver electricity to our customers during those interruptions. This would results in lost revenue to us, which could
iﬂversely impact the results of our operations.

Historical procurement charges and customer rate changes in the Southern California Edison wiility district could adversely affect our
revenue and cash flows.

Under a Settlement agreement with the California PUC, SCE was authorized to recoup $3.6 billion in debt incurred during the energy
crisis of 2000-2001 from all customers. This debt was to be collected under the Procurement Related Obligations Account, or PROACT, from
'.mdled (non direct access) customers and under the HPC from DA customers.

In July 2002, the California PUC issued an interim order implementing the HPC sought by SCE. This interim order authorized SCE to
llect $391 million in HPC charges from all DA custorners by reducing their Procured Energy Credit, or PE Credit, by $0.027 per kWh
gginning July 27, 2002. The lowered PE Credit continued until an exit fee for DA customers was approved by the CPUC. Effective January 1,
2003, it was reduced to $0.01 per kWh. For the fiscal year ended July 31, 2003, we estimate that HPC charges have impacted our sales and
pretax earnings by a range of $4.8 million to $6.0 million. We are unable to precisely determine the actual HPC charges applied to our
stomers by SCE because there are different charges, by customer type, and this charge is only on the electricity usage above the monthly
seline usage allocation.

PC balance to be revised to $473 million; however, the $0.01 per kWh monthly charge remained in place. As of August 1, 2003, SCE revised
s billing methodology to a “bottoms-up” design effectively doing away with the PE Credit and the net effect of the HPC on our rates. While

the HPC no longer discretely impacts our rate calculations, a recent SCE rate reduction includes the former impact of the HPC. This rate
duction will impact sales and pretax profit in the SCE district. The rate reduction will be in place in 2004 and will approximate the effect of
e HPC dollar impact of 2003.

& On September 5, 2003 the CPUC issued Decision 03-09-016 granting SCE’s request to recover additional shortfall and authorizing the

ugust 1, 2003, all SCE rates were lowered. As a direct result, to retain our customers in the SCE utility district, we lowered our customer rates
proportionately. Our estimate of the annual financial impact of this rate reduction is a decline in sales and pretax profit during fiscal 2004, in
‘he range of $3.0 to $3.5 million. This reduction is separate from, and in addition te, the HPC related reduction in 2003,

l Recently, SCE acknowledged that the PROACT debt was paid in full by bundled customers at the end of July 2003. As a result, on

These changes in the SCE service territory will continue to cause a significant impact on our revenue and cash flow; however, we currently
do not expect they will preclude us from continuing to participate in the SCE market.

Some suppliers of electricity have been experiencing deteriorating credit quality.

We continue to monitor our suppliers’ credit quality to atternpt to reduce the impact of any patential counterparty default. As of July 31,
004, the majority of our counterparties are rated investment grade or above by the major rating agencies. These ratings are subject to change at
any time with no advance warning. A deterioration in the credit quality of our suppliers could have an adverse impact on our sources of

‘lectricity purchases.

i the wholesale price of electricity decreases, we may be required 1o post letrers of credit for margin to secure our obligations under our long
term energy contracts.

As the price of the electricity we purchase under long-term contracts is fixed over the term of the contracts, if the market price of
wholesale electricity decreases below the contract price, the power generator may require us to post margin in the form of a letter of credit, or
'ther collateral, to protect themselves against
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t potential default on the contract. If we are required to post such security, a portion of our cash would become restricted, which could
versely affect our liquidity.

We are required io rely on utilities with wiom we will be competing to perform some functions for our customers.

Under the regulatory structures adopted in most jurisdictions, we will be required to enter into agreements with local utilities for use of the
Jocal distribution systems, and for the creation and operation of functional interfaces necessary for us 1o serve our customers. Any delay in
ese negotiations or our inability to enter into reasonable agreements with those utilities could delay or negatively impact our ability to serve
stomers in those jurisdictions. This could have a material negative impact on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

l We are dependent on local utilities for maintenance of the infrastructure through which electricity is delivered to our customers, We are
mited in our ability to control the level of service the utilities provide to our customers. Any infrastructure failure that interrupts or impairs
delivery of electricity to our customers could have a negative effect on the satisfaction of our customers with our service, which could have a
‘naterial adverse effect on our business.

Regulations in many markets require that the services of reading our customers’ energy meters and the billing and collection process be

etained by the local utility. In those states, we will be required to rely on the local utility to provide us with our customers’ energy usage data
tld to pay us for our customers’ usage based on what the local utility collects from our customers, We may be limited in our ability to confirm

e accuracy of the information provided by the local utility and we may not be able to control when we receive payment from the local utility.
The local utility’s systems and procedures may limit or slow down our ability to create a supplier relationship with our customers that would

lay the timing of when we can begin to provide electricity to our new customers, If we do not receive payments from the local utility on a
rmely basis, our working capital may be impaired.

In some markets, we are required to bear credit risk and billing responsibility for our customers.

In some markets, we are responsible for the billing and collection functions for our customers. In these markets, we may be limited in our
ability to terminate service to customers who are delinquent in payment. Even if we terminate service to customers who fail to pay their utility
ill in a timely manner, we may remain liable to our suppliers of electricity for the cost of the electricity and to the local utilities for services

lated to the transmission and distribution of electricity to those customers. The failure of our customers to pay their bills in a timely manner
or our fajlure to maintain adequate billing and collection programs could materiaily adversely affect our business.

Our revenues and results of operations are subject to market risks that are beyond our control.

We sell electricity that we purchase from third-party power generation companies to our retail customers on a contractual basis, We are not
uaranteed any rate of return through regulated rates, and our revenues and results of aperations are likely to depend, in large part, upon
revailing market prices for electricity in our regional markets. These market prices may fluctuate substantially over relatively short periods of
time. These factors could have an adverse impact on our revenues and results of operations.

Volatility in market prices for electricity results from multiple factors, including:

= weather conditions, including hydrological conditions such as precipitation, snow pack and streamflow,
* seascnality,

* unexpected changes in customer usage,

« transmission or transportation constraints or inefficiencies,

* planned and unplanned plant or transmission line outages,

» demand for electricity,
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» natural gas, crude oil and refined products, and coal supply availability to generators from whom we purchase electricity,

» natural disasters, wars, embargoes and other catastrophic events, and

l, + federal, state and foreign energy and environmental regulation and legislation.
lOur results of operation and financial condition could be affected by pending and firture litigation.

We are currently a defendant in several pending lawsuits. We believe our substantive and procedural defenses in each of these cases are
eritorious, but we cannot predict the outcome of any such litigation. In addition, we may become subject to additional lawsuits in the future.
!we are held liable for significant damages in any lawsuit, our operations and financial condition may be harmed. In addition, we couid incur
ibstantial expenses in-connection with any such litigation, including substantial fees for attorneys and other professional advisors. These
expenses could adversely affect our operations and cash position if they are material in amount.

If we fail to maintain an effective system of internal controls, we may not be able to accurately report our financial results or prevent fraud.
As a result, current and potential stockholders could lose confidence in our financial reporting, which would harm our business and the
trading price of our stock.

Effective internal controls are necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports and effectively prevent fraud. [f we cannot provide
liable financial reports or prevent fraud, our operating results could be harmed. We have in the past discovered, and may in the future
E‘s;cover,,areas of our internal controls that need improvement. For example, in our preparation for our 2004 audit, we discovered an
econciled energy accounting issue that caused us to restate our second and third quarter reported results. Our external auditor identified this
issue as a reportable condition and a material weakness, which means that this was an issue that in the auditer’s judgment could adversely
fect our ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data consistent with the assertions of management in the financial
ﬁltements. In 2004, we devoted resources to remediate and improve our internal controls. Although we believe that these efforts have
engthened our internal controls and addressed the concerns that gave rise to the reportable condition and material weakness in 2004, we are
continuing to work to improve our intemal controls, including in the area of energy accounting. We cannot be certain that these measures will
‘Wasure that we implement and maintain adequate controls over our financial processes and reporting in the future. Any failure to implement
quired new or improved controls, or difficulties encountered in their implementation, could harm our operating results or cause us to fail to
meet our reporting obligations. Inferior internal controls could also cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial information,

‘hich could have a negative effect on the trading price of our stock.

Investor confidence and share value may be adversely impacted if our independent auditors are unable to provide us with the attestation of
the adequacy of our internal controls over financiul reporting as of July 31, 2005, as required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of

IZOOZ.

As directed by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the Securities and Exchange Commission adopted rules requiring public
mpanies:to include a report of management on our internal controls over financial reporting in our Annual Reports on Form 10-K that
ontains an assessment by management of the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting. In addition, our independent

auditors must attest to and report on management’s assessment of the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting. This
requirement will first apply to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ending July 31, 2005. How companies should be

plementing these new requirements including internal control reforms, if any, to comply with Section 404’s requirements, and how

dependent auditors will apply these new requirements and test companies’ internal controls, are subject to uncertainty. Although we are
diligently and vigorously reviewing our internal controls over financial reporting in order to ensure compliance with the new Section 404
quirements, if our independent auditors are not satisfied with our internal controls over financial reporting or the level at which these controls
re documented, designed, operated or reviewed, or if the independent auditors interpret the requirements, rules or regulations differently than
e do, then they may decline to atest to management’s assessment or may issue a report that is qualified, This could result in an adverse

reaction in

P
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e financial marketplace due to a loss of investor confidence in the reliability of our financial statements, which ultimately could negatively
pact the market price of our shares.

We have initiated a company-wide review of our internal controls over financial reporting as part of the process of preparing for
mpliance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and as a complement to our existing overall program of internal controls over
-nancial reporting. As a result of this on-going review, we have made numerous improvements to the design and effectiveness of our internal
controls over financial reporting through the period ended July 31, 2004, We anticipate that improvements will continue to be made.

lecent Accounting Standards

l In October 2004, the FASB concluded that SFAS No. 123R, “Share-Based Payment”, which would require all companies to measure

mpensation cost for all share-based payments {including employee stock options) at fair value, would be effective for public companies

{except small business issuer as defined in SEC Regulation S-B) for interim or annual periods beginning after June 15, 2005, We will adopt
FAS No. 123R on July 1, 2005 and we do not believe the adoption will have a rmaterial impact on our consolidated financial statements.

tem TA,  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

! For our investments, we do not have or use any derivative instruments to hedge the financial risks, nor do we have any plans to enter into
ch instruments. We generally invest cash equivalents in high-quality, short-term credit instruments consisting primarily of high credit quality,
short-term money market funds and insured, remarketable government agency securities with interest rate reset maturities of 90 days or less.

e do not expect any material loss from our investments. We invest in short term instruments and believe that our potential interest rate
posure is not material. We do not currently invoice customers in any currency other than the United States doilar and we do not currently
incur significant expenses denominated in foreign currencies. We believe that we are not currently subject to any significant risk as a result of

'urrency fluctuations,

Since we do not generate any of the electricity that we sell, our business has exposure to market volatility in prices of electricity. To
mitigate risks associated with this price volatility, we have entered into a number of fixed-priced contracts for the purchase of electricity
ough the wholesale electricity market. Nevertheless, to the extent demand from our customers exceeds the supply we have obtained through
xed-price contracts, we are subject to wholesale price volatility risk.

' Based on fiscal 2004 kWh sold, an electricity price change of $0.01 per kWh, would have an estimated annual impact on our net revenue

f:
California $11.6 million
I Pennsylvania $14.0 million
Michigan $ 7.1 million

In fiscal 2004, we purchased substantially all of our power under long-term forward physical delivery contracts for supply to our retail
ectricity customers under long-term and full requirements sales contracts. We apply the normal purchase, normal sale accounting treatment to
our forward purchase supply contracts and our customer sales contracts. Accordingly, we record revenue generated from our sales contracts as
ergy is delivered to our retail customers, and direct energy costs are recorded when the energy under our long-term forward physical delivery
i:ntracts is delivered. During fiscal 2004, we also used financial hedging, or derivative instruments, to hedge our commedity risks to a limited
egree. At July 31, 2004, we had no positions in derivative instruments, however, we intend to use derivative instruments in the future as an
efficient way of assisting in managing our price and volume risk in energy supply procurement for our retail customers. Some derivative
‘:stmments may not qualify as normal purchases and sales and may require mark-to-market accounting and the application of SFAS No. 133 in
ture periods.

f excess cash balances in interest-bearing instruments. However, as our practice has been, and currently continues to be, to only invest in high-

; Since we had no short or long-term debt outstanding at July 31, 2004, our only exposure to interest rate rigks is limited to our investment
‘uality debt instruments with
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laturities or remarketing dates of 90 days or less, we currently are not materially susceptible to interest rate risks.
Item 8.  Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

The financial statement information, including the report of independent auditors, required by this Item 8 is set forth on pages F-1 to F-28
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and is hereby incorporated into this [tem 8 by reference. The Quarterly Financial Information required by
iis Item 8 is set forth on page F-27 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and is hereby incorporated into this Item 8 by reference.

em 9.  Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

l None.

Item 9A.  Disclosure Controls and Procedures.

_l Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures. Qur President, who has assumed the duties and responsibilities of the principal
executive officer during the time that Mr. Carter is on administrative leave, and Chief Financial Officer have evaluated the effectiveness of our

¥sclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Ruies 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) as of
Ee end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K. As a result of this evaluation which was conducted in the course of
“Preparing our financial statements for the year ended July 31, 2004, and in connection with the correspending audit by our independent
auditors, Ernst & Young LLP, management has determined that our intemal controls have not met our expectations.

We have advised the Audit Commitiee of our Board of Directors that, in the course of preparing our year-end 2004 financial statements,
_we noted deficiencies in internal controls relating to the timely reconciliation of energy purchases and related sales.

. Our independent auditors, Emst & Young LLP, have advised the Audit Committee that these internal control deficiencies constitute a
reportable condition and a material weakness as defined in Statement on Auditing Standards No. 60. Immediately prior to the filing of this

nnual Report on Form 10-K, we filed amended Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q/ A for the periods ended January 31, 2004 and April 30,
l()04. The amended Quarterly Reports principally restate prior reported results and include additional disclosures in the appropriate period as a
result of finding the foregoing weakness in our internal controls.

' With the assistance of our advisors, we continue to evaluate and implement methods to improve our internal controls and procedures. We
ave taken the following corrective actions, some of which we began to implement as early as May 2004:

« Established an energy accounting department to focus on reconciling the physical energy supply and delivery;
» Established a risk management oversight committee to assure compliance with our risk management control objectives;

» Hired a Director of Internal Audit, reporting directly to our Audit Committee, to monitor and review of adequacy of our internal controls;

closer management review of physical energy reconciliations;

« Improved the communication between operating, financial and management functions, and expanded our risk management reporting
procedures; and

l » Adopted improved accounting policies, procedures and internal controls for the periodic consolidated financial closing process including
' = Upgraded our technology in risk management, energy accounting and risk management reporting.

We have also designed and executed additional procedures to ensure that these disclosure and internal control deficiencies will not result in
aterial misstaternents in our consolidated financial statements contained

2
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' this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and will not result in material misstatements in our future financial results.

Changes in Internal Control over Fincial Reporting. Other than as described above, there have been no material changes in our internal
nirols or in other factors that have materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect, internal controls subsequent to the date we
rried out our evaluation.

em 98B.  Other Information.

None.
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l PARTIII

Item 10.  Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant.
lnformation About Qur Directors

The Company's Certificate of [ncorporation and Bylaws, provide for a “classified” Board of Directors. The number of authorized directors
currently five, Currently, there is one Class [ director, whose term expires at the first annual meeting of stockholders to be held after the
completion of fiscal 2004; two Class I1 directors, whose terms expires at the second annual meeting of stockholders to be held after the
ompletion of fiscal 2004; and two Class Il directors, whose terms expire at the third annual meeting of stockholders to be held after the
iompletion of fiscal 2004. The following table sets forth information regarding our directors, including their age as of October 22, 2004, and
usiness experience during the past five years, Each of our directors has served continuously as one of our directors since the date indicated in
the biography below,

l Name and Position Age Principal Occupation and Other Information

Class I Director

raig G. Goodman 54 Mr, Goodman has served as a director of Commerce Energy since
December 2003, From 2002 to July 2004, Mr. Goodman served
as a director of Commonwealth. Since 997, Mr. Goodman has
‘ served as the President and Chief Executive Officer of the
National Energy Marketers Association, a non-profit association
representing a regionally diverse cross- section of wholesale and
retail marketers of natural gas, electricity and energy-related
products, services, information and technology. Between 1980
and 1997, Mr. Goodman served as a senior executive officer for
two fortune 500 energy companies, and served as a senior energy
and tax policy official in the Reagan and GHW Bush
Administrations. Mr. Goodman is admitted to the bars of the
states of Texas and Florida, as well as Washington, D.C. and the
U.S. Supreme Court, Mr. Goedman received his bacheior’s
degree with honors in economics from the University of
Maryland and a Juris Doctorate degree with a concentration in
international corporate law and economics from the University of
Miami School of Law,
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Principal Occupation and Other Information

l Name and Position Age
lass IT Directors
lark S. Juergensen 44
!eter Weigand 47
38

Mr. Juergensen has served as a director of Commerce Energy
since December 2003 and as a director of Commonwealth since
2003. Mr. Juergensen has served as Vice President of Sales and
Marketing for PredictPower, an energy solution software
company he co-founded, since May 2000. From February 1995 to
June 2000, he served in multiple leadership positions, including
as a Commercial Manager, for Solar Turbines, Caterpillar’s gas
turbine division. From February 1992 to February 1995, he
served as Director of Management Services for Sterling Energy
International, a power generation management consulting firm he
co-founded. Mr. Juergensen received a Bachelor of Science
degree in Electrical engineering from the University of Southern
California,

Mr, Weigand has served as a director of Commerce Energy since
April 2004. Mr. Weigand became President of Commerce and
Commonwealth in April 2004, He has also served on
Commerce’s Board of Directors since April 2004, Since 1996,
Mr. Weigand served as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of
Skipping Stone, an energy consulting and technology firm he
founded, Prior to forming Skipping Stone, Mr. Weigand held
senior management positions at several energy marketing
companies. Mr. Weigand holds a Bachelor of Business
Administration from Wichita State University.
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Name and Position Age Principal Occupation and Other Information

n B. Carter 66 Mr. Carter has been the Chairman of the Board of Directors and
Chief Executive Officer of Commerce Energy since December
2003. Mr. Carter has been Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
of Commeonwealth since January 2000, and was the President
from March 2003 through March 2004. During the preceding four
month period prior to January 2000, he acted as Interim President
of Commonwealth. Mr. Carter has served as a director of
Commonwealth since 1999. From October 1988 to August 1999,
M. Carter operated his own businesses, including a mortgage
' banking firm and a merchant banking firm. Prior to that,

Mr. Carter served as an investment specialist for Coldwell Banker

l Comunercial Brokerage and worked as a Systems Engineer and

i
Class IIT Direcrors

Salesman with IBM. Mr. Carter also served in the United States
Ammy serving in Vietnam, Europe and the Pentagon. Mr. Carter
received hig Bachelor of Science degree in Engineering from the
United States Military Academy at West Point, New York, and
his Masters in Business Administration in finance from the
University of Southern California.
obert C. Perkins 65 M. Perkins has served as a director of Commerce Energy since

December 2003 and as a director of Commonwealth since 1999.
Mr. Perkins has served as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

X of Hospital Management Services, a provider of financial and
management consulting services to hospitals and similar

. institutions, since June 1969. Mr. Perkins received his Bachelor
of Science degree in accounting from Bob Jones University.

udit Committee Financial Expert

Our Board of Directors has determined that Robert C. Perkins, who serves as Chairman of the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors,
i an Audit Committee Financial Expert. Mr. Perkins is independent, as the term is defined in Section 121{A) of the listing standards of the
merican Stock Exchange.

'nformation with Respect to Our Executive Officers

Information regarding our executive officers is included in Item 1A of Part I of this Annual Report on Form 10-K under the caption
lExccutive Officers of the Registrant,” and is incorporated herein by reference.

ection 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

)
l Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires our directors and executive officers, and persons who beneficially own more than 10% of a
registered class of our equity securities, to file with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC, initial reports of ownership and
ports of changes in ownership of our common stock and other equity securities. Officers, directors and greater than 10% stockholders are
equired by SEC regulations to furnish us with copies of all Section 16(a) forms they file.
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ere required during fiscal 2004, and except as disclosed in the following paragraph, our officers, directors and greater-than-ten-percent

!V To our knowledge, based solely on review of the copies of such reports furnished to us and written representations that no other reports
eneficial owners complied with all Section 16(a) filing requirements during fiscal 2004.

l The following persons made late filings of reports under Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act that related to transactions that occurred during
scal 2004; (a) Ian B. Carter, one of our directors and executive officers, filed late Forms 4 in connection with the exercise of an option to
purchase shares of Commonwealth common stock in March 2004 and in connection with the grant of an employee stock option in August
003, (b) Robert C. Perkins, one of our directors, filed late Forms 4 in connection with the grant of stock options in August 2003 and the
onversion of shares of Commonwealth Series A Preferred Stock into Commonwealth Common Stock in July 2004; (¢) Craig G. Goodman,
one of our directors, filed a late Form 4 in connection with two purchases of Commerce common stock in September 2004; (d) Kenneth L.
.Robinson, our Corporate Controller, filed a late Form 3 in connection with his initial appointment and filed a late Form 4 in connection the
irant of an employee stock option in August 2003; (¢) Michael G. Nelson, at the time an executive officer of Commonwealth, filed a late
orm 4'in connection with the grant of an employee stock option in December 2003; (f) Linda Guckert, at the time an executive officer of
Commonwealth, filed a late Form 4 in connection with the grant of an employee stock option in August 2003; (g) Robert Gunnin, at the time an
xecutive officer of Commonwealth, filed a late Form 3 in connection with his initial appointment; (h) Mark S. Juergensen, one of our
girectors, filed a late Form 4 in connection with the grant of a stock option in August 2003. In addition, to our knowledge, Joseph P. Saline, Jr.,
ne of Commonwealth’s directors during fiscal 2004, has yet to file a Form 3 in connection with his initial appointment as a director and has
not filed any Forms 4 with respect to any purchases or sales of our securities.

ode of Ethics

I We have adopted a code of ethics, entitled the “Commerce Energy Group, Inc. Code of Business Conduct and Ethics,” which applies to,

mong others, our directors, our principal executive officer, our principal financial officer, our principal accounting officer and all of our other
officers and employees. A copy of the Commerce Energy Group, Inc. Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is filed as an exhibit to this Annual
ghkeport on Form 10-K., We intend to disclose amendments to or waivers from a required provision of the Commerce Energy Group, Inc. Code

tf Business Conduct and Ethics by including such information as an exhibit in future filings.

Item 11.  Executive Compensation
ompensation of Qur Directors

l Directors wha also are our employees are not paid any fees or remuneration, as such, for their service on the Board of Directors or on any
oard committee.

In Cash Compensation. Each non-employee director is paid a quarterly retainer in the amount of $8,000, a fee of $1,000 for each Board
eeting which the Board member attends in person and a fee of $750 for each Board meeting which the Board member attends telephonically.
Directors who served on Board commitiees (other than the chairman of such committee) is paid $750 for each committee meeting the Board

grcmber attends in person and a fee of $500 for each Committee meeting which the Board member attends telephonically. Committee
hairpersons are paid $1,000 for each committee meeting the chairperson attends, whether in person or telephonically. In addition, each non-
mployee director who resides outside the Southern California area is entitled to receive reimbursement for reasonable travel expenses in

accordance with our travel expense policy, with respect to each Board or Board Committee meeting that such non-employee director attends in

lcrson.

Stock Options. Prior to fiscal 2004, stock options were awarded to non-employee directors on a case-by-case basis as determined by the
oard of Directors. In recognition of their service on Commonwealth’s Board from fiscal 2000 through fiscal 2003, Commonwealth agreed to
sue certain stock options to Junona A. Jonas,
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obert C. Perkins, Craig G. Goodman and Mark S. Juergensen, In August 2003, in fulfillment of these agreements, Commonwealth granted the
llowing stock options to these directors:

Number of
Shares

l Underlying

Options A Expiration
Name Granted Exercise Price Date

l Robert C. Perkins 100,000 $2.75 8/29/2013
' 50,000 $2.75 8/29/2013
50,000 $1.86 8/29/2013
: 20,000(1} $1.86 8/29/2013
l 80,000(1) $1.00 8/29/2013
Craig G. Goodman 50,000 $2.50 8/29/2013
50,000 $2.75 8/29/2013
' 50,000 §1.86 8/29/2013
Junona A. Jonas 50,000 $2.50 8/29/2013
50,000 52,75 8/29/2013
- \ 50,000 $1.86 2/20/2013
l Mark . Juergensen 37,500 $1.86 8/29/2013

L

.1) Represents stock options issued to Mr. Perkins in connection with a Settlement Agreement and Release entered into between Mr. Perkins
and Commeonwealth in August 2003 with respect to a dispute between us and Perkins as to the number and terms of certain options to
l purchase shares of our common stock that had been promised to Mr. Perkins in 1999, 2001 and 2002.

Beginning in fiscal 2004, each non-employee director who first becomes a member of the Board will be granted an option to
urchase 50,000 shares of our common stock pursuant to the Plan upon appointment or election to the Board, with the following terms and
Ionditioas: (a) the options shall be subject to all terms and conditions of the Plan; {b) the options shall vest quarterly at a rate of 12,500 shares
n each three-month anniversary of the date of grant, with any unvested shares being forfeited if the Board member’s service is terminated;
{c) the options shall have a term of 10 years from the date of grant; (d) any vested options may be exercised, during the time the Board member
serving as a director or after such person ceases to be a director, prior to the expiration of the term of the option; and (e} the exercise price
Eall be the fair market value (as defined in the Plan) of the our common stock on the date of grant.

e Plan, effective as of the close of business on the date of each annual meeting of stockholders at which such non-employee Director is
ected a non-employee Director, with the following terms and conditions: (a) the options shail be subject to ail terms and conditions of the
Plan; (b) the options shall vest quarterly at a rate of 12,500 shares on each three-month anniversary of the date of grant, with any unvested
hares being forfeited if the Board member’s service is terminated; (c) the options shall have a term of 10 years from the date of grant; (d) any
lested options may be exercised, during the time the Board member is serving as a director or after such person ceases to be a director, prior to
the expiration of the term of the option; and {e) the exercise price shall be the fair market value {as defined in the Plan) of our common stock on

'he date of grant.

. In additien, each non-employee member of the Board will be granted an option to purchase 50,000 shares of our common stock pursuant to
Q?

Each non-employee director is also eligible to receive awards under our 1999 Equity Incentive Plan, which we refer to as the Plan, a
discretionary stock option plan. Except as described above, no stock options were issued to our directors for services under the Plan during
iscal 2004.

Compensation of Our Executive Officers

' We are required by the SEC to disclose compensation paid by us during the last three fiscal years to (a) our Chief Executive Officer;
{b) our four most highly compensated executive officers (other than the
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ch disclosure would have been provided under clause (a) and (b) above but for the fact that the individual was not serving as an executive
fficer at the end of fiscal 2004, provided, however, that no disclosure need be provided for any executive officer, other than the Chief
Executive Officer, whose total annual salary and bonus does not exceed $100,000. Accordingly, we are disclosing information regarding
mpensation paid by us during the last three fiscal years to (a) [an B. Carter (our Chief Executive Officer); (b) Peter Weigand {our President),
ichard L. Boughrum {our Chief Financial Officer), and John A. Barthrop {our General Counsel and Secretary), the three most highly-
compensated-executive officers, other than the Chief Executive Officer, whoe were serving as executive officers at the end of fiscal 2004 and
i}hosc salary and bonus exceeded $100,000; and (¢} Richard L. Paulsen, {Commonwealth’s fornmer Chief Operating Officer) and James L.

‘lhief Executive Officer) who were serving as executive officers at the end of fiscal 2004; and (c) up to two additional individuals for whom

liver (Commonwealth’s former Chief Financial Officer), for whom disclosure would be required as two of the Company’s most highly-
mpensated executive officers, but for the fact that they were not serving as executive officers of the Company at the end of fiscal 2004. All of
these officers are referred to in this Annual Report as the “Named Executive Officers.”

l‘Summary Compensation Table

The following table sets forth for each of the past three fiscal years, all compensation received for services rendered in all capacities by the
'Iamed Executive Officers.

Long Term Cempensation

Annual Compensation Awards Payouts
Securitics
Other Restricted Underlying Al
l Fiscal Annual Stock Options/ LTIP Other
Name and Principal Position Year Salary Bonus(l} Compensation Award(s) SARs Payout Compensation
n B. Carter 2004 $467,404 $ 87,500 $33,156(2) — 600,000 — § 167,000(3)
Iﬁ Chief Executive Officer, 2003 402,062 100,000 31,102(2) — — — —
- and Chairman of the 2002 314,988 495,000 62,553(2) — 3,800,000 — —
Board
ohn A. Barthrop 2004 233,124 72,000 16,313(4) — 125,000 — —
l General Counsel 2003 202,527 55,500 18,132(4) — — — 86,880(3)
2002 182,016 55,500 16,203(4) — 500,000 — —
Peter Weigand 2004 130,769 — 1,547(6) — 600,000 — —
President(5) 2003 — — — — — — —
; 2002 — — — — — -_ -—
Richard L. Boughrum 2004 114,423 — 1,873(8) 150,000 500,000 — —
Chief Financial Officer(7) 2003 — — — — — — —
l 2002 — — — — — — —
ichard L. Paulsen 2004 318413 80,000 12,872(10) — —_ — 1,519,915(11)
Former Chief Operarting 2003 360,066 75,000 23,823(10) — — — —
} Officer(9) 2002 310,000 140,000 22,046(10) — — — —
ames L. Oliver 2004 139,417 72,000 10,649(13) — — — 172,000(14)
Former Chief Financial 2003 201,088 55,500 18,124(13) — 125,000 — —
Officer(12) 2002 171,000 89,813 19,966(13) — 375,000 — —

W (1} Bonus compensation is determined pursuant to employment agreements and/or by the Compensation Committee and is generally based
upon performance measured on a fiscal year basis.

(2} For Mr. Carter, the amount attributable to perquisites consists of automobile allowance of $15,600 in each of the fiscal years, and
' reimbursement primarily for medical insurance of $17,556, $15,502 and $46,953 for fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

(3} Represents the positive difference between the valuation of our common stock as of the date stock options were exercised by Named
l Executive Officer and the exercise price of the options.

1 o
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I’ ootnoles continued fiom the proceeding page.}

(4) For Mr. Barthrop, the amount atiributable to perquisites consists of automobile allowance of $7,200 in each of the fiscal years, and
' reimbursement primarily for medical insurance of $9,113, $10,932 and $9,003 for fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

(5) Mr. Weigand joined the Company on April 1, 2004,

l({i) For Mr. Weigand, the amount atiributable to perquisites in fiscal 2004 consists primarily of reimbursement for medical expenses of
$1,547.

l(?) Mr. Boughrum joined the Company on April 1, 2004,
(8)

For Mr. Boughrum, the amount attributable to perquisites in fiscal 2004 consists primarily of reimbursement for medical expenses of
$1,873.

(9) M. Paulsen served as Commonwealth’s Chief Operating Officer until March 16, 2004,

lO) For Mr. Paulsen, the amount atiributable to perquisites consists of automobile allowances of $5,600, $8,800 and $9,600 for fiscal 2004,
2003 and 2002, respectively, and reimbursement primarily for medical insurance of $7,272, $15,023 and $12,446 for fiscal 2004, 2003
and 2002, respectively.

ll 1} Represents severance payments made to Mr, Paulsen in connection with his resignation as an executive officer and employee of
Commonwealth,

IIZ) Mr. Oliver served as Commonwealth’s Chief Financial Officer until February 20, 2004

2003 and 2002, respectively, and reimbursement primarily for medical insurance of 36,449, $10,924 and $11,396 for fiscal 2004, 2003

'13) For Mr, Oliver, the amount attributable to perquisites consists of automobile allowances of $4,200, $7,200 and $8,600 for fiscal 2004,
and 2002, respectively.

14)  Represents severance payments made to Mr. Oliver in connection with his resignation as an executive officer and employee of
Commonwealth,
Stock Option Grants.
Stock Option Granys. The following table shows stock option grants to the Named Executive Officers during fiscal 2004.

Option/ SAR Grants in Last Fiscal Year

Individual Grants

l Potential Realizable

Exercise Value at Assumed
Number of Percent of or Base Annual Rates of Stock
Securlties Total Options/ Price Price Appreciation for
Underlying SARs Granted Per Option Term(3)
Options/SARs to All Share Expiration
Name Granted (#)(1) Employees S)2) Date 5% (8) 10%

n B. Carter 600,000(4) 18.2% $2.50(5) 1/1/2010 % 81,914 $ 640,449
ohn A. Barthrop 125,000 3.8% $1.92 4/1/2014(6) $150,935 § 382,498
eter Weigand 600,000 18.2% $1.92 4/1/2014(7) $724 487 $1,835,991

Richard L. Boughrum 500,000 15.2% $1.92 4/1/2014(7) $603,739 $1,529,993

ichard L. Paulsen — — — — - —
ames L. Oliver —_ — — — — -

!1) Upon a change in control of the Company (as defined in the stock option agreements relating to the respective plans), the options shall,
notwithstanding the installment vesting provisions, become immediately exercisable in full.
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Except as indicated, all options were granted at the fair market value on the date of grant, as determined by the Compensation Committee
of the Board on the date of grant.

S

We are required by the SEC to use 5% and 10% assumed rate of appreciation over the option term. This does not represent our estimate
or projection of the future common stock price. If the common stock does not appreciate, the Named Executive Officers will receive no
benefit from the options.

S

These options were granted pursuant to the terms of Mr. Carter’s employment agreement, which provides for an annual grant of options
to purchase up to 300,000 shares of the Company’s Common Stock upon meeting or exceeding the Company’s financial performance
objectives as set forth in its business plan. The Company exceeded the applicable performance goals in 2002 and 2003, entitling

Mr. Carter to an option to purchase 300,000 shares of the Company’s Common Stock for each year. These options were granted in fiscal
2004 and were fully vested on the date of grant,

—

R BN AN

[

These options were granted at the price required by the terms of Mr. Carter’s employment agreement.

Nenqualified stock options which were fully vested on the date of grant.

=
e

Nongqualified stock options which vest 25% immediately and the remainder pro rata over a four year period from the date of grant.

Option Exercises/ Fiscal Year End Value.

The following table shows stock option exercises and the value of unexercised stock options held by the Named Executive Officers during
scal 2004,

Aggregated Option/ SAR Exercises in Last Fiscal Year
and FY-End Option/ SAR Values

Number of Securities Value of Unexercised
Underlying Unexercised In-the-Maoney
Onptions/SARs at Fiscal Options/SARs at Fiscal
Value Year-End (#) Year-End ($)(2)
Shares Acquired Realized
Name on Exercise (#) (S)1) Exercisable Unexercisable Exercisable Unexercisable

En B. Carter 100,000 $167,000 3,050,000 1,250,000 $115,000 —_
eter Weigand — — 150,000 450,000 — —
ohn A, Barthrop — — 500,000 125,000 — —
ichard L. Boughrum — — 125,000 375,000 — —
ichard L. Paulsen —— — — — — —
James L. Oliver — — 500,000 — — —

1) Represents the positive difference berween the valuation of $1,92 per share of common stock as of the date the options were exercised
and the $0.25 exercise price of the options. There was no market value for the common stock prior to our public listing in July 2004. This
valuation was made by our Board of Directors for accounting and financial reporting purposes and does not reflect actual transactions.

lZ) Represents the positive difference between the closing price of Commerce’s common stock on the American Stack Exchange on July 30,
2004 (the last trading day of fiscal 2004), which was $1.65 per share, and the $0.50 exercise price of the options.

'lmployment Agreements

{an B. Carter. Mr. Carter serves as our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. We entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Carter
n January 1, 2000. Mr. Carter’s employment agreement was amended on November 1, 2000 and March 15, 2004. The agreement, as amended,
'rovides for Mr. Carter’s employment through January 31, 2005 with both Comumonwealth and Commerce Energy.
44
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nd any additional discretionary cash bonus based on our results of operations. Mr. Carter's base salary may be increased from time to time by
e Board of Directors, Pursuant to his employment agreement, we granted to Mr. Carter an option to purchase 700,000 shares of Common
Stock at an exercise price of $2.50 per share, expiring on January 1, 2010, with 300,000 options vested immediately and an additional 100,000
ptions vesting on each January 1 annually through 2004. Pursuant to his employment agreement, we also granted Mr. Carter additional
ptions to purchase up to 3,500,000 shares of Common Stock, which vest upon satisfaction of the following performance criteria
(a) completion of the audit of our July 31, 2000 conselidated financial statements — 500,000 shares; (b) settlement of the California
iepartmcnt of Corporations investigation — 250,000 shares; {c) settlement of the California Public Utilities Commission investigation —

.n Mr. Carter is currently entitled to a minimum base salary of $500,000. In addition, Mr. Carter is entitled to receive a bonus of $100,000

(0,000 shares; (d) completion of liquidity event — 750,000 shares; (¢} initial public offering stock purchase option — 300,000 shares; and
f) an annual grant of up to 300,000 additional options if we meet or exceed financial performance objectives.

l If during the term of the employment agreement, Mr. Carter is terminated, leaves, or is replaced as a result of: (a) all or substantially all of
ur assets or more than fifty percent (50%) of our issued and outstanding voting shares is acquired by any one person or entity not then
affiliated with us; (b) a group of stockholders takes control of us when no significant change of ownership has taken place; or {c) a merger,
cquisition, strategic alliance or any other event that could bring substantial capital into us, we must pay Mr. Carter an amount equal to three
!mes Mr. Carter’s then-current base salary and the average of the two highest paid bonuses paid to Mr. Carter plus the amount of certain taxes

ayable by Mr. Carter. In such event, or if the Company terminates the employment agreement early, Mr. Carter has the right to require us to
repurchase all of his stock and all stock options referenced in his employment agreement, whether eamed or unearned, at a value two times the

en aggregate value of our common stock. Mr. Carter waived all change of control provisions of his employment agreement in connection
tith our recently-completed reorganization.

We may terminate Mr. Carter’s employment upon Mr. Carter’s death, total disability or for cause. Upon a termination for death or total
isability, we will continue to pay Mr. Carter for a period of one year thereafter or unti] expiration of the term of the employment agreement,
whichever occurs first, his then current base salary and bonus. The term “cause” is defined to mean a conviction or entry of plea of guilty or
nolo contendere for any felony that would materially and adversely interfere with his ability to perform his services of his employment. In the
vent of a termination for cause, Mr. Carter is entitled to receive all compensation and benefits payable to him through the date of termination.

Mr. Carter may terminate his employment only upon (a) the sale of all or substantially all of our assets to a person unaffiliated with us or
e occurrence of a change of control without Mr. Carter’s consent or {b) our material breach of the employment agreement, In case of
rmuination by Mr. Carter due to a change in control without his consent, Mr. Carter is entitled to receive three times the sum of his then
current annual base salary and the average of the two highest bonuses paid to him. In the case of termination due to our material breach of
ontract, Mr. Carter is entitled to receive a payment equal to the monetary value of all of the compensation and benefits payable to him for the
'emainder of the term, If, at the expiration of the term, we have met or exceeded the projections set forth in the business plan, and we do not
ffer to extend Mr. Carter’s employment on terms no less favorable than those stated in the then current employment agreement, we must pay
Mr. Carter a sum of $100,000 per year for a period of ten years. Mr. Carter will consult to us during that period and be Vice-Chairman of the
oard.

John A. Barthrop. Mr. Barthrop serves as our Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary. We entered into to an employment
greement with Mr. Barthrop on November 1, 2000, Mr. Barthrop’s employment agreement was amended on March 31, 2004, The agreement,
's amended, provides for Mr. Barthrop’s employment through December 31, 2004 with both Commonwealth and Commerce Energy.

Mr. Barthrop is currently entitled to receive an annual base salary of $240,000 under the terms of his employment agreement, subject to
l;)ssible increases which the chief executive officer and the compensation committee may grant from time to time. Mr. Barthrop is also entitled
an annual cash bonus of 30% of his
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en current annual salary provided that we have met or exceeded the projections in our annual business plan or as the Board of Directors
ems appropriate.

In March 2004, we entered into an agreement with Mr. Barthrop to amend his employment agreement. In connection with this amendment,
le granted Mr. Barthrop an additional 125,000 stock options at an exercise price of $1.92 per share. The exercise price of the options
presents the fair market value of Commonwealth’s common stock on the date the options were granted, as determined by the Compensation
Committee of Commonwealth’s Board of Direclors in accordance with Commonwealth's 1999 Equity Incentive Plan, If during the term of the
mployment agreement, as amended, there is a change of contro] as defined in the employment agreement that is not hostile, then we will pay
!:;. Barthrop a $100,000 cash bonus. A change in control includes any transaction in which any person acquires beneficial ownership of 50%
I more of the outstanding shares of Commonwealth or Commerce Energy common stock or 50% of the combines voting power of the
outstanding securities entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the company. A
ange of control does not include any transaction or series of transactions that has been approved by the Board. We will not record any
mpensation expense with respect to Mr. Barthrop’s options because they were granted with an exercise price equal to the fair market value of
the Company’s common stock at the date of grant, $1.92 per share.

The agreement will terminate upon the occurrence of any of the following: Mr. Barthrop’s death, total disability, material breach of the
employment agreement or fiduciary duty by Mr. Barthrop or written notice of Mr, Barthrop's decision to terminate his employment. Upon
rmination, Mr. Barthrop will be entitled to receive his base salary and benefits earned through the date of termination and an amount equal to
is then current annual base salary.

Peter Weigand. Mr. Weigand serves as the President of Commonwealth and Commerce Energy, We entered into an employment
reement with Mr. Weigand on April 1, 2004, The agreement provides for an initial three year term and is automatically extended for
ccessive one year periods unless we or Mr. Weigand provide notice of termination. Mr. Weigand is entitled to a base salary of $400,000,

which shall be reviewed at least annually by the Board or the Compensation Committee and may be further increased (but not decreased).

r. Weigand is eligible to participate in our bonus program at the discretion of the Board on the same basis and terms as are applicable to other
*nior executives. Pursuant to his employment agreement, we granted to Mr. Weigand an option to purchase 600,000 shares of Common Stock
an exercised price of $1.92 per share, expiring on March 11, 2014, with 150,000 options vested immediately, 150,000 options vesting on
each of March 29, 2005, 2006, and 2007 and immediate vesting upon termination of Mr. Weigand’s employment without cause, for good
ason, as defined in the employment agreement, or follow a change of control not approved by the Board, provided that in each case

Fr. Weigand agrees not to engage in certain prohibited competitive activities for six months following the termination of employment.

signs for good reason and he agrees not to compete with us for six months, then he will be entitled to a severance payment equal to his salary
r the greater of one year or the number of months remaining in the term of his employment and all of his options and restricted stock grants
shall immediately vest. A change of control includes any transaction in which any person acquires beneficial ownership of 50% or more of the
utstanding shares of Commonwealth or Commerce Energy common stock or 50% of the combined voting power of the outstanding securities
titled to vote generally in the election of directors, or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the company. A change of control does
not include any transaction or series of transactions that has been approved by the Board.

E If we terminate Mr. Weigand’s employment without cause, or if Mr. Weigand resigns within six months after a change in control, or he
0

We may terminate Mr, Weigand’s employment upon death, total disability, or for cause. Upon a termination, for death or total disability,
we will continue to pay Mr. Weigand through the date of termination of his employment. “Cause” includes acts of fraud or embezzlement, a
knowing and wiliful unauthorized disclosure of confidential information, conviction or entry of plea of guilty or nolo contendere for a felony or
crime involving fraud, dishonesty, or moral turpitude. In the event of a termination for cause, Mr, Weigand is entitled to receive all
ompensation and benefits payable to him through the date of termination.
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e entered into an employment agreement with Mr., Boughrum on April 1, 2004, The agreement provides for an initial three year term and is
automatically extended for successive one year periods unless we or Mr. Boughrum provide notice of termination. Mr. Boughrum is entitled:to
a base salary of $350,000, which shall be reviewed at least annually by the Board or the Compensation Committee and may be further

creased (but not decreased). Mr. Boughrum is eligible to participate in our bonus program at the discretion of the Board on the same basis

d terms as are applicable to other senior executives. Pursuant to his employment agreernent, Mr. Boughrum has the right to purchase up to
150,000 shares of our common stock for a purchase price of $1.92 per share at any time until 10 days after consummation of the reorganization.

Er. Boughrum exercised this option on April 2, 2004. We also granted to Mr. Boughrum an option to purchase 500,000 shares of common

l Richard L. Boughrum. Mr. Boughrum serves as the Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Commonwealth and Commerce Energy.

ock at an exercised price of $1.92 per share expiring in March 2014, with 125,000 vested immediately, 125,000 options vesting on each of
arch 29, 2005, 2006 and 2007 and immediate vesting upon termination of Mr. Boughrum’s employment without cause, for good reasen or
following a change of control not approved by the Board, provided that in each case Mr. Boughrum agrees not to engage in certain prohibited
mpetitive activities for six months following the termination of employment. We also granted Mr. Boughrum a restricted stock award of
E0,000 shares of common stock, which are subject to repurchase by the Company at $0.001 per share upon termination of Mr. Boughrum’s
employment. Commonwealth’s repurchase right terminates with respect to 50,000 shares per year on each of the next three anniversaries of his
hire date and also terminates immediately upon termination of Mr. Boughrum’s employment without cause for good reason, as defined in the
ployment agreement, or following a change of control not approved by the Board, provided that in each case Mr. Boughrum agrees not to
gage in certain prohibited competitive activities for six months following the termination of employment.

If we terminate Mr. Boughrum’s employment without cause, or if Mr. Boughrum resigns within six months after a change in control, or he
'signs for good reason and he agrees not to compete with us for six months, then he will be entitled to a severance payment equal to his salary
for the greater of one year or the number of months remaining in the term of his employment and all of his options and restricted stock grants
Eall immediately vest. A change of control includes any transaction in which any person acquires beneficial ownership of 50% or more of the
tstanding shares of Commonwealth or Commerce Energy common stock or 50% of the combines voting power of the outstanding securities
titled to vote generally in the election of directors, or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the company. A change of control does
not include any transaction or series of transactions that has been approved by the Board.

' We may terminate Mr. Boughrum’s employment upon death, total disability, or for cause. Upon a termination, for death or total disability,

we will continue to pay Mr. Boughrum through the date of termination of his employment. “Cause” includes acts of fraud or embezzlement, a
owing and willful unauthorized disclosure of confidential information, conviction or entry of plea of guilty or nolo contendere for a felony or

((I:rime involving fraud, dishonesty, or moral turpitude. In the event of a termination for cause, Mr. Boughrum is entitled to receive all
mpensation and benefits payable to him through the date of termination.

'p Richard L. Paulsen. Richard L. Paulsen resigned his position as our Chief Operating Officer, effective March 16, 2004, to pursue other

portunities. Mr. Paulsen executed a confidential severance agreement and general release in connection with his resignation and the
termination of his employment. Pursuant to the terms of such agreement, we paid Mr, Paulsen $1,600,875, less required tax deductions.
ursuant to the terms of the agreement, we repurchased the 500 shares of our common stock held by Mr. Paulsen and all 899,500 of

'/lr. Paulsen’s options to purchase shares of Commonwealth’s common stock were cancelled.

James L. Oliver. James L. Oliver resigned his position as Commonwealth’s Chief Financial Officer, effective February 20, 2004, to pursue
ther opportunities, Mr, Oliver executed a confidential severance agreement and general release in connection with his resignation and the
rmination of his employment. Pursuant to the terms of such agreement, we paid Mr. Oliver $72,000, less required tax deductions, and will

continue to pay Mr. Oliver an amount equal to his former salary until August 2005. Mr. Oliver continues to
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1d a fully vested option to purchase 500,000 shares of Commonwealth’s common stock with an exercise price of $2.75 per share and a final
piration date of November 1, 2007,

'ompensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

Executive compensation is determined by a Compensation Committee elected by our Board of Directors. The Compensation Comunittee is
rrently comprised of Robert C. Perkins, Craig G. Goodman and Mark S. Juergensen. None of the current Compensation Committee members
¢ or has been an officer or employee of the Company. None of our executive officers serve as members of the Board of Directors or
mpensation committee of any entity that has one or more executive officers who serve on our Board of Directors or the Compensation

Committee, :

lem 12, Security Owunership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management.

an 5% of the outstanding shares of Common Stock, each of our directors, each nominee for election to become a director, each of the Named
xecutive Officers and all directors and executive officers as a group. The persons named hold sole voting and investment power with respect
to the shares shown opposite their respective names, unless otherwise indicated. The information with respect to each person specified is as
pplied or confirmed by such person, based upon statements filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or based upon our actual
owledge.

! The following table contains certain information as of November 11, 2004 regarding all persons who were the beneficial owners of more

Common Stock

l Amount and Nature of
Beneficial Ownership(1)
| Number of
Shares Right to Percent of
Name Owned(2) Acquire(3) Class(1)(2)(3)
Principal Stockholders:
I Ian B. Carter 150,000 3,050,000 9.5%
Directors and Named Executive Officers:
{an B. Carter 150,000 3,050,000 9.5%
l Craig G. Goodman 2,100 150,000 *
Robert C. Perkins 177,000 350,000 1.7%
Mark 8. Juergensen — 37,500 *
John A. Barthrop 50,000 625,000 2.2%
l James L. Gliver — 500,000 1.6%
Peter Weigand 1,088,679 150,000 4.0%
Richard L. Boughrum 300,000 125,000 1.4%
Richard L. Paulsen — — *
' All Directors and Executive Officers as a group {7 persons) 1,767,779 4,487,500 17.9%

* Indicates beneficial ownership of less than 1% of the issued and outstanding class of securities.

Subject to applicable community property and similar statutes.

—
S

Includes shares beneficially owned, whether directly or indirectly, individually or together with associates.

o
R

Represents shares of our common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options or upon conversion of other convertible securities held by
such persons that are exercisable within 60 days of November 11, 2004,
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lquity Compensation Plan Information

Our 1999 Equity Incentive Plan, or the Plan, has been approved by our stockholders. We do not have any equity compensation plans other
an the 1999 Equity Incentive Plan approved by our stockholders, with the exception of one-time grants of warrants or options made by the
r Board of Directors from time to time.

The following table sets forth information regarding the number of shares of our common stock that may be issued pursuant to our equity
')mpensation plans or arrangements as of the end of fiscal 2004.

(a) ( ©
. Number of Number of Securities
Securities to be Remaining Available for
Issued Upon Exercise Weighted-Average Future Issuance Under
of Qutstanding Exercise Price of Equity Compensation Plans
Options, Warrants Qutstanding Options, {Excluding Securities
l Plan Category and Rights Warrants and Rights Reflected in Column(a))
Equity compensation plans approved
by security holders 5,687,399(1) $2.13 1,312,501(2)
quity compensation plans not
approved by security holders 4,620,000(3) $2.41 —
Total 10,307,399 52.26 1,312,501
ey —

(1) Represents shares of common stock that may be issued pursuant to outstanding options granted under the Commonwealth 1999 Equity
Incentive Plan.
!Z) Represents shares of commen stock that may be issued pursuant to options available for future grant under the Commonwealth 1999
Equity Incentive Plan.

l) Represents stock options granted by our Board of Directors to various employees, directors and consultants pursuant to stand-alone
agreements.

lem 13.  Certain Relationships and Related Transactions.

On April 1, 2004, we acquired Skipping Stone Inc., an energy consulting and technology firm. Skipping Stone was a privately held
ompany that was principally owned by Peter Weigand. Mr. Weigand, who was the Chief Executive Officer of Skipping Stone prior to its
acquisition by Commonwealth, became the President of Commonwealth, Commerce Energy and Skipping Stone on April 1, 2004, Prior to its
cquisition of Skipping Stone, since 2001, Commonwealth has engaged Skipping Stone to perform various consulting services. The consulting
Ervices were performed by various employees and independent contractors of Skipping Stone, including Peter Weigand and Richard L.
oughrum, who was an independent contractor of Skipping Stone until March 28, 2004. On April 1, 2004, Mr, Boughrum became the Chief
Financial Officer of Commonwealth and Commerce Energy. Consulting services performed by Skipping Stone for Commonwealth have
gicluded data collection and analysis of market size information, review of energy supply and finance agreements, development of business
l:;;ms, work plans and definitions of various strategic initiatives and representation of Commonwealth in the implementation of such initiatives.
e agreements to perform consulting services were terminable by either party at any time. At the time of the completion of the merger, the
only on-going consulting services being performed by Skipping Stone for Commonwealth relate to Commonwealth’s preparations in
nnection with its upcoming required report on internal control over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
002. Commonwealth paid Skipping Stone an aggregate of approximately $308,000 in consulting fees and expenses through the acquisition
ate. Approximately 1% and less than 1% of Skipping Stone’s revenues in calendar 2001 and 2002, respectively, were derived from consulting
ces paid by Commonwealth. Through March 31, 2004, approximately 23% of Skipping Stone’s calendar 2004 revenues had been derived from
'onsuhing fees paid by Commonwealth.

The aggregate purchase price for all of the outstanding Skipping Stone securities, which consists of common stock and vested options, was
l3.1 million and the assumption of $0.6 million of debt. The purchase
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088,679 shares of Commonwealth common stock in the transaction. In addition, other former holders of Skipping Stone common stock

lice was paid through the issuance of Commonwealth common stock, which was valued at $1.92 per share. Mr. Weigand received
ceived an agpregate of 525,891 shares of Commonwealth common stock in the transaction.

We granted the former holders of Skipping Stone common stock “piggy-back” registration rights with respect to the 1,468,714 shares of
mmon stock issued to them in the merger. Pursuant to a registration rights agreement dated as of April 1, 2004, we agreed to register such
shares for resale under the Securities Act in any registration statement filed by Commonwealth with the Securities and Exchange Commission

ith respect to an offering by Commonwealth for its own account (other than a registration statermnent on Form $-4 or S-8 or any successor
'ereto) or for the account of any Commonwealth stockholder. We will pay ail of the expenses of such registration. We also agreed to
indemnify and hold harmless each of the former holders of Skipping Stone common stock from and against any liabilities (including atiorney
fees) arising out of any untrue statement of a material fact contained in any such registration statement, other than with respect to information

ovided by such stockholders for inclusion in the registration statement. Qur obligation to register these shares will terminate only when such

ares have been disposed of pursuant to an effective Registration Statement, in the opinion of counsel to Commonwealth, the entire amount of
the shares may be sold in a single sale without any limitation as to volume pursuant to Rule 144 {(or any successor provision then in effect)

der the Securities Act, or the shares are sold or distributed by a person not entitled to these registration rights.

Each of the former holders of Skipping Stone common stock, including Mr. Weigand, has agreed to place 20% of the Commonwealth
ares issued to him in the merger in an escrow for a period of six months. The stockholder escrow shares are subject to forfeiture, at $1.92 per
iare, based upon a two part “true up” calculation, which is defined in the merger agreement. The first part of the calculation is designed to
ver a decline in the value of Skipping Stone’s net equity, defined as the difference between the total assets minus the total liabilities, from
December 31, 2003 to April 1, 2004, the effective time of the merger. The second part of the calculation will verify that as of six months from
pe cffective time all assets have been collected, amortized or realized as cash and no other liabilities have been accrued or paid by Skipping
‘one or Commonwealth after the effective time.

In addition, each of the former holders of Skipping Stone common stock, including Mr. Weigand, has agreed to place an additional 10% of
te Commonwealth shares issued to him in the merger in an escrow for a period of eighteen months, in the case of Mr. Weigand, and twelve
onths, in the case of the other three former holders of Skipping Stone common stock. The retention escrow shares are subject to forfeiture in
the event that such person voluntarily resigns his employment with Commonwealth, Commerce Energy or any of their affiliates after the
organization during the escrow period (but not upon death, disability or certain changes in control not approved by the Board}. In connection
[ith the merger, Mr. Weigand also entered into an Agreement Not to Compete for twelve months after he is no longer employed by
ommonwealith, Commerce or any of their affiliates, except under the circumstance of a change in control not approved by Board of
Commonwealth or Commerce.

em 14, Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

The following table sets forth the fees billed and paid to us by Emst & Young LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm for
ch of the last two fiscal years.

Fiscal Year
l 2003 2004
Audit Fees $326,898  $489,420
Audit-Related Fees — 22,472
Tax Fees 130,263 172,446
All Other Fees 22,594 —

$479.755  $684,338
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r quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and services that are normally provided by the independent registered public accounting firm in connection

!" Audit Fees: This category includes the audit of our annual consolidated financial statements, the review of financial statements included in
ith statutory and regulatory filings or engagements for those fiscal years, including the filing of our Form S-4 in fiscal 2004,

l Audit Related Fees: This category consists of assurance and related services provided by Emst & Young LLP that were reasonably related
the performance of the audit or review of our financial statements and which are not reported above under “Audit Fees.” Ernst & Young LLP
did not bill the Company for any audit-related services for fiscal 2003.

' Tax Fees. This category consists of professional services rendered by Ernst & Young LLP for tax services, including tax compliance, tax
advice and tax planning.

l All Other Fees. This category consists of fees for other advisory services.

The Audit Committee of our Board of Directors has established a practice that requires the Committee to pre-approve any audit or
rmitted non-audit services to be provided to us by our independent registered public accounting firm, Ernst & Young LLP, in advance of
such services being provided to us.

! In fiscal 2003 and 2004, all of the tax related fees and the fees included in the category “All Other Fees” were pre-approved by the Audit
ommittee. Under the SEC rules, subject to certain de minimis criteria, pre-approval is required for all professional services rendered by our
irincipal accountant for all services rendered on or after May 6, 2003. We are in compliance with these SEC rules,
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.

l (2)(1) fndex to Consolidated Financial Statements:

exhibit.

Exhibit
Number

Report of Ernst & Young LLP, independent

registered public accounting firm F-1
Consolidated statements of operations for the

three years in the period ended July 31,2004  F-2
Consolidated balance sheets at July 31, 2003

and 2004 F-3
Consolidated statemnents of stockholders’

equity for the three years in the period ended

July 31, 2004 F-4
Consolidated statements of cash flows for the

three years in the period ended July 31,2004  F-3
Notes to consolidated financial statements F-6

(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules

All schedules are omitted as the required information is inapplicable or the information is presented in the consolidated financial
atements or related notes.

(b) Exhibirs. The exhibits listed below are herby filed with the Commission as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The Company
ill furnish a copy of any exhibit upon request, but a reasonable fee will be charged to cover the Company’s expenses in furnishing such

Title of Exhibit

2.1

22

3.1

3.2

33

4.1

42

Agreement and Plan of Reorganization, by and among American Energy Group, Inc.., CEC Acquisition Corp. and
Commeonwealth Energy Corporation, previously filed with the Commission on July 6, 2004 as Exhibit 2.1 to Commerce
Energy Group, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form 8-A, which is incorporated herein by reference.

Agreement and Plan of Merger by and among Commonwealth Energy Corporation, Skipping Stone Acquisition
Corporation, Skipping Stone Inc. and the holders of Skipping Stone Inc. common stock dated March 29, 2004, previously
filed with the Commission on April 5, 2004 as Exhibit 2.2 to Amendment No. 3 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.’s
Registration Statement on Form $-4, which is incorporated herein by reference.

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Commerce Energy Group, Inc., previously filed with the
Commission on July 6, 2004 as Exhibit 3.3 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form. 8-A,
which is incorporated herein by reference.

Certificate of Designation of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock of Commerce Energy Group, Inc, dated July 1,
2004, previously filed with the Commissicn on July 6, 2004 as Exhibit 3.4 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.’s
Registration Statement on Form 8-A, which is incorporated herein by reference.

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Commerce Energy Group, Inc., previously filed with the Commission on July 6, 2004
as Exhibit 3.6 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form 8-A, which is incorporated herein by
reference.

Rights Agreement, dated as of July 1, 2004, entered into between Commerce Energy Group, Inc. and Computershare
Trust Company, as rights agent. Rights Agreement, dated as of July 1, 2004, entered into between Commerce Energy
Group, Inc. and Computershare Trust Company, as rights agent, previously filed with the Commission on July 6, 2004 as
Exhibit 10.1 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form 8-A, which is incorporated herein by
reference.

Form of Rights Certificate, previously filed with the Commission on July 6, 2004 as Exhibit 10.2 to Commerce Energy
Group, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form 8-A, which is incorporated herein by reference.
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Title of Exhibit

aterlal Contracts Relating to Management Compensation Plans or Arrangements

10.1

10:2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10, 10

10.11

10.12
10.13
10.14

10.15

Employment Agreement dated January 1, 2000, between Commonwealth Energy Corporation and Ian B. Carter, as
modified by an Addendum to Employmcnt Agreement dated as of November 1, 2000, previously filed with the
Commission on August 9, 2001 as Exhibit 10.12 to Commonwealth Energy Corporation’s Registration Statement on
Form 10, which is incorporated herein by reference.

Consent and Waiver Agreement dated March 12, 2004 between Commonwealth Energy Corporation and Ian B. Carter,
previously filed with the Commission on March 16, 2004 as Exhibit 10.1 to Commonwealth Energy Corporation’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q) for the period ended January 31, 2004, which is incorporated herein by reférence.
Second Amendment to Employment Agreement dated March 16, 2004 between Commonwealth Energy Corporation and
Ian B. Carter, previously filed with the Commission on March 16, 2004 as Exhibit 10.2 to Commonwealth Energy
Corporation’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended January 31, 2004, which is incorporated herein by
reference.

Employment Agreement dated November 1, 2000, between Commonwealth Energy Corporation and John A. Barthrop,
previously filed with the Commission on November 14, 2001 as Exhibit 10.15 to Amendment No. 1 to Commonwealth
Energy Corporation’s Registration Statement on Form 10/ A, which is incorporated herein by reference.

Amendment to Employment Agreement dated March 31, 2004 between Commonwealth Energy Corporation and John
A. Barthrop, previously filed with the Commission on April 5, 2004 as Exhubit 10.5 to Amendment No. 3 to Commerce
Energy Group’s Registration Statement on Form S-4, which is incorporated herein by reference.

Executive Employment Agreement dated April 1, 2004 between Commonwealth Energy Corporation, Commerce
Energy Group, Inc. and Peter Weigand, previously filed with the Commission on April 5, 2004 as Exhibit 10.6 to
Amendment No. 3 to Commerce Energy Group’s Registrant’s Statement on Form S-4, which is incorporated herein by
reference.

Executive Employment Agreement dated April 1, 2004 between Commonwealth Energy Corporation, Commerce
Energy Group, Inc. and Richard L. Boughrum, previously filed with the Commission on April 5, 2004 as Exhibit 10:7 to
Amendment No. 3 to Commerce Energy Group’s Registrant’s Statement on Form S-4, which is incorporated herein by
reference.

Commonwealth Energy Corporation 1999 Equity Incentive Plan, previously filed with the Commission ot Qctober 8,
2003 as Exhibit 4.1 to Commonwealth Energy Corporation’s Registration Statement on Form S-8, which is incorporated
herein by reference.

Form of Stock Option Agreement pursuant to Commonwealth Energy Comporation 1999 Equity Incentive Plan.
Confidential Severance Agreement and General Release between Richard L. Paulsen and Commonwealth Energy
Corporation, previously filed with the Commission on April 5, 2004 as Exhibit 10.1 to Commonwealth Energy
Corporation’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended April 30, 2004, which is incorporated
herein by reference.

Confidential Severance Agreement and General Release dated as of Febmary 21, 2004 between James L. QOliver and
Commonwealth Energy Corporation, previously filed with the Commuission on March 16, 2004 as Exhibit 10.3.to
Commonwealth Energy Corporation’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended January 31, 2004,
which is incorporated herein by reference,

Settlement Agreement and Release dated as of August 29, 2003 between Robert C. Perkins and Commonwealth Energy
Corporation.

Stock Option Agreement dated as of August 29, 2003 between Robert C. Perkins and Commonwealth Energy
Corporation,

Stock Option Agreement dated as of August 29, 2003 between Robert C. Perkins and Commonwealth Energy
Corporation.

Stock Option Agreement dated as of July 8, 1999 between lan B. Carter and Commonwealth Energy Corporation.
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Exhibit
Number

Title of Exhibit

10.16

10.17

Indemnification Agreement dated as of January 1, 2000 between Commonwealth Energy Corporation and Ian B. Carter,
with Schedule attached thereto of other substantiaily identical Indemnification Agreements, which differ only in the
respects set forth in such Schedule.

Indemnification Agreement dated as of July 1, 2004 between Commerce Energy Group, Inc. and [an Carter, with
Schedule attached thereto of other substantially identical Indemnification Agreements, which differ only in the respects
set forth in such Schedule.

ther Material Contracts

10.18

10.19

16.20

10.21

10,22

10.24

10.25

10.26

10.27

10.28

Skipping Stone Stockholder Escrow Agreement by and among Commonwealth Energy Corporation, Skipping Stone Inc.
and the holders of Skipping Stone Inc. common stock, previously filed with the Commission on April 5, 2004 as

Exhibit 2.3 to Amendment No. 3 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-4, which is
incorporated herein by reference,

Retention Escrow Agreement by and among Commonwealth Energy Corporation, Skipping Stone Inc., Peter Weigand,
Greg Lander, Eric Alam and Bruno Kvetinskas, previously filed with the Commission on April 5, 2004 as Exhibit 2.4 to
Amendment No. 3 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-4, which is incorporated herein
by reference.

Regisiration Rights Agreement by and among Commonweaith Energy Corporation and the holders of Skipping Stone,
Inc. common stock dated March 29, 2004, previously filed with the Commission on April 5, 2004 as Exhibit 2.5 to
Amendment No. 3 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-4, which is incorporated herein
by reference.

Agreement Not To Compete by and among Commonwealth Energy Corporation, Commerce Energy Group, Inc. and
Peter Weigand dated April 1, 2004, previousiy filed with the Commission on April 5, 2004 as Exhibit 2.6 to Amendment
No. 3 Commerce Energy Group, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-4, which is incorporated herein by reference.
Limited Liability Company Agreement of Summit Energy Ventures, LLC, as amended by the First Amendment to the
Limited Liability Company Agreement of Summit Energy Ventures, LLC, dated August 2001, previously filed with the
Commission on November 14, 2001 as Exhibit 10.6 to Amendment No. 1 to Commenwealth Energy Corporation’s
Registration Statement on Form 10/ A, which is incorporated herein by reference.

Second Amendment to the Limited Liability Company Agreement of Summit Energy Ventures, LLC, previously filed
with the Commussion on April 3, 2002 as Exhibit 10.19 to Amendment No. 2 to Commonwealth Energy Corporation’s
Registration Statement on Form 10/ A, which is incorporated herein by reference.

Lease Agreement dated August 9, 2002, between Commonwealth Energy Corporation and Cherry Tree Investors, L.P.,
previously filed with the Commission on October 29, 2002 as Exhibit 10.25 to Commenwealth Energy Corporation’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended July 31, 2002, which is incorporated herein by reference.

Consent to Sublease and Sublease Agreement dated May 28, 2004 between E*Trade Consumer Finance Cerporation and
Commonwealth Energy Corporation.

Restructuring and Termination of Membership Agreement dated as of April 30, 2004 by and among Surnmit Energy
Ventures, LLC, Commonwealth Energy Comoration, Steven Strasser and Northwest Power Management, Inc.,
previously filed with the Commission on June 14, 2004 as Exhibit 10.5 to Commonwealth Energy Corporation’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended April 30, 2004, which is incorporated herein by reference.
Confirmation of Transaction between Commonwealth Energy Corporation and DTE Energy Trading, Inc. dated July 25,
2002, previously filed with the Commission on March 17, 2004 as Exhibit 10.23 to Amendment No. 1 to
Commonwealth Energy Corporation’s Form 10-K for the year ended July 31, 2002, which is incorporated herein by
reference.

Exelon Generation Company, LLC Confirmation Agreement dated July 22, 2003, previously filed with the Commission
on March 17, 2004, as Exhibit 10.20 to Amendment No. | to Commonwealth Energy Corporation’s Form 10-K/ A for
the year ended July 31, 2003, which is incorporated herein by reference.
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Exhibit
Number Title of Exhibit
10.29 Exelon Generation Company, LLC Confirmation Agreement dated July 22,2003, previously filed with the Commission

on March 17, 2004 as Exhibit 10.21 to Amendment No. | to Commonwealth Energy Corporation’s Form 10-K/ A for
the year ended July 31, 2003, which is incorporated herein by reference.

10.30 Confirmation of Transaction between Commonwealth Energy Corporation and DTE Trading, Inc. dated March 24, 2003,
previously filed with the Commission on March 17, 2004 as Exhibit 10.22 to Amendment No. 1 to Commonwealth
Energy Corporation’s Form 10-K/ A for the year ended July 31, 2003, which is incorporated herein by reference,

10.31 Confirmation of Transaction between Commonwealth Energy Corporation and DTE Trading, Inc. dated July 24, 2003,
previously filed with the Commission on March 17, 2004 as Exhibit 10.23 to Amendment No. 1 to Commonwealth
Energy Corporation’s Form 10-K/ A for the year ended July 31, 2003, which is incorporated herein by reference,

10.32 Revised Security Agreement dated October 27, 2004 by and between Commonwealth Energy Corporation and DTE
Energy Trading.
10.33 Revised Operating Agreement dated October 27, 2004 between DTE Energy Trading, Inc. and Commonwealth Energy
Corporation.
14.1 Commerce Energy Group, Inc. Code of Business Conduct and Ethics.
21.1 Subsidiaries of the Registrant.
231 Consent of Emst & Young, LLP, independent registered public accounting firm.
rl Principal Executive Officer Certification required by Rule 13a-14({a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended.
3.2 Chief Financial Officer Certification required by Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended.
321 Principal Executive Officer Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
322 Chief Financial Officer Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
"gned on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC,

By: /s PETER WEIGAND

Peter Weigand
President

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the fellowing persons on behalf
f the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

iated: November 15, 2004

Signature Title Date

/s/ PETER WEIGAND President and a Director November 15,
(Principal Executive Officer) 2004
Peter Weigand
/s/ RICHARD L. BOUGHRUM Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer November 15,
(Principal Financial Officer) 2004
Richard L. Boughrum
/s/ KENNETH L. ROBINSON Vice President, Finance and Corporate November 15,
Controtler 2004
Kenneth L. Robinson (Principal Accounting Officer)

Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive
Officer and a Director

Ian B. Carter

/s/ CRAIG G. GOODMAN Director November 15,
2004

/sf MARK S. JUERGENSEN Director November 13,
2004

Mark S. Juergensen

/s/{ ROBERT C. PERKINS Director November 15,

2004

Robert C. Perkins
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REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP,
INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

io the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Commerce Energy Group, Inc,

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Commerce Energy Group, Inc. (formerly Commonwealth Energy
orporation) as of July 31, 2003 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each
the three years in the period ended July 31, 2004. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
sponsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

l We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board. Those standards require
at we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An
audit includes.examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, An audit also includes

sessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
Fesentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of
ommerce Energy Group, Inc. at July 31, 2003 and 2004, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three
ars in the period ended July 31, 2004, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

range County, California
ctober 22, 2004
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COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
{In thousands, except per share amounts)

Fiscal Year Ended July 31,

2002 2003 2004

Net revenue $117,768 $165,526 $210,623
Direct energy costs 87,340 128,179 191,180

Gross profit 30,428 37,347 19,443
Selling and marketing expenses 3,510 4,240 4,063
General and administrative expenses : 16,737 18,492 25,857
Reorganization and initial public listing expenses — — 3,393

Income (loss) from operations 10,181 14,615 {13,870)

Other income and expenses:
Initial formation litigation expenses (1,671) (4,415) (1,562)
Provision for impairment on investments — — (7,135)
Loss on termination of Surmnmit — — (1,904)
Loss on equity investments (160) (567) —_
Minority interest share of loss — 187 1,185
Interest income, net 939 715 549

Total other income and expenses (892) (4,080) (8,867)

Income (loss) before provision for (benefit from) income taxes 9,289 10,535 (22,737)

' Provision for (benefit from) income taxes 4,125 5,113 {1,017)

Net income (loss) 5 5,164 § 5422 §(21,720)

Earnings (loss) per common share:
Basic § 019 35 019 § (077

Diluted $ 016 $ 018 §$ (0.77)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

F-2
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COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands)

July 31,

2003 2004

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 5 40,921 $ 54,065
Accounts receivable, net 37,861 31,119
Income taxes refund receivables —_ 4,423
Deferred income tax assets 2,772 74
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 6,920 5,141

Total current assets 88,474 94,822
Restricied cash and cash equivalents 20,773 4,008
Deposits 4,207 5,445
Investments 5,362 96
Property and equipment, net 2,984 2,613
Goodwill and other intangible assets 4,070 3,839

Total assets $125,870 $110,823
SRR

l LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS® EQUITY
Current liabilities:
. Accounts payable 3 24,936 $ 30,576

Accrued liabilities 1,127 6,141

Total current liabilities 32,063 36,717
Deferred income tax liabilities 187 —
Minority interest 603 —
Commitments and contingencies — —
Stockholders’ equity:

Commonwealth Energy Corporation:
Series A convertibie preferred stock — 10,000 shares authorized
with no par value; 609 shares issued and outstanding in fiscal 2003
and none in fiscal 2004 700 —
Other convertible preferred stock — 352 shares reflected as
outstanding in fiscal 2003 and none in fiscal 2004 155 —
Common stock — 50,000 shares authorized with no par value;

27,645 shares issued and outstanding in fiscal 2003 and none in

fiscal 2004 56,853 —
Commerce Energy Group, Inc.:

Series A junior participating preferred stock —— 20,000 shares
authorized with $0.001 par value; none issued and outstanding — —
Common stock — 150,000 shares authorized with $0.001 par value,
none issued in fiscal 2003 and 30,519 shares issued and
outstanding in fiscal 2004 — 60,796
Unearned restricted stock compensation — (256)
Retained earnings 35,309 13,566

Total stockholders’ equity 93,017 74,106

Tortal liabilities and stockhelders’ equity $125,870 $110,823

The accompanying notes are an inregral parr of these consolidated financial statements.
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l COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC,
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS® EQUITY
' {In thousands)
Commonwealth Energy Corporation Commerce Energy Group, Inc.
Series A Other
Commonwealth Convertible Canvertible Commerce Unearned
Commen Stock Preferred Stock Preferred Stock Common Stock Restricted
Stock Retained
Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Compensation Earnings Total

l\lance a1 July 31, 2001 ' 29,360 $ 60,305 863 3842 — £ — — 5 — 5§ — $ 24,890 § 86,037
t:xercise of stock options 65 27 — — — — — — — — 27

Compensation charge related 10
seftlement ol employee stock
option dispines — 2 — — — — — — — — 7
mpensalion charge related to
performance-based siock

options —_ (743) — — — — — — — — (743)
purchase of founder’s shares (L,175) (2,4000 — — — —_ —_ — — - (2.400)
incellalion and retumn of
founder's accommodation
shares (828) — — — — — — — — — —
Income tax benefits arising from
exercise of stock options — {43) — — — — — — — — (43)
mulative unpaid dividends on
convertible preferred stock — — — 70 — — — — — (70 —
Payment of dividends on
preferred stock — — — 30) — — — — _ — (30)
purchase of preferred stock (88 — (88 (62) — — — —_ — — (62)
ct income and comprehensive
income —_ — — —_ —_ —_ — — — 5,164 5,164
lance at July 31,2002 27,334 57,148 775 820 — — — — —_ 29,984 87,952
ercise of stock options 483 15 — — —_ — - — — — 15
incellaxion of commaon shares 6) (14) — - — — — — — — (14)
ncome tax benefits arising from
exercise of stock options — 363 J— — — — — — — — 363
gi:versal of income tax benefit
due 10 expiration of stock
options — (659} — — — — — — — — (659}
Cumulative unpaid dividends on
convertible preferred stock — — —_ 55 — 42 — — — o7 —
yment of dividends.on
Series A convertible preferred
stock — —_ — 92) — . — — — — (92}
Reflection of — Other
convertible preferred stock — — — — 352 113 — — —_ — 113
ancellation of Series A
convertible preferred stock {166 — (166) (83) — — — — — — (83)
et income and comprehensive
income — — _— — —_ — — _— — 5,422 5,422
alance at July 31, 2003 27,645 56,853 609 700 352 155 —_ —_ — 35,309 93,017
ercise of stock options 102 27 — — — — - — — - 27
ssuance of stock in connection
with Skipping Stone
acquisition 1,614 3,100 — — — — — — — — 3,100
suance of stock 219 344 — — 40 10 — — — — 354
ompensation charge related 10
settlement of disputes — 636 — — — -— — — -— — 636

Repurchase of dissenter’s rights
l stock : (604} (1,159) — — — — — — — — {1.159)
suance of restricted stock 150 288 — — — — — — (288} — —
mortization of unearned
restricted stock — — — —_ — — — — 19 — 32
Curmuialive unpaid dividends on
convertible preferred stock — — — 17 — 6 — — — 23 —
yment of dividends on
preferred stock — — — (108) — (73) —_— — - — (181)
Conversion of preferred stock
into common stock 1,393 707 (609) (609) (392) (98) — -— — — —
onversion of Commonwealth .
Energy Corporation common
stock into Commerce Energy
Group, Inc. common stock (30,519 (60,796) — — — — 30,519 60,796 — — —_
et loss and comprehensive loss —_ —_ — —_ —_ —_ — — — (21,720) (21,720)
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30,519 £60,796 §(256) $ 13,566 3 74,106
m=rn - — ————

Balance at July 31, 2004 — $ —

[l
B
I
ﬂ
u
ol

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

Fiscal Year Ended July 31,

2002 2003 2004

Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Net income (loss) ' $ 5,164 $ 5422 $(21,720)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by
(used in} operating activities:
Depreciation 1,309 1,461 1,531
Amortization 53 238 419
Provision for doubtful accounts 2,313 1,709 2,217
Stock-based compensation charge (reversal) (743) — 668
Tax benefit (provision) from exercise of stock options (43) 363 —
Reversal of income tax benefit due to expiration of stock options — (659) —
Deferred income tax provision 5310 1,384 2,698
Impairment of Summit Energy investments — — 9,569
Termination of Summit Energy — — 1,904
Loss on equity investments 160 9 —
Minority interest share of loss of consolidated entity — 603 140
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable, net {7,121) (18,231) 4,985
Prepaid expenses and other assets 185 (4,368) (5,681)
Accounts payable 419 14,872 4,659
Accrued liabilities and other (3,378) 2,820 (1,076)

Cash Flows From Investing Activities

Purchase of property and equipment (1,615) (438) (1,079)
Purchase of intangible assets (178) (126) —
Business acquisition, net of cash required — — (43)
Acquisition of majority ownership in PEC, net of cash — (580) —
Summit Energy investments (7,612) (344) —

Net cash.used in investing activities (9,405) (1,488) (1,122)
Cash Flows From Financing Activities

Repayments of line of credit (3,888) —
Repurchase of common stock (2,400) (14) (1,159)
Sale of common stock — — 288

Repurchase or cancellation of Series A convertible preferred stock (63) (83) —
Dividends paid on convertible preferred stock (30) (92) (181)
Reflection of Other convertible preferred stock — 113 10

Net cash used in settlement of employee stock option dispute 2 — —

Proceeds from exercises of stock options 27 15 27

Decrease (increase) in restricted cash and cash equivalents 14,057 (6,195} 14,968

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 7,705 (6,256) 13,953

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,928 {2,121) 13,144
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year . 41,114 43,042 40,921

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $43,042 $ 40,921 § 54,065

Cash paid for:
Interest $ 370 $ 18 g 4
Income taxes — 3,405 3,404

'. Net cash provided by operating activities 3,628 5,623 313

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
l (In thousands, except per share and per kWh amounts)
1

Nature of Business

Commerce Energy Group, Inc. (“Commerce Energy” or “Commerce”) is a diversified energy services company. Commerce Energy
provides retail electric power to its residential, commercial, industrial and institutional customers, provide consulting and technology services
to energy-related businesses and provide energy transaction date management services. Commerce Energy is a holding company that operates

ough its wholly-owned operating subsidiaries: Commonwealth Energy Corporation, doing business as electricAmerica (“Commonwealth
ergy” or “Commonwealth”), Skipping Stone Inc. (“Skipping Stone”), and UtiliHost, Inc. (*“UtiliHost™). As used in this Report, the term, the
Company refers to Commerce Energy Group and its wholly-owned subsidiaries.

i Commerce operates through its three wholly-owned subsidiaries: Commonwealth Energy, Skipping Stone and UtiliHost. Commonwealth

Energy provides electric power to its residential, commercial, industrial and institutional customers in the deregulated California, Pennsylvania,
ichigan and New Jersey electricity markets under the brand name efectricAmerica. Commonwealth is licensed by the Federal Energy

i‘egulatory'(iommission, or FERC, as a power marketer. In addition to the states in which Commonwealth currently operate, Commonwealth is
so licensed to supply retail electric power by applicable state agencies in New York, Maryland, Texas and Ohio. Skipping Stone, which the

Company acquired in April 2004, provides energy-related consulting services and technologies to utilities, generators, pipelines, wholesale
erchants, and investment banks (See Note 15). UtiliHost provides managed back office services and energy transaction data management
rvices to Commonwealth Energy.

ommonwealth reorganized into a holding company structure, whereby Commonwealth became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Commerce

nergy and the stockholders of Commonwealth became stockholders of Commerce. As a result of the reorganization, each share of
Commonwealth common stock was exchanged for one share of Commerce common stock, and Commonwealth stock options became
Iom.mercc stock options. (See Note 12).

l Commerce Energy Group’s predecessor, Commonwealth Energy, was formed in California in August 1997. On July 6, 2004,

Immediately prior to consummation of the reorganization, Commonwealth transferred ownership of the following four subsidiaries to
ommerce Energy: Skipping Stone Inc., electricAmerica, fnc., UtiliHost, Inc., and electric.com, Inc. As a result of the transfer, these entities
‘Fcame subsidiaries of Commerce Energy. Commonwealth also contributed its TACT (Trans-Action Control Technology) and TRIUMPH
otal Resource Internet Utility Management Power Host) proprietary software products that the Company has developed to provide
outsourced services Lo its retail customers and certain other assets related to outsourcing services to UtiliHost, a wholly-owned subsidiary of

'ommcrce Energy.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

' Buasis of Consolidation

tiliHost. All material intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. As of July 31, 2004, UtiliHost did not

m The Company’s consolidated financial statements include its three wholly-owned subsidiaries: Commonwealth, Skipping Stone and
ave separate financial statements or third party customers.

l In fiscal 2003, the Company’s consolidated financial statements inciuded the accounts of its controlled investment in Summit Energy
entures, LLC (“Summit™), and its majority ownership in Power Efficiency Corporation (“PEC”). In fiscal 2004, the Company terminated its
relationship with Summit and its investment in PEC decreased to 39.9%, therefore, neither entity was consolidated as of July 31, 2004. (See

'Iote 9.
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COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
(In thousands, except per share and per kWh amounts)

Use of Estimates and Assumptions

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
merica requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts and timing of revenue and expenses,
e reported amounts and classification of assets and liabihties, and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. These estimates and
sumptions are based on the Company’s historical experience as well as management’s future expectations. As a result, actual results could
ffer from management’s estimates and assumptions. The Company’s management believes that its most critical estimates herein relate to
independent system operator costs, allowance for doubtful accounts, unbilled receivables and loss contingencies, particularly those associated
ith litigation.

- -am e

Reclassifications

The Company has reclassified certain prior fiscal year amounts in the accompanying consolidated financial statements to be consistent
ith the current fiscal year’s presentation.

I Non-cash irems

In fiscal 2004, the Company recorded a non-cash provision for impairment of investments of 37,135 and a non-cash loss on termination of
lummit of $257. In the third quarter of fiscal 2004, the Company acquired Skipping Stone for the Company’s comrnon stock of $3,100 ina
on-cash transaction. In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, the Company issued 65 shares of common stock and 40 shares of other convertible
preferred stock on a non-cash settlement and in connection to the reorganization, all outstanding Commonwealth Energy Corporation Series A
nvertible preferred stock, other convertible preferred stock and common stock was converted one for one into the Company’s common stock
E) a non-cash transaction.

Revenue and Cost Recognition

Energy sales are recognized as the electric power is delivered to customers. Green power credits were recognized upon the fulfillment by
the Company of all related obligations.

Direct energy costs, which are recognized concurrent with related energy sales, include the aggregated cost of purchased electric power,
fees incurred from various energy-related service providers, and energy-related taxes that cannot be passed directly through to the customer.
dependent system operator (*1S0") fees are not determinable until the ISO completes a settlement process for each day’s activities. Pending
Efch settlements, the Company estimates and accrues for these 1SO fees based on activity levels, preliminary settlements and other related
ormation.

I The Company’s net revenue is comprised of the following:

Fiscal Year Ended July 31,

2002 2003 2004
Retail energy sales $ 96,960 $153,430 $205,028
Excess energy sales 18,757 6,496 5,595
Green power credits 2,051 5,600 —
Net revenue $117,768 $165,526 $210,623

Skipping Stone revenue for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2004 was $803, representing less than 1% of total net revenue.

F-7
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

I COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC,
l (In thousands, except per share and per kWh amounts)

Green power credits represented regular green power credit payments in fiscal 2002 and the recovery from the reinstatement by the State
California Public Purpose Program in fiscal 2003, to provide incentives to suppliers of renewable power to reduce the cost of such power to
rtain customers. This green power credit program was discontinued after March 2003,

Major Customers

l No individual customer accounted for ten percent or more of the Company’s consolidated net revenue in fiscal 2002, 2003, or 2004,
' Operating Expenses

Selling and marketing expenses principally consist of costs incurred for sales and marketing personnel and promotional and advertising
tivities. Advertising costs are expensed as incurred and were $129, $92 and $326 for fiscal 2002, 2003 and 2004, respectively.

General and administrative expenses principally consist of costs incurred for all other corporate personnel, rent, utilities,
lecommunications, insurance, legal fees, and other corporate costs, including provisions made for uncollectible accounts receivable, the
preciation and amortization of tangible and intangible assets and stock-based compensation (see below for details regarding stock-based

compensation charges). General and administrative expenses for fiscal 2004 also contain approximately $1,920 of severance costs to former
'\ecutive officers of the Company.

In fiscal 2004, the Company decided to reclassify certain expenses related to the reorganization of the Company into a Delaware holding
company structure and initial public listing of Commerce’s common stock on the American Stock Exchange (“reorganization and initial public
'sting expenses”) o a separately identified category within selling, general and administrative expense category. Also, the Company has
:classified certain non-operating litigation expenses related to capital-raising initiatives of prior management during the initial formation of the
company (“initial formation expenses™) from general and administrative expenses to other income and expenses.

l Earnings (Loss) Per Common Share

Earnings (loss} per common share — Basic has been computed by dividing net income (loss) available to common stockholders, after any
l:efcrred stock dividends, by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the fiscal year. Earnings (loss) per common
are — Diluted has been computed by giving additional effect in the denominator to the dilution that would have occurred, under the treasury
stock and if-converted methods, as applicable, had outstanding stock options, stock purchase warrants and convertible debt been exercised or
nverted into additional common shares, For the fiscal year ended July 31, 2004, assumed exercises or conversions have been excluded in
mputing the diluted eamings (loss) per share since there were net losses for the fiscal year and their inclusion would be anti-dilutive,

Stock-Based Compensation

As allowed by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (*SFAS”) No. 123 (“SFAS No. 123"), “Accounting for Stock-Based
ompensation”, the Company has elected to retain the compensation measurement principles of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25,
iAccounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (“APB No. 25”), and its related interpretations for stock options issued to employees and outside
irectors. Under APB No. 25, compensation cost is recognized at the measurement date for the amount, if any, that the fair value of the
Company's common stock exceeds the option exercise price, The measurement date is the date at which both the number of eptions and the
lxercise price for cach option are known, The Company
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COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC,

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
I (In thousands, except per share and per kWh amounts)

recognized stock-based compensation credits of $743 in fiscal 2002, no stock-based compensation in fiscal 2003 and stock-based compensation
'JSIS of $636 in fiscal 2004,

In December 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB™) amended the transition and disclosure requirements of
AS No. 123 through the issuance of SFAS No. 148 (“SFAS No. 148”), “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and
isclosure”. SFAS No. 148 amends the existing disclosures to make more frequent and prominent disclosure of stock-based compensation
pense beginning with financial statements for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2002, The Company has adopted the disclosure

provisions of SFAS No. 148.

If the Company had accounted for its stock-based employee and outside directors compensation under the minimum fair value recognition
and measurement principles of SFAS No. 123, the Company’s reported net income amounts would have been adjusted to the pro forma net

come amounts presented below:
' Fiscal Year Ended July 31,
2002 2003 2004
l Net income (loss) as reported $5,164 $5,422 $(21,720)
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense included in net income
(loss), net of related tax effects (445) — 636
I Deduct: Total stock-based compensation expense determined under fair
value based method for all awards, net of related tax effects (382) (382) (1,222)
Pro forma net income (loss) $4,337 $5,040 $(22,306)
Earnings (loss) per share:
I Basic — as reported 3019 $ 019 3 0.7
Basic — pro forma $ 0.16 $0.18 § (0.79)
l Diluted — as reported $ 0.16 $ 0.18 5 0.77)
Diluted — pro forma $ 0.14 3 0.17 3 (0.79)

The fair value of each option grant was estimated on the date of grant using the minimum vaiue method with the following weighted
average assumptions:

Fiscal Year Ended July 31,

2002 2003 2004

|: Weighted-average risk-free interest rate 6.0% 4.0% 4.9%
Average expected life in years 4.1 4.7 6.0
l Expected dividends None None None

The Company dees not include volatility as there was not an active market for the Company’s stock until July 8, 2004, on which date, the
Company’s common stock was listed on the American Stock Exchange under the symbol “EGR.” The estimated fair values for stock options
lranted during fiscal 2002, 2003 and 2004 were $1.86, $1.86 and $1.92, respectively.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents consist primarily of investments in highly rated and insured liquid debt instruments with interest reset dates of three
months or less. The Company maintains its cash and cash equivalents with highly rated financial institutions, thereby minimizing any

ssociated credit risks.
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. COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
. (In thousands, except per share and per kWh amounts)

Accounts Receivable

The Company’s accounts receivable consist of billed and unbilled receivables from customers. The Company’s customers are billed
menthly at various dates throughout the month. Unbilled receivables represent the amount of electric power delivered to custorners as of the
end of the period, but not yet billed. Unbilled receivables from sales are estimated by the Company to be the number of kilowatt-hours (“kWh™)

elivered but not yet billed, multiplied by the current customer average sales price per kWh.

Credit Risk and Allowance for Doubtful Accounis

' The Company’s exposure to credit risk concentration is limited to those local utilities that collect and remit receivables, on a daily basis,
from the Company’s individually insignificant and geographically dispersed customers within the states of California, Pennsylvania, Michigan
nd New Jersey. The Company regularly monitors the financial condition of each such local utility and currently believes that its susceptibility
I) any individually significant write-offs as a result of concentrations of customer accounts receivable with those local utilities is remote.

The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts, which represents management's best estimate of probable losses inherent in
l]e accounts receivable balance. Management determines the allowance based on known troubled accounts, historical experience, account
ging and other currently available evidence (see Note 7).

I Deferred Income Taxes

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected future income tax benefits or consequences, based on enacted
ws, of temporary timing differences between tax and financial statement reporting. During the current fiscal year, the Company established a
aluation allowance to reserve its net deferred tax assets, less possible tax refunds, because management believes it is not certain that the
ompany will realize the tax benefits in the foreseeable future.

Restricted Cash, Cash Equivalents and Energy Deposits

Cash and cash equivalents which the Company currently cannot access, as they are pledged as collateral for electricity commodity
lurchase obligations, are reported as restricted, The Company also has energy deposits pledged as collateral for electricity commodity purchase
bligations.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Maintenance and repairs which do not extend the useful life of the related property or
quipment are charged to operations as incurred. Depreciation of property and equipment has been computed using the straight-line method
ver estimated economic useful lives of five to ten years.

evelopment costs incurred during the application development stage, are capitalized. These capitalized costs, once placed in service, are

' Certain software development costs incurred on significant projects for internal use, primarily consisting of third-party system
amortized using the straight-line method over estimated economic useful lives of three to five years.

F-10
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
(In thousands, except per share and per KWh amounts)

Goodwill

! Goodwill represents the excess of the acquisition cost over the net assets acquired from Skipping Stone at the end of fiscal 2004 and was
587. The goodwill associated with Summit's majority ownership in PEC was recorded as goodwill of $3,007 at the end of fiscal 2003 and
ione at the end of fiscal 2004,

In accordance with SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”, goodwill is no longer amortized, but is subject to periodic
impairment tests. For the goodwill related to the Skipping Stone acquisition, the Company retained an independent outside firm to value the
tangible assets associated with Skipping Stone, and the resulting goodwill will be assessed for impairment on an annual basis on the
niversary of the acquisition date, April 1. Goodwill related to PEC was assessed for impairment on a quarterly basis, with the resulting
reductions charged to expense in results of operations.

Intangible Assels

lephone number, rights to interet domain names, a covenant not to compete and in fiscal 2004, Skipping Stone’s customer list, software.and
ebsite resulting from its acquisition. Each intangible asset is being or has been amortized over the shorter of its contractual or estimated
economic useful life, which collectively range from two to 20 years. At July 31, 2004, the gross carrying amount of intangible assets was
,023, with accumutated amortization totaling $771. Aggregate amortization expense for these intangible assets was $53, 3238 and $376 for
scal 2002, 2003 and 2004, respectively.

’ Direct costs incurred in acquiring intangible assets have been capitalized. Intangible assets represent the Company’s 1-800-Electric

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Management evaluates each of the Company’s long-lived assets for impairment by comparing the related estimated future cash flows, on
undiscounted basis, to its net book value. If impairment is indicated, the net book value is reduced to an amount equal to the estimated future
Fsh flows, on an appropriately discounted basis.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company’s financial instruments consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, and accounts payable. The
carrying amounts of these financial instruments are reflected in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets at amounts considered by
'lanagement to approximate their fair values due to their short-term nature.

Segment Reporting

The Company’s chief operating decision makers consist of members of senior management that work together to allocate resources to, and
assess the performance of, the Company’s business. These members of senior management currentty manage the Company’s business, assesses
its performance, and allocates its resources as a single operating segment. Although, we acquired Skipping Stone in fiscal 2004, Skipping Stone

venue accounts for less than 1% of total net revenue, and geographic information is not material.

Normal Purchases and Sales Accounting

I In fiscal 2004, the Company purchased substantially all of its power under long-term forward physical delivery contracts for supply to its
retail electricity customers under long—term and full requirements sales contracts. The Company applied the normal purchase, normal sale
ccounting treatment to its forward purchase supply contracts and its customer sales contracts. Accordingly, the Company recorded revenue
'enerated from its sales contracts as energy is delivered to its retail customers, and direct energy costs are

F-11
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COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
{(In thousands, except per share and per kWh amounts)

recorded when the energy under its long-term forward physical delivery contracts is delivered. During fiscal 2004, the Company also used
ancial hedging, or derivative instruments, to hedge its commodity risks to a limited degree. At July 31, 2004, the Company had no positions
derivative instruments.

-

Recent Accounting Standards

In October 2004, the FASB concluded that SFAS No. 123R, “Share-Based Payment”, which would require all companies to measure
compensation cost for all share-based payments {including employee stock options) at fair value, would be effective for public companies
xcept.small business issuer as defined in SEC Regulation S-B) for interim or annual periods beginning after June 15, 2005. The Company
ill adopt SFAS No. 123R on July 1, 2005 and does not believe the adoption will have a material impact on its consolidated financial
atements,

—+

5

l Market and Regulatory
California

The 1996 California Assembly Bill (“AB”) 1890 codified the restructuring of the California electric industry and provided for the right of
direct access (“IDXA”). DA allowed electricity customers to buy their power from a supplier other than the electric distribution utilities beginning
inuary 1, 1998. On April 1, 1998, the Company began supplying customers in California with electricity as an Electric Service Provider

ESP™),

The California Public Utility Commission (“CPUC”} issued a ruling on September 20, 2001 suspending direct access. The suspension
rmitted the Company to keep current customers and to solicit DA customers served by other providers, but prohibited the Company from:
soliciting new non-DA customers for an indefinite period of time.

l In July 2002, the CPUC authorized Southern California Edison (“SCE”) to implement a Historical Procurement Charge (“HPC”), to repay

ebt:incurred during the energy crisis. This amount is currently being collected by SCE as a $0.G1 per kilowatt-hour (“kWh) surcharge. on the

retail electricity bill paid by the Company's customers. SCE estimates that full payment could be achieved as scon as early 2006. While HPC

Ees not directly impact the Company’s rate design or revenue, it may affect the Company’s ability to retain existing customers or compete for
W Customers.

Senate Bill 1078, signed by the governor on September 12, 2002, established a Renewable Portfolio Standard program that requires retail
llers of electricity to increase the renewable energy content of their electricity deliveries, from sources such as small hydro, biomass,
geothermal resources, and municipal solid waste conversion technologies. Retail sellers must meet a target of 20 percent renewable content in
their electricity portfolio by December 31, 2017. Diue to the slow ramp-up of this program, additional costs to the Company are not expected to
e significant in the near future.

Effective January 1, 2003, the CPUC authorized the electric distribution utilities to charge certain DA customers a surcharge to cover state
ower contract costs. The Direct Access Customer Responsibility Surcharge (“DA CRS”) is currently fixed at $0.027 per kWh. DA CRS is
nly assessed to those DA customers who enrolled in DA on or after February 1, 2001. In the SCE service territory, the 30.027 DA CRS

includes the $0.01 HPC. Those customers enrolled in DA prior to February 1, 2001, in the SCE service territory continue to pay only the $0.01
PC. While this charge does not directly impact the Company’s rate design or revenue, it may affect the Company’s ability to retain existing
stomers or compete for new customers.
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COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
' {In thousands, except per share and per kWh amounts)

In December 2003, Pacific Gas and Electric (“PG&E”) and the CPUC reached a settiement in the PG&E bankruptcy. In February 2004,
e CPUC approved a rate settlement agreement, which reduced overall customer rates in the PG&E service territory. DA bills have generally
clined in the PG&E service territory and the lower rates have affected the Company’s revenue and profitability.

Currently, four important issues are under review at the CPUC, a Resource Adequacy Requirement, a Renewable Portfolio Standard,

lti]ities Long Term Procurement Plans and the General Rate Cases of the electric distribution utilities. Additional costs to serve customers in
alifornia are anticipated from these proceedings, however, the CPUC decisions will determine the distribution of those costs across all load

serving entities and ultimately the Company’s financial impact.

l In September 2004, AB 2006, which would have impacted DA, was vetoed by the govemnor. There are no economic impacts to the
Company’s financial results as a result of that veto.

Pennsylvania
ong competitive power suppliers beginning with cone third of the State’s consumers by January 1999, two thirds by January 2000, and all

nsumers by January 2001. We began serving customers in the Pennsylvania territory in 1999. There are no current rate cases or filings
regarding this territory that are anticipated to impact the Company’s financial results.

lm In 1996, the Electricity Generation Customer Choice and Competition Act was passed. The law allowed electric customers to choose
]

Michigan

The Michigan state legislature passed two acts, the Customer Choice Act and Electricity Reliability Act, signed into law on June 3, 2000.
pen access, er Choice, became available to all customers of Michigan electric distribution utilities, beginning January 1, 2002. We began
marketing in Michigan’s Detroit Edison (“*DTE”) service territory in September 2002.

In February 2004, the Michigan Public Service Commission (“MPSC"”) issued an interim order granting partial but immediate rate relief to
DTE, the Company’s primary electric distribution utility market in Michigan. The order significantly reduced the savings of commercial
ustomers who choose an alternative electric supplier, such as us. These changes have adversely affected the Company’s ability to retain some
‘f the Company’s existing customers and obtain new customers, primarily among larger commercial customers.

The Michigan Senate has energy restructuring language before it in various bills, supported by the electric distribution utilities, which
.ould negatively impact competition in the Michigan electric market. The proposed changes to the Choice market in Michigan would place
dditional costs and burdens on competitive electricity suppliers, diminish incentives for customers to switch from the electric distribution
utilities, and mandate transition charges for Choice customers. If these bills pass as currently drafted, they may impact the Company’s costs
lnd prospects in.the Michigan market.

New Jersey

- Deregulation activities began in New Jersey in November 1999 when the Board of Public Utilities, or BPU, approved the implementation
lan. We began marketing in New Jersey in the Public Service Electric and Gas service territory in December 2003.

The Basic Generation Service is the comparable utility price for small and large commercial accounts and includes a reconciliation charge
hich can change on a monthly basis. Reconciliation charge fluctuations can affect the Company’s ability to remain competitive against the
comparable utility pricing.
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Interest Income, Net

Interest income, net, is comprised of the following:

Fiscal Year Ended July 31,

2002 2003 2004
Interest income $1,309 3733 554
Interest expense (370) (18) (3)
Interest income, net $ 939 $715 $549
[ ]

Income Taxes

The provision for {(benefit from) income taxes consist of the following:

Fiscal Year Ended July 31,

2002 2003 2004
Current income taxes:
Federal $(1,768) $2,900 $(3,623)
State 583 829 95
" Total (1,185) 3,729 (3,528)
Deferred income taxes:
Federal $ 4,610 $1,155 ¥ 1,888
State 700 229 623
Total 5,310 1,384 2,511
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes §4125 $5,113 $(1,017)
[

A reconciliation of the federal statutory income tax rates to the Company’s effective income tax rates follows:

Fiscal Year Ended July 31,

2002 2003 2004
Federal statutory income tax rate 35.0% 35.0% (35.0)%
State income taxes, net of federal benefit 9.0 6.4 2.1
Increase (decrease) in valuation allowance — (1.7) 244
Permanent item — offering costs — — 5.8
Expiration of stock options — 8.3 —
Other 0.4 0.5 (1.8)
Effective income tax rate 44.4% 48.5% {4.5)%

S R Ay ) N 0 UE aN S Y B oSE BN S S e o
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Deferred income taxes were as follows:

July 31,

2003 2004

Deferred income tax assets:

l Stock options § 521 3 677
Reserves and accruals 2,371 938
Net operating loss caityforwards 843 1,368
Allowance for doubtful accounts 620 1,436
Capital losses — 4,291
Unrealized losses — 424
l Investment in Summit 158 —
Total deferred income tax assets 4,513 9,134
' Less valuation allowance (843) (6,691)
Total deferred income tax assets, net 3,670 2,443
Deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciation and amortization (867) (596)
State income taxes (218) (664)
Acquired intangibles — Skipping Stone — (1,109)
l Total deferred income tax liabilities (1,085) (2,369)
Net deferred income tax asset § 2,585 $ 74
l [ <20 v oo o ]

erating loss carryforward, the use of which became limited as described below. During fiscal 2003, the valuation allowance decreased by

!P During fiscal 2002, the valuation allowance decreased by $23 which reflected the uncertainty of the deferred tax asset related to the net
155 and reflected the utilization of net operating loss carryforwards for federal income tax purposes.

l During the current fiscal year, the Company established a valuation allowance to reserve its deferred tax assets, less possible tax refunds,
ecause management believes it is not certain that the Company will realize the tax benefits in the foreseeable future. The effective increase in
the valuation allowance for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2004 was $5,848.

l At July 31, 2004, the.Company had net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $1,818 and 37,396 for federal and state income- tax
purposes, respectively, that begin to expire in years 2018 and 2008, respectively. Of these losses, $1,562 of the federal net operating loss
arryforwards is subject to an annual limitation due to the change of ownership provision of the Tax Reform Act of 1986. As a result of this
nnual limitation, a portion of these carryforwards may expire before ultimately becoring available to reduce future income tax liabilities.
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Earnings (Loss) Per Common Share

Eamings (loss) per common share have been computed as follows:

Numerator:
Net income {loss)
Less: Preferred stock dividends

Income (los$) applicable to common stock — Basic
Income impact from assumed conversion of preferred stock

Net income (loss) — Diluted

Denominator:
Weighted-average outstanding common shares — Basic
Incremental common shares from assumed conversions:
Stock-options
Series A convertible preferred stock
Other convertible preferred stock

Adjusted weighted-average common shares — Diluted

Fiscal Year Ended July 31,

2002 2003 2004
§ 5164 $ 5422  $(21,720)
{(70) (97) —
5,094 5,325 (21,720)
70 a7 —
$ 5164 § 5422 $(21,720)
27,482 27,424 28,338
3,258 1,499 —
796 609 —
— 704 —
31,536 30,236 28,338

For fiscal 2002, 2003 and 2004, 6,943, 6,860 and 9,779 commeon shares attributable to outstanding stock options and warrants were
excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per share because the effect of their inclusion would be anti-dilutive. For fiscal 2004,

ssumed in-the-money stock option exercises have been excluded in computing the diluted loss per share as there was a net loss, Their
clusion would reduce the loss per share and be anti-ditutive. If the assumed exercises had been used, fully diluted shares outstanding for
scal 2004 would have been 28,469.

Accounts Receivable, Net

Accounts receivable, net, is comprised of the following:

Billed
Unbilled
Green power credits

Less allowance for doubtful accounts

Accounts receivable, net

July 31,
2003 2004
522,244 $21,777
12,998 12,535
5,600 —
40,842 34,312
(2,981)  (3,193)

337,861

331,119
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' (In thousands, except per share and per KWh amounts)

The following schedules set forth the activity in the Company’s allowance for doubtful accounts for the reported periods:

Fiscal Year Ended July 31,

2002 2003 2004

Balance, beginning of year $ 3,946 $£2,538 §2981

Provisions charged to operations 2,313 1,709 2,589
Write-offs (3,721) (1,266)  (2,377)

Balance, end of year $ 2,538 $ 2,981 $ 3,193

l_ In fiscal 2004, the Company collected $2,234 in past due accounts receivable in the settlement of the PG&E bankruptey claim that was
recorded in net revenue as received. The Company’s fiscal 2002 and 2003 allowance for doubtful accounts includes 31,604 to fully reserve for
iithheld customer remittances due from PG&E which filed for bankruptcy protection in April 2001.

The Company has granted a security interest in its Michigan accounts receivable as sccurity for payment of energy purchases from an
affiliate of the local utility.

Restricted Cash, Cash Equivalents and Energy Deposits

The Company has cash, cash equivalents and deposits related to outstanding letters of credit or cash deposited as collateral to secure
rformance under energy purchase contracts as follows:

July 31

l 2003 2004

Short-term: investments pledged as collateral for letters of credit in

l connection with agreements for the purchase of electric power $11,687 $4,008
Short-term investments pledged as collateral for an appeals bond in
connection with a litigation award 4,107 —
l Cash and cash equivalents of Summit 4,579 —
Total restricted cash and cash equivalents 20,773 4,008
l Energy deposits pledged as collateral in connection with agreements for the
purchase of electric power 4,051 5,085
Total restricted cash, cash equivalents and energy deposits $24,824 39,093
l R [ i d
The Company had $15,471 and $3,745 in outstanding letters of credit at July 31, 2003 and 2004, respectively.
! Investments

! In July 2001, the Company initially formed Summit as a vehicle through which it could invest in companies that manufacture or market
nergy efficiency products. The Company’s initial (and only) investment was a $15,000 capital contribution in Summit.

Through April 30, 2004, Summit had investments in three energy related companies. Summit accounted for its investment in Encorp, Inc
‘Encorp”) (former investee Envenergy, Inc. was acquired by Encorp) and Turbocor B.V. (“Turbocor”) under the cost method of accounting,
and it’s investment in PEC (ticker symbol: PEFF) of 75.8% was consolidated in the Company’s consolidated financial statements,
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On April 30, 2004, the Company reached an agreement with its investment manager, Northwest Power Management (“NPM") to terminate
g Summit relationship. As a result of the transaction, the Company no longer retains an equity interest or contractual relationship with
mmit, and the Company retains and directly owns the investments in the three portfolio companies previously held by Summit. Under the
rms of the termination agreement, the Company retains the entire interest in Encorp and Turbocor previously held by Summit, and retains a
portion of the interest in PEC that was previously held by Summit and not distributed to NPM in the settlement. The Company no longer
nsolidates the financial results of PEC in its financial reports due to a reduction in its ownership percentage, from 75.8% to 39.9%, as part of
e agreement. The table below displays the activity in these investment accounts for fiscal 2004.

) Direct
l Provision for Investment OwnI:rship
Investment Cupital Impairment Basis at Percentage
Basis at July 31, Contribution/ and July 31, at July 31,
Invesice 2003 {Losses) Distribution 2004 2004
lx}corp ' $2,030 5 — $(1,934) 5 9% 2.3%
rbocor 3,332 800 (4,132) — 9.3%
Subtotal 5,362 800 (6,066) 96
EC 2,752 (1,324) (1,428) — 39.9%
Total investments $8,114 5 (524) $(7,494) $ 96
finsren oy s e T =z

The three investments are all early stage entities incurring operating losses, which are expected to continue, at least in the near term. They
tch have very limited working capital and as a result, continuing operations will be dependent upon their securing additiona! financing to meet
eir immediate capital needs. The Company has no obligation, and currently no intention of investing additional funds into these companies.

In fiscal 2004, to reflect the impairment of these investments, the Company recorded provisions for impairment of $7,135 to reflect its
rcentage ownership in the net equity of each of these companies and a loss of $1,904 to reflect the settlement of the termination of Summit.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
(In thousands, except per share and per kWh amounts)

ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents
Prepaid expenses
Inventory
Investments
Property and equipment, net
Goodwill
Other assets

Total assets

LIABILITIES:

Accounis payable and accrued liabilities
Notes payable — short-term

Total liabilities
Minority Interest
Owners’ Equity

Liabilities and Owners’ Equity

July 31,
2003

3 4,979
403

407
5,362
95
3,007
186

$14,439

S 665
431

1,096
603
12,740
$14,439

i B kel

The condensed balance sheet information for Summit, which was consolidated int the Company’s financial statements at July 31, 2003,.is

Summit, since its inception in fiscal 2001, had been consolidated into the Company’s financial statements as the Company exercises, or
ad the ability to exercise legal, financial and operational control. The effects of Summit’s results of operations on the Company’s consolidated
sults of operations were net losses of $803, $1,472 and $1,304 for fiscal 2002, 2003 and 2004, respectively. Due to the Summit termination;
the Company no.longer consolidates Summit in its operating results,

1ttp:// ir.10kwizard.com/filing. php ?repo=tenk&ipage=3094561&num=&doc=1&source=900&print=1&att...

0.  Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment, net, is comprised of the following;:

Information technology equipment and systems
Office furniture and equipment

Renewable energy assets

Leasehold improvements

Less: accurmulated depreciation and amortization

Property and equipment, net

July 31,

2003 2604

$ 5,848 57,131

1,667 1,468
76 499
144 257

7,735 9,355

(4,751) (6,742)

3 2,984 $ 2,613

Included in fiscal 2004 is Skipping Stone property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation, totaling- §138.

3/17/2005



C Filings : Print View Page 93 0of 196
F-19

|
I
!
1
I
i
!
I
I
!
I
I
1
!
!
|
1
!

lttp://ir. 10kwizard.com/filing.php?repo=tenk&ipage=3094561&num==&doc=1&source=900&print=1&att... 3/17/2005



C Filings : Print View Page 94 of 196
ble of Contents

COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
(In thousands, except per share and per kWh amounts)

Accrued Liabilities

Current accrued liabilities are comprised of the following:

g G W BN b -
Lol -

July 31,
2003 2004

Litigation damages payable $2,738 3 763

Energy taxes payable 1,330 1,688

Accrued energy payable 618 580

Accrued payroll and benefits 786 691

Accrued bonuses 495 —

Accrued legal expenses 318 919

' Notes payable 431 —
Other 411 1,500

| Total accrued liabilities §7,127 $6,141
f o2z canaa [ covrisriiis |

IZ Stockholders® Equity
Series A Convertible Pieferred Stock

l In July 2004, the Company declared and paid cash dividends at the rate of 10% per annum through July 6, 2004. A total of $108, or
$0.18 per share, was paid. After dividends were paid, all 609 shares of Series A convertible preferred stock were converted on a one for one
asis to Comnerce common stock as previously elected.

Other Convertible Preferred Stock

l In July 2004, the Company declared and paid cash dividends at the rate of 12% to 14% per annum through July 6, 2004. A total of $74, or
$0.19 per-share, was paid. After dividends were paid, all 392 shares of Other convertible preferred stock were converted on a two for one basis
':1 Commerce common stock as previously elected.

Restricted Stock

l In April 2004, pursuant to the terms of an employment agreement, the Company granted 150 shares of restricted common stock to its' Chief
inancial Officer which vests equally over the first three anniversary dates of employment, beginning April 1, 2005, The Company recorded
$288:of deferred stock-based compensation as a result of the restricted steck grant. Total compensation cost recognized through fiscal year

-'nded\July 31, 2004 for this stock-based emplovee compensation award was $32.
Common Stock

All sales of Commonwealth’s common stock were made through private placements prior to July 6, 2004. On July 6, 2004,
Commonwealth reorganized into a holding company structure, whereby Commonwealth became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Commerce
nergy and the stockholders of Commonwealth became stockholders of Commerce. As a result of the reorganization, (a) each issued and

iutstanding share of common stock of Commonwealth was exchanged, subject to exercise of dissenters’ rights by the Commonwealth’s
tockholders, for a share of Common Stock, par value $0.001 per share, of Commerce Energy (“Commerce Common Stock™) and a right to
purchase (each, a “Right”) one one-hundredth of a share of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 per share, of

rommerce (“Junior Participat-
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ing Preferred”) and (b) Commerce assumed the Commonwealth’s 1999 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan™), all outstanding obligations to issue
mmon stock under the Plan and all outstanding stock options issued outside the Plan. The stockholders of Commerce hold the same relative
rcentage of Commerce common stock as they owned of Commonwealth common stock immediately prior to the recrganization, subject to
e exercise of dissenters rights.

l In July 2004, as part of the reorganization, the Company repurchased 604 shares of common stock for $1,159 from former stockholders of
ommonwealth, under the exercise of California law dissenter’s rights.

l Prior to July 8, 2004, there was no established public trading market for any class of Commerce Energy’s or Commonwealth’s equity
curities, On July 8, 2004, Commerce’s common stock began trading on the American Stock Exchange under the symbol “EGR.”

l At July 31, 2004, the Company has reserved 10,307 shares of its common stock for potential exercise of outstanding stock options.
Commerce Rights Plan

The Board of Directors of Commerce has approved the adoption of a preferred share purchase rights plan dated July 1, 2004. Each right
entitles the registered holder to purchase from the Company one one-hundredth of a share of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock, par
lue $0.001 per share, at a price of $20 per one one-hundredth of a preferred share, subject to adjustment. The description:and terms of the
iécxhts:are set forth in a rights agreement entered into between the Company and Computershare Trust Company, as rights agent, dated July 1,

04 (the “Rights Agreement™). Until a right is exercised, the holder thereof, as such, will have no rights as a stockholder of the Company by
virtue of such right, including, without limitation, the right to vote or to receive dividends.

l Each one one-hundredth of a share of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock has designations and powers, preferences and rights,
and the qualifications, limitations and restrictions which make its value approximately equal to the value of one share of Common Stock. The
eries. A Junior Participating Preferred Stock purchasable upon exercise of the rights will not be redeemable. The Series A Junior Participating
"refefred Stock rank junior to any other series of the Company’s preferred stock. Each share of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock
ill be entitled to a minimum preferential quarterly dividend payment of $1.00, but will be entitled to an aggregate dividend of 100 times the
dividend declared per share of Common Stock. In the event of liquidation, the holders of the Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock
ould be entitled to a minimum preferential liquidation payment of $20 per share (plus an amount equal to accrued but unpaid dividends), but
!ou[d be entitled to receive an aggregate payment equal to 100 times the payment made per share of Common Stock. Each share of Series. A
Junior. Participating Preferred Stock will have 100 votes, voting together with the Common Stock. These rights are protected by customary
anti-dilution provisions.

The rights will expire on July 1, 2014, unless they are earlier redeemed or exchanged by the Company, in each case, as described below.
The exercise of rights for Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock is at all times subject to the availability of a sufficient number of
ithorized but unissued Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock. The rights are not exercisable until the distribution date, which will

ccur on the carlier of:

(i) the date of a public announcement that a person, entity or group of affiliated or associated persons have acquired beneficial
ownership of 15% or more of the outstanding Commen Stock afier the effective date of the reorganization, subject to certain exceptions set
forth in the rights agreement; or

' (i1) 10 business days (or such later date as may be determined by action of the Board of Directors prior to such time as any person or
entity becomes the beneficial owner of 15% or more of the outstanding
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Common Stock) following the commencement of, or announcement of an intention to commence, a tender offer or exchange offer, the
consummation of which would result in.any person or entity becoming the beneficial owner of 15% or more of the outstanding Common
Stock.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, none of the provisions of the Rights Agreement will be triggered by Ian B. Carter’s beneficial
ership of the Company’s securities unless such ownership exceeds 30% of the outstanding Common Stock.

?

Until the distribution date, or earlier redemption orexpiration of the rights, (i) the rights will be evidenced by the stock certificates
presenting the Commen Stock, (ii) no separate right certificates will be distributed and (iii) the rights will be transferable with and only with
e Common Stock, (iv) Common Stock certificates will contain a notation incorporating the rights agreement by reference and (v) the
surrender or transfer of any certificates for Common Stock, even without such notation or a copy of the summary of rights being attached
gereto, will also constitute the transfer of the rights associated with the common stock represented by such certificate. As soon as practicable
‘110wing the distribution date, separate certificates evidencing the rights will be mailed to holders of record of the Common Stock as of the
ose of business on the distribution date and such separate right certificates alone will evidence the rights.

The purchase price payable, and the number of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock or other securities or other property issuable
on exercise of the:rights are subject to adjustment from time to time to prevent dilution. With certain exceptions, no adjustment in the
purchase price will be required until cumulative adjustments require an.adjustment of at least 1% in such purchase price. No fractional shares
ljll be issued-and in lieu thereof, an adjustment in cash will be made based on the market price of the shares on the last trading day prior to the
te of exercise.

In the event that any person or group of affiliated or associated persons becomes the beneficial owner of 15% or more of the outstanding
lommon Stock, proper provision shall be made so that each holder of a right, other than rights beneficially owned by such acquiring person
hd its associates and affiliates (which will thereafter be void), will for a 60-day period (or such longer period as necessary to register the
Company’s securities) have the right to receive upon exercise that number of shares of Common Stock having a market value equal to two
Jhimes the exercise price of the right (or, if such number of shares are not and cannot be authorized, the Company may issue cash, debt, other
!Zurit_ies or a combination thereof in exchange for the rights),

earning power are sold, proper provision will be made so that each holder of a right will thereafter have the right to receive, upon the
ercise thereof at the then current exercise price-of the right, that number of shares of commen stock of the acquiring company which at the
time of such transaction have a market value equal to two times the exercise price of the right.

! In the event that the-Company 1s acquired in a merger or other business combination transaction or 50% or more of its consolidated assets
lz pany q g

l At any time after a person or a group of affiliated or associated persons becomes the beneficial owner of 15% or more of the outstanding

Common Stock and prior to the acquisition by such person or a group of affiliated or associated persons of 50% or more of the outstanding
ommon Stock, the Board of Directors of the Company may exchange the nghts (other than rights owned by such person or a group of

‘fﬁhated or associated persons which shall have become vmd), in whole or in part, at an exchange ratic of one share of Common Stock per
ght {or, at the election of the Company, the Company may issue cash, debt, stock or a combination thereof in exchange for the Rights),

subject to adjustment. Finally, in the event of any merger, consolidation or other transaction in which Common Stock is exchanged, each share
Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock will be entitled to receive 100 times the amount of consideration received per share of
ommon. Stock.
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At any time prior to the earliest of (1) the day that a person or a group of affiliated or associated persons has become the beneficial owner
4 15% or more of the outstanding Common Stock, or (i) July 1, 2014, the Board of Directors of the Company may redeem the rights.in whole,
Bt not in part, at a price of $0.001 per right. Immediately upon any redemption of the rights, the right to exercise the rights will terminate and
e only right of the holders of rights will be to receive the redemption price.

The terms of the Rights may be amended by the Board of Directors of the Company without the consent of the holders of the rights, except
at from and after such time as the rights are distributed no such amendment may adversely affect the interest of the holders of'the rights,
excluding the interests of an acquiring person.

l -Commonwealth Rights Plan

In January 2002, Commonwealth adopted a Shareholder Rights Plan (the “Commonwealth Rights Plan™). In connection with the
organization, all of the rights under the Commonwealth Rights Plan were acquired by Commerce Energy.

Stock Options and Warrants

Stock options granted after December 1999 will expire in December 2004 through 2010. As of July 31, 2004, 10,307 stock options
mained unexercised and outstanding,.

The Company’s 1999 Equity Incentive Plan (“Plan™), which was approved by the Company’s stockholders, provides for the granting.of up
to an aggregate of 7,000 commeon shares, In addition, the Company’s Board of Directors has from time to time made individual grants of
arrants or options outside the Plan. At July 31, 2004, the Company had 5,587 and 4,620 stock options unexercised and outstanding that were
anted under and outside the Plan, respectively.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

' (In thousands, except per share and per kWh amounts)
Stock option activity is set forth below:
l Optiens Outstanding
Weighted-
Average
) Weighted- Fair Value
l Number of Exercise Price Average of Common:
Shares Per Share Exercise Price Stock
alance at July 31, 2001 10,283 $0.01 - 3375 $1.79
.JPptions granted;
Other employees(1) 5 1.00 - 3.75 222 $3.13
Employee performance-based(2) 300 2.50 2.50 $2.38
tptlons exercised (52) 0.01 - 1.00 0.50
ptions cancelled (46} 0.05 - 3.75 1.04
alance at July 31, 2002 10,490 0.01 - 375 1.82
ptions granted:
: Employee performance-based 300 2.50 2.50 $2.50
Other employees(2) 325 1.86 - 3.05 1.93 51.86
ptions exercised (482) 0.01 - 1.00 0.03
ptions cancelled , (403) 2.50 - 2,75 2.50
Options expired (2,541) 0.01 -~ 1.00 0.22
talance at July 31, 2003 7,689 0.25 - 3.75 2.55
ptions granted:
Other(3) 3,981 0.05 - 3.75 1.86 $i.94
; ptions exercised (102) 0.05 - 2.75 0.26
ptions cancelled (899) 2,75 275
ptions expired (362) 1.00 - 3.75 2.81
alance at July 31, 2004 10,307 $0.05 ~ 8375 $2.26

(1} Options with exercise prices less than the fair value of the Company’s common stock at respective dates of grant.

.Z) Options with exercise prices equal to the fair value of the Company’s common stock at respective dates of grant.

) Options of 447 were granted with exercise prices less than, options of 2,934 were granted with exercise prices equal to, and options of
' 600 were granted with exercise prices greater than, the fair value of the Company’s common stock at respective dates of grant.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
l (In thousands, except per share and per kWh amounts)
The weighted average characteristics of stock options cutstanding as of July 31, 2004 were as follows:

l Average

: Number of Remaining Weighted -
Shares Contractual Shares Average

Range of Exercise Prices Outstanding Life (Years) Exercisable Exercise Price

l).OS —$0.50 341 1.4 341 30.18

$1.00-51.92 3,544 8.9 1,707 1.86

iZ.SO —$3.75 6,422 4.6 5,161 2.58

8 Total ' 10,307 59 7,209 $2.26
|- ] Ty EETEEN e o]

l Stock Options Granted to the Company's Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and Related Stock-Based Compensation

As part of an employment agreement with a term expiring January 31, 2005, the Company has granted 4,200 stock options to the
ompany’'s Chairman and Chief Executive Officer which have an exercise price of $2.50 per share and expire on January 1, 2010, As of
January 1, 2000, 300 of the options were vested and 100 options vest annually on January 1 of each year from 2001 through 2004, fora total of
(0. The remaining 3,500 options are performance-based and vest upon the occurrence of certain events as detailed below. The Company’s
ihairman and Chief Executive Officer also has 100 non-employment agreement stock options which have an exercise price of $0.50 per-share
1d expire on December 31, 2004.

Performance criteria which were met as of July 31, 2004, the number of related stock options vested and those not eamed, and stock-based
mpensation recognized during the year ended July 31, 2002 are as follows (no stock-based compensation was recognized in the years ended
July 31, 2003 and 2004, as the exercise price of the stock options was above the current fair market value of the Company’s common stock):

l Number of Options
Stock-Based

Earned Not Earned Compensation
and and Recognized:in
Vested Unvested Fiscal 2002

Completion of the audit of the Company’s July 31, 2000 consolidated

financial statements 500 — 3 —
Settlement of the California Department of Corporations investigation 250 — —
Settlement of the California Public Utilities Commission investigation 500 — —
Completion of liquidity event — 750 413)
Initial public offering stock purchase option — 300 (165)
Meeting the Company’s business plans for 2000 100 200 —
Exceeding the Company’s business plans by 10% or more for 2001 300 — (165)
Exceeding the Comnpany’s business plans by 10% or more for 2002 300 — —

' Exceeding the Company’s business plans by 10% or more for 2003 300 — —

2,250 1,250 $(743)

e uiainaniz | e ] ]
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l (In thousands, except per share and per kWh amounts)

If during the term of the employment agreement, the Company makes a public offering of its shares or if the Company supports any other
rm of liquidity event, then all stock options related to this employment agreement, whether earned or not, shall be considered vested
ncurrent with such event.

~-

ompany occurs, the Company’s Chairman and Chief Executive Officer has the right to require the Company to repurchase all of his capital

! The employment agreement also provides that in the event the Company terminates the agreement early or a change in control of the
ock and stock-options, then eamed or to be earned, at a repurchase price equal to two times the then value of the Company’s common stock.

'4 ‘Commitments and Contingencies
_Commitments
Purchase Commitments
The Company has entered into a series of electricity supply contracts to purc.:hase electricity covering app;oximately 74% of the customers’

ad servicing requirements for fiscal 2005 based on the Company’s forecast. The following is a summary of the Company’s commitments'to
purchase electric power by state as of July 31, 2004:

l . Fiscal Years Ending

2005 2006 Total
' California 334,290 $ 9,006 3 43,296
Pennsylvania and New Jersey 41,496 18,729 60,225

375,786 $27,735 $103,521
i e i [ g oo |

l Total

For the Michigan rharkct, the Company has entered into several forward energy supply contracts with a major eleciric power generator to
urchase the full requirements service product to service the Company’s customer load. These full requirement service contracts include energy
and all scheduling costs. These contracts require the generator to sell the Company power; however, the Company is not required to take

iellvery
As the price at which the Company can purchase electric power is fixed during the terms of the contracts, if the price at which the
Company can resell this electric power falls below the contract purchase price plus ancillary and scheduling costs, the Company would incur
perating losses during such periods.

Operating Leases
. The Company leases its facilities as well as certain equipment under operating leases. Certain of these operating leases are non-cancelable

and contain rent escalation clauses relating to any increases to real property taxes and maintenance costs. The Company incurred aggregate rent
gxpense under operating leases of $704, 3742, and $931 in fiscal 2002, 2003 and 2004, respectively.
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(In thousands, except per share and per kWh amounts)

The future aggregate minimum lease payments under operating lease agreements in existence at July 31, 2004 are as follows:

Fiscal Year Ending July 31,

2005 $1,240
2006 958
2007 874
2008 859
2009 36

$4,017

Employment agreements

The Company has four executive employment agreements in existence at July 31, 2004 that provide for future aggregate base salaries as
Nows:

Fiscal Year Ending July 31,

2005 $1,100
2006
2007

Under these agreements, the Company may also be required to pay additional amounts in the event of a change in control and/or upon
early termination of employment.

ontingencies
Litigation

In.July 2001, the Company filed a Proof of Claim in PG&E’s bankruptcy proceedings. In April 2004 and July 2004, the-Company received
1,484 and $750, respectively, fromm PG&E in full settlement of this claim.

-3 -W

On January 15, 2003, the Company filed a complaint in the United States District Court for the Central District of California entitled
ommonwealth Energy Corporation v. Wayne Mosley; et al. against several dissident stockholders who the Company believes had illegally
E]icited proxies in connection with the annual meeting of stockholders on January 21, 2003. On February 6, 2003, the Company filed an
iended complaint in this lawsuit asking the court to confirm that its Board of Directors had been legally elected by the stockholders and
validating the inspector’s determination at the annual meeting that the proxy materials sent by defendants had violated several Securities and
g xchange Commission (“SEC”) rules and regulations and that the resulting proxies were invalid. On June 10, 2003, the court issued a default
‘dgmcnt against certain defendants, finding 1) the Company properly conducted the election at the Company’s annual meeting and the
spector of elections was correct in rejecting the proxies solicited by the group; 2) the inspector of elections counted the votes and proxies
properly (and thus the elections results were validated); and 3) the challenged proxies violated various SEC rules and were therefore invalid.
eesmembers of the group, and all persons acting in concert with them, were ordered by the court to comply with all federal securities laws
d SEC rules in any future attempts to solicit proxies. However, two additional defendants, who were not subject to the court’s earlier ruling,
brought a counterclaim against the Company on November 14, 2003 alleging that its Board of Directors was not properly elected at the annual
i;eeting. This action is currently pending and seeks an order voiding the results of the Board of Directors election at the 2003 .annual meeting
d
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
(In thousands, except per share and per kWh amounts)

compelling the Company to seat certain other persons whom they allege should have been elected to the Board. No damages are currently
cing sought by plaintiffs in this case. The Company intends to defend these counter-claims vigerously.

On February 14, 2003, the Company filed a complaint in the Orange County Superior Court against Joseph Ogundiji seeking a judicial
claration invalidating 80 shares of its capital stock Mr. Ogundiji claims to hold. On April 11, 2003, Mr. Ogundiji filed and served an answer
d cross-complaint alleging claims against the Company for breach of contract, conversion, declaratory relief, promissory estoppel, unlawful
nial of voting rights pursuant to California Corporations Code Section 709, illegal stock dividends in violation of California Corporations
Code Section 25120, and unjust enrichment. The cross-complaint seeks an unspecified amount of general and punitive damages. This matter is

heduled for trial on June 20, 2003.

On November 20, 2003, the Company filed a Notice of Appeal in the California Court of Appeal’s in Saline v. Commonwealth Energy
“orporation. The appealed order was entered after the first of two trial phases and requires Commonwealth to recognize the shares of other
&nvcrtible preferred stock held by plaintiff, Joseph Saline, a former director, as valid. A second phase of the trial is scheduled for January 18,
03, Commonwealth recently prevailed on its motion for summary adjudication of Mr. Saline's conversion claim, so only a breach of contract
claim remains for trial. Another case brought by Mr, Saline, Saline v. Commonwealth Energy Corporation has been consolidated with this case
1 trial on January 18, 2005. The remaining claims in the second case are allegations by Commonwealth and/or certain intervenor plaintiffs
l:at Mr. Saline breached his fiduciary duties as a director, libeled the Company, and illegally tape recorded certain board meetings. In this
econd case, Mr. Saline has appealed the trial court’s denial of his motion to strike the libel claims and refusal to award him attorney’s fees

related to his original claim concerning his access to corporate documents.

On November 25, 2003, several stockholders filed a lawsuit against the Company entitled Coltrain, et al. v. Commonwealth Energy
‘Corporation, et al. The complaint purports to be a class action against the Company for violations of section 709 of the California Corporations
'ode. The plaintiffs allege that the Company failed to correctly count approximately 39,869 votes cast at the 2003 annual meeting and, as.a
%sult, the Board of Directors was not properly elected. Instead, the plaintiffs allege that four different persons would have been seated on the
oard'had the votes been tabulated in the manner advocated by the plaintiffs. This case involves identical issues of law and fact as the
ounterclaim discussed above in Commonwealth Energy Corporation v. Wayne Moseley, et al. and is currently pending. Commonwealth
Ecentiy settled with one of the plaintiffs in this case, Coltrain. Commonwealth is vigorously defending this action.

On April 19, 2004, Mr. Saline and Mr. Ogundiji filed an action in California Superior Court for Orange County, alleging that
‘ommonwealth Energy Corporation’s Board of Directors {other than Mr. Saline) breached their fiduciary duties and breached the covenant of
ood faith and fair dealing by approving and putting to a stockholder vote the recent reorganization plan, which resulted in Commonwealth

becoming a wholly-owned subsidiary of Commerce Energy Group, Inc. In addition, they allege that Commonwealth improperly failed to hold
n annual meeting within the time limits set by California Corporations Code Section 600, improperly used the reorganization to alter their
lghts as preferred shareholders, and improperly refused to hold a vote just among preferred stockholders regarding the reorganization. Up to
is point in the litigation, Mr. Saline and Mr. Ogundiji have attempted to block the special meeting at which the reorganization was approved,
to enjoin the reorganization, to unwind the reorganization and to de-list the shares of common stock of Commerce listed on the AMEX, but
ere not successful. Because our directors are defendants in this case, pursuant to the terms of the indemnification agreements between
Eomm‘onwcalth and its directors, we are required to indemnify the directors to the fullest extent allowed by law. The indemnification
igreement covers any expenses and/or liabilities reasonably incurred in connection with the investigation, defense, settlement or-appeal of legal

‘ iroceedjngs. The obligation to provide indemnification
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does-not apply if the officer or director is found to be liable for fraudulent or criminal conduct. Pursuant to the indemnification agreement, the
mpany is currently providing a joint defense with the directors in this action. This matter is scheduled for trial in September 12, 2005 and
mmonwealth will defend vigorously.

The Company currently is, and from time to time may become, involved in other litigation concerning claims arising out of the Company’s
"erations in the normal course of business. While the Company cannot predict the ultimate outcome of its pending matters or how they will
fect the Company’s results of operations or financial position, the Company’s management currently does not expect any of the legal
proceedings to which the Company is currently a party, including the legal proceedings described above, individually cr in the aggregate, to
!ve a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations or financial position.

Related Party Transactions

l During fiscal 2004, the Company engaged Nexus Advisory to assist in the Company’s financial reorganization. The Company paid Nexus
dvisory $110 in fiscal 2004 for consulting services. In July 2004, David Barnes, the principal of Nexus Advisory, became the Company’s
Vice President of Finance and Investor Relations.

Inprior fiscal years, the Company utilized Technical Service Group, Inc., doing business as Symcas-TSG {“Symcas™) on a limited basis
for its IT maintenance. During fiscal 2004, Linda Guckert, the Company’s Vice President of Information Technology, terminated her
Ilationship with Symcas and the Company paid Symcas $2,091, $577 and less than $10 in fiscal 2002, 2003 and 2004, respectively.

On April 1, 2004, the Company acquired Skipping Stone Inc., an energy consulting and technology firm. Skipping Stone was a privately

Id company that was principally owned by Peter Weigand. Mr. Welgand who was the Chief Executive Officer of Skipping. Stone-prior to its
;qmsmon by the Company, became the President of Commonwealth, Commerce Energy and Sklppmg Stone on April 1, 2004. Prior to-its

tquisition of Skipping Stone, since 2001, Commonwealth has engaged Skipping Stone to perform various consulting services. The consulting
services were performed by various employees and independent contractors of Skipping Stone, including Peter Weigand and Richard L.
. Joughrum, who was an independent contractor of Skipping Stone until March 28, 2004. On April 1, 2004, Mr, Boughrum became the Chief

inancial Officer of Commonwealth and Commerce Energy. Consulting services performed by Skipping Stone for Commonwealth have
included data coltection and analysis of market size information, review of energy supply and finance agreements, development of business

lans, work plans-and definitions of various strategic initiatives and representation of the Company in the implementation of such initiatives.
i‘:c-agrecments.to perform consulting services were terminable by either party at any time. At the time of the completion of the merger, the

ly on-going consulting services being performed by Skipping Stone for Commonwealth relate to Commonwealth’s preparations in
connection with its upcoming required report on internal control over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
gi002. Commonwealth has paid Skipping Stone an aggregate of approximately $308 in consulting fees and expensés from March 2002 through
.\e acquisition date. Through March 31, 2004, approximately 23% of Skipping Stone’s calendar 2004 revenues had been derived from

onsulting fees pai'd by Commonwealth.

! The aggregate purchase price for all of the outstanding Skipping Stone securities, which consists of common stock and vested options, was
3.1 million and the assumption of $0.6 million of debt. The purchase price was paid through the issuance of Commonwealth common stock,
which was valued at.$1.92 per share. Mr. Weigand received 1,088 shares of Commonwealth common stock in the transaction. In addition,
Ither former holders of Skipping Stone common stock received an aggregate of 526 shares of Commonwealth common stock in the transaction.
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The Company granted the former holders of Skipping Stone common stock “piggy-back™ registration rights with respect to the

68 shares of common stock issued to them in the merger. Pursuant to a registration rights agreement dated as of April 1, 2004, the Company
Eecd to register such shares for resale under the Securities Act in any registration statement filed by Commonwealth with the Securities and

change Commission with respect to an offering by Commonwealth for its own account (other than a registration statement on Form S-4 or
8-8 or any successor thereto) or for the account of any Commonwealth stockholder. The Company will pay all of the expenses of such
lgistration_ The Company also agreed to indemnify and hold harmless each of the former holders of Skipping Stone common stock from and

ainst any liabilities (including attorney fees) arising out of any untrue statement of a material fact contained in any such registration
staternent, otherthan with respect to information provided by such stockholders for inclusion in the registration statement. The Company’s

ligation to register these shares will terminate only when such shares have been disposed of pursuant to an effective Registration Statement;
tthe opinion of counsel to Commonwealth, the entire amount of the shares may be sold in a single sale without any limitation as to volume

rsuant to Rule 144 (or any successor provision then in effect) under the Securities Act; or the shares are sold or distributed by a person not
entitled to these registration rights.

l Each of the former holders of Skipping Stone common stock, including Mr. Weigand, has agreed to place 20% of the Commonwealth
shares issued to him in the merger in an escrow for a peried of six months, The stockholder escrow shares are subject to forfeiture, at $1.92-per
are, based upon a two part “true up” calculation, which is defined in the merger agreement. The first part of the calculation is designed to
Ever a decline in the value of Skipping Stone’s net equity, defined as the difference between the total assets minus the total liabilities, ffom
ecember 31,.2003 to April 1, 2004, the effective time of the merger. The second part of the calculation will verify that as of six months from
the effective time all assets have been collected, amortized or realized as cash and no other liabilities have been accrued or paid by Skipping
ltone or Commonwealth after the effective time.

In addition, each of the former holders of Skipping Stone commnon stock, including Mr. Weigand, has agreed to place an additional 10% of
e Commonwealth shares issued to him in the merger in an escrow for a peried of eighteen months, in the case of Mr. Weigand, and twelve
*bnths, in the case of the other three former holders of Skipping Stone common stock. The retention escrow shares are subject to forfeiture in
e event that such person voluntarily resigns his employment with Commonwealth, Commerce Energy or any of their affiliates after the
reorganization during the escrow period (but not upon death, disability or certain changes in control not approved by the board). In connection
Iith the merger, Mr. Weigand also entered into an Agreement Not to Compete for twelve months after he is no longer employed by
ommonwealth, Commerce or any of their affiliates, except under the circumstance of a change in control not approved by Board of
Commonwealth or Commetce.

l6. Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, the Company identified an adjustment of $1,070 to direct energy costs that should, more appropriitely,
le considered an.adjustment in direct energy costs in the second and third fiscal quarters for $292 and $778, respectively, and is reflected
elow and in the Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q/A Amendment No. 2 for the quarterly period ended January 31, 2004 and Form 10-Q/A
Amendment No. 1 for the quarterly period ended April 30, 2004, The fiscal 2003 quarterly financial information is shown as reported for

Iomparative purposes only.

F-30

ttp://ir.10kwizard.com/filing.php?repo=tenk&ipage=3094561 &num=&doc=1 &source=900&print=14&att... 3/17/2005



C Filings : Print View Page 107 of 196
ble of Contents

| COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
' (In thousands, except per share and per kWh amounts)
October 31 January 31 April 30 July 31 Fiscal Year
l Reported Adjusted Reported Adjusted
ear ended July 31, 2004:
Net revenue 558,396 $47,038 $47,038 548,521 $48,521 $56,668 $210,623
Jirect energy costs 54,075 43,491 43,783 42,021 42,799 50,523 i91,180
| Gross profit 4,321 3,547 3,255 6,500 5,722 6,145 19,443
et income (loss) {1,122) {7,361} (7,653) {4,816) (5,594 - (7,35)) {21,720}
et income (loss)
per common
share;
Basic (0.04) 0.27) (0.28) (0.17) (0.20) (0.25) (0.77)
' Diluted (0.04) 0.27 (0.28) (0.17) {0.20) (0.25) 0.7
October 31 January 31 April 30 July 31 Fiscal Year
!’ear ended July 31, 2003:
et revenue 533,682 $31,759 $37,841 $62,244 $165,526
iirect energy costs 26,206 24,569 29,855 47,549 128,179
ross profit 7,476 7,190 7.986 14,695 37,347
Net income (loss) (526) 587 1,096 4,265 5,422
et income (loss)
per common share;
Basic {0.02) 0.02 0.04 0.15 0.19
Diluted (0.02) 0.02 0.04 0.14 0.18
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Exhibit
Number Title of Exhibit
' 2.1 Agreement and Plan of Reorganization, by and among American Energy Group, Inc.., CEC Acquisition Corp. and
Commonwealth Energy Corporation, previously filed with the Commission on July 6, 2004 as Exhibit 2.1 to Commerce
Energy Group, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form 8-A, which is incorporated herein by reference.
' 22 Agreement and Plan of Merger by and among Commonwealth Energy Corporation, Skipping Stone Acquisition
f Comoration, Skipping Stone Inc. and the holders of Skipping Stone Inc. common stock dated March 29, 2004,
previously filed with the Commission on April 5, 2004 as Exhibit 2.2 to Amendment No. 3 to Commerce Energy Group,
Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form $-4, which is incorporated herein by reference.

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Commerce Energy Group, Inc., previously filed with the
Commission on July 6, 2004 as Exhibit 3.3 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Forin &-A,
which is incorporated herein by reference.

3.2 Certificate of Designation of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock of Commerce Energy Group, Inc. dated
Tuly 1, 2004, previously filed with the Commission on July 6, 2004 as Exhibit 3.4 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.’s
Registration Statement on Form 8-A, which is incorporated herein by reference.

33 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Commerce Energy Group, Inc., previously filed with the Commission on July 6, 2004
as Exhibit 3.6 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form 8-A, which is incorporated herein by
reference.

4.1 Rights Agreement, dated as of July 1, 2004, entered into between Commerce Energy Group, Inc. and Computershare

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

Trust Company, as rights agent. Rights Agreement, dated as of July I, 2004, entered into between Commerce Energy
Group, Inc. and Computershare Trust Company, as rights agent, previously filed with the Commission on July 6, 2004 as
Exhibit 10.1 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form §-A, which is incorporated herein by
reference.

Form of Rights Certificate, previously filed with the Commission on July 6, 2004 as Exhibit 10.2 to Commerce Energy
Group, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form 8-A, which is incorporated herein by reference.

aterial Contracts Relating to Management Compensation Plans or Arrangements -

Employment Agreement dated January 1, 2000, between Commonwealth Energy Corporation and Tan B, Carter, as
modified by an Addendum to Employment Agreement dated as of November 1, 2000, previously filed with the
Commission on August 9, 2001 as Exhibit 10.12 to Commonwealth Energy Corporation’s Registration Statement on
Form 10, which is incorporated herein by reference.

Consent and Waiver Agreement dated March 12, 2004 between Commonwealth Energy Corporation and,lan B. Carter,
previously filed with the Commission on March 16, 2004 as Exhibit 10.1 to Commonwealth Energy Corporation’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended January 31, 2004, which is incorporated herein by reference.
Second Amendment to Employment Agreement dated March 16, 2004 between Commonwealth Energy Corporation and
Ian B. Carter, previously filed with the Commission on March 16, 2004 as Exhibit 10.2 to Commonwealth Energy
Corporation’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended January 31, 2004, which is incorporated herein by
reference.

Employment Agreement dated November 1, 2000, between Commonwealth Energy Corporation and John A. Barthrop,
previously filed with the Commission on November 14, 2001 as Exhibit 10.15 to. Amendment No. | to Commonwealth
Energy Corporation’s Registration Statement on Form 10/ A, which is incorporated herein by reference,

Amendment to Employment Agreement dated March 31, 2004 between Commonwealth Energy Corporation and John A.
Barthrop, previously filed with the Commission on April 5, 2004 as Exhibit 10.5 to Amendment No. 3 to Commerce
Energy Group’s Registration Statement on Form 8-4, which is incorporated herein by reference.

Executive Employment Agreement dated April 1,2004 between Commonwealth Energy Corporation, Commerce Energy
Group, Inc. and Peter Weigand, previously filed with the Commission on April 5, 2004 as Exhibit 10.6 to Amendment
No. 3 to Commerce Energy Group’s Registrant’s Statement on Form S-4, which is incorporated herein by reference.
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10.19

10.20

10.21

Exhibit
Number Title of Exhibit

10.7 Executive Employment Agreement dated April 1, 2004 between Commonwealth Energy Corporation, Commerce
Energy Group, Inc. and Richard L. Boughrum, previously filed with the Commission on April 5, 2004 as Exhibit 10.7 to
Amendment No. 3 to Commerce Energy Group’s Registrant’s Statement on Form S-4, which is incorporated herein by
reference.

10.8 Commonwealth Energy Corporation 1999 Equity Incentive Plan, previously filed with the Commission on October 8,
2003 as Exhibit 4.1 te Commonwealth Energy Corporation’s Registration Statement on Form S-8, which is incorporated
herein by reference.

10.9 Form of Stock Option Agreement pursuant to Commonwealth Energy Corporation 1999 Equity Incentive Plan.

10.10 Confidential Severance Agreement and General Release between Richard L. Paulsen and Commonwealth Energy
Corporation, previously filed with the Commission on April 5, 2004 as Exhibit 10.1 to Commonwealth Energy
Corporation’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended April 30, 2004, which is incorporated
herein by reference.

10.11 Confidential Severance Agreement and General Release dated as of February 21, 2004 between James L. Oliver and
Commonwealth Energy Corporation, previously filed with the Cormmission on March 16, 2004 as Exhibit 10.3 to
Commonwealth Energy Corporation’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended January 31, 2004,
which is incorporated herein by reference.

10.12 Settlement Agreement and Release dated as of August 29, 2003 between Robert C. Perkins and Commonwealth Energy
Corporation.

10.13 Stock Option Agreement dated as of August 29, 2003 between Robert C. Perkins and Commonwealth Energy
Corporation.

10.14 Stock Option Agreement dated as of August 29, 2003 between Robert C. Perkins and Commonwealth Energy
Corporation.

10.15 Stock Option Agreement dated as of July 8, 1999 between Ian B. Carter and Commonwealth Energy Corporation.

10.16 Indemnification Agreement dated as of January 1, 2000 between Commonwealth Energy Corporation and Ian B. Carter,
with Schedule attached thereto of other substantially identical Indemnification Agreements, which differ only in the
respects set forth in such Schedule.

10.17 Indemnification Agreement dated as of July 1, 2004 between Commerce Energy Group, Inc. and lan Carter, with

Schedule attached thereto of other substantially identical Indemnification Agreements, which differ only in the respects
set forth in such Schedule.

ther Material Contracts

Skipping Stone Stockholder Escrow Agreement by and among Commonwealth Energy Corporation, Skipping Stone Inc.
and the holders of Skipping Stone Inc. commen stock, previously filed with the Commission on April 5, 2004 as

Exhibit 2.3 to Amendment No. 3 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form 8-4, which is
incorporated herein by reference.

Retention Escrow Agreement by and among Commonwealth Energy Corporation, Skipping Stone Inc., Peter Weigand,
Greg Lander, Eric Alam and Bruno Kvetinskas, previously filed with the Commission on April 5, 2004 as Exhibit 2.4 to
Amendment No. 3 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-4, which is incorporated herein
by reference. '
Regisiration Rights Agreement by and among Commonwealth Energy Corporation and the holders of Skipping Stone,
Inc. common stock dated March 29, 2004, previously filed with the Commission on April 5, 2004 as Exhibit 2.5 to
Amendment No. 3 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-4, which is incorporated herein
by reference.

Agreement Not To Compete by and among Commonwealth Energy Corporation, Commerce Energy Group, Inc. and
Peter Weigand dated April 1, 2004, previously filed with the Commission on April 5, 2004 as Exhibit 2.6 to Amendment
No. 3 Commerce Energy Group, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-4, which is incorporated herein by reference.
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31.2

Limited Liability Company Agreement of Summit Energy Ventures, LLC, as amended by the First Amendment to the
Limited Liability Company Agreement of Summit Energy Ventures, LLC, dated August 2001, previously filed with the
Commission on November 14, 2001 as Exhibit 10.6 to Amendment No. 1 to Commonwealth Energy Corporation’s
Registration Statement on Form 10/ A, which is.incorporated herein by reference.

Second Amendment to the Limited Liability Company Agreement of Summit Energy Ventures, LLC, previously filed
with the Commission on April 3, 2002 as Exhibit 10.19 to Amendment No. 2 to Commonwealth Energy Corporation’s
Registration Statement on Form 10/ A, which is incorporated herein by reference.

Lease Agreement dated August 9, 2002, between Commonwealth Energy Corporation and Cherry Tree Investors, L.P.,
previously filed with the Commission on October 29, 2002 as Exhibit 10.25 to Commeonwealth Energy Corporation’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended July 31, 2002, which is incorporated herein by reference.

Consent to Sublease and Sublease Agreement dated May 28, 2004 between E*Trade Consumer Finance Corporation and
Commonwealth Energy Corporation.

Restructuring and Termination of Membership Agreement dated as of April 30, 2004 by and among Summit Energy
Ventures, LLC, Commonwealth Energy Corporation, Steven Strasser and Northwest Power Management, Inc.,
previously filed with the Commission on June 14, 2004 as Exhibit 10.5 to Commonwealth Energy Corporation’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended April 30, 2004, which is incorporated herein by reference.
Confirmation of Transaction between Commonwealth Energy Corporation and DTE Energy Trading, Inc. dated July 25,
2002, previously filed with the Commission on March 17, 2004 as Exhibit 10.23 to Amendment No. 1 to
Commonwealth Energy Corporation’s Form 10-K for the year ended July 31, 2002, which is incorporated herein by
reference.

Exelon Generation Company, LLC Confirmation Agreement dated July 22, 2003, previously filed with the Commission
on March 17, 2004, as Exhibit 10.20 to Amendment No. 1 to Commonwealth Energy Corporation’s Form 10-K/ A for
the year ended July 31, 2003, which is incorporated herein by reference.

Exelon Generation Company, LLC Confirmation Agreement dated July 22,2003, previously filed with the Commission
on March 17, 2004 as Exhibit {0.21 to Amendment No. 1 to Commonwealth Energy Corporation’s Form 10-K/ A for
the year ended July 31, 2003, which is incorporated herein by reference.

Confirmation of Transaction between Commonwealth Energy Corporation and DTE Trading, Inc. dated March 24, 2003,
previously filed with the Commission on March 17, 2004 as Exhibit 10.22 to Amendment No. 1 to Commonwealth
Energy Corporation’s Form 10-K/ A for the year ended July 31, 2003, which is incorporated herein by reference.
Confirmation of Transaction between Commonwealth Energy Corporation and DTE Trading, Inc. dated July 24, 2003,
previously filed with the Commission on March 17, 2004 as Exhibit 10.23 1o Amendment No. I to' Commonwealth
Energy Corporation’s Form 10-K/ A for the year ended July 31, 2003, which is incorporated herein by reference.
Revised Security Agreement dated October 27, 2004 by and between Commonwealth Energy Corporation and DTE
Energy Trading.

Revised Operating Agreement dated October 27, 2004 between DTE Energy Trading, Inc. and Commonwealth Energy
Corporation.

Commerce Energy Group, Inc. Code of Business Conduct and Ethics.

Subsidiaries of the Registrant. :

Consent of Ernst & Young, LLP, independent registered public accounting firm.

Principal Executive Officer Certification required by Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended,

Chief Financial Officer Certification required by Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended.

l 10.29
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Exhibit
Number Title of Exhibit

32.1 Principal Executive Officer Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the

322 Chief Financial Officer Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C, Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906:of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

EXHIBIT 10.9

FORM CF
STOGCK OPTION AGREEMENT
(NONQUALIFIED STOCK OPTION)

' Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

l This Stock Option Agreement (this "Agreement"), is entered into effective
as of the Grant Date (as defined in paragraph 1), by and between Commerce Energy
cup, Inc., a Delaware corporaticn (the "Company"), and the employee, director

IE officer of the Company listed in paragraph 1 (the "Optionee™).

RECITALS
l WHEREAS, the Company maintains the 1999 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended
{the "Plan"), which is incorporated into and forms a part of this Agreement:;

WHEREZS, the Compensation Committee of the Company's Beoard of Directors
the "Committee") administers the Plan; and

WHEREAS, the Optionee has been selected by the Committee to receive a
on-qualified stock option to purchase shares of the Company's common stock,
$.001 par value per share (the "Common Stock") under the Plan.
l AGREEMENT
1. Terms of Award.

(a) The following terms used in this Agreement shall have the meanings
set forth in this paragraph 1:

' (i) The “"Optionee" is
{ii) The "Grant Date" is
! {iii) The number of "Option Shares" shall be shares of
ommon Stock.
' {iv) The "Exercise Price" is $ per share.
() Other terms used in this Agreement are defined pursuant to paragraph

ltl or elsewhere in this Agreement.

Award and Exercise Price. This Agreement specifies the terms of the cpticn
(the "Option") granted to the Optionee to purchase the number of Option Shares
f Common Stock at the Exercise Price per share as set forth in paragraph 1. The
'ption is not intended to constitute an "incentive stock option" as that term is
used in section 422 of the Code.

|
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Date of Exercise and Vesting.

Subject to the limitations of this Agreement, the Option shall be
ljerc;lsable according to the following schedule, with respect to each

stallment shown in the schedule on and after the Vesting Date applicable to

such installment: [NOTE - UNDER THE PLAN, OPTIONS MUST VEST AT LEAST 20% PER

.EAR OVER FIRST 5 YEARS.]
I Amount Vested per Period/
Vesting Dates Cumulative Amount Vested
' , 200 /
., 200_ /
., 200 /
l . 200 /

() An installment shall not become exercisable on the otherwise

!pplicable vesting date if the Optionee's Termination Date (as defined in

aragraph 14) occurs con or before such vesting date; provided, however, that
such Option Shares may become fully vested and exercisable in the discretion of

he Beoard. Subject to the provisions of paragraph 4, the Option may be exercised

n or after the Termination Date only as te that porticon ¢f the Option Shares as
to which it was exercisable immediately prior to the Termination Date, or as to
which 1t became exercisable on the Termination Date in accordance with this
'a'ragraph 3.

4, Expiration.
! (a}) The Option shall not be exercisable after the Company's close of
usiness on the last business day that occurs prior to the Expiration Date.
l (b} The "Expiration Date" shall be earliest to occur of:
(i} the ten-year anniversary of the Grant Date;
! (ii) if the Optionee's Termination Date occurs by reascn of death
r Disability, the one-year anniversary of such Termination Date;

{i1i) if the Optionee's Termination Date occurs for reasons other
han death, Disability, or Cause, the three month anniversary of such
‘Termination Date; or
' {iv) the earliest to occur of any of the following events {each a
Corporate Event"): (A) the dissolution or liquidation of the Company or a

merger, consolidation or recrganization (including the sale of substantislly all
f its assets) of the Company with one or more entities, corporate or otherwise,
5 a result of which the Company is not the surviving entity; or (B) the merger
or other reorganization of the Company with one or more entities, corporate or
therwise, as a result of which the outstanding shares of the Common Stock are
‘hanged intec or exchanged for shares of the capital stock or other securities of
nother entity or for cash or other property; provided, however, that the
Company may, in its discretion, and immediately prior to any Corporate Event,
ause a new option to be substituted for this Option or cause this Option toc be
ssumed by a successor entity or a parent or subsidiary of such entity;

-2-

nd such new option shall apply to all shares issued in addition to or

Al - .

ttp://ir.10kwizard.com/filing.php?repo=tenk&ipage=3094561 &num=&doc=1&source=200&print=1 &att...

3/17/2005



il::C Filings : Print View Page 113 of 196

bstitution, replacement or modification of the shares of Common Stock
theretofore covered by this Opticn.

lz [NCTE - SOME EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENTS PROVIDE THAT THE OPTIONS DO NOCT
RMINATE UPON TERMINATION QOF EMPLOYMENT.]

{c) Notwithstanding subparagraphs {a) and {(b) of this paragraph 4, if an
tionee ceases to be a director, officer or employee of the Company or a
Subsidiary due to Cause, all of the Optionee’'s options shall be forfeited

'vn.mediately upon such cessation, whether or not then exercisable.

{d) If no provisicon is made for the continuance of the Plan and the
assumption of this Option, or the substitution for this Opticon of a new option
hereinabove provided, then the Company shall cause written notice to be given
o the Optionee of the proposed Corporate Event not less than twenty (20) days
prior to the anticipated effective date thereof, for the purpose of affording
the Opticonee the opportunity to exercise the Option, in accordance with the
rovisions of this Agreement, effective immediately prior to the consummation of
he Corporate Event. To the extent the Option remains unexercised as of the
effective date of the Corporate Event, the Option shall, concurrently with the
'onsum.mation of the Corporate Event, terminate and become void and of no effect.

Method of Option Exercise.

‘ (a) Subject to the terms of this Agreement and the Plan, the Option may
e exercised in whole or in part by filing a wricten notice, in the form
attached hereto as Exhibit A, with the Secretary of the Company at its corporate
eadquarters prigr to the Company's close of business on the last business day
ihat occurs prior to the Expiration Date. Such notice shall specify the number
f shares of Common Stock which the Optionee elects to purchase, and shall be
accompanied by payment of the Exercise Price for such shares of Common Stock
ndicated by the Optionee's election. Payment shall be by cash or by check
'ayable to the Company or, where expressly approved for the Optionee by the
Board and where permitted by law:

(i) by cancellation of indebtedness of the Company to the
pticnee; :

(ii) by surrender of shares that either: (A) have been owned by the

!ptionee for more than six (6) months and have been paid for within the meaning

f SEC Rule 144 (and, if such shares were purchased from the Company by use of a

romissory note, such ncte has been fully paid with respect to such shares); or
iB-) were cobtained by the Cpticonee in the public market;

(iii) by tender of a full recourse promissory ncte having such terms

s may be approved by the Board and bearing interest at a rate sufficient to
void imputation of income under Sections 483 and 1274 of the Code; [provided,
owever, that the Optionee will not be entitled to purchase Option Shares with a
promissory note unless the note is adeguately secured by collateral other than

he Option Shares] [INSERT THE BRACKETED PHRASE IF OPTIONEE IS NOT AN EMPLOYEE

R DIRECTCR OF THE CCMPANY, IF THE OPTIONEE IS AN EXECUTIVE OFFICER OR DIRECTOR,
DELETE THIS SUBPARAGRAPH (III) COMPLETELY]:

!

(iv) by waiver of compensation due or accrued to Optionee for
services rendered;

l (v) with respect only to purchases upon exercise of the Option,
nd provided that a public market for the Ccmpany's stock exists:

‘ (1) through a "same day sale" commitment from the Optiocnee
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d & broker-dealer that is a member of the National Association of Securities

Dealers (an "NASD Dealer") whereby the Optionee irrevocably elects to exercise

e Option and to sell a portion of the Option Shares so purchased to pay for
Ee Exercise Price, and whereby the NASD Dealer irrevocably commits upon receipt
such Option Shares to forward the Exercise Price directly to the Company; or

SD Dealer whereby the COptionee irrevocably elects to exercise the Option and
pledge the Option Shares so purchased to the NASD Dealer in a margin account
E security for a loan from the NASD Dealer in the amount of the Exercise Price,

!ﬂ {2) through a "margin" commitment from the Optionee and a
o]

d whereby the NASD Dealer irrevocably commits upon receipt of such Option
ares to forward the Exercise Price directly to the Company; or

! (vi} by any combination of the foregoing.

Transferability of Option. The Option granted hereunder may not be
transferred by the Optionee except upon death by will or the laws of descent and
istribution. Unless the context otherwise requires, references herein tc the
‘Wptionee are deemed to include any permitted transferee under this paragraph 6.
During the Optionee's lifetime, only the Optionee (or his or her guardian or
egal representative) may exercise the Option. In the event of the Optionee's
!eath, the Option (to the extent still held by the Opticonee at such time) may be
xercised only {i) by the executor or administrator of the Optionee's estate or
the person or persons to whom his or her rights under the Option shall pass by
111l or the laws of descent and distribution and (ii) to the extent that the
tionee was entitled hereunder at the date of the Optionee's death.

i. Withholding of Taxes,

(a) Withholding Generally. Upon exercise of this Option, the Company may
reguire the Optionee to remit to the Company an amount sufficient to satisfy
ederal, state and local withholding tax requirements prior to the delivery of
'ny certificate or certificates for the Option Shares.

{b) Stock Withholding. When, under applicable tax laws, the Optionee
Incurs tax liability in connection with the exercise or vesting of this Option
hat is subject to tax withholding and the Optionee is obligated to pay the
Company the amount required to be withheld, the Committee may in itfs sole
iscretion allow the Optionee to satisfy the minimum withholding tax ¢hligation
.y electing to have the Company withhold from the Option Shares to be issued
hat number of shares having a Fair Market Value egual to the minimum amount
required to be withheld, determined on the date that the amount of tax to be
'ithhel-d 1s to be determined. All elections by the Optionee to have Option
hares withheld for this purpose will

riting in a form acceptable to the Board.

. Compliance With Securities Laws. This Option shall not be exercisable if
uch exercise would involve a viclation of any applicable Federal or state

le made in accordance with the requirements established by the Board and be in
iecurities law.

hareholder with respect to the shares subject to the Option, until a stock
Certificate has been duly issued following exercise of the Option as provided

herein.

'. No Rights As Shareholder. The Optionee shall not have any rights of a

0. Plan Governs. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary,
the terms of this Agreement shall be subject to the terms of the Plan, a copy of
lrhich may be obtained by the Optionee from the office of the Secretary of the
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mpany; and this Agreement is subject to all interpretations, amendments, rules
and regulations promulgated by the Board from time to time pursuant to the Plan.

l‘l Not An Employment Contract. The Opticon will not confer on the Optionee any
ght with respect to continuance of employment or other service with the
Company or any Subsidiary, nor will it interfere in any way with any right the

mpany or any Subsidiary would otherwise have to terminate or modify the terms
l; such Opticnee's employment or other service at any time.

12, Adjustments. In the event that the number of ocutstanding shares is changed
y & stock dividend, recapitalization, stock split, reverse stock split,
bdivision, combination, reclassification or similar change in the capital

structure of the Company without consideration, then the Exercise Prices of and
mber of Option Shares subject to this Option will be proporticnately adjusted,

!zbject to any required action by the Board or the stockhelders of the Company
nd compliance with applicable securities laws; provided, however, that

fractions of a Share will not be issued but will either be replaced by a cash
ayment equal to the Fair Market Value of such fraction of a Share or will be
ounded up to the nearest whole Share, as determined by the Board.

reement may be amended or waived only with the prior written consent of the

3. Amendment. Except as otherwise provided herein, any provision of this
g
tionee and the Board.

4. Certain Definitions. For the purposes of this Agreement, the following
erms shall have the meanings set forth below:

(a) "Board" means the Board of Directors of the Company, or if the Board
'as delegated responsibility for any matter with respect to the Plan to the
ommittee, the Compensation Committee of the Board.

(b) "Cause" shall mean the commission ¢f an act of theftf, embezzlement,
raud, dishonesty or a breach of fiduciary duty to the Company or a Subsidiary
of the Company.

l (c) "Code" shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1886, aé amended, and
ny successor statute.

i

(d) "Common Stock" shall mean the Commcn Stock, par value $.001 per
hare, of the Company, and any other shares into which such stock may be changed
by reason of a recapitalization, reorganization, merger, consolidation or any
'ther change in the corperate structure or capital stock of the Company.

(e) "Disability" means a disability, whether temporary or permanent,
partial or total, as determined by the Board.

(f) "Exchange Act™ sheall mean the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, and any successor statute.

l (g) "Falr Market Value'" of a share of Common Stock of the Company shall
ean, as of any date, the value of a share of the Company's Common Stock
determined as follows: (1) if such Common Stock is then guoted on the Nasdag
aticnal Market, its closing price on the Nasdag National Market on the date of
Qeterrmination as reported in The Wall Street Journal; (2) if such Common Stock
s publicly traded and is then listed on a national securities exchange, its
closing price on the date of determination on the principal national securities
xchange on which the Common Stock is listed or admitted to trading as reported
n The Wall Street Journal; (3) if such Common Stock is publicly traded but is
not quoted on the Nasdaq MNational Market nor listed or admitted to trading on a
‘ational securities exchange, the average of the clesing bid and asked prices on
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he date of determination as reported in The Wall Street Journal; or (4) if none
of the foregoing is applicable, by the Board in good faith.

l (h) "Securities Act" shall mean the Securities Act of 1933, as amended,
d any successor statute.

unbroken chain of corporations beginning with the Company 1f each of the
corporations other than the last corporation in the unbroken chain owns stock
iossessi‘ng 50% or more of the total combined voting power of all classes of

'n (i) "Subsidiary"” shall mean any corporation (other than the Company) in

tock in one of the other corporations in such chain.

(3) "Termination" or "Terminated" means that the Optionee has for any
ason ceased to provide services as an employee, officer, director, censultant,
!idependen't contractor, or advisor to the Company cor a Subsidiary of the
ompany. An employee will not be deemed to have ceased to provide services in
the case of {1) sick leave, (2) military leave, or (3) any other leave of
sence approved by the Board, provided, that such leave is for a peried of not
ore than 90 days, unless reemployment upon the expiration of such leave is
guaranteed by contract or statute or unless provided cotherwise pursuant to
ormal policy adeoptaed from time to time by the Company and issued and
‘romulgated to employees in writing. In the case of any employee on an approved
eave of absence, the Board may make such provisions respecting suspension of
esting of the Option while on leave from the employ of the Company or &
ubsidiary as it may deem appropriate, except that in no event may an Opticn be
xercised after the expiration of the term set forth in this agreement.

v

{k) "Termination Date" shall mean the effective date on which the
lptlonee ceased to provide services, as determined by the Beard in its sole
iscretion.

—-6H-

5. Entire Agreement. The Agreement, together with the Plan, constitutes the
ntire agreement of the parties and supercedes any and all agreements, either
oral or in writing, between the parties with respect to the subject matter

'ereof
_7_.

SIGNATURE PAGE TQO STCOCK OPTION AGREEMENT

IN WITNESS WHEREOQOF, the parties have executed this Agreement on
l to reflect the grant which was authorized on the Grant Date as first
beve written.

COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC.

By:

Name :

Title:

OPTIONEE:

Name:

Address (please print):
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EXHIBIT &

i

FORM OF LETTER TC BE USED TC EXERCISE NONQUALIFIED STOCK OPTION

Date

'ommerce Energy Group, Inc.

00 Anton Boulevard, Sulte 2000
Costa Mesa, CA 92626

lttention: Chief Financial Qfficer

I wish to-exercise the stock option granted on and evidenced by a
itoqk Option Agreement dated as of ., to acquire shares of

ommen Stock of Commerce Energy Group, Inc., at an option price of $ per
hare. In accordance with the provisions of the Stock Option Agreement, I wish
to make payment of the exercise price (please check all that apply):

. [ ] in cash
[ ] by delivery of shares of Common Stock held by me
[ ] by simultaneous sale through a broker of Option Shares

{ ] by authorizing the Company to withhold Option Shares

lease issue a certificate for these shares in the fellowing name:

ame

ddress

-

Very truly yours,

Signature

Typed or Printed Name

Social Security Number

EXHIBIT 10.12

SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT AND RELEASE

THIS SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT AND RELEASE (this "Agreement™} is entered
l‘nto effective as of Bugust 2%, 2003, by and between Commonwealth Energy
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rporation, a California corporation {("Commonwezlth™) and Robert C. Perkins
{"Perkins").

l . RECITALS
A. Perkins has served as a director of Commonwealth since 19989,

B. In connection with his service as a director, Perkins was
promised certain coptions to purchase shares of Commonwealth's Common Stock in
i999, 2001 and 2002 (the "Promised Opticns").

C. There is a dispute between Commonwealth and Perkins as to the
number and terms of the Promised Options.

D. The parties desire to fully, finally and forever settle and
compromise all claims, demands, damages, debts, liabilities, accounts,
obligations, costs, expenses, liens, actions and causes of action of any kind or

ature whatsoever, known or unknown, suspected or unsuspected {collectively,

laims"), which any of the parties may now have or hereafter have or claim to
have against the other parties and affiliates of the other parties based on the
'romised Options.

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the foregoing recitals,
the mutual undertakings contained in this Agreement, and other gecod and wvaluvable
onsideration, the sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the parties
ereto agree as follows:

AGREEMENT

. 1. Issuance of Stcock Option. Commonwealth shall issue to Perkins the
following copticns to purchase shares of Commonwealth common stock {(the "New
ptions"), which shall be fully vested as of the date of grant:

{a) an option to purchase 80,000 shares of Commonwealth common
itock at an exercise price of $1.00 per share; and

(b} an option to purchase 20,000 shares of Commonwealth common
stock at an exercise price of $51.86 per share.

nd the New Options, Perkins releases and discharges and agrees to hold harmless
ommonwealth and its officers, directors, employees, agents, servants,
onsultants, advisors, attorneys, heirs, executors, representatives,
dministrators, affiliates, predecessors, successors and assigns (collectively,
the "Commonwealth Affiliates"), from any and all Claims which Perkins may now

‘ave or hereafter have or claim to have against Commonwealth or any of the

! . Release by Perkins. Except for obligations created by this Agreement
C

ommonwealth Affiliates based on the Promised Options.

3. Waiver of Civil Code Section 1542. Perkins understands and agrees that

lhe release provided herein extends to all Claims released above whether known

r unknown, suspected or unsuspected. As to those matters released herein only,

Perkins expressly waives and relinguishes any and all rights they he have under
lalifornia Civil Code Section 1542, which provides as follows:

"A GENERAL RELEASE DOES NOT EXTEND TO CLAIMS
WHICH THE CREDITOR DOES NOT KNOW OR SUSPECT

' TG EXIST IN HIS FAVOR AT THE TIME OF EXECUTING
THE RELEASE, WHICH IF KNOWN BY HIM MUST HAVE
MATERIALLY AFFECTED HIS SETTLEMENT WITH THE

DEBTOR. "
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Perkins expressly waives and releases any rights and benefits which he has or
ay have under any similar law or rule of any other jurisdiction pertaining to
lhe matters released herein. It is the intention of each party through this
greement and with the advice of counsel to fully, finally and forever settle
and release the Claims as set forth above. In furtherance of such intention, the
elease herein given shall be and remain in effect as full and complete release
f such matters notwithstanding the discovery of any additional Claims or facts
relating thereto.

l 4. Binding Upon Successcrs and Assigns. This Agreement shall be binding
pon and shall inure to the benefit of the successors and assigns of the parties
hereto.

. 5. Modifications. This Agreement may not be amended, canceled, revoked or
otherwise modified except by written agreement executed by the party or parties
io be charged with such modification.

6. No Admission of Liability. The parties hereto explicitly acknowledge
that by entering into this Agreement no party admits or acknowledges the
lxistence of any liability or wrongdoing.

7. Severability. In the event any provision of this Agreement shall be
held to be void, voidable or unenforceable, the remaining provisions shall
emain in full force and effect.

8. Governing Law. This Agreement will be governed by and construed in
ccordance with-the laws of the $tate of California without regard to the
onflicts of law principles thereof.

9. Venue. Any action, suit or other proceeding brought by or against any
f the parties hereto to enforce this Agreement shall be instituted and
aintained only in Orange County, California.

Warranty of Authority. Each party whose signature is affixed hereto in
representatlve capacity represents and warrants that he is authorized to
xecute this Agreement on behalf of and to bind the entity on whose behalf his
signature is affixed.

-Z2-

11. Entire Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement
etween the parties and supersedes any and all other agreements, understandings,
egotiations, or discussions, either oral or in writing, express or implied,
elative to the-matters which are the subject of this Agreement.

b

Further Acts. Each party hereto agrees to perform any further acts and
xecute and deliver any further documents which reascnably may be necessary to
arry out the provisions and intent of this Agreement.
Ii

13. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one cr more
ounterparts, each of which when executed and delivered shall be an c¢riginal,
nd all of which when executed shall constitute one and the same instrument.

14. Miscellaneous Provisions.

14.1 The parties represent that they have read this Agreement and
ully understand ell of its terms; that they have conferred with their
ttorneys, or have knowingly and voluntarily chosen not to confer with their
ttorneys about this Agreement; that they have executed this Agreement without
coercion or duress of any kind; and that they understand any rights that they
‘ave or may have and sign this Agreement with full knowledge of any such rights.
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14.2 The language in all parts of this Agreement must be in all
ases construed simply according to its falr meaning and not strictly for or
itiainst any party. Whenever the context requires, all words used in the singular
st be construed to have been used in the plural, and vice versa, and each
gender must include any other gender. The captions of the Sections of this
@creement are for convenience only and must not affect the construction or
nterpretation of any of the provision herein.

14.3 Each provision of this Agreement to be performed by a party
Iereto is both a covenant and condition, and is a material consideration for the
ther party's performance hereunder, and any breach thereof by the party will be
a material default hereunder. All rights, remedies, undertakings, cbligations,
tions, covenants, conditions and agreements contained in this Agreement are
umulative and no one of them is exclusive of any other. Time is of the essence
n the performance of this Agreement.

14.4 Each party acknowledges that no representation, statement or
romise made by any other party, or by the agent or attorney of any other party,
has been relied on by him or it in entering inteo this Agreement.

l 14.5 Each party understands that the facts with respect tec which
his Agreement is entered into may be materially different from those the
parties now helieve to be true. Each party accepts and assumes this risk and
grees that this Agreement and the release in it shall remain in full force and
lffect, and legally binding, notwithstanding the discovery or existence of any
additional or different facts, or of any claims with respect to those Zfacts.

-3=

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement
s of the date first above written.

COMMONWEALTH" COMMONWEALTH ENERGY CORPORATION,
a California corporation

By:/S/ IAN B. CARTER

Name: Ian B. Carter
Title: Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Robert C. Perkins

EXHIBIT 10.13

STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT

This Stock Option Agreement (this "Agreement"), is entered into effective
s of the Grant Date (as defined in paragraph 1), by and between Commonwealth
inergy Corporation, a California corporation (the "Company"), and the individual

IPERKINS" /S/ ROBERT C. PERKINS
a

isted in paragraph 1 (the "Optionee").

RECITALS
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WHEREAS, pursuant to the terms of a Settlement Agreement, the Company has
agreed to grant a non-gualified stock option to purchase shares of the Company's
lommon stock to the Optionee.

AGREEMENT
Terms of Award.

{a) The following terms used in this Agreement shall have the meanings
iet forth in this paragraph 1:

(i} The "Optionee" is Robert C. Perkins.

l {ii) The "Grant Date” is Rugust 29, 2003.
(iii) The number of "Optiocn Shares" shall be 80,000 shares of Common
Stock.
l (iv)' The "Exercise Price" is $1.00 per share.
{b) Other terms used in this Agreement are defined pursuant to paragraph

3 or elsewhere in this Agreement.

2. Award and Exercise Price. This Agreement specifies the terms of the option
the "Option") granted to the Optionee to purchase the number of Option Shares
lf Common Stock at the Exercise Price per share as set forth in paragraph 1. The
Cption is not intended to constitute an "incentive stock option" as that term is

.sed in section 422 of the Code.

Date of Exercise and Vesting. Subject to the limitaticns of this
Agreement, the Option shall be exercisable in full as of the Grant Date,

'. Expiration.

{a) The Option shall not be exercisable after the Company's close of
usiness on the last business day that occurs prior to the Expiration Date.

(b} The "Expiration Date’” shall be earliest toe occur of:
(1) the ten-year anniversary of the Grant Date; or
{ii} the dissolution or liquidation of the Company.
Method of Option Exercise.

(a) Subject to the terms of this Agreement, the Option may be exercised
n whole or in part by filing & written netice, in the form attached hereto as
xhibit A, with the Secretary of the Company at iis corporate headquarters prior
o the Company's close of business on the last business day that occurs prior to
he Expiration Date. Such notice shall specify the number of shares of Common
tock which the Optionee elects to purchase, and shall be accompanied by payment
f the Exercise Price for such shares of Common Stock indicated by the
Optionee's election. Payment shall be by cash or by check payable to the Company
r, Where expressly approved for the Optionee by the Board and where permitted

y law:

SN SN0 SNE NS Gam =

(i) by cancellation of indebtedness of the Company to the
ptionee;

{ii) Dby surrender of shares that either: (A) have been owned by the
ptionee for more than six [(6) months and have keen paid for within the meaning

S -l e
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promissory note, such note has been fully paid with respect to such shares); or
'B) were obtained by the Optionee in the public market;

{1iii} by waiver of compensation due or accrued to Opticnee for
services rendered;

{iv) with respect only to purchases upon exercise of the Option,
and provided that a public market for the Company's stock exists:

ln (1) through a "same day sale" commitment from the Optionee
d a broker~dealer that is a member of the National Association of Securities
Dealers (an "NASD Dealer") whereby the Optionee irrevocably elects to exercise
dahe Option and te sell a portion cf the Option Shares so purchased to pay for
';e Exercise Price, and whereby the NASD Dealer irrevocably commits upon receipt
£ such Option Shares to forward the Exercise Price directly to the Company; or

{(2) through a "margin"” commitment from the Cptionee and a
SD Dealer whereby the Optionee irrevocably elects to exercise the Option and
to pledge the Option Shares so purchased to the NASD Dealer in & margin account
security for a lean from the NASD Dealer in the amount of the Exercise Price,
&d whereby the NASD Dealer irrevocably commits upon receipt of such Option
ares to forward the Exercise Price directly to the Company; or

(v) by any combination of the foregoing.

_o-

Transferability of Option. The Option granted hereunder may not be
!ransferred by the Optionee except upon death by will or the laws of descent and
Ii

[}

istribution. Unless the context otherwise requires, references herein to the
ptionee are deemed to include any permitted transferee under this paragraph 6.
uring the Optionee's lifetime, only the Optionee (or his or her guardian or
egal representative) may exercise the Option. In the event of the Optionee’'s
eath, the Option (to the extent still held by the Optionee at such time) may be
exercised only (i) by the executor or administrator of the Optionee's estate or
ghe person or persons to whom his or her rights under the Option shall pass by
111 or the laws of descent and distribution and (ii} t¢ the extent that the
ptionee was entitled hereunder at the date of the Optionee’s death.

Withholding of Taxes.

(a) Withholding Generally. Upon exercise of this Option, the Company may
eguire the Optionee to remit to the Company an amount sufficient to satisfy
'ederal state and local withheolding tax reguirements prior to the delivery of
ny certificate or certificates for the Option Shares.
iE

Stock Withholding. When, under applicable tax laws, the Optionee
ncurs tax liability in connection with the exercise or vesting of this Option
hat is subject to tax withholding and the Optiocnee is cbligated to pay the
ompany the amount reguired to be withheld, the Committee may in its sole
iscretion allcw the Optionee tc satisfy the minimum withholding tax obligation
y electing to have the Company withhold from the Option Shares to be issued

that numker of shares having a Fair Market Value egual to the minimum amount
equired to be withheld, determined on the date that the amount of tax to be

!ithheld is to be determined. All elections by the Opticnee to have Qption
hares withheld for this purpose will be made in accordance with the
requirements established by the Board and be in writing in a form acceptable to

'he Board.

8. Compliance With Securities Laws. This Option shall not be exercisable if
‘uch exercise would inveolve a violation of any applicable Pederal or state
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curities law,.

areholder with respect to the shares subject to the Option, until a stock
rtificate has been duly issued following exercise of the Option as provided
herein.

& No Rights As Shareholder. The Optionee shall not have any rights of a

lJ. Adjustments. In the event that the number of outstanding shares is changed
by a stock dividend, recapitalization, stock split, reverse stock split,
subdivision, combination, reclassification or similar change in the capital
lﬁructure of the Company without cecnsideration, then the Exercise Prices of and

mber of Option Shares subject to this Option will be proportionately adjusted,
subject to any required action by the Beocard or the stockholders of the Company

d compliance with applicable securities laws; provided, however, that

ractions of a Share will not be issued but will either be replaced by a cash
payment equal to the Fair Market Value of such fraction of a Share or will be
rounded up to the nearest whele Share, as determined by the Board.

1. Amendment. Except as otherwise provided herein, any provision of this
Agreement may be amended or waived only with the prior written consent of the
iptionee and the Board.

12. Certain Definitions. For the purposes of this Agreement, the following
'erms shall have the meanings set forth below:

-3-

{a) "Board" means the Board of Directors of the Company, or if the Board
has delegated responsibility for any matter with respect to the Plan to the
lommittee, the Compensation Committee of the Board.

{b} "Code" shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and
iny successor statute.

{c) "Common Stock" shall mean the Common Stock, no par value per share,
of the Company, and any other shares inte which such stock may be changed by
eason of a recapitalization, reorganization, merger, consolidation or any other
lhange in the corporate structure or capital stecck of the Company.

{(d) "Exchange Act" shall mean the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
'mended, and any successor statute.

(e) "Fair Market Value" of a2 share of Common Stock of the Company shall
ean, as of any date, the value of a share of the Company's Common Stock
Eetermined as folleows: {1) if such Common Stock is then guoted on the Nasdag
ational Market, its closing price on the Nasdag Naticnal Market on the date of
determination as reported in The Wall Street Journal; (2} if such Common Stock
s publicly traded and is then listed on & national securities exchange, its
tlosing price on the date of determination on the principal national securities
exchange on which the Common Stock is listed or admitted to trading as reported
in The Wall Street Journal; {3) if such Common Stock is publicly traded but is
tot quoted on the Nasdag National Market nor listed or admitted to trading con a
ational securities exchange, the average of the closing bid and asked prices on
the date of determination as reported in The Wall Street Journal; or (4) if none
laf the foregoing is applicable, by the Board in good faith.

{(f) "Securities Act"™ shall mean the Securities Act of 1933, as amended,
and any successor statute.

' {g) "Subsidiary" shall mean any corporation (ether than the Company) in
an unbroken chain 'of corporations beginning with the Company if each of the
corporations other than the last corporation in the unbroken chain owns stock
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ssessing 50% or more of the total combined voting power of all classes of
stock in one of the other corporations in such chain.

&. Entire Agreement. The Agreement constitutes the entire agreement of the
rties and supercedes any and all agreements, either oral or in writing,
between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof.

i

SIGNATURE PAGE TO STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT

IN WITNESS WHERECF, the parties have executed this Agreement to reflect
e grant which was authorized on the Grant Date as first above written.

COMMONWEALTH ENERGY CCRPORATION

By:/S/ IAN B. CARTER

Name: Ian B. {arter
Title: Chairman and Chief Executive QOfficer

CPTIONEE:
/S/ ROBERT C. PERKINS

Robert C. Perkins

-5-
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EXHIBIT A

FORM QF LETTER TO BE USED TO EXERCISE NONQUALIFIED STOCK OPTION

llate
ommonwealth Energy Corporation
15901 Red Hill Avenue, Suite 100
ustin, CA 92780
ttentieon: Chief Financial Officer

I wish to exercise the stock option evidenced by a Stock Option Agreement
lo acquire shares of Common Stock of Commonwealth Energy Corperation,

£ an option price of $1.00 per share. In accordance with the provisicns of the
Stock Option Agreement, I wish to make payment of the exercise price (please

Iheck all that apply):

[ 1] in cash
l [ 1 by delivery of shares of Common Stock held by me

[ ] by simultaneous sale through a broker of Opticn Shares
l [ ] by authorizing the Company to withhold Option Shares

Please issue a certificate for these shares in the following name:

Name
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ddress

Very truly yours,

Signature

Typed or Printed Name

Sccial Security Number

EXHIBIT 10.14

lB or elsewhere in this Agreement.

. Award and Exercise Price. This Agreement specifies the terms of the option
the "Option") granted to the Optionee to purchase the number of Option Shares
‘f Common Stock at the Exercise Price per share as set forth in paragraph 1. The

l STOCK QPTION AGREEMENT
This Stock Option Agreement (this "Agreement"), is entered into effective
s of the Grant Date (as defined in paragraph 1), by and between Ccmmonwealth
Energy Corporation, a Celifornia corperation [the "Company"), and the individual
..isted in paragraph 1 (the "Optionee"}.
RECITALS
, WHEREAS, pursuant to the terms of a Settlement Agreement, the Company has
JPoreed to grant a non-qualified stock option to purchase shares of the Company's
commcn steck to the COptionee.
l RGREEMENT
i. Terms of Award.
' (a) The following terms used in this Agreement shall have the meanings
set forth in this paragraph 1:
l (i} The "Optionee" is Robert C. Perkins.
(ii) The "Grant Date" is August 2%, 2003.
l (iii) The number cf "Option Shares" shall be 20,000 shares of Common
=stock.
' {iv) The "Exercise Price" is $1.86 per share.
{b) Other terms used in this Agreement are defined pursuant to paragraph
{

ption is not intended to constitute an "incentive stock option" as that term is
used in section 422 of the Code.

l. Date of Exercise and Vesting. Subject to the limitations of this
bgreement, the Option shall be exercisable in full as of the Grant Date.

l Expiration.
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{a} The Option shall not be exercisable after the Company's c¢lose of
siness on the last business day that cccurs prior to the Expiration Date.

{b) The "Expiration Date" shall be earliest to occur of:
(i) the ten-year anniversary cof the Grant Date; or
{ii) the dissolution or liguidation of the Company.

Method of Option Exercise.

- em aw e

{a} Subject to the terms of this Agreement, the Option may be exercised
in Whole or in part by filing a written notice, in the form attached hereto as
xhibit A, with the Secretary of the Company at its corporate headquarters prior
o the Company's close of business on the last business day that occurs prior to
the Expiration Date. Such notice shall specify the number of shares of Common
tock which the Optionee elects to purchase, and shall be accompanied by payment
f the Exercise Price for such shares of Common Stock indicated by the
ptionee's election. Payment shall be by cash or by check payable to the Company
or, where expressly approved for the Optionee by the Board and where permitted

y law:

. - .

(i) by cancellation of indebtedness of the Company to the

.‘ptionee;
(ii} by surrender of shares that either: (A) have been owned by the
Opticnee for more than six (6) months and have been paid for within the meaning
f SEC Rule 144 (and, if such shares were purchased from the Company by use of a
romissory note, such note has been fully paid with respect to such shares); or
{B) were obtained by the Optionee in the public market;

(iii) by waiver of compensation due or accrued to Optionee for
ervices rendered;

nd provided that a public market for the Company's stock exists:

(1) through & "same day sale" commitment from the Optionee
nd a broker-dealer that is a member of the National Association of Securities
ealers (an "NASD Dealer") whereby the Optionee irrevocably elects Lo exercise

the Option and to sell a portion of the Option Shares so purchased to pay for
he Exercise Price, and whereby the NASD Dealer irrevocably commits upon receipt
f such Option Shares to forward the Exercise Price directly to the Company; or

l (iv) with respect only to purchases upon exercise of the Option,

{(2) through a "margin" commitment from the Optionee and a
ASD Dealer whereby the Optionee irrevocably elects to exercise the Option and
o pledge the Option Shares so purchased te the NASD Dealer in & margin account
s security for a loan from the NASD Dealer in the amount of the Exercise Price,
nd whereby the NASD Dealer irrevocably commits upon receipt of such Option
hares to forward the Exercise Price directly to the Company; or

(v) by any combination of the foregoing.

-2-
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Transferability of Option. The Option granted hereunder may not be
transferred by the Opticnee except upoen death by will or the laws of descent and
istribution. Unless the context otherwise requires, references herein to the

L]
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ticonee are deemed to include any permitted transferee under this paragraph 6.
During the Optionee's lifetime, only the Optionee (or his or her guardian cr
egal representative) may exercise the Cption. In the event of the Optionee's
eath, the Option (to the extent still held by the Optionee at such time) may be
ercised only (i) by the executor or administrator of the Opticnee's estate or
the person or persons to whom his or her rights under the Option shall pass by
Pill or the laws of descent and distribution and {ii) to the extent that the
ptionee was entitled hereunder at the date of the Optionee's death.

i. Withholding of Taxes.

{a) Withholding Generally. Upon exercise of this Option, the Company may
reguire the Optionee to remit to the Company an amount sufficient to satisfy
gederal, state and local withholding tax requirements prior to the delivery of
'iy certificate or certificates for the Option Shares.

{b) Stock Withholding. When, under applicable tax laws, the Optionee
ncurs tax liability in connecticn with the exercise or vesting of this Option
hat is subject to tax withholding and the Optionee is obligated to pay the

Company the amount required to be withheld, the Committee may in its sole
iscretion allow the Optionee to satisfy the minimum withholding tax cbligation
ly electing to have the Company withhold from the Option Shares to be issued
hat number of shares having a Fair Market Value equal to the minimum amount
required to be withheld, determined on the date that the amount of tax to be
ithheld is to be determined. All elections by the Optionee to have Option
hares withheld for this purpose will be made in accordance with the
requirements established by the Board and be in writing in a form acceptable to
the Board.

. Compliance With Securities Laws. This Option shall not be exercisable if
such exercise would involve a violation of any applicable Federal or state
!ecurities law.

. No Rights As Shareholder. The Optionee shall not have any rights of a
sharehclder with respect to the shares subject to the Option, until a stock
lertificate has been duly issued following exercise of the Option as provided

erein.

G. Adjustments. In the event that the number of cutstanding shares is changed
Yy a stock dividend, recapitalization, stock split, reverse stock split,
ubdivision, combination, reclassification or similar change in the capital
structure of the Company without consideration, then the Exercise Prices ¢f and
umber of Option Shares subject to this Option will be proportiocnately adjusted,
ubject to any required action by the Board or the stockholders of the Company
and compliance with applicable securities laws; provided, however, that
ractions of a Share will not be issued but will either be replaced by a cash
‘ayment equal to the Fair Market Value of such fraction of a Share or will be
ounded up to the nearest whole Share, as determined by the Board.

greement may be amended or walved only with the prior written consent of the
ptionee and the Board.

|

l2. Certain Definitions. For the purposes of this Agreement, the following
erms shall have the meanings set forth below:

!1. Amendment. Except as otherwise provided herein, any provision of this

(a) "Board" means the Board of Directors of the Company, or if the Board
as delegated responsibility for any matter with respect to the Plan teo the
Committee, the Compensation Committee of the Board.
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lf (c) "Common Stock™ shall mean the Common Stock, no par value per share,

‘ the Company, .and any other shares inte which such stock may be changed by
reason of a recapitalization, recrganization, merger, consoclidation or any other
‘range in the corpecrate structure or capital steock cof the Company.

{(d) "Exchange Act" shall mean the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
imended, and any successor statute.

{e) "Fair Market Value" of a share of Common Stock of the Company shall
mean, as of any date, the value of a share of the Company's Common Stock
termined as follows: (1) if such Common Stock is then guoted on the Nasdag
.!:tional Market, its closing price on the Nasdaqg National Market on the date of
etermination as reported in The Wall Street Journzl; (2} if such Common Stock
is publicly traded and is then listed on a national securities exchange, its
Wlcsing price on the date of determination on the principal national securities
Pxchange on which the Common Stock is listed or admitted to trading as reported
in The Wall Street Journal; (3) if such Common Stock is publicly traded but is
ot gquoted on the Nasdag Naticnal Market nor listed or admitted teo trading on a
leitional securities exchange, the average of the closing bid and asked prices on
e date of determination as reported in The Wall Street Journal; or (4) if none
of the foregoing is applicable, by the Board in good faith.
(L) "Securities Act" shall mean the Securities Act of 1933, as amended,
and any -successor statute.

l (g} "Subsidiary" shall mean any corporation ({(other than the Company} in
n unbroken chain of corporatiocns beginning with the Company if each of the
corporations other than the last corporation in the unbroken chain owns stock
fossessing 50% or more of the total combined voting power of all classes of
tock in one of the other corporations in such chain.

)

3. Entire Agreement. The Agreement constitutes the entire agreement of the
arties and supercedes any and all agreements, either oral or in writing,
etween the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof.

-4 -

SIGNATURE PAGE TO STCOCK OPTION AGREEMENT

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement to reflect
he grant which was authorized on the Grant Date as first above written.

COMMONWEALTH ENERGY CORPORATION
By:/S/ IAN B. CARTER

Name: Ian B. Carter
Title: Chairman and Chief Executive Qfficer

OPTIONEE:
/S/ ROBERT C. PERKINS

Robert C. Perkins

-5-
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FORM OF LETTER TC BE USED TC EXERCISE NONQUALIFIED STOCK OPTION

Date

ommonwealth Energy Corporation
25901 Red Hill Avenue, Suite 100
Tustin, CA 92780
lttentifon: Chief Financial Cfficer

I wish to exercise the stock option evidenced by a Stock Option Agreement
acquire shares of Common Stock of Commonwealth Energy Corporation,
‘E an option price of $1.86 per share. In accordance with the provisions of the
tock Option Agreement, I wish to make payment of the exercise price (please
check all that apply):

l [ 1] in cash

[ 1] by delivery of shares of Common Stock held by me
I’ [ ] by simultanecus sale through a broker of Option Shares
f 1 by authorizing the Company®to withhold Option Shares
!lease issue a certificate for these shares in the following name:

Very truly yours,

Signature

., Typed or Printed Name

Social Security Number

[COMMCNWEALTH
ENERGY CORPORATION
LOGO]

' EXHIBIT 10.15
' OPTION TO PURCHASE COMMCN STOCK QOF

COMMONWEALTH ENERGY CORPORATION
' This is to certify that, for good and waluable consideration Ian B.Carter,
Trustee Sole Proprietor Profit Sharing Plan (the "Holder"), is entitled to
iurchase, subject to the provisions of this Opticn, from Commonwealth Energy
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rporation, a California corporaticon (the "Company"), during the time of the
option period on or before December 31, 2004 (the "Exercise Period") 100,000
f@hares of the Company's Commen Stock (the "Common Stock"), at a cash price of
3.50 per share. The shares of Common Stock deliverable upon such exercise, and
s adjusted from time to time, are hereinafter sometimes referred to as "Option
Shares" and the exercise price of a share of Common Stock in effect at any time
rd as adjusted from time to time is hereinafter referred to as the "Exercise
rice."

1. Exercise of Option. Subject to the provisions of Section 6 hereof, this
'ption may be exercised in whole or in part at any time or from time to time, in
inimum increments of one thousand shares, during the Exercise Period by
presentation and surrender of this Option to the Company at its principal
ffice, with thé Purchase Form annexed hereto duly executed and accompanied by
!ayment of the Exercise Price for the number of shares specified in such form.
f this Option should be exercised in part only, the Company shall, upon
urrender of this Option for cancellation, execute and deliver & new Option
i:idencing the rights of the Holder thereof to purchase the balance of the
ares purchasable hereunder. Upon receipt by the Company ¢f this Option and
payment of the Exercise Price at its office, in proper form for exercise, the
older exercise, notwithstanding that the stock transfer bocoks of the Company
ghall then be closed or that certificates representing such shares of Common
tock shall not then be actually delivered to the Holder. Following proper
exercise of this Option, a certificate for the shares purchased, registered in
he name of the person entitled to receive such shares, shall be promptly
elivered to such person. The Option Fee paid by the Holder to the Company shall
be credited toward the Exercise Price of the Option.

2. Reservation of Shares. The Company hereby agrees that all times there
hall be reserved for issuance and/or delivery upon exercise of this option such
number of shares of its Common Stock as shall be required for issuance and
delivery upon exercise of this Option. All shares issued upon proper exercise of
ihis Option shall be validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable.

3. Fractional Shares. No fractional shares shall be issued upon the
.xercise of this Option.

4. Rights of the Holder. The Holder shall not, by virtue hereof, be
entitled to any rights of a shareholder in the Company, either at law or in
quity, and the rights of the Holder are limited to theose expressed in this
ption and are not enforceable against the Company except to the extent set
forth herein.

l 5. Notices of Option Holder. So long as this Option shall be outstanding,
®f the Company shall pay any dividend or make any distribution upon the Common
Stock, or if any capital reorganization of the Company, reclassification of the
apital stock of the Company, consolidated or merger of the Company with or into
nother corporation, sale, lease or transfer of all or substantially all of the
property and assets of the Company to another corporation, or voluntary or
involuntary dissolutiocn, liquidation or winding up of the Company shall be
‘ffected, then in any such case the Company shall cause to be mailed by
ertified mail to the Holder at least fifteen (15) days prior to the date
specified in (a} or (b) below, as the case may be & netice containing a brief
'escription of the proposed action and stating the date on which

{a) a record date is to be taken for the purpose of such dividend
istribution or rights, or

d

‘ () such reclassification, reorganization, consolidation, merger,
convenience, lease, dissolution, liguidation or winding up is to take place and
he date, if any, to be fixed, as of which the hcolders of Common Stock or other
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:curities shall receive cash or other property deliverable upon such
reclassification, recrganization, consclidation, merger, conveyance,
iissolution, liguidation or winding up.

6. Restrictions on Transfers and Compliance with Securities Laws.

(a) Transfer Restrictions. The Holder shall not be entitled to transfer
is Optien without the prior written consent of the Company, except to the
Holder's lineal descendants or to & corporation wholly-owned by the Holder.
urther, this option and the Option Shares have not been registered under the
iicurities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), or any state
curities law..The Holder, by acceptance of this Option, agrees that, absent an
effective registration statement under that Act covering the

lransfer of this Cption or the Option Shares, it will not sell, pledge or
therwise transfer any or all of this Optien to the Option Shares without first
providing the Company with an opinion of counsel or other evidence reasonably

atisfactory to the Company to the effect that such sale or transfer will be
lxempt from the registration and prospectus delivery requirements of the
Jecurities Act.

(b} Exercise Regquirements. The Company shall not be required to
iegister the Option Shares under the Securities Act and, in cennection with the
Holder's exercise of this Option, the Company shall be entitled to utilize

pplicable private placement exemptions from the registration requirements under
itate and federal securities laws. At the time of such exercise, the Company may
equire reascnable representations from the Holder appropriate toc satisfy the
requlrements of such private placement exemptions.

as been acquired for his own account and net with a view to or for sale in

‘ (c) Representation by Helder. The Holder represents that this Option
Iconnec:t:.on with any distribution of the Option or the Option Shares.

Notices. Any notice or cther communication which is given to a party
under this Option shall be in writing and shall be deemed given, the case of an
gndividual party, when persconally delivered to that party, or when delivered,

ddressed to that party, at the following address:

If to the Company: COMMONWEALTH ENERGY CORPORATION
At¢ention: David Mensch, President
15991 Redhill Ave., Suite 201
Tustin, CA 92780

With a copy to:

If to the Holder: Ian Carter
19392 Lemon Hill

Santa Ana, CA 92705

' Either party may, by giving notice to the other party as provided in this
paragraph, change the address to which or the person to whose attention notices

'o that party shall be given.

8. Amendment or Modification of Option. This Option may be meodified,
altered or amended only by a writing signed by both the registered Holder and
-he Company.
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accordance with the laws of the state of California.

l] . Successors and Assigns. Subject to the restrictions on transfer set
rth in Section 6, this agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding
upon the parties and their respective successors and assigns.

. . Attorneys' Fees. In any action or proceeding to enforce or relating to
rlghts or obligations under this QOption, the prevailing party shall be entitled
recover its reasonable attorneys' fees in addition to its costs and other

ailable remedies.

/s/ David Mensch

COMMONWEALTH ENERGY CORPORATION
a California Corporation
l By: David Mensch, President

THE HOLDER:

'ate Issued: July 8, 1999 THE COMPANY:

.s/ Tan B. Carter

. PORCHASE FORM
- {to be executed only upon exercise of Option)

' The undersigned owner of this Option irrevocably exercises this Option and
urchases of the number of shares of Common Stock of Commonwealth Energy
Corporation purchasable under this Option, and herewith makes payment therefore
11 at the price and on the terms and conditions specified in this Option. The
ndersigned requests that a certificate for such shares be registered in the
ame of whose address is
and that such certificate be delivered to

whose address is

ATED:

(Printed Name of Owner)

{Street Address)

l (Signature of Owner)

(City) (State) (Zip)
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EXHIBIT 10.16

I ) INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENT

THIS INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENT (this "Agreement”") is made and entered into
and is effective as of November 1, 2000, by and between COMMONWEALTH ENERGY
RPORATION, a California corporation (the "Corporation"), and IAN B. CARTER, an
ndividual ("Indemnitee").

RECITALS:

l A. Indemnitee performs a valuable service to the Corporation in his
capacity as an officer and a director of the corporation.

B. The shareholders of the Corperation have adopted Bylaws (the
Bylaws") providing for the indemnification of the officers, directors,
employees and other agents of the Corporation as authorized by the California
orporations Code, as amended (the "Code").

C. The Bylaws and the Code; by their non-exclusive nature, permit
ontracts between the Corporation and its directeors, officers, employees and
ther agents with respect to indemnification of such perscns.

-

C. In accordance with the authorization provided by the Bylaws and the
ode, the Corporation is entitled to purchase a policy or policies of Directors'
‘nd Officers' Liability Insurance ("Insurance") covering certain liabilities

which may be incurred by its directors and officers in the performance of their
nties to the Corporation.

.

E. As a result of developments affecting the terms, scope and
vailability of Insurance, there exists general uncertainty as to the extent of
rotection afforded such persons by such Insurance and by statutory and bylaw
ndennification provisions.

a
In corder to induce Indemnitee to continue to serve as an officer c¢f
Ihe Corporatlon, the Corporation has determined and agreed to enter into this
greement with Indemnitee.

OW, THEREFORE, the parties hereto agree as follows:

Services to the Corporation. Indemnitee will serve, at the will of
the Corporation or under separate contract, if any such contract exists, as an
'ffiCer of the Corporatiocn or as a directeor, officer or other fiduciary of the
orporation or an affiliate of the Corporation (including any employee benefit
plan of the Corporation) faithfully and to the best of his ability so long as he
S duly elected and qualified in accordance with the provisions of the Bylaws,
lther applicable constitutive documents of the Corporation or such affiliate, or
ther separate contract, if any such contract exists; provided, however, that
Indemnitee may at any time and for any reason resign from such position (subject
© any contractual obligation that Indemnitee may have assumed apart from this
grezement) and that the Corporation or any affiliate shall have no obligation
under this Agreement to continue Indemnitee in any such position.

l 2. Indemnity of Indemnitee. The Corporation shall hold harmless,
Rndemnify and advance expenses toe Indemnitee as provided in this Agreement and
to the fullest extent authorized, permitted or required by the provisions of the
‘ylaWS and the Code, as the same may be amended from time to time {but, only to
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e extent that such amendment permits the Corporation to provide broader
indemnification rights than were permitted by the Bylaws or the Code prior to

option of such amendment), The rights of Indemnitee provided under the
Seceding sentence shall include, but shall not be limited to, the rights set
®W>rth in the other sections of this Agreement.

demnification otherwise provided for herein, and subject only to the
exclusions set forth in Section 4 hereof, the Corporation hereby further agrees
io hold harmless and indemnify Indemnitee:

l 3.  Additional Indemnity. In addition to and not in limitation of the

-

1

(a) Against any and all expenses (including reasonable attorneys’
fees), witness fees, damages, judgments, fines and amcunts paid in settlement

nd any other amounts that Indemnitee becomes legally obligated to pay because

f any claim or claims made against or by him in connection with any threatened,
pending or completed action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal,

bitrative, administrative or investigative (including an action by or in the
Eght of the Corporation) to which Indemnitee is, was or at any time becomes a

arty, or is threatened to be made & party, by reason of the fact that
Indemnitee is, was or at any time becomes a director, officer, employee or other
Poent of the Corporation, or is or was serving or at arty time serves at the

equest of the Corporation as a director, officer, employee or other agent of
another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or
ither anterprise; and

(b} Otherwise to the fullest extent as may be provided to
Indemnitee by the Corporation under the non-exclusivity provisions ¢f the Code,

4, Limitations on Additional Indemnity. No indemnity pursuant to
section 3 hereof shall be paid by the Corporation:

l (a}) On account of any claim against Indemnitee for an accounting
£ profits made from the purchase or sale by Indemnitee of securities cf the
Corporation pursuant to the provisions of Section 16(b) of the Securities

xchange Act of 1934 and amendments thereto or similar provisions of any
iederal, state or local statutory law;

_ {b) On account of Indemnitee's conduct that was knowingly
Iraudulent or deliberately dishonest, or that constituted willful misconduct;

(c) On account of Indemnitee's conduct that constitutéd & breach
f Indemnitee's duty of loyalty to the Corporation or resulted in any personal
irofit or advantage to which Indemnitee was not legally entitled:;

(d) For which payment has actually been made to Indemnitee under a
alid and collectible insurance policy or under a valid and enforceable
'ndemnity clause, bylaw or agreement, except in respect of any excess beyond
payment under such insurance, clause, bylaw cor agreement;

)

(e) If indemnification is not lawful (and, in this respect, both
he Corporation and Indemnitee have been advised that the Securities and
Exchange Commission believes that indemnification for liabilities arising under
he federal securities laws is against public policy and is, therefore,
!nenforceable and that claims for indemnification should be submitted to
ppropriate courts for adjudication) or is prohibited by any applicable state
securities laws with respect to any violation of applicable federal or state
ecurities laws; or

(£) In connection with any proceeding (or part thereof) initiated
iy Indemnitee, or any proceeding by Indemnitee against the Corporation or its
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irectors, officers, employees or other agents, unless (i) such indemnification
is expressly required to be made by law, (ii} the proceeding was authorized by

e Board of Uirectors of the Corporation, (iii} such indemnification is
‘zovideci by the Corporation, in its sole discretion, pursuant to the powers

ested in the Corporation under the Code, or (iv} the proceeding is initiated
pursuant to Secticn 9 hereof.

5, Continuation of Indemnity. All agreements and obligations of the
Cerporation contained herein shall continue during the periocd Indemnitee is a
irector, officer, employee or other agent of the Corporation (or is or was
i:vering at the request of the Corporation as a director, cfficer, employee or
her agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, employee
benefit plan or other enterprise) and shall continue thereafter so long as
demnitee shall be subject tc any possible claim or threatened, pending or
ompleted action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, arbitrative,
administrative or investigative, by reason of the fact that Indemnitee was a
director of the Corporation or serving in any cother capacity referred to herein.

2

l 6. Partial Indemnification. Indemnitee shall be entitled under this
Agreement to indemnification by the Corporation for a portion of the expenses

Pincluding attorneys' fees), witness fees, damages, judgments, fines and amocunts
aid in settlement and any other amounts that Indemnitee becomes legally
obligated to pay in connection with any acticn, suit or proceeding referred to
an Section 3 hereof even if not entitled hereunder te indemnification for the

!otal amcunt thereof, and the Corporation shall indemnity Indemnitee for the
ortion thereof to which Indemnitee is entitled.

7. Notification and Defense of Claim. Neot later than thirty (30} days

fter receipt by Indemnitee of notice of the commencement of any action, suit or
proceeding, Indemnitee will, if a claim in respect thereto is to be made against

he Corporation under this Agreement, notify the Corporation of the commencement
ihereof; but the omission so to notify the Corporation will nect relieve it from

ny liability which is may have to Indemnitee otherwise than under this
Agreement. With respect to any such action, suit or proceeding as to which
lndemnitee notifies the Corporation of the commencement therecf:

(a) The Corporation will be -entitled to participate therein at
its own expense;

(b} Except as otherwise provided below, the Corporation may, at
its option and jointly with any other indemnifying party similarly notified and
lecting to assume such defense, assume the defense thereof, with counsel
'easonably satisfactory to Indemnitee. After notice from the Corporation to
indemnitee of its election to assume the defense thereof, the Corporation will
not be liable to Indemnitee under this Agreement for any legal or other expenses
ubsequently incurred by Indemnitee in connection with the defense thereof
xcept for reasonable costs of investigation or otherwise as provided below.
Indemnitee shall have the right to employ separate counsel in such action, suit
r proceeding but the fees and expenses of such counsel incurred after notice
[rom the Corporation of its assumption of the defense therecof shall be at the
xpense of Indemnitee unless (i} the employment of counsel by Indemnitee has
been authorized by the Corporation, {ii} Indemnitee shall have reasonably
oncluded that there may be a conflict of interest between the Corporation and
!ndemnitee in the conduct of the defense of such action, or (iii) the
orporation shall not in fact have employed counsel to assume the defense of
such action, in ¢ach of which cases the fees and expenses of indemnitee's
eparate counsel shall beat the expense of the Corporation. The Corporation
hall not be entitled to assume the defense of any action, suit or proceeding
brought by or on behalf of the Corporation or as to which Indemnitee shall have
‘ade the conclusion provided for in (ii) above; and
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{c) The Corporation shall not be liable to indemnify Indemnitee
nder this Agreement for any amounts pzid in settlement of any action or claim
l:fected without its writfen consent, which shall not be unreasonably withheld.
e Corporation shall be permitted to settle any action except that it shall not
settle any action or claim in any manner which would impose any penalty or
imitation on Indemnitee without Indemnitee's written consent which may be given
withheld in Indemnitee's sole discretion.

8. Expenses. The Corporation shall advance, prior to the final
lisposition of any proceeding, prompitly following regquest therefor, all expenses
Bncurred by Indemnitee in connection with such proceeding upon receipt of an
undertaking by or on behalf of Indemnitee to repay said amounts it if shall be

etermined ultimately that Indemnitee is not entitled to be indemnified under
lhe provisions of this Agreement, the Bylaws, the Ccde or otherwise.

9. Enforcement. Any right to indemnification or advances granted by
'his Agreement to Indemnitee shall be enforceable by or ¢n behalf of Indemnitee
n any court of competent jurisdiction if (i) the claim for indemnification or
advances is denied, in whole or in part, or {ii) no dispositicn of such claim is
pade within ninety (90) days of reguest therefor. Indemnitee, in such
!nforcement action, if successful in whole or in part, shall be entitled to be
aid also the expense of prosecuting his claim. It shall be a defense to any
action for which a claim for indemnification is made under Section 3 hereof
other tnan an action brought to enforce a claim for advancement of expenses
ursuant to Section 8 hereof, provided that the reguired undertaking has been
tendered to the Corporation) that Indemnitee is not entitled to indemnification
ecause of the limitations set forth in Section 4 hereof, but the burden of
iroving such defense shall be on the Corporation. Neither the failure of the
orporation (including its Board of Directors or its shareholders) to have made
a determination prieor to the commencement of such enforcement acticn that
ndemnification of Indemnitee is proper in the circumstances, nor an actual
letermination by the Corporation {(including its Board of Directors or its
shareholders) that such indemnification is improper, shall be

3

o indemnification under this Agreement or otherwise.

Subrogation. In the event of payment under this Agreement, the
orporatlon shall be subrogated to the extent of such payment to all of the
rights ¢f recovery of Indemnitee, who shall execute all documents required and
hall do all acts that may be necessary to secure such rights and tec enable the
orporation effectively to bring suit to enforce such rights.

! defense to the action or create a presumption that Indemnitee is not entitled

Non-Exclusivity of Rights. The rights conferred on Indemnitee by
his Agreement shall not be exclusive of any other right which Indemnitee may
ave or hereafter acquire under any statute, provision of the Articles of

Incorporation, the Bylaws, agreement, vote of shareholders or directors or
otherwise, both as to action in his/her official capacity and as to action in
inother capacity while holding office.

12. Survival of Rights.

(a) The rights conferred on Indemnitee by this Agreement shall
continue after Indemnitee has ceased to be a director, officer, employee or
other agent of the Corporation or to serve at the request of the Corporation as
director, officer, employee or other agent of another corporation,
artnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise and
shall inure to the benefit of Indemnitee's heirs, executors and administrators.
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ssume and agree to perform this Agreement in the same manner and to the same
xtent that the Corporation would be required to perform if no such succession
had tzken place,

13. Separability. Each of the provisions cf this Agreement is a separate
and distinct agreement and independent of the others, so that if any provisicn
hereof shall be.held to be invalid for any reason, such invalidity or
lnenforceability shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the other

rovisions hereof. Furthermore, if this Agreement shall be invalidated in its
entirety on any ground, then the Corporation shall nevertheless indemnify
ndemnitee to the fullest extent provided by the Bylaws, the Code or any other
ppllcable law,

Gaverning Law. This Agreement shall be interpreted and enforced in
ccordance with the laws of the State of California.

Amendment and Termination. No amendment, modification, termination
r cancellathn of this Agreement shall be effective unless in writing signed by
Ioth parties hereto.

Identical Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or
ore counterparts, each of which shall for all purposes be deemed to bean
riginal but all of which together shall constitute but one and the same

Agreement. Only one such counterpart need he produced to evidence the existence
if this Agreement.

17. Headings. The headings of the sections of this Agreement are
inserted for convenience only and shall not be deemed to constitute part of this
Igreement or to affect the construction hereof.

18. Notices. All notices, reguests, demands and other communications
hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given (i)
ipon delivery if delivered by hand to toe party to whom such notice or other
ommunication shall have been directed, or {(ii}) if mailed by certified or
registered mail with postage prepaid, on the third business day after the date

n which it is so mailed:

(a) If to Indemnitee, to:

Mr. Ian B. Carter
19392 Lemon Hill Drive
Santa Ana, CA 92705

Commonwealth Energy Corporation
15901 Redhill Avenue

Tustin, CA 92780

Attn: Chalrman of the Board

r to such other address(es) as may have been furnished to/by Indemnitee to/by
the Corporation.

' {b) If to the Corporation, to:

l IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have duly executed this
ndemnification Agreement as of the day and year first above written.

CORPORATION
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COMMONWEAL THENERGY CCORPORATION, a
California corporation

John A, Barthrcp, Secretary to the
Board and General Counsel to the
Corporation

INDEMNITEE

/s/ IAN B. CARTER

Ian B. Carter

I By: /s/ JOHN A. BARTHROP

5

l Commonwealth Energy Corporation entered into Indemnification Agreements

ith several officers and directors, each substantially identical to Exhibit
10.16 except that the Indemnitee and the date ¢f the other Indemnification
greements are as follows:

SCHEDULE TO EXHIBIT 10.18%

ndemnitee Date of Agreement

obert C. Perkins November 1, 2000
ohn A. Barthrop November 1, 2000
ark 5. Juergensen May 9, 2003
enneth L. Robinson March 16, 2004

K
lralg G. Goodman January 1, 2002
{

EXHIBIT 10.17
INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENT

This Indemnification Agreement (this "Agreement”) is made and entered into
nd is effective as of July 1, 2004, by and between Commerce Energy Group, Inc.,
Delaware corporation (the "Corporation"), and Ian B. Carter, an individual
"Indemnitee™).

RECITALS

Indemnitee performs a valuable service to the Corporation in his
IapaC1ty as a director and officer of the Corporatiocn.

The Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation {(the
"Certlflcate") and the Bylaws (the "Bylaws") of the Corporation provide for the
lndemnification of the officers and directors of the Corporation as authorized
y the Delaware General Corporation Law, as amended (the "DGCL"}.

' C. The Certificate, the Bylaws and the DGCL, by their non-exclusive
|
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employees and other agents with respect to indemnification of such persons.

Ih D. In accordance with the authorization provided by the Certificate,
e Bylaws and the DGCL, the Corporation is entitled to purchase a policy or
policies of directors' and officers' liability insurance covering certain
iabilities which may be incurred by its directers and officers in the
Ierformance of their duties to the Corporatiocn.

E. As a result of developments affecting the terms, scope and
Ivailability of such insurance, there exists general uncertainty as to the
xtent of protection affcrded such persons by such Insurance and by statutory
and bylaw indemnification provisions.

! F. In order to induce Indemnitee to continue to serve as a director and
fficer of the Corporation, the Corporation has determined and agreed to enter
into this Agreement with Indemnitee.
' AGREEMENT

1. Indemnity of Indemnitee. The Corporation shall hold harmless,

lndemnify and advance expenses to Indemnitee as provided in this Agreement and
c the fullest extent authorized, permitted or required by the provisions of the
Certificate, the Bylaws and the DGCL, as the same may be amended from time to
ime {(but, only to the extent that such amendment permits the Corporation to
rovide broader indemnification rights than were permitted by the Certificate,
the Bylaws or the DGCL prior to adeption of such amendment); provided, however,
hat the Corporation shall not indemnify Indemnitee in connection with any
iroceeding, (or part thereof) initiated by Indemnitee, or any proceeding by
ndemnitee against the Corporaticn or its directors, officers, employees or
other agents, unless (i} such indemnification is expressly required to be made
ly law, {ii) the proceeding, was authorized by the Board of Directors of the

lorporation, (iii) such indemnification 1s provided by the Corporation, in its
sole discretion, pursuant to the powers vested in the Corporation under the
aGCL, or (iv) the proceeding is initiated with respect to a proceeding to
inforce rights to indemnification pursuant to Section 8 hereof. The rights of
indemnitee provided under the preceding sentence shall include, but shall not be
limited to, the rights sef forth in the other sections of this Agreement.

' 2. Additional Indemnity. In addition to and not in limitation of the
indemnification otherwise provided for herein, and subject only to the

xclusions set forth in Section 3 hereof, the Corporation hereby further agrees
io hold harmless and indemnify Indemnitee:

(a)" Against all liabilities, losses, expenses (including

ttorney's fees), judgments, fines, ERISA excise taxes or penalties and amounts
haid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred or suffered by Indemnitee in
connection with any threatened, pending or completed acticn, suit or proceeding,
whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative, to which he is a party

r & witness, by reason of the fact that Indemnitee is or was a director or

fficer of the Corporation or is or was serving at the request of the
Corporation as a director or officer of another corporation or of a partnership,
joint venture, trust, enterprise or non-profit entity, including service with
!espect to employee benefit plans, whether the basis of such proceeding is

lleged action in an official capacity as a director, officer, employee or agent
or in any other capacity while serving as a director, officer, employee or

'genty
|

(b} Otherwise to the fullest extent as may be provided to
indemnitee by the Corporation under the non-exclusivity provisions of the DGCL.

ttp://ir.10kwizard.com/filing. php?repo=tenk&ipage=3094561&num=&doc=1&source=300&print=1 &att...

3/17/2005



iEC Filings : Print View Page 140 of 196

3. Limitations on Additionzl Indemnity. No indemnity pursuant te
iection 2 hereof shall be paid by the Corporation:

(a) On account of any claim against Indemnitee for an accounting
of profits made from the purchase or sale by Indemnitee of securities of the
orporation pursuant to the provisions of Section 16(b) of the Securities
2change Act of 1934 and amendments thereto or similar provisions of any
rederal, state or local statutory law;

l () On account of Indemnitee's conduct that was knowingly
raudulent or deliberately dishonest, or that constituted willful misconduct;

onstituted a breach of Indemnitee's duty of loyalty to the Corporation or
esulted in any personal profit or advantage to which Indemnitee was not legally
entitled;

' (c) On account of, or attributable to, Indemnitee's conduct that

{d) For which payment has actually been made to Indemnitee under a
valid and collectible insurance policy or under a valid and enforceable

ndemnity clause, bylaw ¢r agreement, except in respect of any excess beyond
'ayment under such insurance, clause, bylaw or agreement;

(e) The payment of which by the Corporation under this Agreement
ls not permitted by applicable law;
_2_
(£) If indemnification is not lawful {and, in this respect, both

he Corporation and Indemnitee have been advised that the Securities and
l;xchange Commission believes that indemnification for liabilities arising under
the federal securities laws is against public policy and is, therefore,
unenforceable and that claims for indemnification should be submitted to

ppropriate courts for adjudication) or is prohibited by any applicable state

ecurities laws with respect to any violation of applicable federal or state
securities laws; or

l (g) In connection with any proceeding, (or part thereof) initiated
y Indemnitee, or any proceeding by Indemnitee against the Corporation cor its
directors, officers, employees or other agents, unless (i) such indemnification

5 expressly reguired to be made by law, (ii) the proceeding, was authorized by
lhe Board of Directors of the Corporation, (iii} such indemnification is
provided by the Corporation, in its sole discretion, pursuant to the powers

ested in the Corporation under the DGCL, or (iv) the prcceeding is initiated
‘ursuant to Secticn 8 herecof.

4. Continuation of Indemnity. All agreements and obligations of the
crporation contained herein shall continue during the period Indemnitee is a
irector, officer, employee or other agent of the Corporation (or is or was

serving at the request of the Corporation as a director, officer, employee or
other agent of another corporation, partnership, Jjoint venture, trust, employee
enefit plan or other enterprise) and shall continue thereafter so long as
ndemnitee shall be subject to any possible claim or threatened, pending or
completed action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, arbitrative,
dministrative or investigative, by reason of the fact that Indemnitee was (i) a
mirector of the Corporation or (ii) serving in any other capacity referred to
erein, and shall inure to the benefit of Indemnitee's heirs, executors and

administrators.

l 5. Partial Indemnification. Indemnitee shall be entitled under this
Agreement to indemnification by the Corporation for a portion of the expenses
‘including attorneys' fees), witness fees, damages, judgments, fines and amounts
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aid in settlement and any other amounts that Indemnitee becomes legally
obligated to pay in connection with any action, suit or proceeding referred te
in Section 2 hereof even if not entitled hereunder to indemnification for the
'otal amount thereof, and the Corporation shall indemnify Indemnitee for the
Bortion thereof to which Indemnitee is entitled.

6. Notification and Defense of Claim. Not later than thirty (30} days

fter receipt by Indemnitee of notice of the commencement of any action, suit or
proceeding, Indemnitee will, if a claim in respect thereto is to be made against
the Corporation under this Agreement, notify the Corporation cf the commencement

hereof; but the omission so to notify the Corporation will not relieve it from

ny liability which it may have to Indemnitee otherwise than under this
Agreement. With respect to any such action, suit or proceeding as to which
'ndemnitee notifies the Corporation of the commencement thereof

(a) The Corporation will be entitled to participate therein at its
oWn expense;

l (b} Except as otherwise provided below, the Corporation may, at
its option and jointly with any other indemnifying party similarly notified and
lecting to assume such defense, assume the defense thereof, with counsel
easonably satisfactory to Indemnitee. After

e

otice from the Corporation to Indemnitee of its election to assume the defense
hereof, the Corporation will not be liable to Indemnitee under this Agreement
or any legal or other expenses subsequently incurred by Indemnitee in
connection with the defense thereof except for reasonable costs of investigation
'r otherwise as provided below. Indemnitee shall have the right to employ

I
i
|

eparate counsel in such action, suit or proceeding but the fees and expenses of
such counsel incurred after notice from the Corporation of its assumption of the
defense thereof shall be at the expense of Indemnitee unless (i) the employment
hf counsel by Indemnitee has been authorized by the Corporation, (ii) Indemnitee
shall have reasonably concluded that there may be a conflict of interest between
the Corpcration and Indemnitee in the conduct of the defense of such action, or

iii) the Corporation shall not in fact have employed counsel to assume the
lefense of such action, in each of which cases the fees and expenses of

‘ndemnitee's separate counsel shall be at the expense of the Corporation. The
Corporation shall not be entitled to assume the defense of any action, suit or

yroceeding brought by or on behalf of the Corporation or as to which Indemnitee
lhall have macde the conclusion provided for in (ii} above: and

(c) The Corporation shall not be liable to indemnify Indemnitee
lmder this Agreement for any amounts paid in settlement of any action or claim
ffected without its written consent, which shall not be unreascnably withheld.
The Corporation shall be permitted to settle any action except that it shall not
ettle any action or claim in any manner which would impose any penalty or
Iimitation or Indemnitee without Indemnitee's written consent which may be given
or withheld in Indemnitee's scole discretion.

Expenses. The Corporation shall pay the expenses incurred by
ndemnltee in defending any proceeding in advance of its final disposition,
provided that, to the extent required by the DGCL, the payment of expenses in

dvance of the final disposition of the proceeding shall be made only upon
!ecelpt of an undertaking by Indemnitee to repay all amounts advanced if it

hould be ultimately determined by final judicial decision from which there is
no further right to appeal that Indemnitee is not entitled to be indemnified
lnder this Agreement or otherwise.

8. Enforcement. Any right to indemnification or advances granted by
I'his Agreement to Indemnitee shall be enforceable by or on behalf of Indemnitee

ttp://ir.10kwizard.com/filing. php?repo=tenk &ipage=3094561 &num=& doc=1&source=900&print=1&att...

3/17/2005



iC Filings : Print View Page 142 of 196

ly in the Chancery Court of the State of Delaware if (i) the claim for
indemnification or advances is denied, in whole or in part, or (ii) no
isposition of such claim is made within sixty (60) days of request therefor.
gdemnitee, in such enforcement action, if successful in whole or in part, shall
entitled to be paid also the expense of prosecuting his claim. It shall be a
defense to any action for which a claim for indemnification is made under
ction 2 hereof (other than an action brought to enforce a claim for
vancement of expenses pursuant to Section 7 hereof, provided that the required
undertaking has been tendered to the Corpocration) that Indemnitee is not
ntltled to indemnification because of the limitations set forth in Section 3
iereof, but the burden of proving such defense shall be on the Corporation.
either the failure of the Corporation (including its Board of Directors or its
shareholders) to have made a determination pricr to the commencement of such
forcement action that indemnificaticon of Indemnitee is proper in the
!lj-‘.rcumstances, nor an actual determination by the Corporation (including its
card of Directors or its shareholders) that such indemnification is improper,
shall be a defense to the action or create a presumption that Indemnitee is not
ntitled to indemnification under this Agreement or otherwise.

9. Subrogation. In the event of payment under this Agreement, the
orporaticn shall be subrogated to the extent of such payment to all of the
ights of recovery of Indemnitee, who shall execute all documents required and

shall do all acts that may be necessary to secure such rights and to enable the
iorporation effectively to bring suit to enforce such rights.

-4~

10. Non Exclusivity of Rights. The rights conferred on Indemnitee by
this Agreement shall not be exclusive of any other right which Indemnitee may
ave or hereafter acquire under any statute, provision of the Certificate, the
ylaws, agreement, vote of shareholders or directors or otherwise, both as to
action in his officiel capacity and as to action in another capacity while
holding office.

11. Survival of Rights.

ontinue after Indemnitee has ceased to be a director, officer, employee or

ther agent of the Corporation or to serve at the request of the Corporation as
a director, cofficer, employee or other agent of ancther corporation,

artnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise and

hall inure to the benefit of Indemnitee's heirs, executors and administrators.

! (a) The rights conferred on Indemnitee by this Agreement shall

(b) The Corporation shall require any successor (whether direct or
lndlrect, by purchase, merger, conscolidation or otherwise) to all or
ubstantially all of the business or assets of the Corporation, expressly to
assume and agree to perform this Agreement in the same manner and to the same
xtent that the Corporation would be required to perform if no such succession
'ad taken place.

Severability. Each of the provisions of this Agreement is a separate
nd dlStlnCt agreement and independent ¢f the others, so that if any provision
erecf shall be held to be invalid for any reason, such invalidity or

unenforceability shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the other
rovisions hereof. Furthermore, if this Agreement shall be invalidated in its

‘ntirety on any ground, then the Corporation shall nevertheless indemnify
ndemnitee to the fullest extent provided by the Certificate, the Bylaws, the

D

GCL or any other applicable law.

13. Consent to Jurisdiction. The Corporation and Indemnitee each hereby
irrevocably consent to the jurisdiction of the Court of the State of Delaware
(or all purposes in connection with any action or proceeding, which arises out
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or relates to this Agreement, and agree that any action instituted under this
Agreement shall be brought only in the Chancery Courts of the State of Delaware.

lc Governing Law. This Agreement shall be interpreted and enforced in
cordance with the laws of the State of Delaware.

cancellatlon of this Agreement shall be effective vnless in writing signed by

!r Amendment &nd Termination. No amendment, modification, termination
oth parties hereto.

Identical Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or
re counterparts, each of which shall for &ll purposes be deemed to be an
original but all of which together shall constitute but one and the same
reement. Only one such ccunterpart need be produced to evidence the existence
I?E this Agreement.

l . Headings. The headings of the sections of this Agreement are

—5

nserted for convenience only and shall net be deemed to constitute part of this
greement or to affect the constructicn hereof.

18. Notices. All notices, requests, demands and other communications
ereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given (i)
‘upen delivery if delivered by hand to the party to whom such nctice or other
ommunication shall have been directed, or (ii}) if mailed by certified cor
.egistered mail with postage prepaid, on the third business day after the date
n which it is so mailedqd:

' (a) If to Indemnitee, to:

{b) If te the Corporation, to:

Commerce Energy Group, Inc.

600 Anton Boulevard, Suite 2000
Costa Mesa, CA 92620

Attn: Chairman of the Board

r to such other address(es) as may have been furnished to/by Indemnitee to/by
he Corporaticn.

IN WITNESS WHEREQF, the parties hereto have duly executed this
ndemnification Agreement as of the day and year first above written.

Indemnitee" /S/ IAN B. CARTER

Tan B. Carter

Corporation” ’ COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC., a Delaware
corporation

By: /S§/ JOHN A. BARTHROP

Name: John A. Barthrop
Title: General Ccunsel

S TS G RS N am =

—6-
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SCHEDULE TO EXHIBIT 10.17

l Commerce Energy Group, Inc.

everal officers and directors,

entered into Indemnification Agreements with
each substantially identical to Exhibit 10.17

except that the Indemnitee and the date of the other Indemnification Agreements

're as follows:

Indemnitee Date of Agreement
obert C. Perkins July 1, 2004
‘ohn A. Barthrop July 1, 2004
ark S. Juergensen July 1, 2004
enneth L. Robinson July 1, 2004
raig G. Goodman July 1, 2004
ichard L. Boughrum July 1, 2004
July 1, 2004

aura Taylor

K
Peter Weigand

' CONSENT
Building:
iremises :
ate of Master Lease:
Date of First BAmendment Tc Lease;
ate of Assignment and
ssumption Agreement:
ate of Sublease:

aster Landlord:
andlord:
T

enant:

! This Consent to Sublease ("Consent") dated as of May 28,
y and among 600 Anton Boulevard Associates {"Master Landlord"),
a Delaware corporation fka Ganis Credit Corporation

Consumer Finance Corp.,
l "Landlord")
"Tenant")
("Sublease"),

November 11,

and Commonwealth Energy Corporation,
in connection with a proposed Sublease dated May 28,
affecting certain premises

2004

EXHIBIT 10.25

TO SUBLEASE

Plaza Tower

The 20th and 21st floors commonly known
as Suite 2000 and Suite 2100

May 15, 1989
February 26, 2001
Cctecber 30, 2002

May 28, 2004

600 Anton Boulevard Assoclates
E*Trade Consumer Finance Corp.
Credit Ceorporation

Commonwealith Energy Corporation

fka Ganis

2004 1is executed
E*Trade

a California corporaticn

2004
{"Tenant Premises") specified above and
1999 by and

etween Master Landlord and Landlord's predecessor in interest as such Lease has

Eore particularly described in that certain Lease dated May 15,

een or may be amended or modified from time to time

("Master Lease"}. A copy of

the Sublease is attached hereto as Exhibit "A" and incorporated by this

Ieference into this Consent.

Master Landleord hereby consents to the Sublease te Tenant upon the
ollowing express terms and conditiens and Master Landleord, Landlord and Tenant

iereby agree as follows:

A. Neither the Sublease nor this Consent shall:
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1. Release or discharge Landlord from any liability, whether past,
present ¢r future, under the Master Lease;

terms, covenants, conditions, previsions or agreements of the Sublease and
Master Landlord shall not be bound thereby;

3. Be construed to: (i) modify, waive, release or otherwise affect
any of the terms, covenants, conditiens, provisions or agreements of the
Master Lease; (ii) waive any breach of the Master Lease; (iii) waive any
of Master Landlord's rights as Master Landlord thereunder; (iv) enlarge or
increase Master Landlord's obligations as Master Landlord thereunder; or
(v) enlarge or increase Landlord's and/or Tenant's rights and benefits in
excess of ‘the rights and benefits applicable to Landlord under the Master
Lease;

l 2. Operate as Master Landlord's consent to or approval of any of the

4. Be construed as a consent by Master Landlord to: (i} any further
leasing or subletting either by Landlord or by Tenant; (ii) the assignment
by Landlord to Tenant

of any rights contained in the Master Lease to renew and/or extend the
term of the Master Lease or to expand the Premises; or (iii) any
assignment by Landlord of the Master Lease cor assignment by Tenant of the
Sublease, whether or not the Sublease purports to permit the same; or

5. Be construed teo permit Landlord or Tenant to assign, mortgage or
encumber the Sublease or to further sublease any portion of the Tenant
Premises or permit any portion of the Tenant Premises to be used or
occupied by any other party.

The Sublease is subordinate to the Master Lease and is subject to all
f 1ts terms, covenants, conditions, provisions and agreements.

C. Tenant shall perform faithfully and be bound by all of the terms,
covenants, conditions, provisions and agreements of the Master Lease applicable
© the Tenant Premises for the period of the Sublease, as amended, as provided

cr in the Sublease.

D: The Sublease is not given as security for a loan nor shall it be given
s security or otherwise encumbered by Tenant during the term c¢f the Sublease or
ny subsequent agreement without Master Landlord's prior written consent.

Landlord shall not be released from any liability under the Master
ease, nor shall any liability of Landlerd be decreased, because of Master
andlord's failure to give notice of default under or in respect of any cf the
terms, covenants, conditions, provisions or agreements of the Master Lease or
ecause of Master Landlord's direct conversations, communications or other
ealings with Landlord and/or Tenant.

F. In the event of Landlord's default under the provisions of the Master
tease the rent due from Tenant under the Sublease shall be deemed assigned to
aster Landlerd, and Master Landlord shall have the right, but not the
obligation following such default, at any time at Master Landloxd's option, to
ive notice of such assignment to Tenant. Master Landlord shall credit Landlord
iith any rent received and retained by Master Landlord under such assignment,
ut the acceptance of any payment on account of rent from Tenant as the result
of any such default shall in ro manner whatsoever be deemed an attornment by
enant to Master Landlord, or serve to release Landlord from any liability under
he terms, covenants, conditions, provisions or agreements under the Master
Lease. Master Landlord shall provide Tenant a copy of any notice of default
‘lelivered to Landlord under the Master Lease.
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G. In the event the Master Lease shall be terminated by Master Landlord
e to a default by Landlord on its obligations thereunder, ox in the event of
ine expiration of the Master Lease prior to the expiration of the Sublease,
aster Landlord shall have the right, in its sole discretion, to withdraw the
consent to the Suklease hereby given and terminate the Sublease. Within thirty
30) days after the Tenant’'s receipt of notice, as set forth in Paragraph I
elow, of Master Landlord's election to terminate the Sublease, Tenant shall
vacate the Tenant Premises. Upon such vacation by Tenant, Landlord and Tenant
ihall cause the Tenant Premises to be in

Landlord's Tenant's
) Initials Initials
l [ILLEGIBLE] [ITLLEGIBLE]

good ceondition and repair subject to ordinary wear and tear and damage by
asualty. The provisions of this Paragraph shall not limit Master Landlord's
'emedies availabie pursuant to the Master Lease or at iaw or in equity.

H. Notwithstanding the foregeing, any other payment of rent from Tenant
irectly to Master Landlord, regardless of the circumstances or reasons
herefor, shall in no manner whatsoever be deemed an attornment by Tenant to
Master Landlord or serve to release Landlord from any liability under the terms,
ovenants, conditions, provisions or agreements under the Master Lease, in the
ibsence of a specific written agreement signed by Master Landlord to such an
ffect.

I. In the event the Master Lease shall be terminated by Master Landlord
!ue to a default by Landlord on its obligations thereunder, or in the event of
he esxpiration of the Master Lease prior to the expiration of the Sublease, and
in the event that Master Landlord has not elected to terminate the Sublease
iursuant te Paragraph G above, then, Tenant, immediately upon receipt of
nilateral written notice from Master Landlord, hereby agrees to be bound to
Master Landlord under the terms, covenants and conditions of the Sublease for
he balance of the term therecof remaining with the same force and effect as if
‘aster Landlord were the Landlord under the Sublease, and Tenant shall attom to
Master Landlord as its Landlord upen the succession of Master Landlord to the
interest of Landlord under the Sublease, and Master Landlord, if it has sent
uch notice, shall accept such attomment subject to the limitations contained in
his Consent. Such attomment shall be effective upon receipt of written notice
from Master Landlord and shall be self-operative without the execution of any
urther instrument by either party hereto, except Tenant hereby agrees that it
‘ill promptly execute and deliver any instruments which Master Landlord may
easonably request to evidence such attomment.

the term of the Sublease shall expire and come tc an end on its
expiraticon date or any premature termination date thereof or concurrently with
iny pPremature termination of the Master Lease (whether by consent or cther

' J. Unless Master Landlord exercises its rights pursuant to Paragraph I
bove,

ight, now or hereafter agreed to by Master Landlord or Landlord, or by
peration of law or at Master Landlord’'s option in the event of Landlord's
default under the Master Lease).

K. Both Landlord and Tenant shall be, and continue to be, liable for the
payment of all bills rendered by Master Landlerd for charges incurred by Tenant
for services and materials supplied to the Tenant Premises.

L. This Consent is not assignable, nor shall this Consent be deecmed a
consent to any amendment, modification, extension or renewal of the Sublease
l.except as otherwise provided in Paragraph A.4. above) without Master Landlord's
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Landlord's Tenant's
Initials Initials
[ILLEGIBLE] [ITLLEGIBLE]

|

against any cost or expense (including, but not limited to, attorneys' fees}
ncurred by Master Landlord in resisting any claim for any such brckerage
ommission.

consent to any improvement or alteration to or in the Tenant Premises, and

rior to the undertaking by Landlord or Tenant of any improvement cr alteration
to or in the Tenant Premises, Landlord shall cobtain Master Landlord's prior

ritten consent as provided for under the Master Lease, and if such consent is

iven, the same will be subject to Landlord and Tenant signing Master Landlcrd's
standard form of agreement with respect to improvement or alteration work being
ierformed by persons other than Master Landlord.

! N. Landlcrd and Tenant understand and acknowledge that this Ceonsent is not

O. Any notices, consents or demands given pursuant to this Consent by the
parties hereto shall be in writing. Unless otherwise required by law or
cvernmental regulation, any such notice, consent or demand shall be deemed
iven if delivered personally or sent by registered or certified mail, return
receipt requested, postage prepeid (a) to Master Landlord, at the address
indicated below or te such other address or nctice party as Master Landlord may
irom time-to-time designate by notice in writing to Tenant; or (b) to Tenant, at
he address indicated below or to such other address or notice party as Tenant
may from time-to-time designate by nctice in writing to Master Landlord. Any
uch nctice shall be deemed given at the time same is personally delivered to
he other party or forty-eight (48) hours after mailing as provided herein.
uring the period of any postal strike or other interference with the mails,
ersconal delivery shall be substituted for registered or certified mail. For
urposes of this Paragraph, Master Landlord's address shall be:

600 Anton Boulevard Assoclates
c/c Three Town Center
l 3315 FairviewRoad
Costa Mesa, CA. 92626
Attn: 600 Anton Boulevard Controller
Il and
' 600 Anton Boulevard Associates Suite 830

650 Town Center Drive Costa Mesa, CA.
92626 Attn: Property Manager

nd Tenant's address shall be:

Commonwealth Energy Corpeoration
600 Anton Boulevard

Suite 2000

Costa Mesa, CA. 92626

Landlord's Tenant's
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' P. The execution of a copy of this Consent, without change or
medification, by Landlord and by Tenant shall be a condition precedent to the
ffectiveness of this Consent and shall indicate your joint and several
ionfirmation of the foregoing conditions and of your joint and several agreement
o be bound thereby and shall constitute Tenant's acknowledgment that it has
received a copy of the Master Lease from Landlord.

l Q. This Consent shall not be effective unless and until executed by all of
he parties, and when fully executed shall bind and inure to the benefit of all
successors and assigns of each party.

' R. As between Master Landlord and Landlord or between Master Landlord and
Tenant, in the event of any conflict between the Sublease and the Master Lease,

r between the Sublease and this Consent, the Master Lease or this Consent, as
'pplicable, shall prevail.

S. Landlord hereby ratifies and confirms its obligations under the Master
ease. Landlord and Master Landlord acknowledge that neither Master Landlord nor
.andlord is in default under the Master Lease and that Landlord has no existing
claim against Master Landlord or right of ofiset or defense against enforcement
y Master Landlord of the obligations of Landlord under the Master Lease.

(SIGNATURE BLOCK ON NEXT PAGE)

Initials Initials
[ILLEGIBLE] [ILLEGIBLE]

This Consent contains the entire agreement of the parties hereto with
espect to the subject matter hereof. This Consent may be executed in
counterparts which upon execution by all parties shall constitute one integrated
greement.

l Landlord's Tenant's

MASTER LANDLORD:

00 ANTON BOULEVARD ASSOCIATES,
California general partnership

Vi Three Town Center,
a California general partnership
Managing Partner

By: [ILLEGIBLE] APPROVED AS TO FORM
——————————— VAN ETTEN SUZUMOTC & BECKET LLP

Manager

Manager THOMAS L BECKET, ESQ.

ANDLORD;:

*TRADE CONSUMER FINANCE CORP.,

l By: [ILLEGIBLE] BY: /s/ THOMAS L BECKET
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'ii: [ILLEGIBLE]
®-s: CTO/CRO

y
ts:

TENANT :

MMONWEALTH ENERGY CORPORATION,
a California corporation

'y: /s/ IAN B. CARTER

Landlord's Tenant's
Initials Initizals
[ILLEGIBLE] fILLEGIBLE]

EXHIBIT "A"
{the Subleasel

-7-

This Sublease Agreement ("Sublease") is made effective as of the 28th day

f May, 2004, {(the "Effective Date") by and between E*TRADE CONSUMER FINANCE
ORP., a Delaware corporation fka GANIS CREDIT CORPORATION ("Sublessor"), and
Commonwealth Energy Corporation, a California corporaticn ("Sublessee").
ublessor agrees to sublease to Sublessee, and Sublessee agrees to sublease from
ublessor, those certain premises situated in the City of Costa Mesa, County of
Qrange, State of California, consisting of approximately 38,677 square feet of
‘pace consisting of the entire 20th and 21st floors of the building known as

l SUBLEASE AGREEMENT

laza Tower, loceated at 600 Anton Boulevard, Costa Mesa, California
"Building"), more particularly set forth on Exhibit "A" hereto (the "Subleased

Premises").

. ARTICLE 1

MASTER LEASE AND OTHER AGREEMENTS

1.1 Subordinate to Master Lease. Except as specifically set forth herein,
this Sublease is subject and subordinate to all of the terms and conditions of
he lease (the "Original Lease") dated on May 15, 1999, between &00 Antocn
%oulevard Associates, a California general partnership ("Master Lessor") and
eutsche Financial Services Corporation, a Nevada cerperation, as "Lessee", as
amended by that certain First Amendment to lease made and entered into the 26th
ay of February, 2001 (the "First Amendment”) and assigned to Sublessor's
redecessor in interest Ganis Credit Corporation, a California corporation (the
"Assignee"). The Original Lease, the First Amendment and the Assignment are
gollectively referred to herein as the "Master Lease". Sublessee hereby assumes
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particularly set forth hereafter. Unless otherwise defined, all capitalized

erms used herein shall have the same meanings as given them in the Master
.fase. A copy of the Master Lease is attached hereto as Exhibit "B" and

corporated herein by this reference. Sublessee shall not commit or permit to
be committed any act or omission which would vioclate any term or condition of

e Master Lease. Sublessee shall neither do nor permit anything to be done

hich would cause the Master Lease Lo be terminated or forfeited by reason of
any right of termination or forfeiture reserved or vested in Master Lessor under

he Master Lease, and Sublessee shall indemnify and hold Sublessor harmless from
ind against all - liability, judgments, costs, demands, claims, and damages of any

ind whatsoever (including, without limitaticn, attorneys' fees and court costs)
by reason of any failure on the part of Sublessee tco perform any of the

ligations of Lessee under the Master Lease which Sublessee has become
!Eligated hereunder to perform. In the event of the termination of Sublessor's

nterest as Lessee under the Master Lease for any reason other than for
Sublessor's breach, then this Sublease shall terminate automatically upon such

ermination without any liability of Master Lessor or Sublessor toc Sublessee.

ublessee represents and warrants to Sublessor that it has read and is familliar
with the Master Lease.

l 1.2 Epplicable Provisions. All of the terms and conditions contained in

he Master Lease as they may apply to the Subleased Premises, except those

directly contradicted by the terms and conditions contained in this deocument,
nd specifically except for Paragraphs paragraph 1, 2, 3(a), the last sentence
F 3{f), 4, 6la), 6(b} lexcept for the first sentence}, 6{(c),

20(3), 24, 27, 29, 30(b), 34, 48.1, 48.3, 48.4, 48.5, 48.9, 48.10, 48.11, 48.13,
8.14, Exhibit B and First Amendment are incorporated herein and shall be terms

'nd conditions of this Sublease {with each reference therein to "Landlord" or
Lessor", "Tenant" or "Lessee" and "Lease" to be deemed to refer to Sublessor,
ublessee, and Sublease, respectively, as appropriate except the following

irovisions that are incorporated herein, the reference to Landlord or Lessor
hall mean Master Lessor only: 3{f) (first two sentences), the first sentence of
5{a), 1l0t(a), 2C(f), 48.6,) and along with all of the following terms and
onditiens set forth in this document, shall constitute the complete terms and
onditions ©f this Sublease.

1.3 Obligations of Sublesscr. Notwithstanding anything herein contained,
'he enly services or rights to which Sublessee is entitled hereunder are those
o which Sublessor is entitled under the Master Lease, and for all such services
and rights Sublessee shall look solely to the Master Lessor under the Master
- aaease, and the obligations of Sublessor hereunder shall be limited to using its
!easonable good faith efforts to obtain the performance by Master Lessor of its
bligatiens. Sublessor shall have no liability to Sublessee or any other person
for damage of any nature whatsoever as a result of the failure of Master Lessor
¢ perform said obligations except for Master Lessor's termination of the
lublessor's interest as Lessee under the Master Lease in the event of
Sublessor's breach of the Master Leasa, and Sublessee shall indemnify and hold
ublessor harmless from any and all claims and liability whatsoever for any such
iamage including, without limitation, all cests and attorneys' fees incurred in
efending against same. With respect to any obligation of Sublessee to be
performed under this Sublease, when the Master Lease grants Sublessor a specific
gpunber of days to perform its obligations thereunder, Sublessee shall have two
’2) fewer days to perform. With respect to approval required to be obtained by
Landlord" under the Master Lease, such consent must be obtained from Master
Lessor and Sublessor and the approval of Sublessor may be withheld if Master
essor's consent is not obtained.

ARTICLE 2
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2.1 Term. The term of this Sublease shall commence on July 1, 2004,
lrovided Sublessor has received Master Lessor's consent to this Sublease. This
hall be referred toc as the "Commencement Date." The term of this Sublease shall
end on September 6, 2009, unless sooner terminated pursuant te any provision of
he Master Lease applicable to the Subleased Premises (the "Expiration Date"}.
ublessor shall have no obligation to Sublessee to exercise any cof its options
o extend under the Master Lease.

ublease.

2.3 Sublessor's Inability to Deliver Subleased Premises. In the event
ublessor is unable to deliver possession of the Subleased Premises on or before
uly 1, 2004, Sublessor shall not be liable for any damage caused thereby, ncr

shall this Sublease be void or voidable, but Sublessee shall not be liable for
ent until such time as Sublesscr offers to deliver possession of the Subleased
remises to Sublessee, but the term hereof shall not be extended by such delay.

2.4 Farly Access. Upon the date of (i) mutual execution hereof; {ii)
eceipt of the Security Deposit and first months Base Rent; and {iii) execution
of the Entry and Indemnity Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit E, Sublessee
ihall have reasonable access to the Subleased Premises for the purposes of

l 2.2 Option to Extend. Sublessee shall have no option to extend this

-2-

nstalling Sublessee's furniture, fixtures and communication equipment ("Early
ccess™) . Sublessee's access shall be subject to all the terms and conditions of
the Entry and Indemnity Agreement and this Sublease, including without
imitation, all insurance and maintenance obligations, and all monetary
bligations except the payment of Base Rent.

ARTICLE 3
' RENT
3.1 Rent. Sublessee shall pay to Sublessor each month during the term cf

!his Sublease, rent in the amount of Seventy-One Thousand Five Hundred Fifty-Two

nd 45/100 Deollars ($71,552.45%), in advance, on executicn hereof for the first
month and on or before the first of each month thereafter ("Base Rent"). Rent

or partial months at the commencement or termination of this Sublease shall be

rorated. Rent shall be paid tc the Sublessor at its business address noted

nerein, or at any other place Sublessor may from time to time designate by
.¢ritten notice mailed or delivered to Sublessee.

3.2 Additional Rent. Any other sums payable by Sublessee under this
Article 3 shall constitute and be due as additional rent. Base Rent, and
'dditrional rent if any, shall herein be referred to as "Rent".

3.2.1 Additional Rent Under the Master Lease. If Sublessor shall be
charged for additional rent or other sums pursuant to any of the provisions of
he Master Lease, Sublessee shall be liable, commencing January 1, 2006, for its
ro rata share of increase in such additional rent or sums over the base
calendar year of 2005 {("Base Year"). Sublessee's pro rata share under this
ublease shall be calculated by multiplying the total additional rent or other
Eharge due by a fraction, the numerator of which shall be the approximate square
cotage of the Subleased Premises and the denominator of which shall ke the
approximate square footage of the entire premises under the Master Lease. All
easurements noted in this Section are included in the Master Lease. Sublessee
cknowledges all sguare footage measurements noted and relied on in this
Sublease and the Master Lease are estimates, and no adjustments shall be made
tased upon any actual measurements which may be made. If Sublessee shall procure
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e pro rated between Sublessor and Sublessee.

3.2.2 Additional Rent Under the Sublease. As and for additional
ent, Sublessee shall be responsible, commencing January 1, 2006, for its pro
ata share of expenses incurred by Sublessor for the operation and maintenance

of the Premises, including, without limitation, Sublessor's insurance as
"Tenant"” under the Master Lease. Sublessor shall invoice Sublessee

|

‘onthly and Sublessee shall pay its pro rata share of such additional rent
within ten (10) days of invoice.

ARTICLE 4
I SECURITY DEPOSIT

4.1 Security Deposit. Upcon execution herecf. Sublessee shall deposit with
Sublessor the sum of Two Hundred Fourteen Thousand Six Hundred Fifty-Seven and
5/100 Dollars ($214,657.35) as and for a Security Deposit to secure Sublessee's
ull and timely performance of all of its obligations hereunder. If Sublesses
fails to pay Rent or any other sums as and when due hereunder, or ctherwise
efaults and/or fails to perform with respect to any provision of this Sublease,
‘ublessor may (but shall not be obligated to) use, apply, or retain all or any
ortion cof said deposit for payment of any sum for which Sublessee is obligated
or which will compensate Sublessor for any foreseeable or unforeseeable loss or
amage which Sublessor may suffer thereby including, without limitation, any
amage that will result in the future through the term of the Sublease, to
repair damage to the Subleased Premises, to clean the Subleased Premises at the
end of the term or for any loss or damage caused by the act or omission of
ublessee or Sublessee's officers, agents, employees, independent ceontractors or
nvitees. Sublessee waives the provisions of California Civil Code Section
1950.7 and all other provisions of law now in force or that become in force
frer the date of execution of this Sublease that provide that Sublessor may
%laim from a security deposit only those sums reasonably necessary to remedy
efaults in the payment of Rent, to repair damage caused by Sublessee or to
clean the Subleased Premises. Any such use, application, or retention shall not
cnstitute a waiver by Sublessor of its right to enforce its other remedies
ereunder, at law, or in equity. If any portion of said deposit is so used,
applied, or retained. Sublessee shall, within ten (10) days after delivery of
ritten demand from Sublessor, restore said deposit to its original amount.
lublessee's failure to do so shall constitute a material breach of this
ublease, and in such event Sublessor may elect, among or in addition to other
remedies, to terminate this Sublease. Sublessor shall not be a trustee of such
eposit, and shall not be required to keep this deposit separate from its
ccounts. Sublessor alone shall be entitled to any interest or earnings thereon
and Sublessor shall have the free use of same. If Sublessee fully and faithfully
erforms all of its obligations hereunder, then so much cof the deposit as
‘emains shall be returned to Sublessee (without payment of interest or earnings
hereon) within 30 days after the later of{i} expiration or sooner termination
of the term hereof, or (ii)} Sublessee's surrender of possession of the Subleased

4.2.1 Provided Sublessee is not in default hereunder and has not
een in default at anytime during the term hereof, at the end of the thirtieth
{30th) month, the Security Deposit shall be reduced by the amount of Seventy-One
':housand Five Hundred Fifty-Two and 45/100 Dollars ($71,552.45), which Sublessor

‘remises to Sublessor.
4.2 Reduction of the Security Deposit.
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all apply to the thirty-first (31lst) month of the term.

4.2.2 Provided Sublessee is not in default hereunder and has not
lzen in default at anytime during the term hereof, in addition to the reduction
t forth in subsection 4.2.1 above, at the end of the forty-second (42nd)
month, the Security Deposit shall be reduced by the amount

i

lf Seventy-One Thousand Five Hundred Fifty-Two and 45/100 Dellars ($71,552.45),
which Sublessor shall apply to the forty-third (43rd) month of the term.

ARTICLE 5
CONDITION OF SUBLEASED PREMISES

l 5.1 Condition of the Subleased Premises. Sublessee acknowledges that as of
the Commencement Date, the Subleased Premises, and every part thereof, are in
ood condition and without need of repzsir, and Sublessee accepts the Subleased
lremises "AS IS", Sublessee having made all investigations and tests it has
eemed necessary or desirable in order to establish to its own complete
satisfaction the condition of the Subleased Premises. Sublessee accepts the
ubleased Premises in their condition existing as of the Commencement Date,
ubject to all applicable zoning, municipal, county and state laws, ordinances,
and regulaticns governing and requlating the use of the Subleased Premises and
ny covenants or restrictions of record. Sublessee acknowledges that neither
iublessor nor Master Lessor have made any representations or warranties as to
he condition of the Subleased Premises or its present or future suitability for
Sublessee's purposes.

! 5.2 Surrender. Sublessee shall keep the Subleased Premises, and every part
hereof in good order and repair. In addition to Sublessee's reguilrements under
the Master Lease, Sublessee shall surrender the Subleased Premises in the same
endition as received, ordinary wear and tear excepted, provided Sublessee
Performs all necessary maintenance, repair and cleaning to maintain the
Subleased Premises in the condition it was delivered at the Early Access Date.
otwithstanding the foregeing, 1f Master Lessor consents in writing the
'urrender of the Subleased Premises in any condition other than as set forth
ereinabove, without liability to Sublessor, Sublessee shall be entitled to
surrender the Subleased Premises in such condition as consented to by Master
essor.

ARTICLE 6
l INSURANCE

6.1 Sublessee's Insurance With respect to the Tenant's insurance under the
aster Lease, the same 1s to be provided by Sublessee as described in the Master
lease, and such peolicies of insurance shall include as additional insureds
Master Lessor, Sublessor and any lender as required by Master Lessor.

l 6.2 Waiver of Subrogation. With respect to the waiver of subrogation
ontained in the Master Lease, such waiver shall be deemed to be modifjied to
constitute an agreement by and among Master Lessor, Sublessor and Sublessee (and

aster Lessor's consent to this Sublease shall be deemed to constitute its
‘]pproval of this modification).

-5-

ARTICLE 7
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USE OF SUBLEASED PREMISES: PARKING: IMPROVEMENTS

ly for those purposes permitted in the Master Lease.

7.2 Rlterations: Improvements Sublessee shall not make any alterations,
provements, or modifications to the Subleased Premises without the express
prior written consent of Sublessor and of Master Lessor, which consent by
iublessor shall not be unreasonably withheld. Sublessee shall reimburse Master

lﬂ 7.1 Use of Subleased Premises Sublessee shall use the Subleased Premises

essor and Sublessor for all costs which Master Lessor and Sublessor may incur
n connection with granting approval to Sublessee for any alterations and
additions, including, without limitation. Master Lessor's and Sublessor's
easonable attorneys' fees and costs. Sublessee shall provide Master Lessor and
!ublessor with a set of "as-built" drawings feor any such work, together with
opies of all permits cbtained by Sublessee in ccnnection with perferming any
such work, within fifteen {(15) days after completing such work. Sublessor may
lmpose as a condition of its consent to such alterations, improvements, or
odificationsg, such requirements as Sublessor may deem reasonable and desirable,
including, but not limited to the requirement that materialmen be approved by
ublessor and that Sublessee, and/or Sublessee's contractors) post a payment
!nd/or completion bond to guarantee the performance of its construction
bligations hereunder. On termination of this Sublease, Sublessee shall remove
any or all of such improvements and restore the Subleased Premises (or any part
hereof) to the same condition as of the Commencement Date of this Sublease,
easonable wear and tear excepted or as otherwise instructed in writing by
either Sublessor or Master Lessor. Should Sublessee fail to remove such
improvements and restore the Subleased Premises on termination of this Sublease
‘nless instruction otherwise in writing as set forth above. Sublessor shall have
he right to deo so, and charge Sublessee therefor, plus a service charge often
percent (10%) of the costs incurred by Sublessor.

7.3 Parking. So long as Sublessee is not in default and subject to the
rules and regulations imposed from time to time by Master Lessor or Sublessor,
ublessee shall have the right to the non-exclusive use of One Hundred Eleven
illl) Base Parking Contracts {as defined in the Master Lease) and exclusive use
f Five (5) reserved Base Parking Contracts (as defined in the Master Lease) in
the common parking areas under parking contracts with the Master Lessor. Such
ne Hundred Sixteen (116) parking contracts shall be at no additional charge to
Eublessee during the term of the Sublease. At any time during the term of this
ublease and upon thirty (30) days prior notice, Master Lessor may require
Sublessee to convert up to 25% of its parking contracts to Rocftop Parking (as
efined in the Master Lease). Such parking contracts and use of the parking
reas are subject to the rules and regulations imposed from time to time by
Master Lessor,

l ARTICLE 8

ASSIGNMENT. SUBLETTING & ENCUMBRANCE

8.1 Consent Required. Sublessee shall not assign this Sublease or any
interest therein nor shall Sublessee sublet, license, encumber or permit the

lSubleased Premises or any part

—-G6-

bl

lchereof to be used or occupied by others, without Sublessor's and Master
Lessor's prior written consent. Sublessor's consent shall not be unreasconably
!ithheld provided, however. Sublessor's withholding of consent shall in all
vents be deemed reasonable if for any reason Master Lessor's consent is not
obtained. The consent by Sublessor and Master Lessor to any assignment or
Ilubletting shall not waive the need for Sublessee (and Sublessee's assignee or
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or further assignment or subletting. All Conditiens and Standards set forth in
ihe Master Lease regarding assignments and subletting shall apply.

8.2 Form of Document. Every assignment, agreement, or sublease shall (i)
recite that it is and shall be subject and subordinate to the provisions of this
blease, that the assignee or Sublessee assumes Sublessee's obligation
ereunder, that the termination of this Sublease shall at Sublessor's sole
election, constitute a termination of every such assignment or sublease, and
ii) contain such other terms and conditions as shall be reasconably requested or
irovided by Sublessor's attorneys.

8.3 No Release of Sublessee. Regardless of Sublesscr's consent, no
ubletting or assignment shall release Sublessee of Sublessee's obligation or
!lter the primary liability of Sublessee to pay the Rent and to perform all
ther obligations to be performed by Sublessee hereunder. The acceptance of Rent
by Sublessor from any other person shall not be deemed to be a waiver by
ublessor of any provision hereof. In the event of default by any assignee,
ubtenant or any other successor of Sublessee, in the performance of any of the
terms hereof, Sublessor may proceed directly against Sublessee without the
'ecessity of exhausting remedies against such assignee, subtenant or successor.

8.4 Default., An involuntary assignment shall constitute a default and
Sublesscr shall have the right to elect to terminate this Sublease, in which
'ase this Sublease shall not be treated as an asset of Sublessee.

) 5 Recapture. Neotwithstanding the foregeoing, in the event Sublessee
equests Sublessor's consent to sublet all or any portion of the Subleased
‘remlses, or to assign this Sublease, Sublessor may in its sole discretion,
lect to terminate this Sublease within fifteen (15) days after receipt of
Sublessee's request by written notification to Sublessee of such election, in
hich case the Sublease shall terminate effective thirty (30) days following
uch election.

ARTICLE 9

9.1 Default Described. The occurrence of any of the following shall
onstitute a material breach of this Sublease and a default by Sublessee: (i)
ailure to pay Rent or any other amount within three (3} business days after

due; (ii) all those items of default set forth in the Master Lease which remain
'ncured after the cure period provided in the Master Lease; or (iii) Sublessee's

l : DEFAULT

ailure to perform timely and subject to any cure periods any other material
provision of this Sublease or the Master Lease as incorporated herein.

-7-=

I 9.2 Sublessor's Remedies., Sublessor shall have the remedies set forth in
the Master Lease as 1f Sublessor is Master Lessor. These remedies are not
xclusive; they are cumulative and in addition to any remedies now or later
illowed by law.

9.3 Sublessee’'s Right to Possession Not Terminated. Sublessor has the
emedy described in California Civil Code Section 1951.4 {(lessor may continue
ease in effect after lessee's breach and abandonment and recover rent as it
ecomes due, if lessee has right to sublet or assign, subject only to reasonable

limitations)}. Sublessor may continue this Sublease in full force and effect, and
'ublessor shall have the right to collect rent and other sums when due. During
he period Sublessee is in default. Sublessor may enter the Subleased Premises
and relet them, or any part of them, to third parties for Sublessee's account
(nd alter or install locks and other security devices at the Subleased Premises.
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incurs in reletting the Subleased Premises, including, without limitation,
ftorneys' fees, brokers' commissions, expenses of remodeling the Subleased
Eemises required by the reletting, and like costs. Reletting may be for a
riod equal to, sherter or longer than the remaining term of this Sublease and
rent received by Sublessor shall be zpplied to (i) first, any indebtedness from
blessee tc Sublessor cther than rent due from Sublessee; (ii) second, all
osts incurred by Sublessor in reletting, including, without limitation,
>rokers' fees or commissions and attorneys fees, the cost of removing and
storing the property of Sublessee or any other occupant, and the costs of
i{:pairing, altering, maintaining, remodeling or ctherwise putting the Subleased
‘emises into condition acceptable tc a new Sublessee or Sublessees; (iii)
third, rent due and unpaid under this Sublease. Affer deducting the payments
ferred to in this subsection 9.3, any sum remaining from the rent Sublessor
Fceives from reletting shall be held by Sublessor and applied in payment of
uture rent and other amounts as rent and such amounts become due under this
Sublease. In no event shall Sublesses be entitled to any excess rent received by
ublessor.

9.4 All Sums Lue and Payable as Rent. .Sublessee shall also pay without

otice, or where notice is required under this Sublease, immediately upon demand
lithout any abatement, deduction, or setoff, as additional rent all sums,

mpositions, costs, expenses, and cther payments which Sublessee in any of the
provisions of this Sublease assumes or agrees to pay, and, in case of any

onpayment thereof, Sublessor shall have, in addition to all other rights and

emedies, all the rights and remedies provided for in this Sublease or by law in
the case of nonpayment of rent.

l 9.5 No Waiver. Sublessor may accept Sublessee's payments without waiving
ny rights under the Sublease, including rights under a previously served notice
of default. No payment by Sublessee or receipt by Sublessor of a lesser amount
han any installment of rent due or other sums shall be deemed as other than a
ayment on account of the amount due, nor shall any endorsement or statement on

any check or accompanying any check or payment be deemed an accord and
atisfaction; and Sublessor may accept such check or payment without prejudice
if Sublesscr's right to recover the balance of such rent or other sum or pursue
ny other remedy provided in this Sublease, at law or in eguity. If Sublessor
accepts payments after serving a notice of default. Sublessor may nevertheless
ommence and pursue an action to enforce rights and remedies under the
lreviously served notice of default without giving Sublessee any further notice
r demand. Furthermore, the Sublessor's acceptance of rent from Sublessee when
‘the Sublessee is holding over without express written consent does not convert
tublessee's tenancy from a tenancy at sufferance to a month-to-month tenancy. No

aiver of any provisicn of this
ublease shall be implied by any failure of Sublessor to enforce any remedy for
he violation of that provision, even if that violation continues or is
repeated. Any waiver by Sublessor of any provision of this Sublease must ke in

Eriting. Such waiver shall affect only the provisions specified and only for the

-

ime and in the manner stated in the writing. No delay or omission in the
xercise of any right or remedy by Sublessor shall impair such right or remedy
or be construed as a waiver thereof by Sublessor. No act or conduct of
ublessor, including, without limitation the acceptance of keys to the Subleased
Eremises shall constitute acceptance or the surrender of the Subleased Premises
Dy Sublessee before the Expiration Date. Only writiten notice from Sublesscr to
Sublessee of acceptance shall constitute such acceptance or surrender of the
ukbleazsed Premises. Sublessor's consent to or approval of any act by Sublessee
hich requires Sublessor's consent or approval shall not be deemed to waive or
render unnecessary Sublessor's consent te or approval of any subsegquent act by

iubl essee.
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8.6 Sublessor Default. For purposes of this Sublease, Sublessor shall not
e deemed in default hereunder unless and until Sublessee shall first deliver to
i:lblessor thirty {30) days' prior written notice, and Sublessor shall fail to
re said default within said thirty (30) day pericd, or in the event Sublessor
shall reasonably reguire in excess of thirty {30) days to cure said default,
all fail to commence said cure with said thirty (30) day pericd, and
li—l}ereafter diligently to prosecute the same to completion.

9.7 Notice of Event of Default under Master Lease. Sublessor shall notify
ublessee of any Event of befault under the Master Lease, or of any other event
f which Sublessor has actual knowledge which will impair Sublessee's ability to
conduct its normal business at the Subleased Premises, as soon as reasonably
acticable following Sublessor's receipt of notice from Master Lessor of an
vent of Default or Sublessor's actual knowledge of such impairment.

-y . .

ARTICLE 10
CONSENT OF MASTER LESSOR

10.1 Precondition. The Master Lease regquires that Sublessor obtain the
onsent of Master Lessor to any subletting by Sublessor. This Sublease shall not
e effactive unless and until Master Lessor signs a consent to this subletting
satisfactory to Sublessor.

ARTICLE il

HAZARDOUS MATERIALS

11.1 Hazardous Materials. Notwithstanding anything contained herein or in
the Master Lease to the contrary, Sublessee shall not store, use, or dispose of
ny Hazardous Material (as such is defined in the Master Lease) on, under, or
bout the Subleased Premises.

11.2 Indemnity. Sublessee shall be soclely responsible for and shall
efend, indemnify and hold Sublessor and its partners, employees and agents
armless from and against all claims, penalties, expenses and liabilities,
including attorneys' and consultants' fees and costs, arising out of or caused
g whole or in part, directly or indirectly, by or in connection with its
torage, use, disposal or discharge of Hazardous Materials whether in vielation
f this section or not, or

-0

ublessee's failure to comply with any Hazardous Materials law. Sublessee shall
urther be sclely responsible for and shall defend, indemnify and hold Sublessor
harmless from and against any and all ¢laims, costs and liabilities, including
ttorneys' and consultants' fees and costs, arising ocut of or in connection with
he removal, cleanup, detoxification, decontamination and restoration work and
materials necessary to return the Subleased Premises to their condition existing
irior to Sublessee's storage, use or disposal of the Hazardous Materials on the

s SR S8

ubleased Premises. For the purposes of the indemnity provisions hereof, any

cts or omissions of Sublessee or by employees, agents, assignees, contractors
or sub¢ontractors of Sublessee (whether or not they are negligent, intentional

r unlawful} shall be strictly attributable to Sublessee. Sublessee’'s
‘bligations under this section shall survive the termination of this Sublease.

ARTICLE 12
MISCELLANEOUS

‘ 12.1 Conflict with Master Lease: Interpretation. In the event of any
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nflict between the provisions of the Master Lease and this Sublease, the
Master Lease shall govern and control except to the extent directly contradicted
v the terms of this Sublease. No presumption shall apply in the interpretation
i: construction of this Sublease as a result of Sublesscr having drafted the
ole or any part hereof.

12.2 Remedies Cumulative. The rights, privileges, elections, and remedies
f Sublessor in this Sublease, at law, and in equity are cumulative and not
alternative.

l 12.3 Waiver of Redemption. Sublessee hereby expressly waives any and all
ights of redemption to which it may be entitled by or under any present or
future laws in the event Sublessor shall cbtain a judgment for possession of the
.ubleasad Premises.

12.4 Damage and Destruction: Condemnation. Notwithstanding anything
contained in the Master Lease tc the contrary, in the event of any damage,
lestruction, casualty, condemnation or threat of condemnation affecting the

ubleased Premises, Rent payable hereunder shall not be abated except to the
extent that Rent is abated under the Master Lease with respect to the Subleased

remises. Sublessee shall have nc right to terminate this Sublease in connection
Eith any damage, destructicn, casualty, condemnation or threat of condemnation

xcept to the extent the Master Lease is also terminated as to the Subleased
Premises.

12.5 Holding Over. Sublessee shall have no right to Holdover. If Sublessee
does neot surrender and vacate the Subleased Premises at Expiration Date of this
ublease, Sublessee shall be a tenant at sufferance and the parties having
igreed that the Rent shall be at the greater of (1) the daily rate of two
undred percent (200%) of the monthly Rent set forth in Article 3, divided by
thirty (30) days or (2) the daily rate of two hundred percent {200%) of the Rent
ue to Master Lessor from Sublessor under the Master Lease for the Subleased
lremises divided by thirty (30) days, together with any additional rent due and
payable during such period of time. In connection with the foregeing. Sublessor
nd Sublessee agree that the reasonable rental value of the Subleased Premises
ollowing the Expiration Date of the Sublease shall be the amounts set forth
bove per month. Sublessor and Sublessee acknowledge and agree that, under the

l -10-
tircumstances existing as of the Effective Date, it is impracticable and/or
xtremely difficult to ascertain the reasonable rental value of the Subleased
Premises on the Expiration Date and that the reasonable rental wvalue established
erein is z reasonable estimate of the damage that Sublessor would suffer as the
tesult of the failure of Sublessee to timely surrender possession of the
ubleased Premises. The parties acknowledge that the liquidated damages
established herein is not intended as a forfeiture or penalty within the meaning
f California Civil Code sections 3275 or 3369, but is intended to constitute
liquidated damages to Sublessor pursuant to Califpornia Civil Code sections 1671,
1676, and 1677. Notwithstanding the foregoing, and in addition to all other
ights and remedies on the part of Sublessor if Sublessee fails to surrender the
‘ubleased Premises upon the termination or expiration of this Sublease, in
ddition to any other liabilities to Sublessor accruing therefrom, Sublessee
shall indemnify, defend and hold Sublessor harmless from all claims resulting
rom such failure, including, without limitation, any claims by any third
‘arties pased on such failure to surrender and any lost profits to Sublessor
resulting therefrom.

l 12.6 Signage. Sublessee shall not place any signs on or about the
lubleased Premises without Sublessor's and Master Lessor's prior written
consent. All signs shall be at Sublessee's sole cost and shall comply with the
"erms of the Master Lease and with all local, federal and state rules,
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gulations, statutes, and ordinances at all times during the term hereof.
Sublessee acknowledges and agrees that its request for consent to signage shall
limited to Building standard suite signage at the Subleased Premises and
Ebby directory signage. Sublessee, at Sublessee's cost, shall remove all such
igns and graphics prior to the termination of this Sublease and repair any
damage caused by such removal. Sublessor shall use commercially reasonable
fforts, without the requirement to incur any costs, tc assist Sublessee in
btaining such signage

12.7 Offer. Preparation of this Sublease by either Sublessor or Sublessee

'r either parties' agent and submission of same teo Sublessor or Sublessee shall

ot be deemed an offer to Sublease. This Sublease is not intended to be binding
until executed and delivered by all Parties hereto.

12.8 Due Authority. If Sublessee signs as a corporation, each ¢f the
persons executing this Sublease on behalf of Sublessee represent and warrant
that they have the authority to bind Sublessee, Sublessee has been and is

ualifjed to do business in the State of California, that the corporation has
ull right and authority to enter into this Sublease, and that all persons
signing on behalf of the corporation were authorized to do so by appropriate
orporate actions. If Sublessee signs as a partnership, trust or cther legal
lntity, each of the persons executing this Sublease on behalf of Sublessee
epresent and warrant that they have the authority to bind Sublessee, Sublessee
has complied with all applicable laws, rules and governmental regulations
elative to its right to do business in the State of California and that such
ntity on behalf of the Sublessee was authorized to do so by any and all
appropriate partnership, trust or other actions. Sublessee agrees to furnish
romptly upcon request a corporate resolution, proof of due authorization by
‘artners, or other appropriate documentation evidencing the authorization of
ublessee to enter into this Sublease.

12.9 Multiple Counterparts. This Sublease may be executed in two or more
ounterparts, which when taken together shall constitute one and the same
instrument. The

I ' 11

!arties centemplate that they may be executing counterparts of this Sublease
ransmitted by facsimile and agree and intend that a signature by facsimile
machine shall bind the party so signing with the same effect as though the

ignature were an original signature.

12.10 Building Contaminants. To prevent the contamination, growth, or
eposit of any mold, mildew, bacillus, virus, pollen, or other micro-crganism
icollectively, "Biologicals") and the deposit, release or circulation of any
ndcor contaminants including emissions from paint, carpet and drapery
treatments, cleaning, maintenance and construction materials and supplies,
esticides, pressed wood products, insulation, and other materials and products
collectively with Biclogicals, "Contaminants") that could adversely affect the
health, safety or welfare of any tenant, employee, or other occupant of the
uilding or their invitees (each, an "Occupant"), Sublessee shall, at
iubleSsee's sole cost and expense, at all times during the term hereof (1)
perate the Subleased Premises in such a manner to reasonably prevent or
minimize the accumulation of stagnant water and moisture in planters, kitchen
ppliances and vessels, carpeting, insulation, water coolers, and any other
ocations where stagnant water or moisture could accumulate, and {2) otherwise
operate the Subleased Premises to prevent the generation, growth, deposit,
release or circulation of any Contaminants.

ARTICLE 13
l . USE OF FURNITURE

ttp://ir. 1 Okwizard.com/filing. phpTrepo=tenk & ipage=3094561 &num==&doc=1 &source=300&print=1&att... 3/17/2005



iEC Filings : Print View Page 160 of 196

13.1 Use. Sublessee may use certain furniture, work stations and office
uipment located in the Subleased Premises as set forth on Exhibit "C"
ﬁh‘urniture"). Sublessee accepts the Furniture in its "as is" condition.
blessor makes no warranty, other than as to title, as te the conditien of the
Furniture or its present or future suitability for Sublessee's purposes. Upon
ermination of this Sublease, Sublessee shall return the Furniture to Sublessor
n the same condition as received, ordinary wear and tear excepted conditicned
on the obligation of Sublessee to use the Furniture in a careful and proper
anner and to clean and repair the Furniture in the manner necessary to maintain
ihe Furniture in the condition it was initially provided to Sublessee. Sublessee
hall he liable for any damage to the Furniture and solely responsible for all
costs associated with the maintenance, c¢leaning and repair of the Furniture.

! 13.2 Right to Purchase Furniture. Provided (i) Sublessee is not in default
nder the terms and conditions of this Sublease or the Master Lease hereunder
and (ii} the Expiration Date under the Sublease occurs concurrently with the
Xpiration or sooner termination of the Master Lease then on the Expiration
ate, Sublessee shall have the option of purchasing the Furniture for the sum of
One Dollar ($1.00), pursuant to the Bill of Sale attached hereto as Exhibit "D".

ARTICLE 14

BROKER'S COMMISSIONS

14.1 Commission. Sublessor and Sublessee represent and warrant to each
other that each has dealt with the following brokers South Coast Plaza
Sublessor's Broker) and CB Richard Ellis (Sublessee's Broker) and with no other
gent, finder, or other such person with respect to this Sublease and each

grees to indemnify and hold the other harmless from any claim

_12_

ol Aul

sserted against the other by any broker, agent, finder, or other such person
ot identified above as Sublessor's Broker or Sublessee's Broker. The Commissien
o the Brokers is pursuant to separate agreement.

ARTICLE 15
NOTICES AND PAYMENTS

15.1 Certified Mail. ARny notice, demand, request, consent, approval,
submittal or communication that either party desires or is required to give to
he other party or any other person shall be in writing and either served
ersonally or sent by prepaid, first-class certified mail or commercial

vernight delivery service. Such Notice shall be effective on the date of actual
receipt {in the case of personal service or commercial overnight delivery
ervice) or two days after deposit in the United States mail, to the following
ddresses:

-k ﬁ'..-’

o

Sublessor at: Mark Ravesloot
Executive Vice President
CB Richard Ellis
200 Park Avenue
New York, NY 10166

With a copy to: Hopkins & Carley
70 S5 First Street
San Jose, CA 251139
Attention: Julie A. Frambach, Esqg.

To the Sublessee: At the Subleased Premises, whether or noct
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